



Myoelectric Controls and Upper Limb Prosthetics Symposium



Symposium Proceedings

August 9-11, 2022 Fredericton, New Brunswick, Canada

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Clinical Practice	3
CONSENSUS CLINICAL STANDARDS FOR THE PROSTHETIC MANAGEMENT OF UNILATERAL TRANSRADIAL AN PUTATION	^- . 5
PPP-ARM: A QUALITY IMPROVEMENT BY INCORPORATING PATIENT INVOLVEMENT AND BY ADDING A DEC	; - . 9
UPPER EXTREMITY PROSTHETIC REHABILITATION: A 20 DAY PLAN OF THERAPY, EDUCATION AND COACHIN	G. 13
Clinical Research	16
ADAPTIVE EMG PATTERN RECOGNITION REDUCES FREQUENCY AND IMPROVES QUALITY OF AT-HOME PROS THESIS TRAINING FOR UPPER LIMB MYOELECTRIC PROSTHESIS WEARERS	₃- . 17
CHALLENGES OF UPPER LIMB FITTING IN CANADA: A SURVEY OF UPPER LIMB PROSTHESIS USERS AND CLIN	∿- . 21
EFFECT OF MULTI-GRIP MYOELECTRIC HANDS ON DAILY ACTIVITIES, PAIN-RELATED DISABILITY AND PROS THESIS USE COMPARED WITH SINGLE-GRIP PROSTHESES	₃₋ . 25
IMPACT OF UNILATERAL TRANSRADIAL PROSTHESIS IN UPPER LIMB UTILIZATION RELATIVE TO ABLE-BODIE CONTROLS: INSIGHTS FROM WIRELESS ACCELEROMETER DATA	D . 29
MUSCULOSKELETAL COMPLAINTS AND HUMAN ASSUMED CENTRAL SENSITISATION IN INDIVIDUALS WIT BRACHIAL PLEXUS INJURY AND UPPER LIMB ABSENCE.	н . 33
THE EFFECT OF SENSORY FEEDBACK ON THE TEMPORAL ALLOCATION OF GAZE USING A SENSORIZED M ¹ OELECTRIC PROSTHESIS	Y- . 37
THE EFFECT OF SERIOUS GAME TRAINING ON UPPER LIMB PROSTHESIS CONTROL IN THE HOME ENVIRON	∿- . 41
WELL-BEING AMONG INDIVIDUALS WITH UPPER LIMB AMPUTATION IS STRONGLY CORRELATED WITH BIMAN UAL UPPER LIMB FUNCTION, ACTIVITY AND PARTICIPATION LEVELS, PROSTHETIC SATISFACTION AND LOWE RATES OF PAIN INTERFERENCE	∿- R . 45
Myoelectric Controls Algorithms	49
A WEARABLE SONOMYOGRAPHY SYSTEM FOR PROSTHESIS CONTROL	. 50
ALTERNATIVE MYOELECTRIC CONTROL THROUGH NEURAL SYNERGISTIC INFORMATION	. 54
ASSESSING THE FEASIBILITY OF USING SONOMYOGRAPHY FOR UPPER LIMB PROSTHESIS CONTROL $$.	. 58
CHARACTERISATION OF MYOELECTRIC ARTEFACTS IN CLINICAL SOCKETS	. 62
DEMONSTRATION OF AN OPTOGENETIC NEURONAL CONTROL INTERFACE	. 66
MOTOR UNIT SUBSET SELECTION FOR SCALABLE REAL-TIME INTERFACING	. 70

	PROPORTIONAL ELECTROMYOGRAPHIC CONTROL OF A BIONIC ARM IN A PARTICIPANT WITH CHRONIC HEMI- PARESIS, MUSCLE SPASTICITY, AND IMPAIRED RANGE OF MOTION: A CASE STUDY	74
-	ROBUSTNESS OF FREQUENCY DIVISION TECHNIQUE IN A SIMULTANEOUS AND PROPORTIONAL MYOELEC-	78
;	SHARED-CONTROL DECREASES THE PHYSICAL AND COGNITIVE DEMANDS OF MAINTAINING A SECURE GRIP	82
	TAKE-HOME TRIAL OF THE GLIDE HAND AND WRIST MYOELECTRIC CONTROL ALGORITHM: A CASE STUDY $$.	86
	TRAINING PROSTHESIS CONTROL IN THE LAB AND THE HOME	90
	TRANSFER OF ABSTRACT CONTROL SKILLS TO PROSTHESIS USE	94
I	USER-SPECIFIC MIRROR TRAINING CAN IMPROVE MYOELECTRIC PROSTHESIS CONTROL	98
Мy	oelectric Controls Implementations	102
I	DEEP AND SURFACE MODALITIES FOR MYO-INTENT DETECTION	103
-	ESTABLISHING BIONIC PROSTHETIC CONTROL IN INDIVIDUALS RECEIVING TARGETED MUSCLE REINNERVA-	107
l	EXPLORING THE POTENTIATION OF SENSE OF OWNERSHIP THROUGH PROPRIOCEPTION FOR A SENSORY	111
I	RESULTS OF TARGETED MUSCLE REINNERVATION IN INDIVIDUALS WITH A TRANSRADIAL AMPUTATION $\ . \ .$	115
;	SKILL ACQUISITION IN PROSTHESIS FORCE CONTROL WITH SUPPLEMENTARY EMG FEEDBACK \ldots \ldots	119
-	TOWARD SEMI-AUTONOMOUS PROSTHETIC HAND CONTROL: APPLYING EMBEDDED NEURAL NETWORKS TO	123
,	VOICE RECOGNITION CONTROL OF A MULTI-ARTICULATING HAND FOR IMPROVED GRASP SELECTION \ldots	127
Pro	osthetic Devices/Materials	131
-	A PILOT EVALUATION OF KINEMATIC CHANGES WITH POWERED WRIST FLEXION FOR TRANSRADIAL PROS- THETIC USERS USING THE GAZE AND MOVEMENT ASSESSMENT (GAMA) METRIC	132
:	A TRANSRADIAL MODULAR ADAPTABLE PLATFORM FOR EVALUATING PROSTHETIC FEEDBACK AND CONTROL STRATEGIES	136
1	AN INEXPENSIVE AND ADAPTABLE PROSTHETIC WRIST IMPROVES DEXTERITY AND REDUCES COMPENSATORY	140
(CASE STUDIES: FITTING PATIENTS WITH HEAVY DUTY BI-DIRECTIONAL RATCHETING THUMB RAIL PROSTHE- SIS FOR CARPOMETACARPAL AMPUTATIONS	144
(CASE STUDIES: FITTING PATIENTS WITH HEAVY DUTY RATCHETING MECHANICAL THUMB PROSTHESES FOR	148

	DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF A MULTIARTICULATE PEDIATRIC HAND AS A RESEARCH PLAT- FORM FOR FUNCTIONAL IMPROVEMENTS	152
	DEVELOPMENT OF A MODULAR SIMULATED PROSTHESIS AND EVALUATION OF A COMPLIANT GRIP FORCE SENSOR	156
	FUNCTIONALLY VIABLE 3D PRINTED POLYMER TRANSRADIAL FRAME AND WRIST WITH VARIABLE COMPLI- ANCE DYNAMIC VOLUME SOFT SOCKET WITH INCREASED BREATHABILITY AND RANGE OF MOTION	160
	PRELIMINARY ACTIVITIES TOWARDS A BATTERY CONSUME OPTIMIZATION ALGORITHM FOR PROSTHETIC HAND	164
	TOUCH FEEDBACK AND CONTACT REFLEXES USING THE PSYONIC ABILITY HAND	168
	UNIVERSAL, LOW-COST TRANSRADIAL CHECK SOCKET FOR RAPIDLY VALIDATING MYOELECTRIC CONTROL	172
	UPPER LIMB PROSTHESES – FUTURE PERSPECTIVES FOR BODY-POWERED PROSTHESES	176
Us	ser Experience	180
	A PLATFORM TO ASSESS BRAIN DYNAMICS REFLECTIVE OF COGNITIVE LOAD DURING PROSTHESIS USE .	181
	A PLATFORM TO ASSESS BRAIN DYNAMICS REFLECTIVE OF COGNITIVE LOAD DURING PROSTHESIS USE . A PSYCHOPHYSICAL APPROACH TO MEASURE THE SENSE OF AGENCY	181 185
	A PLATFORM TO ASSESS BRAIN DYNAMICS REFLECTIVE OF COGNITIVE LOAD DURING PROSTHESIS USE	181 185 189
	A PLATFORM TO ASSESS BRAIN DYNAMICS REFLECTIVE OF COGNITIVE LOAD DURING PROSTHESIS USE	181 185 189 193
	A PLATFORM TO ASSESS BRAIN DYNAMICS REFLECTIVE OF COGNITIVE LOAD DURING PROSTHESIS USE . A PSYCHOPHYSICAL APPROACH TO MEASURE THE SENSE OF AGENCY	181 185 189 193 197
Ot	A PLATFORM TO ASSESS BRAIN DYNAMICS REFLECTIVE OF COGNITIVE LOAD DURING PROSTHESIS USE . A PSYCHOPHYSICAL APPROACH TO MEASURE THE SENSE OF AGENCY	181 185 189 193 197 201
Ot	A PLATFORM TO ASSESS BRAIN DYNAMICS REFLECTIVE OF COGNITIVE LOAD DURING PROSTHESIS USE . A PSYCHOPHYSICAL APPROACH TO MEASURE THE SENSE OF AGENCY	181 185 193 197 201 202



Clinical Practice

CONSENSUS CLINICAL STANDARDS FOR THE PROSTHETIC MANAGEMENT OF UNILATERAL TRANSRADIAL AMPUTATION

Erin O'Brien¹, Phillip Stevens¹⁻², Steve Mandacina³, Craig Jackman³

¹Hanger Institute for Clinical Research and Education, ²Division of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Utah Health, ³ Upper Limb Prosthetics Program, Hanger Inc.

ABSTRACT

Consensus clinical standards of care were recently developed through three rounds of Delphi consensus surveys. The 40 statements that reached consensus standards for inclusion encompassed indications for general prosthetic consideration, as well as indications and considerations for body powered, externally powered and oppositional silicone restoration prostheses, terminal device selection, the selection of body powered control strategies, considerations for moisture, debris or heavy duty use, activity specific prostheses and indications for multiple terminal devices. These standards may serve to guide clinical decision making and inform medical policy.

INTRODUCTION

While substantially less common than major lower limb amputation, major upper limb amputation accounts for approximately 16% of the major limb loss affecting an estimated 2.2 million Americans.¹ While clinical practice guidelines have been developed for the broad holistic care of the individual with upper limb amputation or limb deficiency,²⁻³ there has been an absence of detailed clinical guidance with respect to prosthetic management. A relatively recent multi-disciplinary State of the Science Conference, held by the American Academy of Orthotists and Prosthetists addressed design options for upper limb prostheses. The Conference concluded that those rehabilitation professionals that have amassed considerable experience in working with upper limb amputation and limb deficiency should be recognized as the most informed source of currently available evidence.⁴

Recent years have seen the emergence of a number of clinical practice guidelines based on the published evidence and addressing prosthetic patient populations. These have included post-operative care, prosthetic foot selection, transtibial socket design and prosthetic knee selection.⁵⁻¹¹ When the published evidence for a given episode of care is limited, the highest level of available evidence is collaborative consensus from subject matter experts, with the Delphi process being commonly employed.¹² Several such guidelines have been performed and disseminated within the field of prosthetic rehabilitation.¹³⁻¹⁵ The use of Delphi consensus techniques in prosthetic and orthotic rehabilitation has been summarized via systematic review with a number of best practice recommendations.¹² The purpose of this abstract is to summarize the methods and findings of a recently published Delphi consensus exercise to establish clinical care standards in the prosthetic management of individuals with unilateral transradial amputation or limb deficiency.¹⁶

METHODS

The full details of the methodology associated with these consensus guidelines has been published elsewhere¹⁶ and can be summarized as follows. Project directors from a national provider of upper limb prosthetic rehabilitation met with a focus group of experienced upper limb clinicians to review available systematic reviews in the area of upper limb prosthetic rehabilitation and identify postulates related to the indications, contraindications, and considerations associated with prosthesis type (e.g., body powered vs externally powered) and terminal device type (e.g., hand vs hook) with regard to unilateral transradial prosthetic management. These initial postulates (n=40) were then entered into a secured, web-based survey platform. A panel of 20 certified prosthetists, each of whom oversaw the care of at least 85 new upper limb prosthetic cases per year, and two occupational therapists, both of whom treated at least 75 upper limb prosthetic patients annually, anonymously considered each postulate, rating their degree of

agreement or disagreement with each and providing clarifying or qualifying statements to explain their position. The panel was geographically diverse with an average of 21 years of clinical experience.

Consensus standards for the acceptance of a clinical postulate was predefined at 80%. Those postulates that exceeded this threshold were retained within the clinical consensus standards. Those that did not were assessed by the project directors and amended to reflect the comments from the Delphi survey panel. Amended postulates where returned to the panel for subsequent review and potential acceptance. A total of 3 rounds of anonymous surveys were administered. In the first round of surveys 31 postulates were accepted by the panel with 9 postulates failing to reach the consensus threshold. Eleven of fourteen amended postulates were accepted in the second round. A final postulate was presented and accepted in the 3rd survey round.

RESULTS

Once the survey rounds were concluded and consensus postulates were determined, they were aggregated by the following topic areas for ease of integration into clinical practice

Prosthetic Candidacy

Candidacy for a prosthesis may be based upon functional need, psychosocial considerations or preservation of the contralateral extremity. A prosthesis should be considered for an individual with unilateral transradial amputation or limb deficiency when any of the following is identified: An individual is unable to accomplish self-care activities or ADLs independently; an individual has functional, vocational, or avocational needs that cannot be met without a prosthesis; the person's psychosocial acceptance of their amputation/limb deficiency would be improved by the use of a prosthesis; or an individual is at risk of overuse syndromes on their sound side.

Body Powered Prosthesis Candidacy

There are a number of considerations that should be assessed prior to the recommendation and provision of a body powered prosthesis. These include patient education and awareness as well as certain physical attributes. Patients should fully understand the restriction, associated pressures and donning and doffing requirements associated with a control harness and be able to physically tolerate those elements. In addition, they should accept and understand that activities requiring dynamic prehension will be predominantly performed with a hook, rather than a hand. With regard to physical presentation, a patient's residual limb must possess adequate soft tissue coverage and integrity to allow cyclical loading of the limb within the prosthesis as experienced during cable activation of the terminal device. This tolerance may be facilitated with appropriate interface materials or socket design. Similarly, patients must possess adequate soft tissue coverage and integrity over those body segments underlying the control harness of the prosthesis. Finally, candidates for a body powered prosthesis must possess adequate strength and range of motion to generate the necessary cable force and excursion to actuate their terminal device.

Externally Powered Prosthesis Candidacy

Prior to the recommendation and provision of an externally powered prosthesis the following elements should be evaluated and considered. The candidate should possess adequate control input to control an externally powered prosthesis through EMG, FSR, electronic switch or linear transducer and understand and accept the noise, weight and charging requirements associated with an externally powered device. An externally powered prosthesis should be considered when one or more of the following is identified: A candidate lacks the strength or range of motion required to generate the necessary cable force or excursion for a body powered prosthesis, even with appropriate interface materials and socket design; a candidate anticipates the need for sustained, high grip strength through movement; a candidate's functional work envelope cannot be confined primarily to the area immediately in front of them; there is a compromise to gross body movements of the shoulders or back and/or an existing neurological compromise to the sound side upper limb (such as pain, numbness, or tingling); or a candidate has been previously fit with either an oppositional or body powered prosthesis and could not integrate it fully into their desired ADLs or vocational responsibilities, either because of mechanical constraints or psychosocial rejection.

Oppositional Silicone Restoration Prosthesis Candidacy

An oppositional silicone restoration prosthesis (sometimes termed "passive" or "aesthetic" prosthesis) should be considered when the user's primary priority is an aesthetic restoration of their forearm and hand, the user fully understands and accepts the absence of active prehension, and the user fully appreciates the cosmetic limitations of an oppositional prosthesis.

Terminal Device Selection

Non-anthropomorphic hook-type terminal devices should be considered when enhanced visibility and find motor dexterity during object manipulation are desired and the user of a body powered prosthesis required a durable terminal device. Alternately, hand-type terminal devices should be considered when the associated psychosocial acceptance of an anthropomorphic terminal device is indicated for the patient, and the cosmetic and fine motor dexterity limitations of such terminal devices are fully understood by the patient.

Body Powered Control Strategies

Users of body powered prostheses will need to actuate their devices using either the more common voluntary opening strategy or the less frequently utilized voluntary closing strategy. The former should only be considered when the user presents with adequate strength to overcome the mechanical resistance mandated by the necessary grip strength of the terminal device and fully understand and accepts the relationship between available grip strength and the strain experienced through the harness during operation of the terminal device. Similarly, the voluntary closing control strategy should only be considered when the user understands and accepts the potential energy expenditure and cognitive load associated with sustaining grip strength through range of motion.

Moisture, Debris and Heavy Duty Use

With the recent improvements in certain externally powered components, appropriately designed body powered and externally powered prostheses can be considered when exposure to moisture, debris or heavy duty use is anticipated.

Activity Specific Prostheses

Activity Specific Prostheses should be considered when the user's needs during a give activity exceed the capabilities of alternate prosthetic designs and/or terminal devices.

Multiple Prostheses

Multiple prostheses or terminal devices may be indicated when the user's needs exceed the capabilities of a single prosthesis type or terminal device.

DISCUSSION

The aim of this effort was to establish treatment guidelines for the prosthetic management of unilateral transradial amputation and limb deficiency. While a degree of subjectivity is innate to Delphi consensus methodology our protocols were consistent with those used in prior Delphi consensus efforts in the field and recommended best practices.¹² This included initial postulate generation based on available evidence, the selection of a highly knowledgeable and experienced expert panel of an appropriate size, attainment of a high response rate, *apriori* establishment of a high standard of consensus and the use of multiple rounds of surveys to refine postulates towards consensus acceptance.

The Delphi processes facilitated the establishment of clinical practice standards for the prosthetic management of individuals with unilateral transradial amputation in the absence of strong, detailed evidence from existing clinical research and systematic literature reviews. Many clinicians lack the necessary expertise in the area of upper limb prosthetic management to allow a high degree of confidence in treating this population towards optimal clinical outcomes. These clinical care standards may help inform clinical decision-making processes to ensure that essential elements are taken into clinical consideration. However, they are not so prescriptive as to preclude the individual judgment of the clinician or the values and preferences of the patient. These consensus standards have also been welcomed by medical directors and policy makers in addressing the void that would otherwise be present in the prosthetic management of this relatively small patient population.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the following colleagues who were a vital part of the process for this study: Jack Uellendahl, Robert Picken, Bill Limehouse, AJ Westford, Matthew Mikosz, Mike Duston, Bambi Lombardi, Bryan Lott, Beth Button, Patrick McGahey, Fred Schaumburg, Jim Caywood, Kyle Sherk, Ryan Sheridan, Brian Monroe, Branden Petersen, Tony Berland, Chris Lake, Ryan Blanck, and Ken Hung.

REFERENCES

- K Ziegler-Graham, EJ MacKenzie, PL Ephraim, TG Travison, and RA Brookmeyerrst, "Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005-2050. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2008
- [2] SL Carey, DJ Lura, and MJ Highsmith. "Myoelectric and body power, design options for upper-limb prostheses: systematic literature review." J Rehabil Res Devel. 1015
- [3] VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Upper Extremity Amputation Rehabilitation. Version 1.0. US Department of Veterans Affairs and US Department of Defence. 2014. <u>https://www.healthquality.va.gov/guideliens/Rehab/UEAR/</u>
- [4] PM Stevens and MJ Highsmith. "Myoelextric and body power, design options for upper-limb prostheses: introduction to the State of the Science conference proceedings." J Prosthet Orthot. 2017
- [5] J Geertzen et al. "Dutch evidence-based guidelines for amputation and prosthetics of the lower extremity: amputation surgery and postoperative management. Part 1." *Prosth Orthot Int.* 2015
- [6] J Geertzen et al. "Dutch evidence-based guidelines for amputation and prosthetics of the lower extremity: Rehabilitation process and prosthetics. Part 2." Prosth Orthot Int. 2015.
- [7] PM Stevens, J Rheinstein and JH Campbell. "Acute postoperative care of the residual limb following transitial amputation: a clinical practice guideline. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2016.
- [8] PM Stevens, J Rheinstein and SR Wurdeman. "Prosthetic foot selection for individuals with lower limb amputation: a clinical practice guideline." J Prosth Orthot. 2018
- [9] PM Stevens, R DePalma, and S Wurdeman. "Transtibial socket designs, suspension and Interface: A clinical practice guideline." J Prosth Orthot. 2019
- [10] I Sedki and K Fisher. "Developing prescribing guidelines for microprocessor-controlled prosthetic knees in South East England." *Prosth* Orthot Int. 2015
- [11] PM Stevens and S Wurdeman. "Prosthetic knee selection for individuals with unilateral transfemoral amputation; A clinical practice guidelines." J Prosth Ortho. 2019
- [12] KJ Falbo and J Brinkman. "Characteristics of Delphi processes in orthotics and prosthetics research." J Prosth Orthot. 2020
- [13] H van der Linde, CJ Hofstad, J van Limbeek, K Postema and JH Geertzen. "Use of the Delphi technique for developing national clinical guidelines for prescription of lower limb prostheses." J Rehabil Res Dev. 2005.
- [14] E Schaffalitzky, P Callagher, M MacLachlan and St Wegener. "Developing consensus on important factors associated with lower limb prosthetic prescription and use." *Disabil Rehabil.* 2012
- [15] EC Baars, E Schrier, JH Geertzen and PU Dijkstra. "Biomedical and psychosocial factors influencing transibility prosthesis fit: a Delphi survey among health care professionals." *Disabil Rehabil.* 2015.
- [16] E O'Brien, PM Stevens, S Mandicina and C. Jackman. "Prosthetic management of unilateral transradial amputation and limb deficiency: Consensus clinical standards of care. J Rehabil Assist Tech Eng. 2021

PPP-ARM: A QUALITY IMPROVEMENT BY INCORPORATING PATIENT INVOLVEMENT AND BY ADDING A DECISION AID FOR TERMINAL DEVICES

Paula A. Wijdenes, OT^{1, *}; Nienke Kerver, MSc^{1, *}; Sacha van Twillert, PhD²; Laura Boerema, MSc¹; Michael A.H. Brouwers, MD³; Professor Corry K. van der Sluis, MD PhD¹

* These authors contributed equally to this work

 ¹ University of Groningen, University Medical Centre Groningen, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Groningen, The Netherlands
² University of Groningen, University Medical Centre Groningen, UMC Staff Policy and Management support, Groningen, the Netherlands
³ Rehabilitation centre De Hoogstraat, Utrecht, The Netherlands

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The Prosthesis Prescription Protocol of the upper limb (PPP-Arm), is a digital tool to structure, underpin and evaluate the prescription of upper limb prostheses (ULPs) in rehabilitation centres in the Netherlands that prescribe ULPs. The results of evaluating five years of PPP-Arm use, the recently developed Dutch Quality Standard for Prosthetic Care (D-QSPC) and the wish for facilitating shared decision-making led to this study. We aimed to develop and implement quality improvements and a patient decision aid (PDA) to the national digital protocol PPP-Arm.

Methods: Improvements for PPP-Arm were identified by an evaluation with clinicians after five years of PPP-Arm-usage and based on the recommendations described in the D-QSPC, focussing on new elements that should be incorporated in PPP-Arm. The PDA about Terminal devices for people with Upper Limb Absence (PDA-TULA) was developed in a systematic co-creation process following the steps described by the International Patient Decision Aid Standards. The improved PPP-Arm and the newly developed PDA-TULA were pilot-tested in the real-life national rehabilitation setting.

Results: The following improvements were made to PPP-Arm: the option to add images to the prosthesis application for the health care insurer, access for patients to PPP-Arm in order to complete surveys, digitally signing prosthesis applications, view educational material, and more structure was integrated in the description of the stepped care process. Furthermore, the PDA-TULA was added to PPP-Arm, which informs patients about available Terminal Devices (TDs), then stimulates the patient to consider their own preferences regarding the TD options, and lastly provides an overview of the patients' preferences in relation to the available TD options. Implementation of the pilottest regarding the improvements of PPP-Arm is ongoing, we expect it will lead to better usability, modernization, and increased patient involvement in the treatment process. Pilot-testing of the PDA-TULA showed that patients and clinicians experienced benefits from the PDA-TULA regarding the prosthesis selection process.

Conclusion: PPP-Arm has been improved, adjusted to the renewed D-QSPC, and supplemented with the PDA-TULA. Results emphasize the importance to cooperate with all stakeholders and pilot-test changes and new products in the real-life setting to develop and improve products that suits the needs of all stakeholders.

INTRODUCTION

The Prosthesis Prescription Protocol of the upper limb (PPP-Arm) is a national tool to structure, underpin and evaluate the prescription of upper limb prostheses (ULPs). The protocol creates a uniform and structured, nationally applicable, prescription policy and is based on the World Health Organization's criteria of the International Classification of Functioning (ICF; Figure 1). PPP-arm was initiated in 2009, digitalized in 2012, and implemented into all ten rehabilitation centres that prescribe ULPs in the Netherlands in 2016. PPP-Arm has been co-created by patients, rehabilitation teams, orthopaedic workshops, and health insurance companies, collaborating in the working group PPP-Arm [1]. After five years of nationwide use, the users expressed a need to evaluate and improve PPP-Arm.

Additionally, the publication of the new Dutch Quality Standard for Prosthetic Care (D-QSPC) [2], which should be implemented into the Dutch health care process, affirmed the need to update PPP-Arm. Furthermore, shared decision making is becoming increasingly important in clinical practice, especially regarding preference-based decisions such as ULPs [3]. A patient decision aid (PDA) could support the shared decision-making process between patient and clinicians by informing the patient about available options and helping them to clarify their values related to those options [4]. Therefore, this study aimed to develop and implement quality improvements and a PDA to the national digital protocol PPP-Arm.



Figure 1: Structure of PPP-Arm

METHOD

Adjustments to PPP-Arm

Adjustments to PPP-Arm were based on 1) an evaluation among clinicians and 2) recommendations provided by the recently published D-QSPC.

- 1) The evaluation consisted of collected feedback and suggestions from clinicians of ten rehabilitation teams during the last five years and discussion during several meetings of the national working group amputation and prosthetics of the upper limb (WAPA).
- 2) The recommendations of the renewed D-QSPC were analysed focussing on elements that should be incorporated in PPP-Arm, for example: PPP-Arm should be more patient oriented, more structured in the application of the stepped care process and should use the same terminology as the D-QSPC.

A proposal for adjustments was presented to and approved by the WAPA members. After incorporation of the improvements to PPP-Arm, the protocol was implemented and tested in clinical practice by ten rehabilitation teams. In each team a knowledge broker (KB; a member of the prosthetic team, mostly a therapist) was responsible for the implementation of the new version of PPP-Arm within his own centre. A national project coordinator was appointed, who maintained contact with all parties involved, collected questions and problems regarding the improved PPP-Arm, and organized meetings to further implement the PPP-Arm.

Development and pilot-test of PDA-TULA

The local Medical Ethics Review Board of the University Medical Centre Groningen waived formal study approval regarding the PDA-TULA (METc 2018/582). Participants of focus groups, surveys and interviews provided written informed consent. The documentation template of the International Patient Decision Aid Standards was used to develop the PDA about Terminal devices for people with Upper Limb Absence (PDA-TULA) [5]. First, the scope was determined. A focus group among clinicians was organized and the target audience for the PDA-TULA was determined: people with major unilateral upper limb absence. Second, a steering group with patients, clinicians, a prosthetist, researchers, an ICT expert, and implementation experts was assembled. Third, the contents and design of the PDA-TULA were elaborated. The contents were based on a qualitative meta-synthesis [6], a focus group with patients [6], a survey among patients [7] and prosthetists, a nationwide digital meeting with clinicians, information from manufacturers, and discussions with the research team and steering group. To determine the design, drafts of the PDA-TULA were made, improved based on the feedback of the steering group, and the PDA was integrated into the software. Fourth, the PDA-TULA was alpha tested by patients, clinicians, health care insurers, researchers, and implementation experts. All feedback was processed, resulting in the beta-version of the PDA-TULA, which was implemented and pilot-tested for five months in nine rehabilitation centres. To support the implementation process, the following actions were taken: co-creation of the PDA-TULA, usage of the network of KBs of PPP-Arm, option

for financial support for KBs, organization of meetings with the KBs, assignment of a project coordinator for technical support and questions during the pilot, provide updates about the PDA-TULA on national meetings and in newsletters for stakeholders. Telephone interviews with patients, KBs and clinicians were conducted to evaluate the PDA-TULA.

RESULTS

Implementation of adjustments to PPP-Arm

Based on the feedback derived from PPP-Arm users (ten rehabilitation teams) and analyses of the D-QSPC, the following improvements were made to PPP-Arm:

- Creation of a patient hub, a digital environment that can be accessed by the patient in order to exchange questionnaires and entry the PDA-TULA.
- Addition of the option to provide a digital signature for patients and professionals in order to digitally approve the prosthesis application.
- Integration of the Dutch version of the Quebec User Evaluation of Satisfaction with assistive technology (D-QUEST). Via the patient hub, D-QUEST can be sent digitally, completed and stored in PPP-Arm.
- Creation of easier access and management of the prosthesis information folder in the protocol: Administration page for content managers to add/remove educational materials for patients.
- Addition of the option to add photos to the prosthesis application report.
- Addition of the option to define the function of all separate users (i.e., doctor, occupational therapist, physiotherapist, hand therapist, prosthetist) to guarantee safety and transparency.
- Application of the terminology of the D-QSPC in PPP-Arm.
- Structuring and improvement of choices in the stepped care process.
- Development and integration of the PDA-TULA (see below).

Currently, pilot-testing is ongoing. We expect the adjustments will lead to a quality improvement of PPP-Arm: better usability, more structure, modernization, better access to educational material and increased patient involvement in the prosthesis selection process. Pilot-test results will be revealed at the conference.



Figure 2: Example of the summary page of the last part of the digital PDA-TULA.

Development and pilot-test of PDA-TULA

The PDA-TULA consists of four parts. In the first part, patients are asked to enter personal information, which can be imported into the patient's file by the clinician. In the second part, general information about seven Terminal Device (TD) categories is provided: prosthesis with a tool/accessory, cosmetic/passive hands, body-powered hooks, body-powered hands, myoelectric hooks, myoelectric hands with one grip, and myoelectric hands with multiple grips. To fulfil the need of experienced ULP users, more detailed information can optionally be consulted by accessing underlying pages within the PDA-TULA. In the third part, patients are stimulated to consider what is important for them regarding their ULP. Information about five prosthetic aspects is provided (appearance, wearing time, activities, prosthesis control, time and effort), each followed by a question about the patient's preferences regarding that aspect. In the last part, a patient profile is created based on the patient's preferences. This profile can be compared with the profiles of the TD options (Figure 2). A PDF with a summary of the results and the patient's questions for the next consultation is available for the patient and clinician.

Patients were enthusiastic about the PDA-TULA, they stated that the PDA helped them to get an overview of the available TD options and go through the information at their own pace. Additionally, KBs and clinicians indicated that the PDA-TULA was of added value and could be used as educational material in the prosthesis selection process. However, some patients needed help to go through the PDA (e.g., non-Dutch speakers, insufficient digital skills). Provided feedback from the telephone interviews were discussed with the steering group and subsequently final refinements were made to the beta-version of the PDA-TULA (e.g., addition/change of some pictures, textual clarifications).

CONCLUSION

PPP-Arm was modernized, improved, adjusted to the new D-QSPC, and supplemented with the PDA-TULA. Clinicians, KBs, and patients were involved in the development of the PDA-TULA and update of PPP-Arm. Pilottesting of the PPP-Arm improvements is still ongoing. However, the pilot test in the real-life rehabilitation setting enabled further improvements of PDA-TULA based on the experiences of the different stakeholders, which resulted in many positive responses from the involved stakeholders. This study, therefore, emphasizes the importance to cooperate with all stakeholders and pilot-test changes and new products in the real-life setting to make a product that suits the needs of all stakeholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank all people who helped with the quality improvement of PPP-Arm and/or with the development of the PDA-TULA.

REFERENCES

- P. Wijdenes, M. Brouwers, and C. K. van der Sluis, "Prosthesis Prescription Protocol of the Arm (PPP-Arm): The implementation of a national prosthesis prescription protocol," *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, vol. 42, pp. 56–59, 2018.
- [2] Platform Prothesezorg, "Module Prothesezorg: arm- en beenprotesen," 2020. https://www.zorginzicht.nl/kwaliteitsinstrumenten/hulpmiddelenzorg-module-prothesezorg (accessed Dec. 21, 2021).
- [3] P. Johnston, L. M. Currie, D. Drynan, T. Stainton, and L. Jongbloed, "Getting it 'right': How collaborative relationships between people with disabilities and professionals can lead to the acquisition of needed assistive technology," *Disability and Rehabilitation:* Assistive Technology, vol. 9, pp. 421–431, 2014.
- [4] D. Stacey *et al.*, "Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, vol. 4, p. CD001431, 2017.
- [5] A. Coulter, D. Stilwell, J. Kryworuchko, P. D. Mullen, C. J. Ng, and T. van der Weijden, "A systematic development process for patient decision aids," *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, vol. 13, p. S2, 2013.
- [6] N. Kerver, S. van Twillert, B. Maas, and C. K. van der Sluis, "User-relevant factors determining prosthesis choice in persons with major unilateral upper limb defects: A meta-synthesis of qualitative literature and focus group results," *PloS one*, vol. 15, no. 6, p. e0234342, 2020.
- [7] N. Kerver, C. K. van der Sluis, S. van Twillert, and P. F. M. Krabbe, "Towards assessing the preferred usage features of upper limb prostheses : most important items regarding prosthesis use in people with major unilateral upper limb absence — a Dutch national survey," *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 2021.

Upper Extremity Prosthetic Rehabilitation: A 20 day plan of therapy, education and coaching.

By Josef Butkus, MS OTR/L, Occupational Therapy Supervisor, Walter Reed National Military Medical Center, Bethesda, MD, USA.

Rates of prosthesis rejection continue to remain around 50% despite technological advances in the field [1]. There are a number of factors involved in the whether someone chooses to wear a prosthesis or not [2]. There are also life circumstances that may contribute to not wearing a prosthesis [2]. One of the challenges to successful acceptance of an Upper Extremity prosthesis may be a delay in fitting, inefficiencies in care, and lack of consistent treatment [2,3]. Frequently patients suffering limb loss are seen by providers who have limited experience with this type of injury and are only able to offer patients limited insight into the use of their prosthesis. This presentation proposes a protocol of prosthetic training to ensure consistency and quality of care.

Walter Reed National Military Medical Center (WRNMMC) has received many military members who suffered upper extremity limb loss over the past 20 years. Patients at Walter Reed have had the benefit of exceptionally experienced staff, peer support, funding for new developing limbs, recreation therapy, robust adaptive sports/reconditioning and housing for patients and their families while undergoing rehabilitation. Rates of prosthetic acceptance have been anecdotally better than studies of the civilian populations, but because the programs are so different it requires more study to determine why. Some differences of care are that patients enjoy much more therapy time, insurance support, funding for newly developed devices and a commitment to return patients to a full, active lifestyle involving fitness and adaptive sports. This presentation will serve as an opportunity to look at a

13

treatment protocol, concepts, education and training that have been hallmarks of the UE prosthesis training program in Occupational Therapy at Walter Reed NMMC.

With a limited opportunity for prosthetic training and acceptance, therapy should focus on facilitating the patient to learn how the device can best assist them in daily life. Attaching anything to a physical body is awkward, and much more so if it is suspended off an extremity. Whether a person chooses to use a prosthesis is entirely up to the individual. What medical professionals can control is helping the patient achieve a high level of proficiency and knowledge of the device. If proficiency is achieved, theoretically the patient will have more autonomy and have a good understanding of how the device may best assist the patient. Medical staff should encourage the patient to take ownership of the device and progress towards some level of embodiment of the device. Patients often have gone through recent physical and emotional traumatic events which need to be counteracted with as much positive and enjoyable circumstances surrounding the prosthesis as possible. Knowledge of activities and how best to adapt them for success with a prosthesis is a vital part in this process.

This proposed treatment plan includes the key components of prosthesis skills, knowledge of the device and how to adapt a task to perform efficiently. Ideally a patient would attend more than 20 sessions but more may not be possible due to insurance or time limitations of the patient. The treatments focus on building a patient's confidence in analyzing efficient performance. Coaching and offering feedback in actual tasks assist the prosthesis user in developing more efficient motor plans. This document will serve as a resource for new therapists to the population and assist them to make sure they have covered all aspects of prosthesis training. This plan will focus on 20 therapy sessions to present a method to progress skills and knowledge across a continuum to achieve acceptance and proficiency with the prosthesis.

14

References:

- Stefan Salminger, Heiko Stino, Lukas H. Pichler, Clemens Gstoettner, Agnes Sturma, Johannes A. Mayer, Michael Szivak & Oskar C. Aszmann (2020) Current rates of prosthetic usage in upperlimb amputees – have innovations had an impact on device acceptance?, Disability and Rehabilitation, DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1866684
- 2. Roeschlein RA, Domholdt E. Factors related to successful upper extremity prosthetic use. Prosthet Orthot Int. 1989 Apr;13(1):14-8. doi: 10.3109/03093648909079404. PMID: 2717379.
- 3. Malone JM, Fleming LL, Roberson J, Whitesides TE Jr, Leal JM, Poole JU, Grodin RS. Immediate, early, and late postsurgical management of upper-limb amputation. J Rehabil Res Dev. 1984 May;21(1):33-41. PMID: 6527288.



Clinical Research

ADAPTIVE EMG PATTERN RECOGNITION REDUCES FREQUENCY AND IMPROVES QUALITY OF AT-HOME PROSTHESIS TRAINING FOR UPPER LIMB MYOELECTRIC PROSTHESIS WEARERS

Zachary Wright, PhD, Blair Lock, PEng, MScE

Coapt, LLC

ABSTRACT

Upper limb myoelectric pattern recognition-controlled prostheses use machine learning algorithms to identify a wearer's intended movement from their muscle activity patterns. However, many factors can contribute to changes in the characteristics of the EMG input signals (electrode shift, muscle fatigue, limb position etc.) during everyday prosthesis use which can diminish controller performance. Multiple in-lab studies have demonstrated promising results towards improving controller performance by employing advanced algorithms, none of which have been tested clinically, that can adapt to these changes. This paper presents the implementation of a supervised-adaptation algorithm on a commercially available pattern recognition control system that makes use of historical EMG data collected during previous user-initiated calibration routines to update the existing classification model. In an athome clinical study, we evaluated whether real-world use of adaptive classification reduces how often upper limb prosthesis wearers need to recalibrate their pattern recognition system.

INTRODUCTION

Pattern recognition style of myoelectric prosthesis control has benefitted many individuals since commercialization in 2013. Using machine learning techniques to decode complex muscle activity patterns recorded from electromyographic (EMG) sensors, a pattern recognition controller can provide wearers natural and intuitive control of their powered prosthesis [1]. A key feature of pattern recognition is that is needs to learn the wearer's unique EMG patterns corresponding to each type of prosthesis motion they want to control. This is achieved by inputting representative data during system training (i.e., calibration). The inability of a control system to classify the user's EMG inputs significantly affects user control of their prosthesis device. This often leads to frequent recalibration which can be quite time-consuming and burdensome for many pattern recognition wearers.

Effective EMG pattern recognition requires wearers to make repeatable, consistent muscle contractions [2]. Studies have shown that it is possible for control algorithms to achieve accuracies greater than 90% under ideal laboratory conditions [3], [4]. However, classification accuracies deteriorate significantly under more realistic usage scenarios such as when electrodes shift positions [5], when the user changes the posture/position of their residual limb [6], or when modulating the force of their contraction. To address these deteriorations, the most effective method might be to collect additional algorithm training data that is representative of these conditions. After representative data is collected, the control system may be adapted to incorporate this new data.

The default behaviour of many existing pattern recognition systems is to clear the existing classification model from memory each time the user initiates a calibration. Studies have shown that an alternative solution, which instead modifies the existing classifier using EMG input data recorded upon recalibration, has the potential to improve pattern recognition control. In lab-based studies, Vidovic et al. found that classification accuracy improved from 75% to above 92% [7] and Cummins et al. found that classification error rates significantly decrease across multiple days of training data [8] when utilizing such adaptive calibration strategy. These promising results point to the need for clinical implementation; yet, no studies have evaluated the effectiveness of using pattern recognition adaptation under realistic use conditions – i.e., while prosthesis wearers use their device at-home in their own environment. Here, we present preliminary results from an at-home study where upper limb myoelectric pattern recognition reduces the frequency at which recalibration is needed. In a randomized, cross-over study design, we compared everyday wearers' calibration frequency and the quality of their EMG input data between their prosthesis use with and without the adaptive classification algorithm.

METHODS

Participants:

Five individuals with upper limb difference/absence (three at the transradial level and two at the transhumeral level) have completed the at-home study. Two additional individuals are currently enrolled, and two others withdrew their study participation. All participants provided informed consent in accordance with the Institutional Review Board and Human Research Protection Office.

Apparatus:

Participants used their existing Coapt Complete Control Gen2® pattern recognition control system to control their motorized arm components. The number and type of prosthesis motions participants had enabled varied depending on the type of powered devices connected (hand, wrist or elbow combination). Gen2 system users are able to train their EMG pattern recognition controller by performing either a prosthesis-guided or software-guided motion calibration sequence using the Complete ControlRoom software application [9]. The classification algorithm of the control system is linear discriminant analysis (LDA) [10] which, when enabled, clears the existing classifier from memory upon a user-initiated motion calibration sequence. Effectively, new EMG input data recorded during a calibration replaces the existing data and only this data is used to create a new LDA classifier.

Changing the control system to the adaptive classification algorithm can be easily done by accessing the controller settings in the software. This classification model uses covariate shift adaptation to update the class means and pooled covariance matrices of an existing LDA model using the new EMG input data recorded during each subsequent user-initiated calibration. The control system retains memory of the existing LDA classifier which does not clear until the user manually performs a full system reset. A full derivation of the adaptive algorithm can be found in [7]. It is important to note that the default classification algorithm employed by the Complete Control Gen2 system for all new and existing wearers is the adaptive algorithm, thus study participants were not naïve.

Following each calibration, the EMG input and classifier data is analyzed by the Control Coach \mathbb{R} [11]. The Control Coach \mathbb{R} uses artificial intelligence to detect calibration issues and to evaluate the quality of the calibration data. In addition to providing feedback messages (up to two per motion) to users on how to improve calibration quality, the software tool provides a star rating for each enabled prosthesis motion relating to the potential severity of any calibration data quality issues detected (1 star = most severe, 5 stars = least severe). The overall calibration quality is determined by computing the average star rating across all motions. The Gen2 system hardware also has data logging capabilities to monitor at-home prosthesis use including prosthesis wear-time, calibration frequency, commanded motion frequency and device output speeds, electrode liftoff frequency and Control Coach \mathbb{R} data.

Procedures:

Participants were asked to use their prosthesis at-home for a total of 16-weeks. Each participant was randomly assigned to one of two study groups. For the first 8-weeks, participants used their Gen2 system with the adaptive classification algorithm either ON or OFF, and for the second 8-weeks, the opposite classification algorithm was enabled. Only research personnel had access to the controller settings to enable or disable the adaptive algorithm at the beginning of each 8-week period so that participants were blind to the classification algorithm enabled on their system throughout the experiment. At the beginning of each 8-week period, research personnel manually performed a full control system reset to clear out any existing calibration data. Participants were then asked to complete an initial motion calibration sequence. At the end of the study, participants completed a questionnaire asking about their preferences towards the type of classification algorithm used in both 8-week periods in terms of their perceived prosthesis control efficiency and controller performance.

RESULTS

Our primary outcome measure was calibration frequency which we defined as the ratio between the number of times users initiate a calibration sequence and the number of times the user powers on their prosthesis. This calibration frequency metric accommodates for differences in user wear-time and number of calibration events. We compared calibration frequency during each 8-week period in which the adaptive algorithm was either ON or OFF for each user (Fig. 1, left). Preliminary results reveal a trend towards a reduction in calibration frequency among participants with the adaptive algorithm ON. Three out of the five participants reduced their calibration frequency on average by 43% while one participant showed a marginal increase and another participant nearly doubled calibration

frequency with the adaptive algorithm ON. Our preliminary analysis also shows a trend towards increased prosthesis wear-time per calibration (Fig. 1, middle) as four out of five participants demonstrated an increase in how many hours (on average, 2.7 more hours) they used their prosthesis with the same classifier before recalibrating. Four out of the five participants also showed improvements in the quality of their calibration data, as measured by the Control Coach[®] star ratings, with the adaptive algorithm ON (Fig. 1, right).



Figure 1: Differences in individual participant logged prosthesis use data including (left) calibration frequency (middle) wear-time per calibration (right) average calibration quality star-ratings when the adaptation classification algorithm was enabled or disabled on their pattern recognition control system.

DISCUSSION

We presented preliminary results of an at-home study to determine whether an adaptive classification algorithm for upper limb myoelectric prosthesis wearers reduces how often users choose to recalibrate their pattern recognition controller when using their prosthetic device within their home environment. By adding new data to the pattern recognition classifier rather than completely clearing the existing classifier, we implemented an adaptive algorithm that affords the controller the opportunity to generalize to more movements, prosthesis use conditions and a larger set of EMG input data. Our preliminary analysis reveals a trend towards a reduction in calibration frequency and an increase in how much time elapses before users choose to recalibrate their device when the adaptation algorithm was enabled. Interestingly, four of the five participants reported, in a Post-Study Questionnaire, that they felt they achieved better control performance during the 8-week period when the adaptive algorithm was enabled on their device. The implementation of supervised controller adaptation on a commercial pattern recognition system that decreases the need for recalibration, and even improves home-use performance can have a far-reaching clinical impact on prosthesis wearers.

An adaptive classification strategy may provide a means not only to reduce the frequency of user recalibration, but also to improve their functional prosthesis control. Another main finding of our preliminary results was that users improved their calibration quality when the adaptive algorithm was enabled. This result provides preliminary evidence that adding additional EMG input data can improve calibration quality which may translate to enhanced user control of their prosthetic device. Further analysis of participants' usage logs and virtual game data collected during each 8-week period is needed to determine the correlation between the quality of their calibrations and their control efficiency within both a virtual environment and their home environment.

While the adaptation algorithm implemented on the control system can generalize over a broader set of EMG calibration inputs, it is unable to account for EMG signal noise recorded during regular prosthesis use. EMG signal quality is a significant factor in users being able to consistently achieve adequate control of their device. While there are several physiological and engineering factors that can affect EMG signal quality (including external noise, muscle fatigue, electrode-skin impedance), myoelectric prostheses require that the electrodes maintain contact with the skin surface to ensure proper user function. The Complete Control System can detect such electrode liftoff events which can be used to monitor signal quality issues. Interestingly, the two users who had higher a calibration frequency when the adaptive algorithm was off also had a high frequency of electrode liftoff events. Currently, the

only way for users to counteract frequent electrode liftoff is by disabling the electrode channels with a noticeably high occurrence of liftoff events.

Participants in this study were required to perform a full motion calibration sequence to either replace or update their control system's classifier during both 8-week periods. However, one of the added features of the adaptative calibration algorithm is the ability to add EMG input data to a single motion rather than completing the entire motion sequence. This feature provides users a convenient way to update and improve their classifier for a single motion if they feel that their control efficiency for that motion has deteriorated or if there are prosthesis use conditions where they want to train with that specific motion. Since participants in this study were existing Complete Control system wearers and the adaptive classification algorithm is the default behaviour of the system, many who normally rely on the "Single Motion Add Data" feature to improve their prosthesis control did not have access to it. In fact, one of the participants who withdrew from the study reported that the inability to use the "Single Motion Add Data" feature as the primary reason for withdrawing from the study.

DISCLOSURES

This work was supported by the Department of Defense, through the Orthotics and Prosthetics Outcomes Research Program Prosthetics Outcomes Research Award under Award No. W81XHW-17-1-0645. Opinions, interpretations, conclusions and recommendations are those of the authors and are not necessarily endorsed by the Department of Defense.

Coapt, LLC is the manufacturer of the FDA-cleared Class II medical device, called the Complete Control System, used in this study. Wright, as Research Principal Investigator, is an employee of Coapt, LLC. Lock, as CEO, has financial interest in Coapt, LLC.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank all past and present Coapt engineers who contributed to the implementation of the adaptive machine learning algorithm and data logging on the Complete Control Gen2 pattern recognition system.

REFERENCES

- [1] R. Wirta, D. Taylor F. Finley, "Pattern-recognition arm prosthesis: a historical perspective a final report," *Bulletin of prosthetics research*, pp. 8-35, 1978.
- B. Hudgins, P. Parker, and R. N. Scott, "A New Strategy for Multifunction Myoelectric Control," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 82–94, 1993, doi: 10.1109/10.204774.
- M. Asghari Oskoei and H. Hu, "Myoelectric control systems-A survey," *Biomedical Signal Processing and Control*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 275–294, 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2007.07.009.
- [4] E. Scheme and K. Englehart, "Electromyogram pattern recognition for control of powered upper-limb prostheses: State of the art and challenges for clinical use," *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 643–660, 2011, doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2010.09.0177.
- [5] L. Hargrove, K. Englehart, and B. Hudgins, "A training strategy to reduce classification degradation due to electrode displacements in pattern recognition based myoelectric control," *Biomedical Signal Processing and Control*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 175–180, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2007.11.005.
- [6] E. Scheme, A. Fougner, Stavdahl, A. D. C. Chan, and K. Englehart, "Examining the adverse effects of limb position on pattern recognition based myoelectric control," 2010 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, EMBC'10, pp. 6337–6340, 2010, doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2010.5627638.
- [7] M. M. C. Vidovic, H. J. Hwang, S. Amsuss, J. M. Hahne, D. Farina, and K. R. Muller, "Improving the robustness of myoelectric pattern recognition for upper limb prostheses by covariate shift adaptation," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 24, no. 9, pp. 961–970, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2015.2492619.
- [8] F. Cummins, A. Feuser, N. Brantly, L. Hargrove, and B. Lock, "Machine Learning to improve pattern recognition control of upper-limb myoelectric prostheses," *Proceedings of MyoElectric Controls/Powered Prosthetics Symposium (MEC)*, Fredericton, New Brunswick, Canada, 2017.
- [9] A. M. Simon, B. A. Lock, K. A. Stubblefield, and L. J. Hargrove, "Prosthesis-guided training increases functional wear time and improves tolerance of malfunctioning inputs of pattern recognition-controlled prostheses," *Proceedings of the MyoElectric Controls/Powered Prosthetics Symposium (MEC)*, Fredericton, New Brunswick, Canada, 2011.
- [10] R. Duda, P. Hart, and D. Stork, "Pattern classification. 2nd ed. 2001, New York, Chichester. 654," p. 654, 2001.
- [11] N. Brantly, A. Feuser, F. Cummins, L. Hargrove, B. Lock, and S. R. Abilitylab, "Pattern Recognition Myoelectric Control Calibration Quality Feedback Tool To Increase Function," *Proceedings of the MyoElectric Controls/Powered Prosthetics Symposium (MEC)*, Fredericton, New Brunswick, Canada, pp. 2–4, 2017.

CHALLENGES OF UPPER LIMB FITTING IN CANADA: A SURVEY OF UPPER LIMB PROSTHESIS USERS AND CLINICAL PROSTHETISTS IN CANADA

Holly Tetzlaff¹, Wendy Hill², Usha Kuruganti¹

¹ Andrew and Marjorie McCain Human Performance Laboratory, Faculty of Kinesiology, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB, Canada ² The Atlantic Clinic for Upper Limb Prosthetics, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB,

Canada

ABSTRACT

Purpose: This study aimed to survey Canadian upper limb prosthesis users and clinical prosthetists (who fit the device) to examine physical and psychosocial factors that influence the acceptance and rejection of using an upper limb prosthesis. *Methods:* Two separate, custom-built questionnaires were developed and sent to Canadian clinical prosthetists to participate and distribute to their upper limb patients. *Results:* This survey received responses from 47 clinicians, 22 prosthesis users, and one non-prosthesis user from nine provinces. Due to the small data set, responses did not show any statistical significance; however, the results highlight several important factors and the importance of patient-prosthetist relationships and rehabilitation services. *Conclusion:* Upper limb fitting in Canada has its challenges, and similar to other research, there are several important factors to focus on when considering acceptance of upper limb prostheses.

INTRODUCTION

Individuals with upper-limb absence (ULA) account for 3 to 15% of all amputations and have relatively lower rates of acceptance/use than those with lower-limb absence (LLA) [1]. Studies show that acceptance rates for ULA individuals are 27 to 56%, whereas LLA individuals have a 49 to 95% acceptance rate [2]. Limb loss is considered "trauma", as the correlation between mental-self and real-self disrupted, which can affect an individual's interaction with the sense of belonging and the acceptance of a prosthetic limb. Acquired/traumatic limb loss accounts for 80 to 90% of all ULA, which can be correlated to the high and varying rates of prosthesis rejection, ranging from 24 to 70% [3]. Canadian research regarding upper limb prosthesis acceptance and rejection rates and reasons are limited and outdated since there are no official reporting requirements [4]. Furthermore, with the technological advancements in prosthetics, these rates have changed and should be updated [5]. The purpose of this study was to survey Canadian upper limb prosthesis users and clinical prosthetists (who fit the device) to examine physical and psychosocial factors which influence the acceptance and rejection of using an upper limb prosthesis. The results of this study will help address this void in Canadian upper limb research and improve our understanding of why acceptance and rejection of upper limb prostheses occurs.

METHODS

Questionnaire

Two separate, custom-built questionnaires were developed from a literature review of existing surveys and relevant research to focus on the most prevalent factors impacting prosthesis acceptance. The prosthesis user/non-user questionnaire collected participant demographics, limb loss specifics, prosthesis user background, and prosthesis acceptance and rejection related factors. The clinician questionnaire collected clinician and clinic demographics, prosthesis availability and rehabilitation, and prosthesis acceptance and rejection factors. The surveys were provided in English and French and administered through the online survey platform Google Forms and the post if needed. Certified clinical prosthetists across Canada were the primary recruitment source, as survey links were distributed via an invitation email. The clinicians were asked for their participation in the survey, as well as, to aid in dispersing the prosthesis user/non-user survey, to their patient list that met the inclusion criteria. The inclusion criteria for the clinician questionnaire were Canadian certified prosthetists (CP), certified prosthetists orthotists (CPO) and prosthetic residents, and that the clinic at which they worked fitted upper limb prostheses. The criteria for inclusion in the prosthesis user/non-user survey were upper limb amputees of any length, age 19 years or older, and who currently use a prosthesis or have chosen to reject using a prosthesis. A total of 47 clinicians (CL), 22 prosthesis users (PU) and one non-prosthesis user (NPU) participated in the survey. Questionnaires with a minimum of 75% completed answers were used, and for questions which were not answered by all participants the response rate was included in the results separately. Data was processed using t-tests with two-tailed distribution and two-sample unequal variance and two

sample proportion z-test, with an alpha level of 0.05. All statistical analysis was computed using Minitab 19.2020 (Minitab[®] LLC State College, Pennsylvania, USA), and a variance equality was not assumed for this. The Research Ethics Board at the University of New Brunswick (REB #2021-135) approved this study.

RESULTS

Clinician and clinic demographics

Clinician participation came from nine provinces, with 40.4% working in hospital-based clinics. The majority, 70.2%, of CL were CP, ranging from less than five to over ten years of experience. Most clinicians' ULA patients represented less than 10% of their clinic's population, with the average age of patients between 36 to 65 years. Clinician and clinic demographics are presented in Table 1.

Table 1: CL (p=46) and PU (p=20)							
Complaint	Pooled sample	Test	P-value				
Complaint	proportion	statistic	(p>0.05)				
Fit	0.23	-4.0845	2.000				
Maintenance/	0.169	-2.592	1.990				
repair							
Function	0.350	0.000	1.000				
Glove issues	0.166	-1.203	1.771				
Comfort	0.275	1.504	0.133				
Cosmetics	0.228	0.356	0.722				
Myo-hand/	0.135	0.547	0.585				
device							
Harness	0.120	1.150	0.250				
Durability	0.106	0.971	0.331				
Skin irritation	0.092	0.776	0.438				
Technology	0.064	0.305	0.760				



Figure 1: CL, PU and NPU ratings of importance for factors affecting acceptance. Likert scale of 1 to 5, with 1 being not at all important and 5 being very important. Standard error bars represent standard deviation. Factor Key: 1-Function of the prosthesis, 2-Ease of prosthetic device use, 3-Ease of putting on/taking off the prosthetic device, 4-Weight of the prosthetic device, 5-Cosmetic quality of prosthetic device, 6-Sufficient sensory feedback from the prosthetic device, 9- Heat produced while wearing the prosthetic device, 10-Satisfaction with prosthetic device technology, 11-Past prosthesis experience, 12-Lifestyle, 13-Availability of prosthetic services, 14-Access to therapy and training for prosthetic device use, 15-Confidence of prosthetist, 16-Quality of patient-prosthetist relationship.

Users and Non-Users demographics and limb loss specifics

Out of 23 individuals with ULA, 22 currently use a prosthetic device, and one did not. Participants identified as 43% female and 57% male and were primarily in the age range of 36 to 65 years and reported from five different provinces. 91% of the participants were unilateral amputees, mainly transradial (52%). Acquired amputation accounted for 65%, and of the acquired ULA individuals, 73% had their limb loss occur on their dominant arm. Prosthesis user and non-user demographics and limb loss specifics are documented in Table 2.

Table 2: Factors rated greater than or equal to 4.0 for the level of importance in influencing prosthesis acceptance.

	Factors																			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17*	18*	19*	20*
CL	+	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	+
PU	+	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	+	-	+	+				
NPU	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+				

 $+ = \ge 4.0$, - = < 4.0, *Factors only asked in clinical questionnaire. Factor Key: Same as Figure 1, with the addition 17-Patient gadget tolerance, 18-Amputation level, 19-Time to initial fit, 20-Funding availability.

Factors affecting "acceptance" of a prosthesis

CL, PU and NPU rated a list of 16 factors on the level of importance with regards to how it would affect the "acceptance" of a prosthesis. A statistical difference was not found between the CL and PU, as their ratings of importance were relatively similar. Except for their ratings for Access to therapy and training for prosthetic device use, there was a statistical significance (p= 0.06), with the CL rating a higher importance value, than the PU and NPU. The order of the highest-ranked factors, varied slightly between the two groups. PPU's top 5 factors, in order of highest to lowest average rating, were: socket and harness comfort, ease of putting on/taking off the patient's prosthetic device, quality of patient-prosthetist relationship, the function of the prosthesis, ease of prosthetic device use. Whereas the top 5 factors for CL, in order of highest to lowest average rating was: function of the prosthesis, socket and harness comfort, skin/body irritation from prosthetic device, quality of the patient-prosthetist relationship, ease of prosthetic device use.

Common complaints

In order of greatest occurrence, the following top 5 PU complaints were mentioned in clinicians' responses (n=46): weight, function, comfort, cosmetics, cost, whereas the top 5 PU complaints mentioned in the PU responses were (n=20): fit, maintenance/repair, function, glove issues, cosmetics. Table 1 documents commonly mentioned complaints and their statistical analysis values.

Patient-prosthetist relationship

On average, PU rated their overall relationship with their prosthetist 4.55 on a scale of 1 to 5, and the NPU participants rated theirs as a 5. Furthermore, 73% of PU agreed that they believe their level of satisfaction with their prosthetist influenced their decision to use a prosthesis, whereas the NPU did not. Similarly, 89% of CL agreed that PU's satisfaction level with their prosthetist can influence their acceptance of a prosthesis. However, there was no statistical difference between the two proportions, (p = 0.09).

Rehabilitation services

82% of PU have worked with a rehabilitation specialist, whereas the NPU did not. 74% of CL answered yes to coordinating rehabilitation services for their patients after fitting, with 64% of the specialists being occupational therapists (OT), 26% physiotherapists (PT) and 10% covering other specialists, such as physiatrists and psychologists.

DISCUSSION

Although the sample size for this study is relatively small and thus restricts the ability to show statistical analysis, these findings still present a great deal of preliminary data for Canadian upper limb prosthetics.

Participant demographics

Since ULA makes up a small portion of the limb loss population, it is understandable for most CL to have a limited amount of experience fitting upper limb PU and the various levels of limb loss. In the final question of the clinician questionnaire, participants are asked to provide their final thoughts on the current challenges in Canada regarding prosthesis acceptance and rejection. Prosthetist knowledge and having access to an experienced upper limb fitting prosthetist, had the third-highest occurrence rate (17%, n=47). It is recognized that the number of NPU does not allow for statistical analysis to occur; however, the answers provided are still considered to be a finite view of a NNPU's reasons for rejection.

Factors affecting "acceptance" of a prosthesis

Similar to previous research, CL and PU identify factors such as function of the prosthesis, socket and harness comfort, ease of putting on/taking off prosthetic device, ease of prosthetic device use, skin/body irritation from prosthetic device and quality of patient-prosthetist relationship [5]. Table 2 shows all ratings given greater than or equal to 4.0, which represents important to very important on the provided Likert scale.

Common complaints

Comparing the common complaints listed by the PU and CL allows for an analysis of how the CL are possibly interrupting user complaints and, what complaints are important to the users. When comparing the top five occurring complaints, it is interesting to note that two of the clinician's listed complaints are not in the top five for PU. When given the opportunity to report on their most common complaints, PU do not focus on weight or cost, unlike the CL. CL may be more focused on these two factors since they have an important influence on the PPU's use of and ability to use a prosthesis. 72% (n=16) of the PU participants (n=22), use body-powered or myo-electric hook/hands, which is when weight implications can become more

prominent. However, the survey results show that the PU is more concerned about the fit, maintenance, and function, which is understandable. If the prosthesis does not function properly, then the weight of the device is null and void.

Patient-prosthetist relationship

All three groups scored the quality of patient-prosthetist relationship \geq 4.0 and both CL and PU groups rated this factor in the top five highest for its importance. There is no statistically significant difference between the group's ratings. An additional comment in a clinician's survey said, "well-fitting/comfortable device can be accepted by any patient regardless of their feelings towards the prosthetist. It is often easier to get to the well-fitting/comfortable device is both parties have a healthy working respect for each other." This statement aligns with the current study's data and past research where the strength of each factor affects acceptance placed the quality of this relationship in the top five highest rankings [6]. Especially for younger patients, who may be clinic clients for a longer amount of time, the relationship with their clinician could hold an even greater influence factor in their decision to accept and continually use a prosthetic device.

Rehabilitation services

Rehabilitation and training can be influential on the prosthesis user. For acquired amputation, a good rehabilitation program is often divided into four phases: acute postsurgical, subacute pre-prosthesis training, basic prosthesis training, and advanced long-term rehabilitation [7]. The sooner training can start, the greater the period of "high acceptance" is, which influences the prosthesis user's willingness to use a prosthesis [8]. A common complaint reported in the current study was the lack of functionality or having too high of expectations for how well the prosthesis would function. Research shows that quality prosthesis training can positively impact the function and use of the prosthesis, for the rest of the user's life [8]. CL, who reported not coordinating rehabilitation services after fitting, provided reasoning, such as: "Therapists with expertise/experience with upper limb amputees are not available in our area (i.e., northern regions especially)," "Depends on access to publicly funded rehab therapists. No private therapists specialize in UE training" and "Depends on the level of confidence/experience (i.e., Often for people with new amputations we do coordinate rehabilitation with an OT and PT. However, for experienced PU we do not as they are already confident users.)." Improving the rehabilitation coordination and quality of training, is important for the overall prosthesis fitting process, especially as prosthetic device technology becomes more advanced. As user gadget tolerance becomes more difficult, experienced rehabilitation services will become more influential in the acceptance, and long-term use, of a prosthetic device [7]. In addition, to optimize rehabilitation, previous studies report the importance of sharing experiences between rehab centres, to spread knowledge of upper limb prosthetics [9].

CONCLUSION

The results suggest that Canada's upper limb prosthesis fitting has areas in need of improvement. Many factors can influence prosthesis acceptance, mainly focusing on function, ease of use and comfort of various components. Therefore, it is important for multidisciplinary teams of CL to focus their attention on improving these factors. Additionally, elements such as quality of patient-prosthetist relationship and rehabilitation services are shown to greatly impact a PPU's willingness to try a prosthesis and then consistently use it. Future research should focus on developing validated clinical research surveys to increase Canadian data, and track improvements, as prosthesis technology continues to change, and upper limb fitting improves through awareness and education. Awareness and qualification could also impact the number of survey participants, as CL and upper limb amputees may become easier to contact and more interested in helping with data collection. This research can help initiate the surge for Canadian upper limb fitting data collection and in turn better the quality of life of Canadian's living with ULA.

REFERENCES

[1] G. Levesque, "The social determinants of health and individuals with upper limb loss," *Doctoral dissertation, University of New Brunswick,* 2018.

[2] K. A. Raichle, et al., "Prosthesis use in persons with lower- and upper-limb amputation," *Journal of rehabilitation research and development*, 45(7), 961 972, 2008.

[3] D. Piscitelli, et al., "Prosthesis rejection in individuals with limb amputation: a narrative review with respect to rehabilitation," *Rivista di psichiatria*, 56(4), 175-181, 2021.

[7] L. Resnik, M. R. et al., "Advanced upper limb prosthetic devices: implications for upper limb prosthetic rehabilitation," *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 93(4), 710-717, 2012.

^[4] L. E. Jones & J. Davidson, "Review of the management of upper-limb amputees," Critical Reviews in Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 8(4), 297-322, 1996.

^[5] G. E. Stark, "Actor analysis of upper limb prosthetic acceptance from retrospective prosthetic clinician survey," Canadian Prosthetics & Orthotics Journal, 1(2), 2018.

^[6] G.E. Stark, "Actor analysis of upper extremity prosthetic patient acceptance," Ottobock Healthcare, Minneapolis, Minnesota, 2015.

^[8] C. Lake, "Affects of prosthetic training on upper-extremity prosthesis use," Assessment, 8(11), 12, 1997.

^[9] D. Datta, & V. Ibbotson, "Prosthetic rehabilitation of upper limb amputees: a five year review," Clinical rehabilitation, 5(4), 311-316, 1991.

EFFECT OF MULTI-GRIP MYOELECTRIC HANDS ON DAILY ACTIVITIES, PAIN-RELATED DISABILITY AND PROSTHESIS USE COMPARED WITH SINGLE-GRIP PROSTHESES

Cathrine Widehammar^{1,2}, Ayako Hiyoshi³, Kajsa Lidström Holmqvist¹, Helen Lindner⁴, Liselotte Hermansson^{1,5}

¹University Health Care Research Centre, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Örebro University, Sweden

²Dept of Peadiatrics, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Örebro University, Sweden

³Clinical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Medical Sciences, Örebro University,

Sweden

⁴School of Health Sciences, Örebro University, Sweden. ⁵Dept of Prosthetics and Orthotics, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Örebro University,

Sweden

ABSTRACT

<u>Objective:</u> To evaluate the effect of multi-grip hands on performance of daily activities, pain-related disability and prosthesis use, in comparison to single-grip hands. <u>Design</u>: Single-case AB design. <u>Patients</u>: Nine adults with upper-limb loss participated. All had previous experience of single-grip myoelectric prostheses and were prescribed a prosthesis with multi-grip functions. <u>Methods</u>: To assess the changes in daily activities, pain-related disability and prosthesis use between single-grip and multi-grip prosthetic hands, the Canadian Occupational Performance Measure, Pain Disability Index, and prosthesis wearing time were measured at multiple occasions. Visual assessment of graphs and multi-level linear regression were used to assess changes in the outcome measures, adjusting for xx, yy, and zz. <u>Results</u>: At 6 months' follow-up self-perceived performance and satisfaction scores increased, prosthesis wearing time increased, and pain-related disability reduced in participants with musculoskeletal pain at baseline. On average, 8 of the 11 available grip types were used. Most useful were the power grip, tripod pinch and lateral pinch. <u>Conclusion</u>: The multi-grip hand appears to be associated with higher performance and satisfaction of individually chosen activities, increased prostheses use and lower pain-related disability. A durable single-grip hand may still be needed for heavier physical activities. With structured training a standard two-site electrode control system can be used to operate a multi-grip hand.

INTRODUCTION

It is well known that myoelectric prostheses are being used in varying degrees [1]. To improve the usability of prosthesis, myoelectric prosthetic hands have been developed with multiple grip functions. The multi-grip prostheses have the potential to facilitate fine motor skills and enable a natural movement pattern [2], which, over time, may reduce pain due to a reduction in compensatory movements, and avoidance of overuse of the contralateral limb. However, the impact of these hands on the users' daily life has been sparsely studied, and the results have been inconsistent. Both users and clinicians reported that many of the multi-grip functions are rarely used [3]. There are several possible reasons for this; notably that all functions in the multi-grip hand need to be mastered, which may take time, training and, inevitably, require higher cognitive load [4]. Another reason for not using the full potential of the multi-grip hand may be incomplete training [5,6]. With inadequate training the patients may use their multi-grip hand in the same way as they have used a single-grip prosthesis [7,8]. Questions arise as to whether extensive training in control skills and use of multi-grip functions will facilitate actual use of the prosthesis, and whether this will have an effect on prosthesis users' activity performance and pain-related disability.

AIM

The overall aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of multi-grip myoelectric prosthetic hands on the performance of daily activities, pain-related disability and prosthesis use, in comparison with single-grip myoelectric prosthetic hands. A secondary aim was to study the users' ability to learn and use the multi-grip hand functions with a standard 2-site control system.

METHOD

A single case AB-design was used.

Participants and procedure

Inclusion criteria were: age 18 years or older, upper limb loss due to amputation or reduction deficiency present at birth, being a previous user of a conventional myoelectric prosthesis (single-grip) and having had training in using it, and having currently being prescribed a multi-grip prosthetic hand. Nine patients (5 males/4 females) mean age 31,8 (range: 18-59) years with various causes of limb loss and various prosthesis wearing time (range: <1-15 hours /day) were prescribed a multi-grip hand during September 2017- September 2020 and included in the study. They were all fitted with a bebionic multi-grip hand from Ottobock, Vienna, Austria, and using 2-site direct control.

In the prescription procedure the patients identified activities that were hard to perform with their present conventional myoelectric hand. The activities required fine motor skills which the participants thought maybe could be easier to perform with a multi-grip prosthetic hand. Examples of activities were to hold a book, shake hands, use cell phone, carry shopping bags, dress children, cook, and use a keyboard.

The participants were assessed 3 times before fitting with their single-grip prosthesis for a base-line (Phase A). Thereafter, the intervention followed, including fitting a multi-grip hand and a period of training and follow-up (Phase B). They had 2 days of intensive training at the time of fitting the bionic hand, and further training at the follow ups after 2 weeks, 1, 2, 3 and 6 months after fitting. A total of 6 assessments were made with the multi-grip hand (bebionic).

Outcome measures

To assess the changes in daily activities, pain-related disability and prosthesis use between single-grip and multigrip myoelectric prosthetic hands, the Canadian Occupational Performance Measure (COPM), Pain Disability Index (PDI), and prosthesis wearing time were measured at multiple time-points. A study specific questionnaire was also used at the 6 months follow up to investigate the usefulness and actual use of the available grip types.

The COPM is an interviewer administered assessment of individually selected problems in daily life activities. Patients define the 5 most important activities and score the quality and satisfaction with performance on a 1-10 scale where higher score indicates higher quality of performance or satisfaction with performance. The COPM scores were calculated according to the manual, with the sum of scores divided by the number of activities.

The effect on pain-related disability was measured with the PDI. This generic instrument measures the impact of prolonged pain on a person's ability to participate in essential life activities. The PDI is able to detect from low to high levels of pain-related disability on a 0-10 scale in 7 dimensions. The scores on all the dimensions are summed on a scale of 0-70, where a higher score indicates more obstacles in essential life activities due to pain.

The secondary aim, to study the users' ability to use the multi-grip hand functions, was assessed with a modified Southampton Hand Assessment Procedure (SHAP) and Assessment of Capacity for Myoelectric Control (ACMC). A modified SHAP was used to measure ability to switch between grips. The participants performed all tasks in the test in a sequence, and switched grip between each task. Time taken to complete all tasks was registered. The ACMC was used to see how well the participants learned to control and use the new prosthetic hand in daily activities. The ACMC is an observational based assessment with 22 items scored on a 0-4 scale of capacity for control of the prosthesis. Higher scores indicate higher ability. The ACMC raw scores were processed through the website resulting in an overall score ranging from 0-100.

Analyses

The changes in COPM, PDI, ACMC, and modified SHAP scores were assessed using both visual assessment of graphs [9] and multilevel linear regression models [10]. In the multilevel models, level 2 represented the individual and level 1 represented multiple measurement occasions from baseline to 6 months that were nested within level 2. Follow-up time was used as a categorical variable, with Phase A (baseline) as the reference. The coefficients indicate

differences in scores between baseline and each follow-up occasion in Phase B, with adjustment for xx, yy and zz. Confidence intervals (CIs) not overlapping zero were considered to indicate a statistically significant difference.

RESULT

Performance of daily activities

The graphs present crude scores for occupational performance and satisfaction scores in COPM, both of which increased in all individuals after using the multi-grip hand (see Figure 1). Adjusted multilevel regression models showed that, after 3 months, quality of performance scores increased, by a mean of 3.9 points (95% CI=3.2–4.6) and satisfaction with performance scores increased by 4.9 points (CI=4.0–5.7) (see Table 1).



Figure 1: Visual assessment of graphs of quality of and satisfaction with performance, as measured with the Canadian Occupational Performance Measure (COPM). Performance= Quality of performance; Satisfaction= Satisfaction with performance. Raw scores range from 1 to 10, with 10 representing the best possible score. (Phase A=baseline with the single-grip hand, Phase B=follow-up after fitting the multi-grip hand.

Table 1.	Coefficients,	95% confidence	intervals and	p-values	using m	nultilevel	linear re	gression	models fo	or COPM,
PDI, AC	CMC and mod	ified SHAP score	s, with adjust	ment for x	x, yy an	nd zz.				

	Data	СОРМ	СОРМ	PDI	PDI (n=5)*	ACMC	Modified	Modified
	collection	Performance	Satisfaction				SHAP	SHAP
	time						Light objects,	Heavy objects,
	point						seconds	seconds
		Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient
		(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Phase	Baseline	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
А								
	2 days	No data	No data	No data	No data	-18.5 (-24.5 to	26.3 (8.1 to	28.3 (12.2 to
		collected	collected	collected	collected	12.4) p<0.001	44.4) p=0.005	44.3) p=0.001
	2 weeks	No data	No data	No data	No data	-12.4 (-18.4 to -	7.7 (2.8 to	8.9 (-1.2 to
		collected	collected	collected	collected	6.5) p<0.001	12.7) p=0.002	19.0) p=0.085
	1 month	3.0 (2.1, 3.8)	3.8 (2.7, 4.9)	-2.0 (-9.9 to 5.9)	-4.6 (-18.1 to	-4.2 (-8.6 to 0.3)	9.3 (2.9 to	12.1 (-3.1 to
Dhaca		p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.620	8.9) p=0.504	p=0.068	15.8) p=0.004	27.4) p=0.119
r nase B	2 months	3.5 (2.9, 4.0)	4.5 (3.6, 5.4)	-4.0 (-10.8 to	-7.2 (-18.4 to	-4.8 (-9.5 to -	5.0 (0.4 to	1.2 (-8.4 to
Б		p<0.001	p<0.001	2.8) p=0.249	4.0) p=0.209	0.2) p=0.042	9.6) p=0.033	10.9) p=0.801
	3 months	3.9 (3.2, 4.6)	4.9 (4.0, 5.7)	-9.0 (-16.3 to -	-14.4 (-23.0	-1.4 (-6.1 to 3.2)	2.3 (-2.3 to	3.4 (-6.3 to
		p<0.001	p<0.001	1.7) p=0.015	to -5.8)	p=0.545	6.9) p=0.330	13.1) p=0.494
					p=0.001			
	6 months	4.3 (3.6, 4.9)	4.8 (3.9, 5.7)	-7.7 (-14.0 to -	-13.8 (-21.8	-2.5 (-7.8 to 2.8)	6.5 (-5.2 to	-3.7 (-13.4 to
		p<0.001	p<0.001	1.3) p=0.018	to -5.8)	p=0.359	18.1) p=0.275	6.0) p=0.454
					p=0.001			

*Includes only the 5 participants who reported pain-related disability in the Pain Disability Index at the baseline measurements.

Pain-related disability

Five participants reported that musculoskeletal pain was limiting their participation in essential life activities at baseline. This activity limitation generally declined after fitting a multi-grip hand. At the 6-month follow-up the number of participants reporting any pain-related disability had decreased from 5 to 2. In the adjusted multilevel analyses, focussing on the 5 participants who reported pain-related disability at baseline, it was found that, compared with baseline, their PDI mean score decreased significantly, by a mean of -14.4 (CI=-23.0 to -5.8) at the 3-month follow-up, and by -13.8 (CI=-21.8 to -5.8) at the 6-month follow-up (see Table 1)

Prosthesis use and perceived usefulness of multi-grip features

Participants increased their self-reported prosthesis wearing time after switching to a multi-grip hand, from a mean of 6.9 hours a day with single-grip hand to 8.8 h a day with the multi-grip hand at the 6-month follow-up. The median number of grip types used was 8 out of 11 (range 7–10). Grip types that were considered most useful and were used most were the power grip, tripod pinch and lateral pinch.

Prosthetic skill

Initially, when the participants were fitted a multi-grip hand, their skill in prosthesis control (ACMC scores) decreased compared with their baseline performance with the single-grip hand. After 3 months, the score of most of the participants increased to a level similar as with the single-grip hand. The time to perform the modified SHAP test became longer 2 days after fitting the multi-grip hand, compared with baseline with the single-grip hand. However, by the measurement after 2 weeks, it decreased to a similar level as with the single-grip hand. (Table 1)

CONCLUSION

The multi-grip myoelectric prosthetic hand has favourable effects on performance of, and satisfaction with, individually chosen activities, prostheses use and pain-related disability. A durable single-grip myoelectric prosthetic hand may still be needed for heavier physical activities. With structured training, a standard 2-site electrode control system can be used to operate a multi-grip myoelectric prosthetic hand, and many of the prosthetic functions are actually used.

REFERENCES

- EA. Biddiss and TT. Chau, "Upper limb prosthesis use and abandonment: a survey of the last 25 years." Prosthetics and orthotics international, vol. 31(3), pp.236-57, 2007.
- [2] Resnik L, Huang HH, Winslow A, Crouch DL, Zhang F & Wolk N. Evaluation of EMG pattern recognition for upper limb prosthesis control: a case study in comparison with direct myoelectric control. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2018; 15:1-13.
- [3] Franzke AW, Kristoffersen MB, Bongers RM, Murgia A, Pobatsching B Unglaube F & van der Sluis CK. Users' and therapists' perceptions of myoelectric multi-function upper limb prostheses with conventional and pattern recognition control. PLoS One 2019
- [4] Resnik LJ, Acluche F, Lieberman Klinger S. User experience of controlling the DEKA Arm with EMG pattern recognition. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0203987.
- [5] Van Der Niet O, Bongers RM, Van Der Sluis CK. Functionality of i-LIMB and i-LIMB Pulse hands: Case report. J Rehabil Res Dev 2013; 50.
- [6] Resnik L, Meucci MR, Lieberman-Klinger S, Fantini C, Kelty DL, Disla R & Sasson N. Advanced upper limb prosthetic devices: implications for upper limb prosthetic rehabilitation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2012; 93.4: 710–717.
- [7] Roche AD, Vujaklija I, Amsuss S, et al. A Structured rehabilitation protocol for improved multifunctional prosthetic control: a case study. J Vis Exp 2015: e52968.
- [8] Johnson SS and Mansfield E. Prosthetic training: upper limb. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am; 25: 133–151, 2014.
- [9] Lobo MA, Moeyaert M, Cunha AB, et al. Single-case design, analysis, and quality assessment for intervention research. J Neurol Phys Ther; 41: 187, 2017.
- [10] Baek EK, Moeyaert M, Petit-Bois M, et al. The use of multilevel analysis for integrating single-case experimental design results within a study and across studies. Neuropsychol Rehabil 2014; 24: 590–606.

IMPACT OF UNILATERAL TRANSRADIAL PROSTHESIS IN UPPER LIMB UTILIZATION RELATIVE TO ABLE-BODIED CONTROLS: INSIGHTS FROM WIRELESS ACCELEROMETER DATA

Phillip M Stevens¹⁻², Binal Motawar³, Kelli Buchanan³, Scott H. Frey³⁻⁴

¹Hanger Institute for Clinical Research and Education, ²Division of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Utah Health, ³Dept of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Missouri, ⁴Dept of Psychological Sciences, University of Missouri.

ABSTRACT

Hand loss profoundly impacts daily functioning. The use of an upper limb prosthesis can restore a measure of both unimanual and bimanual upper limb function for this population. We asked unilateral, transradial amputees (N=22) and healthy controls (N=20) to wear wireless accelerometers on their forearms and distal prostheses, as well as on their upper arms bilaterally to capture data over 3 days while the subjects were in their natural environments. Prosthesis users wore their devices an average of 11 hours/day. They exhibited heavier reliance on their sound side upper limb than on their affected limb. However, they were observed to engage in unimanual activity with their prostheses an average of 20 minutes/day compared to the 60 minutes of mean unimanual activity observed in the nondominant extremity of control subjects. Bimanual activity among prosthesis users was recorded for an average of 4 hours/day compared to an average of 5 hours/day in the control population. While participants generally exhibited 70% reliance on their lower arm segment relative to their upper arm segment, on the affected extremity of the amputee participants, this reliance dropped to 50%, suggesting a need for greater upper arm activity to preposition the prosthesis in space. Upper arm accelerometers confirmed that engagement of the upper arm segment in upper limb amputees diminish when the prosthesis is removed. Collectively, this data begins to demonstrate the ability of transradial prostheses to preserve both unimanual and bimanual functionality. (This abstract focuses on a subset of previously published data from Frey S, Motawar B, Buchanan K, et al. Greater and more natural use of upper limbs during everyday life by former amputees versus prosthesis users. Neurorehabil Neur Rep. 2022;36(3):227-38).

INTRODUCTION

Upper limb amputation has a profound impact on both function and quality of life.¹⁻⁴ Prostheses can improve outcomes, but disuse occurs among a minority of patients⁵ and those that use a prosthesis often rely heavily on their intact limbs during everyday life.⁶ This tendency towards one-handedness has been associated with greater disability and overuse injury.⁷

Recent literature has attempted to quantify the engagement of upper limb prostheses through wrist-worn accelerometers.⁶ These efforts have observed that prosthesis users demonstrate a preference towards their intact side, a lack of correlation between prosthesis wear and prosthesis use and a lack of correlation between prosthetic skill and prosthetic engagement.⁶

We implemented a wireless accelerometry protocol to record upper extremity movements during 3 days of normal activity in transradial amputees and healthy age-matched controls. Prior studies only implemented the forearms and prostheses at the distal wrist levels to capture hand and terminal device movements.⁶ In contrast, in addition to bilateral distal sensors we placed sensors proximally above the elbows. This allowed us to evaluate between-group differences in both upper arm and residual limb movements and the use of the upper arm by amputees when not wearing their prosthesis. We sought to better define the extent to which transradial prostheses were able to enable the unimanual and bimanual upper limb engagement observed in able-bodied controls. This effort was part of a larger trial that additionally enlisted both hand transplant and hand replant patients which has been published elsewhere.⁸

METHODS

Ethics

The protocols was approved by the University of Missouri Office of Human Protections and the Human Research Protection Office at the Department of Defense and was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helskinki. All participants provided informed consent.

Participants

With respect to the data reported in this abstract, we used wireless accelerometers to capture data on limb use across 3 consecutive days in 2 groups of interest. Group 1) users of unilateral transradial prostheses (N=22, aged 56.4 \pm 17.1 years, 1 female, 30.2 \pm 21.6 years after traumatic amputation). Half of the limb loss group had dominant hand affected; and Group 2) healthy age-matched controls (N=20, aged 53.4 \pm 15.8 years, 3 females, 18 right handed. Current amputees used a variety of prostheses: exclusively body-powered (n=8), exclusively myoelectric (n=7), both body-powered and myoelectric (n=5), passive (n=1) and unknown (n=1). On average, the amputee group had used a prosthesis for 26.09 \pm 20.93 years, with their current prosthesis being in use for an average of 7.11 \pm 14.46 years. Prosthesis users were recruited through Hanger Clinic and local and national advertising, resulting in a convienence sample of individuals who responded to recruitment materials.

Data Collection

Data collection on this trial has been reported in detail elsewhere⁸ but is described briefly as follows. Four accelerometer sensors (GT9X Link, ActiGraph Corp, Pensacola, FL) were shipped to subjects. Subjects wore these accelerometers for 3 consecutive days. The data collection included 2 weekdays and 1 weekend-day to sample both occupational and leisure activities. Two accelerometers were worn on the anatomical or prosthetic forearm to capture hand or prosthesis movements, and two accelerometers were placed above the elbows to capture upper arm movements.

Data Analysis

Data Analysis on this trial has been reported in detail elsewhere,⁸ but is described briefly as follows. Activity counts were counted in 1-second epochs and downloaded from the accelerometer. Variables of interest were computed during awake time. For prosthesis users, we also identified prosthesis non-wear time.

Table 1: Variables of interest including measured unilateral and bilateral forearm activity and median reliance on the upper arm. (In general, the metrics of the affected limb of prosthesis users are compared against the nondominant limb of the control group, while the metrics of the unaffected or sound limb of prosthesis users are compared against the dominant limb of the control group).

	Ampu	itees	Con Domi	trol inant	Control Nondominant	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Unilateral forearm activity (hours/day)	4.8	1.6	2.72	.89	N/A	N/A
Unilateral affected forearm activity (hours/day)	.33	.19	N/A	N/A	1.06	.46
Unilateral unaffected forearm activity (hours/day)	4.47	1.61	1.65	.54	N/A	N/A
Bilateral forearm activity (hours/day)	4.02	1.35	5.04	1.33	N/A	N/A
Median reliance on forearm, affected limb (%)	49.41	3.37	N/A	N/A	70.33	7.66
Median reliance on forearm, unaffected limb (%)	69.98	3.61	68.56	7.46	N/A	N/A
Median reliance on affected upper arm, prosthesis off (%)	25.37	12.44	53.58	5.35	46.42	5.35
Median reliance on affected upper arm, prosthesis on (%)	30.62	7.07	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

RESULTS

Our data found that prostheses were used an average of 79% of waking hours with a mean recorded utilization of 11.1 ± 1.8 hours/day. Additional variables of interest are shown in Table 1. Unilateral engagement of the prosthesis was recorded an average of 20 minutes per day. Unilateral engagement of the sound side extremity was recorded for an average of 4.5 hours per day. By contrast, unilateral activity in the dominant and non-dominant extremity of the control subjects were reported an average of 100 minutes and 60 minutes respectively per day. Among prosthesis users, an average of 4 hours of bimanual activity was recorded. By comparison, control subjects recorded an average of 5 hours of bimanual activity per day.

Reliance upon the forearm relative to the upper arm was recorded in four conditions; that of the dominant limb in controls, the non-dominant limb of controls, the sound side limb of the prosthesis users and the affected extremity of the prosthesis users. That mean forearm reliance ratios were reported at 69%, 70% and 70% respectively among the first three scenarios. In the last scenario a forearm ration of 50% was recorded.

Upper limb reliance among the non-dominant limbs of control subjects was observed at 46%. When the prosthesis was not worn, this ratio decreased to 25%. When the prosthesis was worn this variable increased to 31%.

DISCUSSION

While a minority of those with upper limb amputation eventually choose to abandon the use of a prosthesis, the subjects enrolled in our trial were found to wear their devices for more than 11 hours per day. During this period, prosthesis users engaged in both unimanual and bimanual tasks. Viewed collectively, prosthesis users engage in an average of 8.82 hours of upper limb activity. This is roughly one more hour of upper limb activity than that recorded on average for healthy controls (7.76 hours). This relative parity may reflect the similarities associated with activities of daily living (ADLs) in both groups, with upper limb amputees requiring additional time to complete upper limb tasks.

As observed by Chadwell et al,⁶ the disparity between unimanual engagement of the prosthesis and unimanual engagement of the sound side limb is stark, observed at 20 minutes and nearly 4.5 hours respectively. However, the disparity between unimanual engagement of the prosthesis and unimanual engagement of the non-dominant extremity of the controls was much less pronounced at 20 and 60 minutes respectively. Our data suggest that transradial prostheses are able to preserve roughly 1/3rd of the unimanual activity duration typically associated with a non-dominant extremity.

Ostlie et al⁹ observed a tendency for upper limb prostheses users to report preferentially engaging the use of their devices in bimanual tasks. Our data support this tendency, with engagement of transradial prostheses during bimanual tasks occurring an average of 4 hours daily. This value begins to approximate the 5 hours of bimanual tasks recorded among health controls, suggesting that transradial prostheses are able to facilitate approximately 80% of the bimanual activity duration observed in able-bodied controls.

The relative reliance upon the forearm relative to the upper arm was assessed in four conditions. Specifically, the ratio of forearm movement to upper arm movement was recorded in the dominant control limbs, the non-dominant control limbs, the sound side extremities of the unilateral amputees and the amputee's affected extremities. The mean values in the first three conditions were comparable at approximately 70%, suggesting that upper limb activity was predominantly executed distal to the elbow. By contrast, this ratio was observed to be much lower for the affected group at 50%. This may suggest a greater need for proximal joint motions to effectively preposition the terminal device in space for task execution. Pilot efforts to understand such proximal joint compensations have been reported.¹⁰

Interlimb reliance among the upper arms of the non-dominant limbs of control subjects averaged 46%. When prostheses were not being used, our amputee subjects demonstrated an even greater reliance on the upper arm segment of the unaffected limb, suggesting decreased engagement of the affected extremity (upper arm reliance of the affected extremity = 25%). When the prostheses were worn, the engagement of the affected extremity increased (upper arm reliance of the affected extremity=30%). This shift suggests increased engagement of the affected extremity with the prostheses on, better approximating the valued observed in the non-dominant extremities of control subjects.

This initial analysis was confined to users of unilateral transradial prostheses. Additional insights may be gathered when this data is compared against that collected from users of bilateral prostheses or among prosthesis users with more proximal amputation levels.

CONCLUSION

Upper limb prostheses are characterized by several limitations. These include their weight, limited dexterity and lack of sensory restoration. Yet, for all of these limitations, our findings suggest that transradial prostheses are able to facilitate roughly 1/3rd of the unimanual activity duration recorded upon the non-dominant extremities of able bodied controls. Similarly, transradial prostheses facilitate the performance of approximately 80% duration of the bimanual activity recorded among able bodied controls. Limitations in prosthetic dexterity is such that the proximal joint segments of the affected extremity appear to experience greater compensatory motion to facilitate upper limb function. Amputees appear to engage their residual limbs more frequently while wearing their prostheses than when prostheses are not being worn.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by Department of Defense Grant #MRI140043 to S.H.F

REFERENCES

- [1] L Resnik, S Ekerholm, M Borgia and MA Clark. "A national study of veterans with major upper limb amputation: Survey methods, participants and summary findings." *PloS One*. 2019
- [2] K Demet, N Martinet, F Guillemin, and J Paysant. "Health related quality of life and related factors in 529 persons with amputation of upper and lower limb." *Disabil Rehabil.* 2003
- [3] P Gallagher, MA O'Donova, A Doyle and D. Desmond. "Environmental barriers, activity limitations and participation restrictions experienced by people with major limb amputation." *Prosth Orthot Int.* 2011.
- [4] LV McFarland, SL Hubbard Winkler, AW Heinemann, M Jones and A Esquenazi. "Unilateral upper-limb loss: satisfaction and prostheticdevice use in veterans and servicemembers from Vietnam and OIF/OEF conflicts." *J Rehabil Res Dev.* 2010.
- [5] EA Biddis and TT Chau. Upper limb prosthesis use and abandonment. Prosth Orthot Int. 2007.
- [6] A Chadwell et al. Upper limb activity in myoelectric prosthesis users is biased towards the intact limb and appears unrelated to goal-directed task performance. Sci Rep. 2018
- [7] MA Hanley, DM Edhe, M Jensen, J Czerniecki, DG Smith and LR Robinson. "Chronic pain associated with upper-limb loss." Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2009.
- [8] S Frey et al. "Greater and more natural use of the upper limbs during everyday life by former amputees versus prosthesis users." Neurorabil Neural Rep 2022.
- [9] K Østlie, P Magnus, OH Skjeldal, B Garfelt and K Tambs. "Mental health and satisfaction with life among upper limb amputees: a Norwegian population-based survey comparing adult acquired major upper limb amputees with a control group." *Disabil Rehabil.* 2011
- [10] SL Carey, MJ Highsmith, ME Matland, RV Dubey. "Compesatory movement of transradial prosthesis users during common tasks. *Clin Biomech.* 2008.

MUSCULOSKELETAL COMPLAINTS AND HUMAN ASSUMED CENTRAL SENSITISATION IN INDIVIDUALS WITH BRACHIAL PLEXUS INJURY AND UPPER LIMB ABSENCE

Anneliek A. Peters¹, Sietke G. Postema¹, Hans Timmerman², Corry K. van der Sluis¹, Michiel F. Reneman¹

¹University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Groningen, The Netherlands

²University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Department of Anesthesiology, Pain Center, Groningen, the Netherlands

ABSTRACT

Background: Musculoskeletal complaints (MSCs) are a highly prevalent problem in subjects with upper limb absence (ULA) and Brachial Plexus Injury (BPI). Single-handed individuals often experience pain in multiple locations. Human Assumed Central Sensitisation (HACS) can be present in single-handed individuals. This study aims to determine the presence of HACS in single-handed individuals with MSCs compared to individuals without MSCs as well as two-handed controls.

Methods: This study aims to include 20 individuals with ULA, 20 with BPI, and matched two-handed controls. All participants filled in the Central Sensitisation Inventory (CSI) questionnaire (range 0-100, cut off value for CS \geq 40). Furthermore, they underwent a Quantitative Sensory Testing (QST) protocol. Seven sensory tests were executed to quantify the function of the sensory nervous system: dynamical mechanical allodynia (DMA, range 0-100), mechanical detection threshold (MDT, range 0.125-1024mN), mechanical pain threshold & sensitivity (MPT, range 8-1024mN & MPS, range 0-100), wind-up ratio (WUR, ratio), and pressure pain threshold & sensitivity (PPS in N & PPT, range 0-100).

Results: Data collection is ongoing. At present, data of seven individuals with BPI are collected. CSI mean is 24 (SD 11.0). QST: DMA [1.0], MDT [1.3-1024.0mN], MPT [19.2-1024mN], MPS [0.6-25], WUR [1.33-4.5], PPS [27.5-138.0N], and PPT [1-50].

Conclusion: Preliminary results indicate that CS may be present in a subgroup of single-handed individuals with MSCs. This study sheds light on the role of CS in single-handed individuals and could give more insight in the frequently occurring MSCs in such individuals.

INTRODUCTION

Many individuals with one functional hand, such as individuals with upper limb absence (ULA) and brachial plexus injury (BPI), complain about musculoskeletal complaints (MSCs). The prevalence of MSCs in individuals with ULA is nearly twice as high as compared to two-handed controls (35% vs. 65%) [1]. A higher prevalence is also shown in a sample with BPI (49%) compared to a non-impaired control group (35%) [2]. They experience pain more often, but also in more bodily locations [1,2].

Pain can be described by three mechanistic descriptors according to the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP): a) nociceptive pain, pain that arises from actual or threatened tissue damage to non-neural tissue and is due to the activation of peripheral nociceptors; b) neuropathic pain, pain caused by a lesion or disease of the somatosensory nervous system; and c) nociplastic pain [3]. Nociplastic pain is pain that arises from altered nociception despite that there is no clear evidence of actual or threatened tissue damage causing the activation of peripheral nociceptors or evidence for disease or lesion of the somatosensory system causing the pain [3]. However, in individuals with pain, multiple simultaneous mechanisms can play a role, described as mixed pain [4]. Central sensitisation (CS) is related to all three pain descriptors. CS is defined by the IASP as "the increased responsiveness of nociceptive neurons in the central nervous system to their normal or sub-threshold afferent input" [3]. Although CS has some overlap with nociplastic pain, it differs in the fact that CS refers to a neural mechanism and nociplastic pain to a pain

mechanism [5]. CS has been proven in animal studies, but not yet in humans, therefore CS should be regarded as a concept and therefore we used the term Human Assumed CS (HACS) [6]. Currently, no golden standard for HACS is available, and investigating HACS can be done by identifying reference clinical symptoms and signs [6]. Instruments like the Central Sensitisation Inventory (CSI) and the Quantitative Sensory Testing (QST) protocol are often used to assess the indicators of HACS [6]. An indicator for HACS is allodynia, a hypersensitivity to normally subthreshold innocuous stimuli [3,7]. Another indicator is hyperalgesia, an increased responsiveness to noxious stimuli [3,7]. Furthermore, temporal summation is another indicator, which is described as an increased response to repetitive noxious stimuli over time [7].

HACS has been researched in persons with other diagnoses, such as fibromyalgia and chronic low back pain [8], but not in single-handed individuals, despite the fact that it is known that many single-handed individuals suffer from musculoskeletal pain [1,2]. Knowledge about the presence of HACS could give additional insight into the development and persistence of MSCs, and could help clinicians in the treatment and prevention of those complaints [9]. This study aims to examine the presence of HACS in individuals with ULA and BPI with and without MSCs and healthy two-handed individuals, by performing the QST protocol [10] and evaluating results of the CSI [11]. We hypothesized that individuals with MSCs showed some indicators for HACS compared to individuals without MSCs. Within participants, we expected to see differences between a painful area and a non-painful area, showing more indicators in the painful area.

METHODS

The Medical Ethics Review Board of the University Medical Center Groningen (METc UMCG) approved the study (METc 2019/425). All participants signed an informed consent before the start of the study.

Three samples were included: individuals with ULA, either due to congenital transversal reduction deficiency or an acquired amputation, individuals with BPI, and matched controls. Participants were recruited via a list of adult eligible patients composed by clinicians of the UMCG, Center for Rehabilitation. Individuals with ULA were also recruited via the Dutch patient organization for persons with ULA. Controls were recruited via the network of the researchers through advertisements.

At the start of the measurements, participants filled in a survey with demographic and clinical characteristics (i.e. age, gender, handedness, cause of injury, affected side, level of injury, aid use). All participants also filled in the CSI questionnaire [11]. This is a self-reported questionnaire consisting of two sections (A and B) to assess the presence of HACS-related symptoms. In section A, 25 questions about how often a symptom occurred were rated on a 5-point Likert scale (range 0-100). A score higher than 40 could indicate HACS. Section B asked participants about previously diagnosed CS syndromes (CSS) and/or conditions related to HACS, such as restless legs syndrome or fibromyalgia.

Furthermore, all participants underwent the QST protocol. This protocol is composed of several sensory tests to quantify the function of the sensory nervous system [10]. Five sensory tests were executed resulting in seven outcomes. These were all performed on four body locations: thigh on the non-dominant/affected side as a control site, thigh on the dominant/unaffected side as a reference site, the most painful location of the upper extremity, and the location contralateral to this most painful location. The following tests were executed: 1) Dynamic Mechanical Allodynia (DMA): pain rating of a brush stroke (range 0-100); 2) Mechanical Detection Threshold (MDT): stimulus intensity of a Von Frey filament when touch was no longer perceived (range 0.125-1024mN); 3) Mechanical Pain Threshold (MPT): stimulus intensity of a pinprick when it becomes sharp (range 8-1024mN); 4) Mechanical Pain Sensitivity (MPS): the pain rating of the MPT (range 0-100), 5) Wind-Up Ratio (WUR): the ratio between pain rating of repeated stimuli and a single stimulus; 6) Pressure Pain Threshold (PPT): intensity in Newtons of pressure algometer; and 7) Pressure Pain Sensitivity (PPS): pain rating of the PPT (range 0-100).

Data records from the different tests and questionnaires were collected and imported into the database RedCap. The records were then exported that SPSS, where the analyses were performed. Before analysis, the ratio of the DMA and the WUR was calculated. A mean of the five repetitions of the MDT, MPT, and MPS was calculated, given that there were at least three valuable data points. Descriptive statistics of the sample characteristics and the main test results were calculated as median and range. Because data collection is ongoing, no statistical tests were performed.

RESULTS

Participants

Seven participants (six males) with BPI were included so far, since due to the COVID-19 regulations measurements were delayed. The median age of the participants was 65.3 years (range 36.3–74 years). The side of the BPI was right in four cases. The participants were diagnosed with BPI between 7 and 45 years ago (median 30 years). All seven had an accident that caused the BPI. Four individuals experienced MSCs in the previous year, while three did not. Of these four participants, three experienced MSCs during the last four weeks. The median duration of MSCs was 13 years (range 1.5–30 years). The location of the pain varied, in three of the participants with MSCs the most painful area was the affected shoulder/neck region. One participant experienced pain in the unaffected hand and fingers.

CSI outcomes

The mean (SD) of the CSI was 24 (11.00). Previously diagnosed CSS were jaw complaints (n=1), migraine (n=1) and neck injuries (n=2).

QST outcomes

The results for the QST are presented in Table 1. The DMA, an assessment for allodynia, was missing in almost all participants, indicating no pain from a single brush stroke. In the MDT, on the most painful site the intensities of the Von Frey hairs were higher compared to the contralateral site, indicating that the stimuli with lower intensities (i.e. thinner Von Frey hairs) were not felt and thus a decreased responsiveness. This was also seen in the MPT; a higher value meant that the pinprick was considered painful with a higher intensity (i.e. thicker pinprick), so less sensitive to the stimulus. Additionally, the stimuli were rated as less painful with the MPS. The WUR remained relatively similar between the test sites. All participants experienced more pain after the stimulus series in comparison with the single stimulus.

QST Test (n=7)	Reference test site	Most painful test site	Contralateral test site (to most painful test test) ^b
1) DMA ^a	1.0 [1.0] (n=2)	1.0 [1.0] (n=1)	1.0 [1.0] (n=1)
2) MDT in mN	6 [3.2–11.2] (n=7)	9.6 [1.3–1024.0] (n=7)	3.1 [1.0–16.0] (n=6)
3) MPT in mN	115.2 [19.2–115.2] (n=7)	108.8 [16.0–1024.0] (n=7)	64.8 [19.2–454.2] (n=6)
4) MPS	3.4 [0.8–25.0] (n=7)	1.5 [0.6–7.5] (n=6)	3.5 [0.8–20.0] (n=6)
5) WUR ^a	2.5 [1.33-4.0] (n=7)	2.8 [2.0–4.0] (n=5)	2.67 [1.4–4.5] (n=5)
6) PPT in N	81 [45.0–138.0] (n=7)	46.5 [33.0–73.0] (n=6)	61.5 [27.5–93.0] (n=6)
7) PPS	4 [1.0–40.0] (n=7)	9.5 [2.0–50.0] (n=6)	16 [2.0–45.0] (n=6)

Table 1: QST test results for each test site.

Legend: All results were reported as median [range] (n=). ^a The DMA/WUR cannot be calculated if the pain rating of the single stimulus was zero, those were registered as missing value. ^b One participant was not tested on the CTS. Abbreviations: QST, Quantitative Sensory Testing; DMA, dynamic mechanical allodynia; MDT, mechanical detection threshold; MPT, mechanical pain threshold; MPS, mechanical pain sensitivity; WUR, wind-up ratio; PPT, pressure pain threshold; PPS, pressure pain sensitivity;

DISCUSSION

Several individuals with ULA or BPI experience MSCs [1,2], which may indicate the presence of HACS in these people. Until now, knowledge on HACS in these populations remained underreported and this research aims to bridge that gap by using the CSI and QST protocol to assess indicators for HACS. In this study, seven individuals with BPI have participated. None of the participants reported a score above>39 points on CSI, which represents an often used cut-off point for the presence of HACS [11]. However, while often used, the validity of this cut-off is debated, and recently a clinically relevant cut-off of 30 points was suggested (males 25, females 33; [12]). Based on the newest cut-off, the presence of HACS is feasible in a subgroup in this study.
Regarding the QST results, differences were seen between the test sites, this could be explained by the fact that different body locations have different sensitivity to stimuli [10]. We did not find more indicators in the most painful site in comparison with the contralateral site. Almost all participants showed no values on the DMA, suggesting that allodynia is not present in these participants. Results on hyperalgesia, assessed with the MDT, MPT, and MPS, showed that the most painful site was less responsive and less painful than the contralateral side. Temporal summation is considered positive when the pain intensity increases with repeated stimuli, so this might be present [6]. However, there were no differences seen between the test areas. These surprising results might be explained because these QST tests consist of cutaneous stimuli and might not be very adequate for musculoskeletal conditions [13]. Another explanation could be that HACS was not present, but that the pain could be described as nociceptive, neuropathic, and/or nociplastic pain. These pain descriptors have to be examined with other tests and physical examinations. Furthermore, due to the lack of cut-off values for the QST, it is difficult to interpret the data [6].

This is to our knowledge the first study to examine the presence of HACS in single-handed individuals. The CSI and the QST are quite easily adapted into clinical practice and could give additional insight into individuals with ULA or BPI experiencing MSCs. However, individuals with ULA and BPI may also suffer from phantom pain and neuropathic pain. As we did not examine these pain conditions, this may have influenced the results. Currently, there is no golden standard for HACS and due to the lack of cut-off values for the QST, the presence of HACS is difficult to determine. Other QST measures, such as conditioned pain modulation (CPM) and thermal stimuli were not included in this study due to practical reasons. Adding these tests could give a broader insight into HACS in this population. As this is an ongoing study, only preliminary results were reported. More participants (also with ULA) will be included and we expect to be able to present more results at the congress. Hopefully, this will show explanations for the findings. Analysing the group with ULA and the controls could also show similarities and differences between the three samples.

In conclusion, this preliminary data showed possible HACS in a subgroup of BPI participants, depending on the applied cut-off score of the CSI questionnaire. Variability between subjects was considerable. This suggests that an individual approach could be more efficient. With more results, this study could shed light on the role of the pain mechanisms and CS in single-handed individuals. This could give more insight into MSCs in individuals with ULA and BPI, and could aid in the treatment and prevention of these complaints.

REFERENCES

- [1] S.G. Postema *et al.*, "Musculoskeletal complaints in transverse upper limb reduction deficiency and amputation in the Netherlands: prevalence, predictors, and effect on health.," *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.*, vol. 97, pp. 1137-1145, 2016.
- [2] T. van der Laan *et al.*, "Prevalence and factors associated with musculoskeletal complaints and disability in individuals with brachial plexus injury: a cross-sectional study.," *submitted*
- [3] Pain, I.A.f.t.S.o. IASP Taxonomy, http://www.iasp-pain.org/Taxonomy
- [4] R. Freynhagen, R.Rey, and C. Argoff, "When to consider "mixed pain"? The right questions can make a difference!," *Curr. Med. Res. Opin.*, vol 36, pp. 2037-2046, 2020
- [5] S.E. Harte, R.E. Harris, and D.J. Clauw, "The neurobiology of central sensitization.," J. Appl. Biobehav. Res., vol.23, e12137, 2018.
- [6] I. Schuttert et al., "The definition, assessment, and prevalence of (human assumed) central sensitisation in patients with chronic low back pain: a systemic review.," J. Clin. Med., vol 10, 5931, 2021.
- [7] C. den Boer et al., "Central sensitization in chronic pain and medically unexplained symptom research: a systematic review of definitions, operationalizations and measurement instruments.," J. Psychosom. Res., vol. 117, pp. 32-40, 2019.
- [8] C.J. Woolf, "Central sensitization: implications for the diagnosis and treatment of pain.," Pain., vol. 152, 2011.
- [9] J. Nijs *et al.* "Treatment of central sensitization in patients with chronic pain: time for change?," *Expert Opin. Pharmacother.*, vol.20, pp. 1961-1970, 2019.
- [10] R. Rolke et al. "Quantitative sensory testing in the German research network on neuropathic pain (DFNS): standardized protocol and reference values.," Pain., vol.123, pp. 231-243, 2006.
- [11] T.G. Mayer et al., "The development and psychometric validation of the central sensitization inventory.," Pain., vol. 12, pp. 276-285, 2012.
- [12] I. Schuttert *et al.*, "Clinically relevant values and associations for the central sensitization inventory to identify human assumed central sensitization.," *submitted.*
- [13] Arendt-Nielsen et al., "Assessment and manifestation of central sensitisation across different chronic pain conditions.," Eur. J. Pain., vol. 22, pp. 216-241, 2018.

THE EFFECT OF SENSORY FEEDBACK ON THE TEMPORAL ALLOCATION OF GAZE USING A SENSORIZED MYOELECTRIC PROSTHESIS

Jacqueline S. Hebert and Ahmed W. Shehata

Division of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

ABSTRACT

Myoelectric prosthesis users have altered spatial and temporal allocations of gaze, likely influenced by both control proficiency and sensory feedback. Providing task-relevant and movement feedback can improve spatial visual allocation, but temporal patterns of gaze shift have not been reported for prosthesis users with sensory feedback systems. We present data from two prosthesis users with integrated touch and kinesthetic feedback in a myoelectric prosthesis performing a functional cup movement task while tracking eye and hand movements. Despite different skill levels and task performance, both participants showed improved ability to disengage eye fixation from the object and transition to the next movement plan when provided kinesthesia and touch feedback together. Temporal allocation of gaze, specifically, the ability for the eye to disengage after interacting with objects, seemed impervious to skill level and maybe a valuable measure of the ability to trust the sensory feedback, disengage vision, and motor plan forward in a sensorized prosthesis. Eye latency measures could be a valuable marker of control skill and feedback efficacy in prosthesis users.

INTRODUCTION

Myoelectric prosthesis users have disruptions to normal hand-eye coordination when interacting with objects. Generally, prosthesis users will fixate their gaze on the prosthetic hand and cannot look forward to the next target location of action [1], [2]. This behaviour is quite different from normal eye-hand coordination, where the eyes lead the hand and fixate on task-relevant areas to efficiently motor plan the next movement [3], [4] and may contribute to less use of the prosthesis for functional activities.

We have shown in a prior study that providing relevant touch and kinesthetic feedback in a sensory integrated myoelectric prosthesis can reduce the spatial allocation of vision, with reduced fixation to the hand and increased fixation to the next target in an object interaction task [5]. However, sensation is only one aspect of prosthetic performance that may influence visual behaviour; accurate control may also provide the confidence to look away from the hand once the object is firmly grasped and look ahead to the next target [6]. The transition of the gaze fixation may therefore be affected by both movement control and the type of sensory feedback provided.

Using a simulated transradial myoelectric prosthesis with non-disabled participants [7], we explored eye latency measures [3] for further insight into eye fixation and hand movements. The ability of the eye to precede the grasp of an object significantly correlated with hand trajectory variability and grasp time. Similarly, the ability to disengage the eye after pickup of the object to transition the gaze to the next dropoff location significantly correlated to hand trajectory variability, distance travelled, and transport time. Lastly, the ability of the eye to disengage after dropping off the object was related to release time. Similar to the findings of [8], control issues with opening and closing the prosthetic hand and controlling movement through space influenced the ability to temporally and spatially allocate visual fixation. Therefore, the temporal allocation of vision may be of value to explore in prosthesis users with sensory feedback, as presumably providing channels of real-time feedback should release vision to be more effectively used for motor planning.

This paper explores the changes to eye gaze transitions when picking up and dropping off objects in two participants with sensory integrated prostheses providing matched touch feedback (to the digits) and kinesthesia (sensation of hand grasp movement). Whereas touch sensation provides task-specific feedback on object contact during grasp, kinesthesia should improve the ability to reallocate vision for motor planning of the next movement. We also hypothesized that measures of hand function, used as a proxy of control skill [9], may affect the eye gaze adaptations seen with sensory feedback. If eye gaze metrics are responsive to changes with sensory feedback, this could be a valuable method of assessing both sensory feedback and control strategies from the perspective of movement planning.

METHODS

As described in [5], two participants that had undergone targeted motor and sensory reinnervation at shoulder disarticulation level (participant SD) and transhumeral level (participant TH) were fit with a bidirectional myoelectric prosthesis with touch feedback related to the prosthetic digits, and kinesthetic sensation of hand close. They performed trials in 3 conditions: *motor* (no feedback), *touch* (touch tactors activated), and *kinesthesia* (both touch and kinesthetic tactors activated). SD had control of 3 prosthetic movements (hand open/close, elbow flexion/extension, pronation/supination). TH only had control of hand open/close, due to technical difficulties with the prosthetic elbow. Both participants gave written informed consent for the study, which was approved by the ethics review board.

Participants performed the Cup Transfer Task of the Gaze and Movement Assessment protocol [10] which records eye gaze and hand movements as they pick up and transfer 2 compliant cups full of beads over a barrier on a table in front of them and then back to the starting location, for a total of 4 cup movements. SD performed 13 trials for motor and touch conditions and 9 trials for the kinesthesia condition. TH performed 20 trials for motor and 19 trials for touch and kinesthesia conditions. Data processing steps to attain metrics of interest for this analysis (eye latencies and hand function metrics) are described in [11].

As detailed in [3], eye arrival latency (EAL) was defined as the time the eye first fixates to the target location relative to the end of grasp for "pickup", and to the end of transport for "dropoff" of the object. Eye leaving latency (ELL) was defined as the time the eye first leaves the pickup location relative to the start of transport; and leaves the dropoff location relative to the end of transport. A shorter ELL is a more positive number, whereas a longer ELL is more negative (see: [3]). Target locking strategy (TLS) [8] was calculated as the ratio of percent (%) fixation to current minus % fixation to hand for the phases of reach and transport initially for each movement based on the average % fixation values, and then across movements as a summary metric of spatial gaze fixation. For EAL and ELL metrics, all trial values across the 4 movements were averaged per condition. Values are reported as mean (standard error of the mean).

RESULTS

The two participants were different in skill level and control (Table 1). SD had longer task durations and spent more relative time in prolonged grasp phases (grasp SD 31.1(2.0)%; TH 23.4(2.2)%), compared to TH who had more prolonged transport phases (transport SD 24.0(0.6)%; TH 35.5(2.2)%). SD also showed longer hand distance travelled and greater hand trajectory variability in both reach and transport compared to TH, indicating a less efficient movement path. The hand movement metrics were substantially unchanged across conditions, except for slightly lower hand trajectory variability in reach for SD in the kinesthesia condition. SD showed an improved TLS for the kinesthesia condition in both reach and transport (Figure 1a), reflecting less fixation to hand and greater fixation to the next target. For reach, the value improved closer to normative, and for transport, the TLS became less negative (indicating greater target fixations, but still not greater than fixations to hand).

Regarding eye latencies of SD (Figure 1b), when transitioning from picking up the cup to transporting, in the motor and touch conditions the eyes lingered on the cup well into the transport phase (ELL pickup motor -1.85(0.13) sec; touch -1.79(0.15) sec). However, for the kinesthesia condition, the ELL became positive at +1.62(0.19) sec, indicating the eyes disengaged from the cup and shifted to the next target location while still in grasp phase. The other latency measures were not notably different between conditions for SD; in general, the EAL pickup values were very high (6.50-7.27 sec), reflecting the long reach and grasp times.

Metric average values across all movements	Normative Reference	Participant SD			Participant TH		
		Motor	Touch	Kinesthesia	Motor	Touch	Kinesthesia
Total task duration (sec)*	8.9 (0.1)	58.6 (3.4)	55.3 (1.9)	51.9 (1.5)	18.7 (0.2)	20.3 (0.3)	18 (0.2)
Hand distance travelled (mm)	4864 (47)	6497 (237)	6896 (153)	6998 (176)	5574 (24)	5497 (25)	5523 (18)
Hand trajectory variability Reach; Transport (mm)	18 (4); 19 (4)	71 (8.0); 50 (3.3)	75(9.2); 38(2.2)	58 (6.3); 52(5.7)	32(2.2); 25(0.7)	52(6.9); 30(2.1)	32(3.2); 21 (1.1)

Table 1: Hand movement values across conditions

*Calculated as sum of all phase durations



Figure 1: Participant SD a) Target Locking Strategy (% fixation to current - % fixation to hand) averaged across movements for Reach and Transport phases. Normative value 79% for Reach and 67% Transport. b) EAL and ELL values at pickup and dropoff averaged for all trials per condition.

For TH, the movement profile was quite different. He moved faster, with less variability, as expected given the intact shoulder and only having to control one degree of freedom. He also had positive TLS values for all conditions in reach and transport, reflecting that he did not have high hand fixations (reported in: [5]), and TLS did not improve with kinesthesia. However, ELL at pickup had similar improvements as with SD; in motor and touch conditions ELL pickup was negative (ELL pickup motor -0.26(0.04) sec; touch -0.29(0.05) sec) and improved to positive for the kinesthesia condition at +0.22(0.09) sec (Figure 2), indicating he could disengage his eye fixation away from the object just before the end of grasp. The other latency measures also showed a trend to be closer to zero for the kinesthesia condition, specifically ELL at dropoff also showing earlier disengagement from the cup during release.



Figure 2: Participant TH EAL and ELL values at pickup and dropoff averaged for all trials per condition.

DISCUSSION

Touch and kinesthetic sensory feedback within a prosthesis system has been shown to improve spatial allocation of gaze fixation behaviour [5]. Spatial and temporal gaze transitions have also been shown to reflect control stability and performance and influence the interpretation of visual allocation [8]. Specifically, the impact of sensory feedback on eye behaviour might be determinant on control proficiency. In this analysis, both kinematic hand function measures and eye behaviours reflected the individual differences in skill and control performance. SD, at a shoulder disarticulation level using 3 degrees of freedom, had lower baseline motor function as reflected in slower movements, longer hand trajectory and higher variability. Providing positional awareness (kinesthesia) related to grasp function in addition to touch feedback had an impressive impact on spatial visual allocation, with improved target locking strategy. At pickup of the object, with kinesthesia and touch, SD was also remarkably able to temporally reallocate the gaze fixation forward when *still in the grasp phase*, thereby impacting both spatial and temporal gaze allocation behaviour.

TH, with an intact shoulder and controlling hand open/close, had a more confident reach and overall performance at baseline than SD. The addition of kinesthetic grasp and touch feedback did not change movement function or target locking, although he did show reduced fixations to hand [5]. TH's spatial allocation of vision was likely already positively influenced by his proficient motor control. However, the addition of kinesthetic feedback to touch improved the ability to transition the gaze more normally at the end of grasp and when releasing the object. The improvement in eye latency measures suggests kinesthesia increased confidence in disengaging vision from the object for motor planning of the following action.

Limitations of this study include only 2 participants representing different amputation levels and skill proficiency. With higher participant numbers, we could more thoroughly investigate the consistency of these trends and the statistical generalizability. There was no "only kinesthesia" condition due to the intense testing schedule and need to limit conditions, so the results do not directly tease out the differences between touch and kinesthesia, other than to note that touch alone did not provide the same improvements. We believe this underscores the importance of proprioception and kinaesthesia in releasing vision for motor planning in prosthesis users.

CONCLUSION

Temporal allocation of gaze, specifically, the ability for the eye to disengage after interacting with objects, seemed impervious to skill level and maybe a valuable measure of the ability to trust the sensory feedback, disengage vision, and motor plan forward in a sensorized prosthesis. Eye latency measures could be a valuable marker of both control skill and feedback efficacy in prosthesis users and should be further investigated.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We recognize the original funding source for this work: the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) Biological Technologies Office (BTO) under the auspices of D. Weber and A. Emondi through the DARPA Contracts Management Office Grant/Contract No. N66001-15-C-4015.

REFERENCES

- [1] M. M. D. Sobuh *et al.*, "Visuomotor behaviours when using a myoelectric prosthesis," *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.*, vol. 11, no. 1, 2014.
- [2] J. S. Hebert *et al.*, "Quantitative Eye Gaze and Movement Differences in Visuomotor Adaptations to Varying Task Demands Among Upper-Extremity Prosthesis Users.," *JAMA Netw. open*, vol. 2, no. 9, pp. e1911197– e1911197, Sep. 2019.
- [3] E. B. Lavoie *et al.*, "Using synchronized eye and motion tracking to determine high-precision eye-movement patterns during object- interaction tasks," *J. Vis.*, vol. 18, pp. 1–20, 2018.
- [4] F. R. Sarlegna and P. K. Mutha, "The influence of visual target information on the online control of movements.," *Vision Res.*, vol. 110, no. Pt B, pp. 144–154, May 2015.
- [5] P. D. Marasco *et al.*, "Neurorobotic fusion of prosthetic touch, kinesthesia, and movement in bionic upper limbs promotes intrinsic brain behaviors.," *Sci. Robot.*, vol. 6, no. 58, p. eabf3368, Sep. 2021.
- [6] H. Bouwsema, P. J. Kyberd, W. Hill, C. K. van der Sluis, and R. M. Bongers, "Determining skill level in myoelectric prosthesis use with multiple outcome measures," *J. Rehabil. Res. Dev.*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1331– 1348, 2012.
- [7] K. Y. Cheng, C. S. Chapman, and J. S. Hebert, "Spatiotemporal Coupling of Hand and Eye Movements When Using a Myoelectric Prosthetic Hand," in *IEEE ICORR (submitted)*, 2022.
- [8] J. V. V Parr, S. J. Vine, N. R. Harrison, and G. Wood, "Examining the Spatiotemporal Disruption to Gaze When Using a Myoelectric Prosthetic Hand.," *J. Mot. Behav.*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 416–425, 2018.
- [9] N. Stergiou and L. M. Decker, "Human movement variability, nonlinear dynamics, and pathology: is there a connection?," *Hum. Mov. Sci.*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 869–888, Oct. 2011.
- [10] A. M. Valevicius *et al.*, "Characterization of normative hand movements during two functional upper limb tasks.," *PLoS One*, vol. 13, no. 6, p. e0199549, 2018.
- [11] H. E. Williams, C. S. Chapman, P. M. Pilarski, A. H. Vette, and J. S. Hebert, "Gaze and Movement Assessment (GaMA): Inter-site validation of a visuomotor upper limb functional protocol," *PLoS One*, vol. 14, no. 12, p. e0219333, Dec. 2020.

THE EFFECT OF SERIOUS GAME TRAINING ON UPPER LIMB PROSTHESIS CONTROL IN THE HOME ENVIRONMENT

Bart Maas^a, Zack A. Wright^b, Corry K. Van der Sluis^c, Raoul M. Bongers^a

^a University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Department of Human Movement Sciences

^b Coapt LLC., Chicago, IL, USA

^c University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine

ABSTRACT

<u>Background</u>: The focus of the field of upper limb prosthesis has primarily been on lab-based studies, while usercomplaints do hardly change. Focus should shift to home use training and assessment. The current paper establishes whether training with serious games in the home setting affect upper limb prosthesis activation signals in Pattern Recognition controlled prostheses.

<u>Method:</u> Ten upper limb prosthesis users were measured for a period of two weeks and were instructed to play serious games for at least 45 minutes per week. The activation signals before and after a serious game was played during daily life were measured. The activation signals were classified in involuntary and voluntary activations.

<u>Results</u>: More involuntary activation signals than voluntary activation signals were recorded. Second, no effects of serious game training on activation signals in daily life were found.

<u>Conclusion</u>: Even though no effect of serious game training was found, our findings show that recording and analyzing data derived from prosthesis users' daily life is feasible. However, much has still to be learned about the storage, applicability and meaning of this data. Our research underlines the importance of transitioning from lab-based research to research in daily life.

INTRODUCTION

Upper limb prostheses have undergone substantial technological improvements in the last two decades. For instance, the number of degrees of freedom of the prosthetic hand has increased by creating multi-grip hands and control has advanced to Pattern Recognition (PR) control, where multiple electrodes measure patterns of muscle activation that are matched to a grip pattern, cf. [1]. However, user complaints about the control of the prosthesis in daily life situations have hardly changed in the last two decades, despite these technical advancements [2]–[4]. This might be partly due to the fact that technological improvements have mainly been assessed in lab-based studies with a limited number of users [5]. In lab-based studies, mostly tasks were used that only partly cover the tasks that users perform in activities of daily living. To improve the quality of lab-based training, serious games (games that are designed to develop a certain skill while playing) have been used as a training tool to enhance prosthesis control [6]–[8]. However, effectiveness of serious game training on prosthesis use has not been evaluated in home use. Hence, the current study aims to determine the effect of training serious games in the home setting on upper limb prosthesis activation signals in PR controlled prostheses.

METHOD

The data collection of the Coapt Complete Control System for this study was conducted by Coapt LLC. Each participant provided informed consent in accordance with the WCG-IRB.

Design

The activation signals of the participants' upper-limb prosthesis were measured in their home setting when the device was turned on during a period of 2 weeks. Participants were instructed to use their prosthesis as they would in their normal day-to-day life with the only additional requirement to train with serious games provided by the Coapt system for at least 45 minutes per week. Participants were free to choose when they would train with the games, however they were urged to train multiple days.

Serious games

The Coapt system provided users with two serious games, Simon Says and In The Zone. Simon Says is a Fitts'-Laws style serious game in which participants control a virtual arm in an attempt to match a target posture (Figure 1). The virtual arm is controlled by the same activation signals as the real prosthesis.



Figure 1. A) The user has to match the position of the 'shadow arm' (closed hand position) with the representation of their own prosthesis (solid arm, hand open position). B) When the user correctly matches their prosthesis position to the target position, the prosthesis turns green.



Figure 2. A) The user has to match the diameter of the target ring (yellow) by activating the joint with the correct amount of activation. B) When the user correctly matches the amount of activation (the black ring) with the target ring, the ring will turn green.

In The Zone is a serious game in which participants had to match a target intensity of muscle contraction levels. A virtual arm with a target ring around a specific joint and a ring which matched their actual contraction level (see Figure 2) was presented. By increasing the amount of muscle activation around that joint, participants were able to match the sizes of both rings.

Data storage and outcome measures

Data storage within the Coapt system was done in three steps. First, the system computed the number of consecutive time frames of 50 ms in which the user produced the same activation signal. Second, the system stored the data of each individual activation signal in one of two groups based on the number of consecutive time frames: involuntary activations (1-6 frames) and voluntary activations (<7 frames). Third, the system counted the frequency of each group of activation signals per individual motion of the system. As outcome measure we divided the number of activation signals per group by the total activations for all participants separate for each motion of the system. It was hypothesized that serious games would improve a user's prosthesis control, arguably resulting in more voluntary activation. When a user had more voluntary activation than involuntary activation after the serious games were played than before, it could be assumed that playing serious games improved that user's prosthesis control.

Statistical analysis

Due to the limited number of participants, a non-parametric Wilcoxon Signed Rank test was used to determine if there were differences in the ratio of the involuntary and voluntary activations of the Hand Open, Hand Close, Wrist Supination and Wrist Pronation modes before and after serious games were played.

RESULTS

Participant characteristics are presented in Table 1. The data show that there are more involuntary activation signals than voluntary activation signals for each prosthesis activation mode, see Figure 3. No significant differences were found between the ratio of involuntary and voluntary activations before and after the serious games were played (Figure 3) for both the Hand Open, Hand Close, Wrist Supination and Wrist Pronation modes.

Table 1. Characteristics of participants with transradial (TR) or transumeral (TH) defects

Participants	Sex	Age	Number of months of	Wear time	Number of games played/2 weeks (1
			prosthesis use	(hours/2 weeks)	game = 5 minutes)
TR 1	Female	57	33	6.8	18 (90 min)
TR 2	Male	38	25	25.9	19 (95 min)
TR 3	Female	42	18	64.9	14 (70 min)
TR 4	Male	28	8	125.0	19 (95 min)
TR 5	Female	53	74	243.7	18 (90 min)
TR 6	Female	31	54	4.1	53 (265 min)
TR 7	Female	36	4	13.2	14 (70 min)
TH 1	Male	57	16	66.4	28 (140 min)
TH 2	Male	47	72	9.6	21 (105 min)
TH 3	Male	43	84	45.0	20 (100 min)



Figure 1. The average distribution of the activation signals for the Hand Open motion (first), Hand Close (second), Wrist Supination (third) and Wrist Pronation (fourth) are shown. The ratio of the activation signals (y-axis) was calculated (activation signals per group (x-axis) divided by the total) for all participants before a serious game was played (black bars) and after a serious game was played (white bars).

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Our main analysis of the effectiveness of serious games on activation signals in PR controlled upper limb prostheses showed no difference in the ratio of voluntary and involuntary activation signals when comparing before and after training. This null-finding may have different reasons that deserve further study. For instance, it might be that a

training period of two weeks is too short to find an effect of the training with serious games (see for instance Tabor et al 2018), or that the training time of minimal 45 minutes was not long enough. Moreover, it might be that the users included in this study were already quite experienced in the use of PR controlled prosthesis.

Another issue that deserves further study is the choice of the games. In this study we used the games that were available in the Coapt system. However, other studies have shown effectiveness of serious games that were task-specific [7], [9]. It might be that the serious games currently used were not specific enough to improve use of the prosthesis in the home setting due to training and focused too much on the control of the myo-signal.

An unexpected result of the current study is that we found more involuntary activations that voluntary activations. The origin of this result is not clear. It might be that the short activation commands do not result in activation of the prosthesis and therefore these signals are not controlled by the users, which might explain their high occurrence. This finding underlines the importance of longer lasting studies in the home setting of the prosthesis users instead of short lab-based research.

To conclude, in a first study to examine the effectiveness of serious games in home usage of PR controlled upper limb prostheses we did not find an effect of the serious games. We argued that the step to measuring in the home situation is an important one to further improve the field. Our current findings show that a type of training (i.e., serious gaming) that had shown to be effective in the lab, was not effective in the home situation. Therefore, our findings, although a null finding, show the importance to shifting focus to studies in home settings to improve PR controlled upper limb control.

REFERENCES

- [1] D. Farina *et al.*, "The extraction of neural information from the surface EMG for the control of upper-limb prostheses: Emerging avenues and challenges," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 797–809, 2014, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2014.2305111.
- [2] F. Cordella *et al.*, "Literature review on needs of upper limb prosthesis users," *Front. Neurosci.*, vol. 10, no. MAY, pp. 1–14, 2016, doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00209.
- [3] A. W. Franzke *et al.*, "Users' and therapists' perceptions of myoelectric multi-function upper limb prostheses with conventional and pattern recognition control," *PLoS One*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 1–9, 2019, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0220899.
- [4] E. Biddiss and T. Chau, "Upper limb prosthesis use and abandonment: A survey of the last 25 years," *Prosthet. Orthot. Int.*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 236–257, 2007, doi: 10.1080/03093640600994581.
- [5] C. K. van der Sluis and R. M. Bongers, "TIPS for Scaling up Research in Upper Limb Prosthetics," *Prosthesis*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 340–351, 2020, doi: 10.3390/prosthesis2040032.
- [6] C. Prahm, I. Vujaklija, F. Kayali, P. Purgathofer, and O. C. Aszmann, "Game-Based Rehabilitation for Myoelectric Prosthesis Control," *JMIR Serious Games*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. e3, 2017, doi: 10.2196/games.6026.
- [7] L. Van Dijk, C. K. Van Der Sluis, H. W. Van Dijk, and R. M. Bongers, "Task-Oriented Gaming for Transfer to Prosthesis Use," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 24, no. 12, pp. 1384–1394, 2016, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2015.2502424.
- [8] L. Hargrove, L. Miller, K. Turner, and T. Kuiken, "Control within a virtual environment is correlated to functional outcomes when using a physical prosthesis," *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.*, vol. 15, no. Suppl 1, 2018, doi: 10.1186/s12984-018-0402-y.
- [9] M. B. Kristoffersen, A. W. Franzke, C. K. van der Sluis, A. Murgia, and R. M. Bongers, "Serious gaming to generate separated and consistent EMG patterns in pattern-recognition prosthesis control," *Biomed. Signal Process. Control*, vol. 62, no. August, p. 102140, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2020.102140.

WELL-BEING AMONG INDIVIDUALS WITH UPPER LIMB AMPUTATION IS STRONGLY CORRELATED WITH BIMANUAL UPPER LIMB FUNCTION, ACTIVITY AND PARTICIPATION LEVELS, PROSTHETIC SATISFACTION AND LOWER RATES OF PAIN INTERFERENCE

Phillip M Stevens,¹⁻² Amy Todd,³ Stephen Mandacina,³ Dwiesha England¹ and Shane R Wurdeman^{1,4}

¹Hanger Institute for Clinical Research and Education, ²Division of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Utah Health, ³Upper Limb Program, Hanger Clinic, ⁴Department of Biomechanics, University of Nebraska.

ABSTRACT

A retrospective analysis of 250 individuals with upper limb amputation or limb deficiency was performed to better understand the relationships being well-being and upper extremity function, activity and participation, prosthesis satisfaction and wear times and pain interference. Well-being, as a cumulative construct of quality of life and satisfaction was found to strongly correlate with self-reported physical function in bimanual tasks, self-reported activity and participation levels, self-reported satisfaction with prostheses and reduced pain interference. By contrast, neither age, gender, time since amputation nor reported prosthesis wear times were found to correlate with well-being in this population. While causality between these closely related and overlapping constructs may prove difficult to establish, their close relationships suggest that well-being in this population may be pursued through the thoughtful provision of an appropriate prosthesis and training to enable the performance of bimanual tasks tailored to the unique activity and participation needs of the individual.

INTRODUCTION

Upper limb amputation and congenital upper limb deficiencies are associated with a number of disabling characteristics. In addition to the obvious functional deficits attendant with the absence of the affected extremity, these individuals contend with a spectrum of pain experiences and social stigma, and in the case of acquired amputation, a dramatic alteration in self-image and vocation.

Well-Being has been described as a blended construct combining the elements of quality of life and satisfaction.¹ The restoration of well-being among individual with acquired upper limb amputation can be reasonably considered a primary objective of rehabilitation. Importantly, it may be influenced by a number of interconnected variables including an individual's functional upper limb capacity, their activity and participation amongst family, friends and society, and their daily pain levels and experiences.

Individuals who have undergone upper limb amputation have reported reduced scores with respect to the physical elements of their quality of life relative to both population norms² and individuals with lower limb amputation.³ Similar findings have been observed with respect to the related construct of satisfaction with life even when controlling for a range of potentially confounding variables such as age, gender, marital status and educational level.⁴

With respect to limitations imposed upon activity, Gallagher et al identified frequently encountered broad activity limitations for this population. These included getting dressed (52.9%), taking care of household responsibilities (52.9%), and day-to-day work/school activities (40.0%).⁵ Additionally, in consideration of restrictions to participation, the most frequently identified restrictions have been suggested in employment or job seeking (91.7%), family life (41.2%), leisure/cultural activities (41.2%), sports or physical recreation (38.5%), shopping (35.3%), living with dignity (35.3%) and socializing (23.5%).⁵

With respect to upper limb function, following upper limb amputation MacFarland et al found greater difficulty associated with bimanual activities such as washing and drying dishes, and food preparation and lesser difficulty

associated with tasks that lend themselves to one-handed performance such as driving, brushing ones teeth, and opening and closing doors.⁶

Beyond the described constraints to function, activity and participation, this population frequently contends with a number of often overlapping pain experiences. These include phantom limb pain, residual limb pain and overuse pains experienced in the sound side extremity or torso. One or more of these pain experiences has been reported by as much as 90% of those with upper limb deficiency, with most reporting multiple, overlapping pain experiences.^{2,7} While phantom limb pain and residual limb pain appear to be more prevalent, overuse pains have been reported as both more severe and disruptive.⁷

The provision of an appropriate upper limb prosthesis may influence well-being in this population by restoring a measure of upper limb function and enabling improved activity and participation levels. While individuals with unilateral upper limb deficiency tend to rely heavily on their sound side limb for upper limb function, bimanual function is indicated for many daily tasks and may be enhanced with an appropriate prosthesis.⁸

Satisfaction with a prosthesis appears to be very user dependent, taking into consideration such elements as appearance, weight and reliability. Available evidence suggests that different upper limb prosthesis types (eg, body-powered, myoelectric and cosmetic) appear to address different areas of satisfaction with no consistently preferred device type.⁸⁻⁹ Rather, prosthesis satisfaction appears most influenced by amputation level, with great satisfaction associated with more distal amputation levels.⁹ Within the constraints imposed by amputation level, optimizing prosthetic satisfaction may be a product of matching device characteristics with user priorities.

The purpose of this retrospective analysis was to better understand the relationships observed between well-being and upper limb function during bimanual tasks, activity and participation levels, satisfaction with a prosthesis, and pain interference amongst a convenience sample of individuals with unilateral limb deficiency distal to the shoulder and proximal to the wrist who utilize and upper limb prosthesis

METHODS

Using the Prosthesis Evaluation Questionnaire-Well Being,¹ patients rated their satisfaction with life (SAT) and quality of life (QOL) over the prior 4 weeks. Scores range from 1 to 10, with higher scores indicating higher levels of well-being.

To evaluate upper limb physical function, a previously assessed custom 9-item short form derived from the PROMIS®-UE v2.0 item bank was administered (PROMIS-9 UE).¹⁰ Patients were asked to report the level of difficulty associated with each item using a discrete, ordinal scale ranging from 1 (unable to do) to 5 (without any difficulty). Items included such tasks as opening and closing a zipper, cutting food using utensils and lifting or passing heavy items. All items within the PROMIS-9 UE are bimanual activities. Bimanual activities were intentionally chosen to attempt to isolate those activities where prostheses would be more likely to influence upper limb function. Raw scores were converted to t-scores using the healthmeasures.net scoring service such that a score of 50 corresponds to the average scores of the United States population.

Additional patient reported outcomes included the 4-item short form of the PROMIS-Ability to Participate in Social Roles and Activities (APSRA). This construct aligns well with the considerations of activity limitation and participation restriction proposed by the International Classification of Function, Disability and Health (ICF). Patients were additionally asked to report prosthesis satisfaction using the Trinity Amputation and Prosthesis Experience Scales- Revised (TAPES-R), a single item of pain interference (PROMIS-Pain Interference), number of months since amputation, hours of daily wear time per, age, and gender.

To analyse the data, a multivariate linear regression model was run (forward enter method) with patient wellbeing as the predicted variable. Secondarily, in addition to the multivariate model, each variable was separately analysed through a univariate linear regression to assess individual effects. This retrospective database review was approved by Western Investigational Review Board (Protocol #20170059).

RESULTS

There were 250 individuals with upper limb amputation that had an outcome of record for analysis. The majority had a transradial or wrist disarticulation amputation (73.2%), and reported amputation due to trauma (38.8%, or 66.4% of those with reported etiology). Slightly less than half reported having an electronic arm (46.0%).

The overall regression model was statistically significant (R = 0.675, $F_{(8,241)} = 25.162$, p < 0.001; Table 1).

R=0.675	В	Standard Error	β	t	Р
(Constant)	2.280	0.980		2.33	0.02*
Activity/Participation (APSRA)	0.077	0.019	0.335	4.03	<0.01*
Prosthesis Satisfaction (TAPES)	0.200	0.051	0.240	3.90	<0.01*
Pain Interference (PROMIS)	-0.328	0.114	-0.190	-2.88	<0.01*
Physical Function (PROMIS-9 UE)	0.028	0.014	0.152	1.94	0.05*
Daily wear time (hours)	-0.023	0.024	-0.059	-0.97	0.34
Time since amputation (months)	0.000	0.001	-0.009	-0.15	0.88
Gender (male)	-0.040	0.301	-0.008	-0.13	0.90
Age (years)	-0.001	0.008	-0.004	-0.08	0.94

Table 1: Correlates to Well-Being among Upper Limb Amputees

DISCUSSION

This retrospective analysis provides some insight into those factors that appear to correlate most strongly with improved satisfaction and quality of life among individuals with major upper limb amputation or deficiency. While causality cannot be determined, the relationships between these various constructs provide a foundation for how the rehabilitation of this population may be best approached.

We assessed physical function through a custom short form of the PROMIS measure of physical function that has been validated within upper limb prosthesis users (PROMIS-9 UE).¹⁰ Because of the tendency for prosthesis users to default to their sound side extremity to perform many unimanual activities, the items included in the custom PROMIS scale are bimanual tasks. A limitation of this measure is that it does not inquire as to whether an individual task is performed with or without the use of the prosthesis. It is possible that some users may employ alternate strategies to complete some of the items on the short form. However, the bimanual nature of these tasks suggests that the engagement of a prosthesis would have been more likely for many if not all of our respondents, especially given the overlapping correlations with higher reported rates of prosthesis satisfaction.

We observed a strong relationship between self-reported bimanual physical capacity and well-being. By contrast, the correlations between well-being and daily prosthetic wear times were only modest. This is consistent with prior published observation. Ostlie et al observed that despite good demonstrated prosthetic skills and high levels of prosthetic satisfaction and perceived usefulness, individuals with upper limb amputation reported engaging their prostheses to complete only about half of their ADLs with a stronger tendency towards prosthetic use observed in bimanual activities.⁸ Chadwell et al also reported no correlation between prosthetic proficiency and daily prosthesis use.¹¹ Thus, it appears to be the user's ability to perform bimanual upper limb tasks when necessary, rather than their actual prosthesis wear times, that is more closely related to the overarching constructs of well-being and quality of life.

The relationship between well-being, upper limb function, activity and participation scores and prosthesis satisfaction warrant further study and consideration. It may be that those individuals with higher levels of physical function were more able to participate in their social roles and activities and, as a result, reported higher satisfaction and quality of life. Alternately, it may be that those individuals who were managed with prostheses more closely tailored to their activities and various roles reported both greater prosthesis satisfaction and higher levels of activity and participation, collectively culminating in higher satisfaction and quality of life scores. Causality between these

interrelated factors may be difficult to ultimately assign. Rather, their close associations should be seen as a strong rationale to pursue bimanual function with a prosthesis tailored to individual activity and participation requirements.

The correlation between reduced pain interference and increase well-being aligns with clinical observation. Individuals with upper limb amputation and deficiency often report a range of pain types and intensities.^{2,7} These can include residual limb pain, phantom pain and pain related to over-use in the sound side extremity and through the upper back, neck and torso. Any of these pain types can ultimately have profound impacts upon well-being that would be difficult to overcome.

CONCLUSIONS

The constructs of QOL and SAT have been represented in the broader construct of Well-Being. Our data suggest that greater levels of Well-Being are correlated with higher levels of functional capacity with bimanual activity as measured with the PROMIS-9 UE, higher levels of activity and participation as measures with the PROMIS-APSRA, higher levels of satisfaction with prostheses as measured by the TAPES-R, and reduced levels of pain interference. By contrast, daily reported wear times, times since amputation, age and gender failed to correlate strongly with Well-Being. Prosthetic capacity in bilateral function, facilitation of activity and participation, satisfaction with prostheses and managing the complex pain experiences that can occur within this population appear to be key considerations in enhancing their overall well-being.

REFERENCES

- [1] PR Study, http://www.prs-research.org/, http://www.prsresearch.org/files/PEQ.pdf (accessed 1 October 2016).
- [2] L Resnik, S Ekerholm, M Borgia and MA Clark. "A national study of veterans with major upper limb amputation: Survey methods, participants and summary findings." *PloS One*. 2019
- [3] K Demet, N Martinet, F Guillemin, and J Paysant. "Health related quality of life and related factors in 529 persons with amputation of upper and lower limb." *Disabil Rehabil.* 2003
- [4] K Østlie, P Magnus, OH Skjeldal, B Garfelt and K Tambs. "Mental health and satisfaction with life among upper limb amputees: a Norwegian population-based survey comparing adult acquired major upper limb amputees with a control group." *Disabil Rehabil.* 2011
- [5] P Gallagher, MA O'Donova, A Doyle and D. Desmond. "Environmental barriers, activity limitations and participation restrictions experienced by people with major limb amputation." *Prosth Orthot Int.* 2011.
- [6] LV McFarland, SL Hubbard Winkler, AW Heinemann, M Jones and A Esquenazi. "Unilateral upper-limb loss: satisfaction and prostheticdevice use in veterans and servicemembers from Vietnam and OIF/OEF conflicts." J Rehabil Res Dev. 2010.
- [7] MA Hanley, DM Edhe, M Jensen, J Czerniecki, DG Smith and LR Robinson. "Chronic pain associated with upper-limb loss." Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2009.
- [8] K Østlie, IM Lesjø, RJ Franklin, B Garfelt, OH Skjeldal, P Magnus. "Prosthesis use in adult acquired major upper-limb amputees: patterns of wear, prosthetic skills and the actual use of prosthese in activities of daily life. *Disabil Rehabil.* 2012
- [9] L Resnik, M Borgia, AW Heinemann and MA Clark. "Prosthesis satisfaction in a national sample of veterans with upper limb amputation. Prosth Orthot Int. 2020.
- [10] DL England, TA Miller, PM Stevens, JH Campbell and SR Wurdeman. "Assessment of a nine-item patient reported outcomes measurement information system upper extremity instrument among individuals with upper limb amputation. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2021.
- [11] A Chadwell et al. Upper limb activity in myoelectric prosthesis users is biased towards the intact limb and appears unrelated to goal-directed task performance. *Sci Rep.* 2018



Myoelectric Controls Algorithms

A WEARABLE SONOMYOGRAPHY SYSTEM FOR PROSTHESIS CONTROL

Samuel Acuña^{1,2}, Susannah Engdahl^{1,2}, Ahmed Bashatah^{1,2}, Paul Otto^{1,2}, Rahul Kaliki³, Siddhartha Sikdar^{1,2}

¹Department of Bioengineering, George Mason University, Fairfax, VA ²Center for Adaptive Systems of Brain-Body Interactions, Fairfax, VA ³Infinite Biomedical Technologies, Baltimore, MD

ABSTRACT

Sonomyography (SMG) is a promising alternative to electromyography (EMG) for extracting control signals from functional muscle activity in real time. SMG uses ultrasound imaging to non-invasively record superficial and deep muscle activity, making it possible to differentiate the independent contributions of individual muscles during functional movements. Previous challenges surrounding the miniaturization of ultrasound instrumentation have prevented exploration of SMG as a feasible modality for prosthesis control. In this paper, we describe our work developing a 4-channel wearable ultrasound system capable of tracking in vivo muscle interfaces using frequency-modulated continuous wave imaging.

CLASSIFYING GRASPS USING SONOMYOGRAPHY

Surface EMG remains the primary method for sensing muscle activity to actuate a prosthetic hand. However, EMG suffers from poor amplitude resolution, a low signal-to-noise ratio, and is subject to crosstalk from adjacent muscles [1], [2]. These barriers can make it difficult to derive a rich set of control signals for intuitively controlling multiple degrees-of-freedom within a multiarticulate prosthetic hand. SMG is an alternative sensing modality that uses ultrasound imaging of muscle contractions to spatially resolve individual muscle activities with sub-millimeter precision. Because SMG enables spatiotemporal characterization of both superficial and deep muscle activity and is not subject to intermuscular crosstalk, SMG makes it possible to differentiate the independent contributions of individual muscles during voluntary movement. Control signals for driving a prosthetic hand can thus be extracted from the ultrasound signals using machine learning models (Fig. 1).

Similar to EMG control, SMG control employs a supervised learning framework that uses classification algorithms to compare features of ultrasound signals to training data. Ultrasound images of forearm muscle tissue have enough unique spatiotemporal information for classification algorithms to differentiate between various hand grasps. Our benchtop testing has revealed that SMG can identify five individual digit movements in able-bodied individuals with 97% cross-validation accuracy [3] and fifteen complex hand grasps with 91% cross-validation accuracy (Fig. 2) [4]. We also found that, with minimal training required, SMG can identify five grasps for individuals with upper limb loss with 96% cross-validation accuracy [5], [6]. These results indicate that SMG is a feasible means to classify hand grasps from muscle tissue for prosthesis control.

We investigated grasp classification using a sparse set of ultrasound scanlines to understand the minimum hardware requirements for a wearable ultrasound system [7]. We recorded ultrasound images from the forearms of five able-bodied subjects performing five grasps (power grasp, pinch, index point, key grasp, wrist pronation) using a 128-element linear array transducer. We then selected different subsets of scanlines to quantify the extent to which classification accuracy was affected. Even with a subset of only four scanlines, classification accuracy was virtually unchanged ($94 \pm 6\%$ for 128 scanlines, $94 \pm 5\%$ for 4 scanlines). This demonstrates the feasibility of using a small number of single-element transducers rather than a full array, which simplifies the instrumentation that would need to be incorporated into a prosthesis socket. We thus chose to implement a wearable SMG system using only 4 individual transducers.



Figure 1. Schematic showing our approach to prosthesis control with SMG. (A) Muscle deformation over time is tracked with an ultrasound transducer placed on the forearm. The figure shows an able-bodied subject performing index finger flexion and middle finger flexion. The corresponding ultrasound images show different muscle compartments deforming for each movement. (B) M-mode ultrasound images (depth over time) show deformation of different muscle compartments over time corresponding to individual finger movements (red, green, blue segments). (C) Control signals are extracted based on the muscle deformation associated with individual finger movements (red, green, blue traces) and are then mapped to movement of a prosthetic hand.

DEVELOPMENT OF A WEARABLE ULTRASOUND SYSTEM

We have developed a 4-channel wearable SMG system for controlling a prosthetic hand (Fig. 2). Our implementation employs frequency-modulated continuous wave imaging instead of traditional pulse-echo approaches, which enables miniaturization of ultrasound parts using low-voltage commodity hardware and allows low-frequency processing speeds. A key feature of frequency-modulated continuous wave imaging is the use of a linear chirp signal to encode the depth of ultrasound reflections as a range of frequencies, which bypasses the need to transmit short-duration high amplitude pulses to create a depth-resolved map of the received reflections. We anticipate that our implementation of low-power ultrasound imaging will serve as the foundation for future prosthesis controlled by SMG.

Our ultrasound system consists of an AD5930 chirp generator, four single element ultrasound transducers, a power regulation subsystem, hardware for four-channel signal processing, and an external NI-6210 DAQ. The transducers are formed as single element PZT crystals with a 4.25 MHz center frequency and sized to be 7 mm in diameter and 0.5 mm thick. The PZT crystals are dampened with a silicone backing layer and mounted in a 3D-printed bracket that can be secured to a forearm with an elastic strap. The power subsystem is designed to take a 7.4 V battery input and provide ± 5 V for the signal processing hardware. The signal processing hardware for each channel consists of a radio frequency (RF) amplifier, a demodulator, an audio frequency (AF) amplifier, and a low-pass filter. Because the depth is encoded as frequency, we low-pass filter the signal at 100 KHz to limit the imaging depth to 15 cm. The DAQ samples the output of the AF amplifier at 250 kS/s, and controlled with Matlab for the classification algorithms.



Figure 2. *Left:* The prototype of our 4-channel wearable ultrasound system. *Right:* System diagram of the hardware components.

We have also made some progress extending our wearable system to include an embedded processor capable of executing machine learning classification algorithms in real-time. We recently implemented a Linear Discriminant Analysis algorithm on the embedded processor and found it could predict a user's hand grasp with > 90% accuracy during benchtop testing, which is comparable to the classification accuracy obtained when analyzing the ultrasound signals using MATLAB (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Offline grasp classification accuracy obtained using an embedded processor when testing two able-bodied subjects.

DISCUSSION

We believe SMG demonstrates numerous advantages over EMG, making it a promising modality for restoring dexterous movement to individuals using upper limb prostheses. One of the primary benefits of SMG is that muscle activity can be sensed with high spatial specificity, even in deep-seated muscle compartments. As a result, crosstalk

from muscles that are not associated with the intended movement is effectively suppressed. It is also noteworthy that full-resolution ultrasound imaging is not required to achieve robust classification. Classification accuracies are not affected even when a subset of only four ultrasound scanlines are used. Single-element transducers may be used instead of a full array, reducing the instrumentation required for implementing SMG control in standalone prostheses. Our testing has found that learning to use SMG requires minimal training. In fact, transradial amputees were able to achieve 96% classification accuracy for 5 grasps after only a few minutes of training time [5].

Our wearable SMG system can reliably record m-mode ultrasound imaging signals which can be used to classify hand grasps. Our future work focuses on implementing a wearable SMG system into an upper limb prosthesis to perform hand grasp classification in real-time. We have made considerable progress towards miniaturizing the frontend signal processing components, as well as implementing the grasp classification algorithms within an embedded system so that classification and control can be performed untethered to a computer. We are also working on packaging all the hardware components to fit within a socket alongside the hardware to drive a multiarticulate prosthetic hand. Our goal is to develop a complete SMG prosthesis control system for users to test within their own homes [8].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work is supported by the National Institutes of Health under Award No. 5U01EB02760, the Department of Defense under Award No. W81XWH-16-1-0722, and the Virginia Commonwealth Commercialization Fund under Award No. MF19-108-LS. Development of this wearable system has involved enormous contributions from a number of researchers, including Biswarup Mukherjee, Nima Akhlaghi, Ananya Dhawan, George Levay, Brandon Lancaster, Shriniwas Patwardhan, Rahsaan Holley, Parag Chitnis, and Brian Monroe.

REFERENCES

[1] YK Kong, MS Hallbeck, and MC Jung, "Crosstalk effect on surface electromyogram of the forearm flexors during a static grip task," *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 1223–1229, 2010.

[2] EA Clancy, EL Morin, and R Merletti, "Sampling, noise-reduction and amplitude estimation issues in surface electromyography," *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1–16, 2002.

[3] S Sikdar et al., "Novel Method for Predicting Dexterous Individual Finger Movements by Imaging Muscle Activity Using a Wearable Ultrasonic System," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 69–76, 2014.

[4] N Akhlaghi et al., "Real-Time Classification of Hand Motions Using Ultrasound Imaging of Forearm Muscles," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 63, no. 8, pp. 1687–1698, 2016.

[5] AS Dhawan et al., "Proprioceptive Sonomyographic Control: A novel method for intuitive and proportional control of multiple degrees-of-freedom for individuals with upper extremity limb loss," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 9499, 2019.

[6] SM Engdahl et al., "Classification Performance and Feature Space Characteristics in Individuals With Upper Limb Loss Using Sonomyography," *IEEE Journal of Translational Engineering in Health and Medicine*, vol. 10, pp. 1–11, 2022.

[7] N Akhlaghi et al., "Sparsity Analysis of a Sonomyographic Muscle–Computer Interface," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 688–696, 2020.

[8] L Hargrove, L Miller, K Turner, T Kuiken, "Myoelectric pattern recognition outperforms direct control for transhumeral amputees with targeted muscle reinnervation: a randomized clinical trial," *Scientific Reports*, vol 7, no. 13840, 2017.

ALTERNATIVE MYOELECTRIC CONTROL THROUGH NEURAL SYNERGISTIC INFORMATION

Patricia Capsi-Morales^{1,2}, Deren Barsakcioglu³, Manuel G. Catalano¹, Giorgio Grioli¹, Antonio Bicchi^{1,2} and Dario Farina³

¹Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia - SoftRobotics Lab for Human Cooperation and Rehabilitation, ²University of Pisa - Research Center E.Piaggio, ³Imperial College of London -Department of Bioengineering

ABSTRACT

This work combines for the first time structural and computational synergies defined by neuronal information. The main idea is to investigate the existence of motor neuron synergies and their potential as sources for myoelectric control. First, we developed a new version of the soft hand with 2 degrees of actuation (DoA) for prosthetic applications. Then, we used HD-sEMG to study the behaviour of motor units in different manipulation tasks and to identify motor modules or neural synergies. Based on this dimensionality reduction in both the mechanical prosthetic design and the neural control, we propose a method to map the neural information into prosthesis control. With this approach, we first show that neural synergies have greater dimensionality than classic muscle synergies. This property and a greater degree of independence determine the possibility of a natural, robust and simultaneous control of several DoA by neural synergies. The proposed method can be implemented into an available framework of online decomposition (i.e. online extraction of motor units) in order to create a platform to study different myoelectric control methods and compare their performance in a virtual environment, and in the real-time control of the SoftHand Pro-2. The creation of this platform permits further developments on the existence of modules in upper-limb motor control, the relation between different synergistic levels and its use for assistive and rehabilitative robotics with different type of patients.

INTRODUCTION

Modularity is present in both structural and computational components of a control architecture, and it has a functional purpose. It is commonly assumed that the remarkable versatility and adaptability in motor control is the result of employing modularity as the key organizational principle of the central nervous system [1]. Research on synergistic control has focused on developing analytical techniques to reveal the existence and the origin of the reduction in the dimensionality of the hand control space. The framework proposed in [2] suggests that the spinal circuits could explain many experimental observations about synergies revealed by studies of hand kinematics, kinetics, and EMG signals. Compared to animals and humans, state-of-the-art robotic hands still show limited and inflexible motor skills. Nonetheless, advances in robot technology allow researchers to explore and develop into how the motor, sensory, and cognitive functions might be integrated into meaningful architectures. The creation of artificial systems embedding synergies represents a benchmark to explore different concepts of modularity and to experimentally investigate possible interactions between motor and cognitive processes, which are fundamental for human understanding.

Postural synergies are considered to guide and simplify the design of hands, while allowing a high level of dexterity in the coordination of multiple joints. We developed a prosthetic version of a multi-synergistic hand (i.e. the SoftHand Pro-2) that presents two synergies, capable of reproducing continuous movement of all fingers in opposite directions. Improving upon the traditional advanced robotic hands, multi-synergistic permit the continuous mapping of different grasp patterns and their transitions. Moreover, multi-synergistic robotic hands could theoretically yield inhand manipulation of objects. Note that to implement in-hand manipulation in fully actuated robotic hands, sophisticated algorithms and sensing strategies are generally required. The SoftHand Pro-2 could manipulate objects of different shapes with just two synergistic behaviors and requires a simpler control strategy. However, because of its synergistic nature, the control modality must match this concept and be also synergistic in order to create a proper mapping. Individual fingers movements, which are needed for simultaneous and proportional control during in-hand manipulation, are extremely hard to decode from sEMG sensors on extrinsic muscles (the common condition for

transradial amputee subjects). To overcome peripheral coupling when a task requires independent finger actions [3] or for several coordinated multi-digit actions [4], finer modulation of neuromuscular activity might be necessary. This work proposes an alternative myoelectric control strategy based on the functional organization of motor units (MU) and neuronal synergistic information. We hypothesize that this methodology presents higher dimensionality and better specificity than other alternatives, such as muscle synergies. Moreover, this control method may not only be adequate to command a synergistic prosthetic hand, but the integration of both structural and computational synergies contributes to the creation of a framework to further develop on the existence of modules in upper-limb motion control and its application for assistive and rehabilitative robotics.

This work represents a unique opportunity that combines the expertise in neural interfacing (ICL, London) and in soft-synergistic robotics and prosthetic hands (IIT, Italy). Although this investigation presents several applications, its major potential applies to the field of prosthetics, where robotic devices become part of subject's missing body parts. We hypothesize that the lack of modularity as a principal direction in the design of artificial arm mechanics and control algorithms burdens the acceptance of prostheses and a natural bionic integration. This study attempts for the first time to match neural synergistic information with kinematic synergies. We decoded the activity of motor neurons innervating the hand while 9 participants exerted isometric forces during different wrist and hand movements related to the corresponding kinematics of the prosthetic arm. We then identified components explaining the variance of the motor neuron outputs, named motor neuron synergies (MNS, firstly introduced in [5]). For a better understanding of the functional role of MNS, and observe their applicability in myoelectric control, we compared them with synergies extracted from EMG amplitudes, i.e., muscle synergies. This work provides insights into the organization of neural inputs to spinal motor neurons from an offline analysis and proposes the first myoelectric control that uses neural synergistic information to control robotic hands which, to date, has been inferred through analysis of muscle synergies. We plan to apply this myoelectric control to the physical prosthetic hand, designed with postural synergies, and test its feasibility in online experiments.

This work stems from a collaboration within the ERC Synergy Project Natural BionicS, which is an international and multidisciplinary collaboration of European researchers to create fully integrated, symbiotic replacements for human limbs. The consideration of computational synergies introduces a completely fresh perspective for myoelectric control and appear especially interesting for multi-synergistic robotic devices. Furthermore, this collaboration aims at providing a foundation for merging neuroscientific and robotic principles. Promoting the combination of both concepts (motor neuron and kinematic synergies), we expect to provide prosthesis users with dexterous robotic systems with more intuitive and natural control.

DEVELOPMENT OF MULTI-SYNERGISTIC HANDS

The selection of appropriate prescriptive synergies in robotic devices is a difficult task as the observed behavior in humans (descriptive synergies) does not necessarily reveal the required control used by the nervous system (prescriptive neural synergies). Defining task-relevant prescriptive synergies is further complicated as their performance depends on the specific parameters and context of the task. The earlier developed SoftHand Pro is able to realize a vast range of grasps, and provides improved adaptability due to ts physical compliance and its synergistic actuation (i.e. by an designed tendon-driven differential mechanism) for improved adaptability. Despite its effectiveness in many practical conditions, this artificial hand presented some limitations in terms of dexterity when compared to a natural hand. The use of a single degree-of-actuation (DoA)prevents the execution of more complex tasks, like fine pre-shaping of fingers and in-hand manipulation. As a consequence, the SoftHand Pro-2 has been developed for prosthetic applications and for taking advantage of recent advances in the concept of neural synergies.. This is an under-actuated soft prosthetic hand with two synergistic behaviours. The combination of multiple soft kinematic synergies provides a continuous workspace that, in theory, is able to reproduce several hand postures and in-hand manipulation with a natural approach. The aim is to generate additional motions with minimal changes in the original mechanics of the SoftHand Pro, which has been already tested in clinical environments and real conditions with positive outcomes [6]. This framework turns transmission friction from a disturbance into a design feature, as suggested in [7], doubling the DoAs with little additional complexity. The vision of associating this mechatronic design to specific neural structures is different from any other current approach to prosthesis design.

Mechanical design

The SoftHand Pro-2 exhibits a total of 15 joints mostly embedding the flexion/extension of its fingers (see Figure 1). One revolute joint is present at the thumb, accounting for its abduction for a better opposition. The remaining 14 joints embedded in fingers are compliant rolling-contact element (CORE) joints. Elasticity is introduced in each joint. A single tendon moves from the palm base, connecting all the fingers, and two motors actuate the tendon, pulling it from its two sides. If the motors move in the opposite direction, the tendon length is shortened, and the SoftHand Pro-2 closes exhibiting a power grasp. If instead, only one motors moves, the tendon pulls from the corresponding side, partly closing the hand and generating a non-power grasp, but a rotation of the fingers from side to side, which can generate pinch to index point postures.

Hand capabilities

This hand is able to perform both precision (i.e. pinch or tripod) and power grasps, as well as to manipulate objects while maintaining a stable grasp through the embedded intelligence in its autonomous finger contact



Figure 1: Final design of the novel prosthetic hand, the SoftHand Pro-2.

forces. The hand demonstrates that a larger variety of grasping and manipulation tasks can be theoretically performed by combining only two DoAs with softness and synergistic behaviors. The capability of in-hand manipulation, such as for the pouring of a liquid may be also executed by exploring the two synergies at different intensity levels without any compensation at the wrist level (usually related to wrist abduction/adduction). Because of the exploration of friction, sequential control inputs, may result also in different hand configurations, which is considered a feature to be explored, especially if a patient uses proportional velocity control (PVC). Even though the problem of manipulation modelling is solved for fully actuated hands (i.e. when the hand kinematics are injective), this is more complex for synergy-based hands. However, prosthesis users would most of the time have visual feedback of the manipulated object. Therefore, with a more natural control of the prescriptive synergies of the artificial hand, the additional feature of in-hand manipulation may become a feasible capacity. This feature is explored in this work through the use of motor neuron synergies.

MOTOR NEURON SYNERGIES

One motor neuron can receive inputs from several corticospinal inputs, mediated by premotor interneurons. A motor neuron synergy (MNS, termed in [5]) corresponds to a stable pattern of muscle activation (dynamic system), observable already at the premotor neurons level. Contrarily, the extraction of muscle synergies considers the spatiotemporal organization only from individual muscles. The concept of MNS is compatible with the existence of motor primitives, which could correspond to a set of synergies that are simultaneously activated for the coordinated control of a more complex system. In practice, to extract neural synergistic organization, we factorized the output spike trains of motor neurons innervating the extrinsic hand muscles found at the upper forearm level (common area to place EMG sensors in transradial amputated subjects). In addition, it has been suggested that the descending motor commands may control the dynamics of a system by modulating the shape of its synergies. The theoretical framework in [8] incorporates the notion of variable time shifts for individual synergies, that could permit the quantification of the degree of flexibility of a synergy related to the width of its valley when activated. The inclusion of fixed and flexible synergies in the control loop are of interest for the precise control of prostheses and perturbation avoidance. Here, we recorded data from different able-bodied subjects while performing isometric contractions during different manipulation tasks. Then, we concatenate all EMG signals recorded through HD-sEMG sensors to extract common features among hand positions. The methodology proposed combines EMG signal decomposition for the extraction of MU, and the application of non-negative matrix factorization (NMF) to observe neural synergistic information. Then, we propose a mathematical relation among upper-limb movements included (which are feasible to replicate with the hardware) and the extracted MNS. Doing so, we define the motor inputs or control commands necessary for the use of the prosthesis and an appropriate mapping of the subject intentions into robotic postures. Figure 2 shows an example of the recorded data from a pilot subject and the offline analysis of their MNS. The matrix W is the timeinvariant weights of the synergies observed in 63 MU. The matrix H shows the time-variant activation of the defined synergies and their morphology according to the recorded tasks, visible at the bottom of Figure 2. Results show the



repetitive use of MU in different hand postures, and accordingly, how this is translated into common neural synergies for different hand configurations.

Figure 2: Example of motor neuron synergies from a pilot study. **a**) show the resulting matrices from NMF applied to motor units (MU), **b**) the reconstructed MU from the defined MNS. The vertical dashed lines in a) H matrix and b) represent the concatenation of the different manipulation tasks recorded and combined.

CONCLUSIONS

Preliminary results validate the potential of the proposed vision and the use of neural synergies for the control of postural synergies embedded in a prosthetic hand as an alternative myoelectric control that could permit more advanced manipulative skills with a natural approach. The methodology proposed can be implemented in a computationally efficient real-time interface based on the decoding of the activity of spinal motor neurons from wearable HD-sEMG sensors [9], which would permit the real-time testing of the control method while actively controlling the prosthesis with different subjects. Future work aims at the use of the resulting platform in the Medical University of Vienna with different types of patients (e.g. congenital, amputated subjects or patients with certain surgical conditions such as TMR), that will allow the investigation of how neuronal information varies across users. This framework permits future studies on the effect of modularity in the reduction of cognitive load in patients.

REFERENCES

- [1] A. d'Avella, M. Giese, Y. P Ivanenko, T. Schack, and T. Flash. "Modularity in motor control: from muscle synergies to cognitive action representation," *Frontiers in computational neuroscience*, vol. 9, pp. 126, 2015.
- [2] M. Santello, G. Baud-Bovy, and H. Jorntell. "Neural bases of hand synergies," Frontiers in computational neuroscience, vol 7, pp. 23, 2013.
- M. Santello, M. Flanders, and J. F Soechting. "Postural hand synergies for tool use," *Journal of neuroscience*, vol 18(23), pp. 10105–10115, 1998.
- [4] M. H Schieber and M. Santello. "Hand function: peripheral and central constraints on performance," *Journal of applied physiology*, vol 96(6), pp. 2293–2300, 2004.
- [5] S. Tanzarella, S. Muceli, M. Santello, and D. Farina. "Synergistic organization of neural inputs from spinal motor neurons to extrinsic and intrinsic hand muscles," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol 41(32), pp. 6878–6891, 2021.
- [6] P. Capsi-Morales, C. Piazza, M. G. Catalano, G. Grioli, L. Schiavon, E. Fiaschi, and A. Bicchi. "Comparison between rigid and soft polyarticulated prosthetic hands in non-expert myo-electric users shows advantages of soft robotics," *Scientific reports*, vol 11(1), pp. 1-15, 2021.
- [7] C. Della Santina, C. Piazza, G. Grioli, M. G Catalano, and A. Bicchi. "Toward dexterous manipulation with augmented adaptive synergies: The pisa/iit softhand 2." *IEEE Transactions on Robotics*, vol (99), pp. 1–16, 2018.
- [8] Mark L Latash, Vijaya Krishnamoorthy, John P Scholz, and Vladimir M Zatsiorsky. "Postural synergies and their development," *Neural plasticity*, vol 12(2-3), pp. 119–130, 2005.
- [9] D. Y Barsakcioglu, M. Bracklein, A. Holobar, and D. Farina. "Control of spinal motoneurons by feedback from a non-invasive real-time interface," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol 68(3), pp. 926–935, 2020.

ASSESSING THE FEASIBILITY OF USING SONOMYOGRAPHY FOR UPPER LIMB PROSTHESIS CONTROL

Susannah Engdahl^{1,2}, Samuel Acuña^{1,2}, Ahmed Bashatah^{1,2}, Ananya Dhawan^{1,2}, Erica King^{1,2}, Biswarup Mukherjee^{1,2}, Rahsaan Holley³, Brian Monroe⁴, György Lévay⁵, Rahul Kaliki⁵, Siddhartha Sikdar^{1,2}

¹Department of Bioengineering, George Mason University, Fairfax, VA ²Center for Adaptive Systems of Brain-Body Interactions, Fairfax, VA ³MedStar National Rehabilitation Hospital, Washington, DC ⁴Hanger Clinic, Laurel, MD ⁵Infinite Biomedical Technologies, Baltimore, MD

ABSTRACT

Sonomyography (SMG), or ultrasound-based sensing of muscle deformation, is an emerging modality for upper limb prosthesis control with potential to significantly improve functionality. SMG enables spatiotemporal characterization of both superficial and deep muscle activity, making it possible to distinguish the independent contributions of individual muscles during functional movements. Early offline studies have shown that SMG is capable of accurately classifying motor intent among able-bodied individuals, but it has not yet been shown whether individuals with upper limb absence can successfully use this modality for prosthesis control. This paper describes our ongoing work towards implementing SMG control for individuals with upper limb absence in offline and realtime settings. We provide strong evidence supporting the feasibility of using SMG to control upper limb prostheses.

INTRODUCTION

Although designs of electromechanical prosthetic hands have improved over time, surface electromyography (EMG) remains the most common modality for sensing and decoding user intent. Unfortunately, using EMG to control a prosthetic hand with multiple degrees of freedom can be challenging for individuals due to the poor amplitude resolution and low signal-to-noise ratio inherent in EMG signals [1]. Sonomyography (SMG) is an alternative approach that uses ultrasound imaging of muscle deformation to spatiotemporally resolve both surface and deep musculature in the residual limb. Using SMG, it is therefore possible to derive a rich set of prosthesis control signals that may better account for the independent contributions of individual muscles. For example, we previously used SMG to identify five individual digit movements in able-bodied individuals with 97% offline cross-validation accuracy [2] and fifteen complex hand grasps with 91% offline cross-validation accuracy [3]. More recently, we have extended this work to better understand whether SMG is a clinically viable control modality for individuals with upper limb absence. This paper will discuss our ongoing work in this area and highlight opportunities for future study.

DEVELOPING PROFICIENCY WITH SONOMYOGRAPHY

One factor that may affect the feasibility of using SMG for prosthesis control is the length of pre-prosthetic training time required for individual with upper limb absence to learn to use it. Prior to receiving a prosthesis, patients must develop an ability to produce control signals that are sufficiently consistent and separable for accurate grasp classification. The pre-prosthetic training process can be lengthy and difficult in the context of EMG control [4], which presents a barrier to adoption of a prosthesis. However, our testing with SMG suggests that patients can rapidly complete pre-prosthetic training.

In a sample of eight individuals with transradial limb absence, we characterized grasp classification performance during their initial and subsequent exposures to SMG in order to understand how proficiency develops over time. Participants were asked to repeatedly perform a set of 4-7 grasps while ultrasound images of their residual limb musculature were recorded using a commercial ultrasound transducer. Grasps were self-selected based on what each participant felt was intuitive to perform. The images were saved to a database and subjected to leave-one-out cross-validation with a modified 1-nearestneighbor classifier [5]. This process was completed once while the participants were naïve to SMG control to establish baseline performance. To assess whether performance could improve with further instruction, it was



Figure 1: Average and individual classification accuracies during participants' first exposure to sonomyography.

then repeated three times while participants received verbal and visual biofeedback about their performance. Lastly, participants returned for a second session on a different day to assess between-day repeatability. Despite being naïve, the participants achieved high classification accuracy during their initial exposure to SMG (96.2 \pm 5.9%; Figure 1). Moreover, the accuracy did not systematically change with the provision of biofeedback or between days. Our findings suggest that individuals who are naïve to SMG can quickly and consistently achieve reliable grasp classification [5].

USING SONOMYOGRAPHY WITH PROXIMAL LIMB ABSENCE

Our initial offline investigations of SMG focused on able-bodied individuals and individuals with transradial limb absence. However, we also investigated whether SMG may be a suitable control modality for individuals with limb absence at more proximal levels. Absence of the forearm may create challenges for using SMG because the muscles associated with wrist, hand, and finger control are primarily located in the forearm. To explore this issue, we asked an individual with transhumeral amputation to perform 11 hand motions (including six grasps and flexion of each individual digit) interspersed by periods of rest. The participant achieved high classification accuracies during both



Figure 2: Confusion matrix for the motion end states achieved by an individual with transhumeral amputation. Integer values in each cell represent the total number of SMG image frames that were classified.

the motion end states (94.04%; Figure 2) and rest phases (98.34%) [6]. This promising result shows remarkable potential for using SMG to recognize individual finger movements and complex grasps in individuals with proximal limb absence. However, we acknowledge that our participant may have been uniquely able to achieve this outcome due to spontaneous muscle reinnervation, although his amputation surgery did not include targeted muscle reinnervation. More individuals must be assessed to understand how SMG can be best implemented in this population.

FUNCTIONAL TASK PERFORMANCE USING A SONOMYOGRAPHIC PROSTHESIS

Although we have shown that robust offline classification performance is possible with SMG, we also sought to understand the feasibility of using SMG to control a prosthesis in real-time functional settings. In contrast to the tightly-controlled settings in which offline classification performance is typically assessed, the use of a physical prosthesis involves many variabilities that can degrade classification performance. Notably, changes in the ultrasound imaging angle during arm movement could affect the acquired images, potentially causing misclassification. Thus, it must be confirmed whether classification is stable as users move their arm through their entire reachable workspace.

As a first step to understanding this issue, we asked an individual with bilateral limb absence at the wrist disarticulation level to perform a series of functional tasks using a prosthesis controlled by SMG. To collect data for training a linear discriminant analysis classifier, the participant moved her arms throughout her reachable workspace in a pre-defined pattern while maintaining a set of muscle contractions. Each contraction was mapped to a specific grasp within the prosthetic hand. Tripod grasp was initiated by wrist flexion, index finger point was initiated by wrist extension, and rest was initiated by a relaxed muscle state.

The participant then performed three functional tasks that involved grasping and moving one-inch wooden blocks. These tests were repeated every 30 minutes across three hours of continuous prosthesis wear without retraining the classifier. Box and Blocks Test (BBT) performance was measured by the number of blocks transferred over a barrier in one minute. Targeted Box and Blocks Test (tBBT) performance was measured by the time required to move 16 blocks over a barrier into predetermined positions. Rainbow Test performance was measured by the time required to move 16 blocks located at various heights from a white board to a box at waist height. During each break between tests, the participant turned off the prosthesis and performed pre-defined tasks that were staggered to require increased arm movement over time. In addition to the test outcomes measures, we quantified the number of transient classification bouts to characterize the efficiency of grasp selection. A transient bout was defined as an instance when the classifier predicted a grasp for less than five consecutive frames. Fewer transient bouts indicate increased efficiency.

The participant successfully completed all tasks throughout the three-hour testing period [7]. The outcome measures remained generally stable over time (Figure 3), although we did observe a slight improvement in test scores during BBT with the left arm (p = 0.038) and during tBBT with the right arm (p = 0.011). There was only one negative effect of socket wear time on performance, as evidenced by a small increase in the number of transient bouts during the Rainbow test with the left arm (p = 0.027). Our results show that training a classifier to predict hand grasps while moving the arm throughout the reachable workspace is a practical strategy for reducing misclassification related to changing arm position. Additionally, this study supports the feasibility of using SMG to control upper limb prostheses in real-world applications.

CONTINUING WORK

As part of our continuing work towards demonstrating the utility of SMG control, we are working to develop wearable low-power ultrasound systems that can be integrated into a prosthetic socket. The functional tests reported in this paper were conducted with the participant tethered to a tablet-based commercial ultrasound system that could not easily be transported. We expect to see improved real-world performance when using a system optimized for SMG control that allows the user to move freely. We also anticipate that an optimized system would enable users to wear an SMG sensor for prolonged periods of time, permitting additional study on the stability of grasp classification during daily activities.

We envision a future with SMG as a viable option for upper limb prosthesis control, and we encourage research that examines the capacity of SMG to increase functional outcomes and satisfaction among prosthesis users. Future work will focus on systematically evaluating the functional benefits of SMG control, such as whether using SMG contributes to higher scores on standard clinical tests, improved quality of movement, greater patient-reported satisfaction, and reduced cognitive load. Although myoelectric control strategies continue to demonstrate remarkable clinical utility, we anticipate situations in which SMG control would be considerably advantageous. There is also



opportunity to examine hybrid approaches using both SMG and EMG to enable more intuitive control for users with upper limb loss.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the Department of Defense under Award No. W81XWH-16-1-0722 and the National Institutes of Health under Award No. U01EB027601. Opinions, interpretations, conclusions and recommendations are those of the authors and are not necessarily endorsed by the Department of Defense or National Institutes of Health. All study procedures above were approved by the George Mason University Institutional Review Board.

REFERENCES

- E. Clancy, E. L. Morin, and R. Merletti, "Sampling, noise-reduction and amplitude estimation issues in surface electromyography," J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol., vol. 12, pp. 1–16, 2002.
- [2] S. Sikdar et al., "Novel method for predicting dexterous individual finger movements by imaging muscle activity using a wearable ultrasonic system," IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng., vol. 22, pp. 69–76, 2014.
- [3] N. Akhlaghi *et al.*, "Real-time classification of hand motions using ultrasound imaging of forearm muscles," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 63, pp. 1687–1698, 2016.
- [4] A. W. Franzke *et al.*, "Users' and therapists' perceptions of myoelectric multi-function upper limb prostheses with conventional and pattern recognition control," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 14,, p. e0220899, 2019.
- [5] S. Engdahl *et al.*, "Classification performance and feature space characteristics in individuals with upper limb loss using sonomyography," *IEEE J. Transl. Eng. Health Med.*, vol. 10, pp. 1–11, 2022.
- [6] S. Engdahl, A. Dhawan, G. Lévay, A. Bashatah, R. Kaliki, and S. Sikdar, "Motion prediction using electromyography and sonomyography for an individual with transhumeral limb loss," *medRxiv*, 2020.
- [7] S. Engdahl, S. Acuña, E. King, A. Bashatah, and S. Sikdar, "First-in-human demonstration of functional task performance using a sonomyographic prosthesis," *submitted to Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.*, 2022.

CHARACTERISATION OF MYOELECTRIC ARTEFACTS IN CLINICAL SOCKETS

Alix Chadwell ^{1,2,}, Matthew Dyson ¹

¹School of Engineering, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, UK ²Human Movement and Rehabilitation Research Group, University of Salford, Salford, UK

ABSTRACT

A significant disparity exists between the functionality promised by modern multi-grip myoelectric prostheses and the reality of myoelectric control using clinical-standard sockets and electrodes. Unpredictable prosthesis behaviour means users will often choose not to use their prosthesis for certain tasks. One source of unpredictability in upper-limb prostheses are unintended device activations, that is to say prostheses opening or closing when the user did not intend for the action to occur. Unintended device activations occur when the output of electromyography sensors reach a given threshold. During closed-loop control it is usually not possible to determine whether sensors reach threshold due to mechanical disturbances inducing motion artefacts or because of genuine, but unintended, muscle activity. We present preliminary data from experiments which use arrays of sensors to characterise how and why artefacts may occur in clinical-standard upper-limb prosthesis sockets. Current data show early trends in physical positions which lead to unintended activation and shows some artefacts are concurrent with intended muscle activity.

INTRODUCTION

Myoelectric upper-limb prostheses suffer from high rejection rates [1]. Lack of functionality, or commonly a lack of functional gain in wearing a device, remain key factors in upper-limb prosthesis rejection [1,2,3]. Modern multifunction devices offer a range of grasp patterns; however, users of myoelectric devices typically find them difficult to control [4]. This lack of control, or lack of ability to predict how a prosthesis will move, has been posited as a reason for passive use of active devices and for device rejection [4]. A source of unpredictability in modern myoelectric devices is the myoelectric interface with the skin [6]. While experimental electromyography (EMG) research typically uses EMG sensors adhered to the skin, upper-limb prosthesis users control their devices via sensors housed in custom built sockets. This leads to mechanical coupling of the sensors, which can produce artefactual EMG as sensors move relative to the skin [5]. These artefacts are likely to contribute to unintended device activation, a key factor limiting the degree to which users can be confident in device behaviour.

In this paper we present preliminary results from a set of closed-loop experiments which aim to characterise and label artefactual EMG obtained using clinical grade sensors. To achieve this, we fitted clinical bypass sockets or prosthesis simulators with a range of sensors and compared the data acquired to create ground truth labels for artefactual EMG.

METHODS

Participants

Three participants (1 male, 2 female) who are anatomically intact and free from neurological or motor disorders were recruited. The study was approved by the Local Ethics Committee at Newcastle University (ref: 20-DYS-050). All participants provided written informed consent prior to the start of the experiment.

Experimental setup

Limb-intact participants performed a simple closed-loop myoelectric control experiment while wearing an instrumented clinical bypass socket. The bypass socket of one participant was made using the traditional casting, rectification and lamination approach, and two were created using a hybrid approach combining digital scanning with traditional clinical techniques [5]. An example bypass socket is shown in Figure 1a; the sockets are designed to simulate a hybrid supracondylar design. Sockets were fitted with two clinical standard surface electrodes (RSL Steeper SEA200). A two axis soft flex sensor (Bendlabs) was mounted on the posterior part of the socket and connected to

participants' upper arm to capture elbow flexion and extension. The clinical standard electrodes and the soft flex sensor were connected to an Arduino Nano sampling at 500 Hz. Eight EMG sensors (Delsys Quattro) were positioned in a band around the forearm distal to the clinical electrodes and fixed in place with a bandage. The Delsys Quattro units were placed on the exposed part of the. Data from the Delsys sensors and the Arduino Nano were synchronised and sampled on a PC using the AxoPy experimental library for human-computer interfacing [6].

Experimental Calibration

Participants performed a flex sensor calibration routine which involved moving their elbow through five positions. Two arm orientations were assessed, referred to as vertical and horizontal. In the vertical condition, participants performed a calibration with the shoulder relaxed such that flexion and extension of the elbow moved the forearm in the vertical plane. In the horizontal condition, participants performed the same calibration with the arm abducted to 90° such that flexion and extension of the elbow moved the forearm in the horizontal plane. Within each condition, the five elbow positions attempted to capture participants' range of movement on one axis, with targets one and five capturing top and bottom in the vertical condition and left and right in the horizontal condition. The arm position for target three aimed to be perpendicular to the display providing visual feedback in both cases.

Electromyography data from the clinical electrodes were calibrated to provide normalized muscle activity for use in the closed-loop experiment. Participants performed a calibration during which they were asked to perform activity representative of rest, y_r , and comfortable contraction, y_c . Normalized muscle activity, \hat{y} , was calculated according to $\hat{y} = (y - yr) / (yc - yr)$ and used throughout the experiment.

Experimental protocol

Participants performed four experimental blocks comprised of 40 trials under two conditions. A visual depiction of the experimental protocol is shown in Figure 1b.



Figure 1: (a) Example bypass socket. (b) Visual prompts used in vertical arm position experimental protocol. 1: Participant views five vertical positions with current position highlighted. 2: Target position is presented. 3: Participant moves arm to target position. 4: Prompt indicates to activate the flexor (left arrow) or extensor (right arrow). 5: Feedback may be presented if muscle activity reaches threshold value.

At the start of a trial participants were presented with five circles. In the vertical condition, the five circles were aligned vertically (Figure 1b1). A target was presented (Figure 1b2) to prompt participants to move their arm to the correct position. Once in position (Figure 1b3), an arrow was presented to indicate which muscle group to activate (Figure 1b4). In the vertical condition a right arrow prompted activation of the extensors and a left arrow indicated activation of the flexors. In the horizontal condition an up arrow indicated activation of the extensor and a down arrow activation of the flexor. In the second block of each condition, participants received feedback if they reached normalised activation level $\hat{y} = 1$ (Figure 1b5). Participants used a single left-handed joystick (FragFX FragChuck, SplitFish Gameware) to pause the experiment to avoid fatigue. The first two blocks were performed in the vertical condition.

RESULTS

Two analyses are ongoing. The first is intended to probe the degree to which limb and socket position and orientation influence unintended myoelectric activations. The second is a manual data labelling exercise to

differentiate different forms of myoelectric artefacts. Due to the limited number of participants tested no statistical analyses were performed.

Arm position

Trial data were differentiated into correct and incorrect activations according to whether or not normalised activation level $\hat{y} \ge 1$ was reached on the prompted clinical electrode channel prior to any unintended activation of the other clinical electrode. Classification results for the five limb positions in the horizontal and vertical conditions are shown in Figure 2a and 2b respectively. In the horizontal condition, Figure 2a, results trend lower as the elbow is flexed and the forearm moves across the body. In the vertical condition, Figure 2b, lower classification results are observed as the arm is fully extended. Figures 2c and 2d show a breakdown of misclassification results for two participants. In both participants, misclassification distributions in the horizontal condition are distinct from those in the vertical condition.



Figure 2: (a) Percent of correct activations in the horizontal condition. (b) Percent of correct activations in the vertical condition. (c) & (d) Misclassifications for two participants broken down into the horizontal and vertical experimental conditions.

Manual artefact analyses

Experimental data were manually analysed on a trial-by-trial basis. Electromyography sensor data obtained from clinical surface electrodes were compared to those obtained from the array of Delsys sensors. Trials in which the clinical data could not be explained by EMG activity observed in neighbouring Delsys electrodes were labelled as artefacts. Two common artefact types observed across participants are shown in Figure 3. Both Figure 3a and Figure 3b show artefactual EMG activity observed in the clinical electrode on the extensor side, during a flexor contraction. In both cases, artefacts occur concurrently with both the intended muscle activation and a degree of unintended co-activation. Our working hypothesis is that this activity represents unintended electrode shift caused by intentional muscle activation on the contralateral side of the bypass socket.

Figure 2b shows a change in baseline activity on the clinical electrode occurring at eight seconds, following an EMG artefact. During inspection it was observed that changes in baseline activity at the end of a trial period often led to the succeeding trial commencing with a similar shifted baseline.



Figure 3: Sample artefactual EMG activity observed in clinical standard electrodes. Both figures show activity observed in the flexor and extensors via clinical standard electrodes on the bottom row. The upper row shows the nearest neighbour Delsys sensor. (a) Sample showing single peak artefact. (b) Sample showing double peak artefact.

CONCLUSION

We have demonstrated a proof of principle method whereby myoelectric artefacts can by observed and recorded in a clinical simulation socket. This work is being undertaken as part of a larger project which aims to develop a joint mechanical electrical method to ameliorate electrode artefacts in clinical standard upper-limb prosthesis sockets [7]. The primary goal of this phase is to characterise any consistency in arm positions contributing to the generation of artefactual EMG and create ground truth artefactual EMG data for analysis. Current results trend towards more EMG artefacts being generated at limb position extremities, and changes dependent on limb orientation. We aim to run complementary studies in participants with limb absence using a modified socket design and fewer probe electrodes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), Award ID: NIHR201310.

REFERENCES

- E. Biddiss, and T. Chau, "Upper-limb prosthetics: critical factors in device abandonment," American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation, vol. 86, no. 12, pp. 977–987, 2007
- [2] L. C. Smail, C. Neal, C. Wilkins, and T. L. Packham, "Comfort and function remain key factors in upper limb prosthetic abandonment: findings of a scoping review," Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology, pp. 1–10, 2020.
- [3] K. Postema, V. Van Der Donk, J. Van Limbeek, and M.J. Poelma, "Prosthesis rejection in children with a unilateral congenital arm defect," Clinical Rehabilitation., vol. 13, pp 243–249, 1999.
- [4] A. Chadwell, L. Kenney, S. Thies, A. Galpin, and J. Head, "The reality of myoelectric prostheses: understanding what makes these devices difficult for some users to control," Frontiers in Neurorobotics., vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 102, 2016.
- [5] J. Head, "The effect of socket movement and electrode contact on myoelectric prosthesis control during daily living activities," Ph.D. dissertation, Salford, UK, 2014.
- [6] J. Olsen, J. Head, L. Willan, S. Dupan, and M. Dyson, "Remote creation of clinical-standard myoelectric trans-radial bypass sockets during COVID-19," in 2021 43th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society (EMBC), pp. 7422– 7425, 2021
- [7] K. R. Lyons, and B. W. L. Margolis, "AxoPy: A Python library for implementing human-computer interface experiments," Journal of Open Source Software, vol. 4, no. 34, p. 1191, 2019.
- [8] L Kenney, M Prince, A Chadwell, M Dyson, and Howard D, "A smart electrode housing to improve the control of upper limb myoelectric prostheses," in The Trent International Prosthetics Symposium (TIPS) 2022.

DEMONSTRATION OF AN OPTOGENETIC NEURONAL CONTROL INTERFACE

Arjun K. Fontaine¹, Jacob Segil³, John H. Caldwell², Richard F. Weir¹

Departments of ¹Bioengineering and ²Cell and Developmental Biology, University of Colorado Denver/Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, Colorado, USA ³Engineering Plus Program, University of Colorado Boulder, Boulder, Colorado, USA

ABSTRACT

Improved nerve interface approaches are sought for prosthesis control and sensory feedback as well as visceral organ study/modulation. Optical approaches that can <u>read-in</u> and <u>read-out</u> neural activity have advantages over electrode-based systems in terms of selectivity and non-invasiveness. To address limitations of existing nerve interface designs, we present an optical approach capable of reading activity from individual nerve fibers using activity-dependent calcium transients. Here we demonstrate the feasibility of using activity-dependent calcium transients to a control prosthetic hand. This work provides a proof-of-concept for an optogenetic nerve interface demonstrating as it does our ability to read-out signals at the axonal scale in real-time and apply it to a devices control.

INTRODUCTION

We are developing a Bidirectional Optogenetic Neural Interface to read-in and/or read-out action potentials from a nerve with the goal of creating a neural interface that is selective yet minimally invasive to the nerve. There are significant drawbacks to current nerve interface approaches. They either lack specificity - they use nerve cuff electrodes, such as the Flat Interface Nerve Electrode (FINE) Array[1] that must sit on the outside of the nerve and measure signals originating inside the nerve bundle, or they involve penetrating the nerve with needle electrodes such as Longitudinal Intrafascicular Electrodes



Figure 1: Action potential elicited calcium signal detection in tibial nerve axon nodes of Ranvier [1].

(LIFE)[2] or the Utah Slant Array[3]. Penetrating electrodes tend to be hard and rigid, resulting in a stiffness mismatch that causes irritation and necrosis, decreasing longevity. Instead of using electrical interfacing with the nerve, we will use light activated ion channels (opsins) and fluorescence protein Ca^{2+} or voltage indicators that allow stimulation and recording of action potentials of specific afferent or efferent neurons using viral vector transfection. Our Optogenetic Neuronal Interface is based on a fiber optic coupled miniature two-photon microscope with electrowetting adaptive optics [4-7].



Figure 2: Action potential elicited calcium signal detection in vagus nerve axons with GCaMP6f.

The Bidirectional Optogenetic Neuronal Interface system is based on the principal of two-photon (TP) excitation[**8,9**]. In TP excitation, a fluorophore is excited by short pulses of laser light. TP excitation offers intrinsic axial cross sectioning because the process only occurs at the focus of the objective lens. The technique offers resolutions of 175 nm lateral and 451 nm axial for 900 nm light focused with a 1.2 NA objective. This approach, when combined with a lateral scanning head, provides axon scale resolution that can be used to selectively interrogate an axon while excluding signals from the remaining tissue.

Peripheral nerve *read-out* of activity using calcium-sensitive fluorescent reporters: We have demonstrated read-out of

genetically expressed activity-dependent calcium indicators, such as GCaMP6f, has been demonstrated in other work in vitro[10] [Figure 1 & Figure 2]. We have also shown how a viral vector might be used as a mechanism for delivery of long-term optical protein expression in mouse neurons for optical read-out [11]. Selective photo-stimulation (*read-in*) in nerve: We have also demonstrated the ability to selectively read-in (or stimulate) to nerves optically [Figure 3].

Here we further demonstrate the feasibility of using optical approaches for prosthesis control by imaging the axonal fluorescence produced by action potentials travelling in an in vitro mouse nerve and using the change in image intensity to drive a prosthetic hand in real-time. This work provides a proof-of-concept for an optogenetic nerve interface demonstrating as it does our ability to read-out signals at the axonal scale in real-time and apply it to a devices control.

METHODS

Nerve Preparation: The sciatic nerve and its tibial nerve branch are excised from adult wild type mice and loaded from the tibial end with a synthetic calcium indicator (2 mM Calcium Green-1 Dextran, ex/em = 506/531 nm) dissolved in a buffer containing 130 mM KCl and 30 mM MOPS, pH 7.2 in accordance with Supplementary Figure 1, Fontaine et al, 2017 [11] (Figure 4). The tibial end is freshly cut in a zero-calcium buffer to ensure open axon cylinders before being suctioned into a tight-fit electrode with the dye buffer to facilitate longitudinal



Figure 3: Spatially selective photo-stimulation elicits differential vitals responses. (a-c) Regions (1-3) of 1040nm photo-stimulation within the cervical vagus nerve of an anesthetized ChAT-GCaMP6s mouse. (d-f) Corresponding vitals responses to photo-stimulation; region 1 elicits an increase in heart rate and a decrease in oxygen saturation; region 2 elicits a decrease in heart rate and no change in oxygen saturation; region 3 elicits a decrease in oxygen saturation. 1040nm stimulus was applied for 4 seconds with 20 ms pulses at 20 Hz.

axonal dye-loading via diffusion and/or axoplasmic transport. The suction electrode on the tibial nerve also serves to record electrical activity within the nerve. The sciatic end of the nerve is drawn into a suction electrode for electrical stimulation of compound action potentials (CAPs). All experiments were performed in accordance with our Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) regulations and approved protocol.



Electrophysiology: CAPs are generated and recorded throughout the experiment using 50 µs square pulses to confirm and monitor nerve viability. The stimulation voltage threshold for maximum CAP amplitude is determined. CAP amplitudes were monitored throughout the duration of the incubation period, to confirm stable nerve health.

Figure 4: Nerve dye-loading, electrophysiology & imaging configuration

Optical Imaging/Recording: Dye labeled axons were imaged in a region of nerve near the tibial recording electrode. The nerve was gently pressed to the optical glass of the chamber with low-tension silk strings attached to a small weight for imaging on an inverted microscope. Placement of the small 'harp-like' device did not affect the CAP. Fluorescence imaging was performed on a spinning disk confocal microscope (Intelligent Imaging Innovations, Marianas). A 515nm laser line was used to excite the Calcium Green-1. Pixels were binned (2x2) to improve the frame read-out time for fast imaging. To record calcium transients, time-lapse images were acquired at 12-20Hz (motor update rate), during which the nerve was stimulated by an electrical stimulator triggered via TTL pulses from the microscope. Fluorescence was imaged onto an EMCCD camera (Photometrics Evolve) through a 525/50nm emission filter. Images were collected with a 63X, 1.4NA oil-immersion objective lens. Photobleaching of the signal was kept minimal by the reduction of laser power and exposure, and any mild decay due to photobleaching was not removed.

Prosthetic Hand Modification: The electronics in the original Bebionic v2 hand (RSL Steeper, UK) (Figure 5) were replaced with a custom motor controller system (Sigenics Inc., Chicago, IL) and included a central Arduino controller board and six

satellite boards referred to as 'penny boards' (as they were the size of a penny). Each penny board was connected by a four-wire I2C bus with each board associated with an individual finger for finger flexion/extension with two for the thumb to drive flexion/ extension and abduction/ adduction. For velocity control motor commands indicating the speed and direction of motion for the driven finger were sent from a Matlab script to the Arduino (SparkFun Electronics, Boulder, CO) which converted the serial commands into I2C commands. Position encoder values from the prosthetic finger motor were recorded simultaneously and converted to joint angle measurements post hoc. For the Bebionic the fingers can flex from 0-95° and run at a max speed of about 2 rads/sec. For position control, desired finger position is sent over the I2C bus to the motor controller and a local on-board PID loop handles positioning of the finger.

Control Interface and Method: A standard laptop computer running SlideBook 6.0 software (Intelligent Imaging Innovations) took the raw time-lapse images from the microscope and sent them to a custom Matlab program (Mathworks, MA) which calculated the intensity of the region-of-interest



Figure 6: Real-time prosthetic digit actuation by action potential evoked calcium fluorescence signal in a peripheral nerve axon. (a) Confocal images of a CalciumGreen-1-Dextran-loaded axon node-of-Ranvier used to control finger actuation, shown before, during and after the activity-induced fluorescent signal (scale bar 10µm). (b) Quantitative trace of the calcium-fluorescence signal in response to the 1s, 100Hz train of action potentials (black bar). (c) Prosthetic hand's middle finger flexes and extends under control of the optical signal from panel b. Virtual red dot denotes the tip of the middle finger driven in the experiment. (d) Corresponding finger joint angle illustrates digit flexion occurring during supra-threshold optical control signal.



Figure 5: (a) Commercially available Bebionic v2 hand (b) Modified Bebionic hand used for finger actuation experiments. Custom electronics were installed in order to control individual motors within the prosthesis. The Bebioinc has motor encoders that can measure finger position and be used in closed -loop control..

(ROI) on the selected axon and based on the computed value sent commands to the motor controllers of the prosthetic hand via a serial link. A setup function in the Matlab script established the serial communication between the computer and the prosthetic hand. A second function received the time-lapse captures from SlideBook and translated the image data into an optical signal by averaging nodal ROI pixel intensities in each frame. The change-in-intensity is the control signal-of-interest. We see a baseline intensity for zero firing rate and a 15-18% for a firing rate of 125Hz. Since baseline is not constant, we set a threshold of 2%. This gives us our command signal range: for 0-125hz we expect a 2-18% dF/F which should map to 0-100% of our command signal for the motor. Initially we mapped the optical signal to the prosthetic finger velocity in an open-loop velocity control paradigm that is standard-of-care [12]. The hand was set up in a "cookie-crusher" configuration so single-site control could be used. In this case when the amplitude of the signal rises above the optical signal threshold the finger was driven in flexion at a speed proportional to the change-in-intensity. Velocity gains were adjusted to achieve a full range of motion.

RESULTS

An axon which fluoresced in response to the simulated motor command was selected. The calcium response originated at the center of the selected node-of-Ranvier and propagated bidirectionally into the internodal region of the axon. The nodal region, which was used for the motor command signal, showed approximately 12% change (dF/F) in fluorescence intensity. This signal amplitude was comparable to that achieved in prior work for an action potential pulse train frequency of 100 Hz [12]. Since an open-loop velocity control paradigm was employed, the digit was driven in flexion for the duration of the suprathreshold optical signal at a rate proportional to the signal intensity (about 1.5 rads/sec). Upon cessation of the command signal the finger is driven in extension at max speed (2 rads/sec) until the hand is fully open, per the cookiecrusher paradigm (Figure 6).

Proportional Control was demonstrated using previously recorded signals collected for a range of action potential pulse trains frequencies which were then used post-hoc to drive fingers in a position-control paradigm. As characterized in earlier work [10] average fluorescence amplitudes of sustained stimulus are linearly modulated by the action potential pulse train frequency. Such graded signals therefore encode intensity of the motor command. The fingers flexed to a position proportional to the intensity change produced by action potential pulse train frequency which was modulated between 25-125Hz (Figure 7).

While previous studies have optically stimulated peripheral nerve axons for functional modulation of motor units [13-15] using the light-activated ChannelRhodopsin2 (ChR2) there is an absence of literature describing the use of optically obtained signals from peripheral axon activity for device control. However, the range of action potential frequencies used to drive the prosthesis in this study is within a physiologically relevant range since action potential pulse train frequency typically varies between 15-500Hz (in the non-refractory range). The control signal was derived from a 1 second, 100 Hz action potential



Figure 7: Motor flexion of the prosthetic digit is graded by the action potential pulse train frequency of the optical calcium signal. (a) Graded calciumfluorescence transients in an axon node-of-Ranvier in response to a range of action potential frequencies. (b) Resulting finger joint angles of the prosthetic finger as driven with control signals from panel a.

burst would likely correspond to a low-side motor command. The present experiments demonstrate the potential for read-out and control using an ex vivo model. In other work [11] we have demonstrated that similar signals (dF/F) can be obtained using a genetically encoded calcium indicator, GCaMP, with a retro-viral (rAAV) delivery.

CONCLUSIONS

Proof-of-concept for an optogenetic nerve interface is demonstrated by showing our ability to read-out signals at the axonal scale in real-time and apply it to the control of a prosthetic hand. Optical signals generated by frequency modulated action potentials in an axon were transduced to provide proportional prosthetic finger actuation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported in part by funds administered through VA Eastern Colorado Health Care System - Denver VA and funds from the NIH SPARC initiative administered through the Office of the Director: 10T20D023852-01.

REFERENCES

D. J. Tyler &D. M. Durand, "Functionally selective peripheral nerve stimulation with a flat interface nerve electrode," IEEE TNSE, v10:294-303, 1.

G. S. Dhillon & K. W. Horch, "Direct neural sensory feedback and control of a prosthetic arm," IEEE TNSRE, v13:468-72, Dec 2005. 2.

- D. McDonnall, GA Clark, RA Normann, "Interleaved, multisite electrical stimulation of cat sciatic nerve produces ...," IEEE TNSRE, v12:208-215,2004. 3
- BN Ozbay, GL Futia, M Ma, VM Bright, et al., "3D two-photon imaging of neural activity in freely moving mice," Scientific Reports, vol. 8, 2018. 4

GL Futia, A Fontaine, S Littich, et al., In vivo holographic photo-stimulation and two photon GCaMP6 imaging of vagus nerve ... v10866: SPIE, 2019. 5.

- 6. BN Ozbay, JT Losacco, R Cormack, R Weir, et al., "Miniaturized fiber-coupled confocal fluorescence microscope with....," Opt Lett, v40:2553-6, 2015.
- Lim, et al. Liquid Combination with High Refractive Index Contrast and Fast Scanning Speeds for Electrowetting..., Langmuir, v34:14511-18, 2018. 7.

8 P. T. So, C. Y. Dong, B. R. Masters, and K. M. Berland, "Two-photon excitation fluorescence microscopy," Annu Rev Biomed Eng, v2:399-429, 2000. F. Helmos, C. L. Bong, D. R. Miser, and R. M. Beham, "We phone addition indersected microscopy," *Natl Methods*, vol. 2, pp. 932-40, Dec 2005.
AK Fontaine, E Gibson, J Caldwell, R Weir, Optical Read-out of Neural Activity in Mammalian Peripheral Axon ..." *Scientific Reports*, v7:4744, 2017.

- 10.
- Anderson et al., Imaging of electrical activity in small diameter fibers of the murine peripheral nerve w/ virally-delivered GCaMP6f, Scientific Rprts 8. 11.
- RF Weir, JA Sensinger, 2009: Design of Artificial Arms & Hands for Prosthetic Applications. Biomed. Eng. & Design, Myer Kutz Ed, McGraw-Hill. 12.
- Maimon, B. E. et al. Transdermal optogenetic peripheral nerve stimulation. J. Neural Eng. 14, 2017. 13.
- C Towne, KL Montgomery, SM Iyer, K Deisseroth, SL Delp, Optogenetic Control of Targeted Peripheral Axons in ... PLoS One 8, e72691 2013 14
- ME Llewellyn, KR Thompson, K Deisseroth, S Delp, Orderly recruitment of motor units under optical control in vivo. Nat. Med. 16:1161–1165, 2010. 15.

MOTOR UNIT SUBSET SELECTION FOR SCALABLE REAL-TIME INTERFACING

Dennis Yeung¹, Francesco Negro², Ivan Vujaklija¹

¹Department of Electrical Engineering and Automation, Aalto University, FI ²Department of Clinical and Experimental Sciences, University of Brescia, IT

ABSTRACT

Current methods for motor unit (MU) based human-machine interfacing do not scale well with the expansion of output functionality. This is due to the high computational demands of the initial MU parameter extraction via decomposition of high-density surface electromyography recordings. We propose an alternative approach that relies on task-specific batch decomposition processes along with a MU subset selection step to address feature redundancy. Offline analyses were conducted using EMG and kinematics pertaining to 18 wrist/forearm motor tasks recorded from 11 able-bodied subjects. The mutual information-based minimal Redundancy Maximal Relevancy (mRMR) feature selection framework was tested and compared to Maximal Relevancy (MR) and two arbitrary selection methods. Subset MUs were then used for joint kinematics estimation corresponding to those 18 motor tasks by three different regressors. The mRMR selection scheme was found to retain MUs with the highest predictive power. When the portion of tracked MUs was reduced to 25%, regression accuracy decreased by only 3.5%.

INTRODUCTION

The firing times of motor neurons are the most basic unit of neural drive responsible for instigating muscle force generation. Such information could be leveraged to facilitate more intuitive and dextrous human-machine interfacing (HMI). The application of blind source separation techniques on high-density surface electromyography (EMG) recordings has been previously used to estimate the motor unit (MU) firing times embedded within the surface signal [1], [2]. Such methods have been extended to online applications which permit real-time interfacing driven by the direct firing activity of MUs. So far, this has been demonstrated in control of up to 2 Degrees of Freedom (DoFs) [3], [4].

Current methods for MU-based interfacing do not scale efficiently with the expansion of supported functionality due to the high computational demands of the initial decomposition phase. In particular, the gradient-based and fixed-point iteration methods used to optimize separation vectors scale poorly with the significant increase in data that accompanies each supported function. We propose conducting this initial extraction of MUs in a task-wise manner with separate batch processes to leverage distributed computing resources and to reduce the overall initialization time of the interface. To address the resultant redundancy in extracted sources, a MU subset selection step is implemented using feature selection techniques.

The feasibility of the proposed interfacing pipeline was analysed in cross-validation format using EMG from 18 motor tasks pertaining to the single and pair-wise combined activations of three wrist/forearm DoFs. From the train data set, MUs were identified via task-wise batch decomposition and MU subset selection was performed. The minimal Redundancy Maximal Relevancy (mRMR) feature selection scheme proposed in [5] was tested along with Maximal Relevancy (MR) and two arbitrary schemes based on randomness and MU activity. From the test data set, the activities of subset MUs were extracted with an online decomposition algorithm and used for kinematics estimation. Results using three regression algorithms: linear regression (LR), multilayer perceptron (MLP) and kernel ridge regression (KRR) were obtained. Assessment of the selection criteria was made based on the changes to open-loop estimation accuracy as subset sizes were reduced.

METHODS

Subjects

Eleven healthy subjects, seven male and four female, all right-handed, aged 26-34, participated in the experiment. The study was approved by the local ethical board of Aalto University and all participants gave their written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Experimental Protocol

High density EMG was recorded from each subject's dominant side with three 8x8 electrode matrices spaced evenly around the bulk of the forearm. The channels were sampled at 2048 Hz by a benchtop bioamplifier (OT Bioelettronica, IT). Wrist joint angles and rotation were recorded at a rate of 80 Hz with three wireless Inertial Measurement Units (IMUs) (Xsens Technologies B.V, NL) attached to the posterior sides of the upper-arm, mid-forearm and hand. Subjects were seated upright with their recorded limb relaxed by their side. Three repetitions of single and pair-wise combinations of motions pertaining to wrist flexion/extension (FL/EX), radial/ulnar deviation (RD/UD) and forearm pronation/supination (PR/SU) were recorded with trapezoidal activation profiles of 2 s ramp time and 10 s plateau time resulting in a dataset of 18 motor tasks. Recordings and analyses were carried out using an in-house developed Matlab (MathWorks Inc, MA, USA) framework. Offline analyses were conducted in cross-validation format where the training set comprised of two repetitions of each motor task while the test data was formed from the remaining repetitions. Initial MU extraction, subset selection, and estimator training were conducted with the train set while the pseudo-online decomposition algorithm was applied to the test set to simulate the real-time interfacing.

Batch and Online Decomposition

The batch decomposition methodology employed in this work follows that of [1] while the online decomposition algorithm is based on the methods proposed in [3], [6]. In brief, the batch algorithm sequentially estimates a set of separation vectors, **B**, that compensates for the action potentials of their respective MUs and de-mixes the source activities, **S**, from an extended EMG, $\mathbf{\hat{Z}}$, that has been centered and then whitened with **W**:

$$\mathbf{S}_{c} = \mathbf{B}_{c}' \mathbf{W}_{c} \left(\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}_{c} - \mathbf{E}[\tilde{\mathbf{z}}_{c}(k)] \mathbf{1} \right)$$
(1)

where **1** is a vector of ones of appropriate size, subscript $c \in \{1, ..., C\}$ denotes the enumerated coding of a motor task and C = 18 in this work. Peak detection on each source signal, then k-means++ binary clustering of the peaks gives a set of spike cluster limits, $\Psi = \{(hi_n, lo_n), n = 1, ..., N\}$. Following a refinement step, sources are vetted by their silhouette (SIL) score which is analogous to a pulse-to-noise ratio and lagged versions of extracted sources are discarded. The pseudo-online decomposition algorithm thus applies the pre-conditioning and separation vectors to unseen data for source extraction while stored clusters inform the estimation of spike times. The schematic for this process is given in Fig 1B which also shows the computation of the *decomposed spike count* feature vector, $\mathbf{x}(t)$, from windowed EMG, $\mathbf{Z}(t)$.

MU Subset Selection

A full feature matrix is first constructed by extracting the activities of all identified MUs over the full training data set. This is achieved by applying the online decomposition algorithm to extract the activities of MUs initially identified from individual motor tasks over the entire repertoire of training movements (Fig. 1A). To formulate the selection methods, it is convenient to define the activity of each MU as a random variable within set $F = \{x_n, n = 1, ..., N\}$. The subset selection step now identifies a subset, S, based on some optimality criterion and future deployment of the online decomposition algorithm would only need to extract the activities of MUs within S.

Under the MR selection scheme, the MUs whose activities share the highest mutual information with the motor task annotation, ℓ , are prioritized:

$$\max_{S\subseteq F} \sum_{x_n \in S} I(x_n; \ell).$$
⁽²⁾

where I(;) returns the mutual information between its argument variables.


Figure 1: (A) Initialization process of the proposed MU-based interfacing. (B) Schematic for batch and online decomposition techniques showing the parameters that are transferred.

The mRMR scheme sequentially compiles *S* where, in each step, candidate MUs are also penalized by the mutual information they share with MUs that have already been selected. The criterion to satisfy at each step now writes as

$$\max_{x_n \in F-S} \frac{I(x_n; \ell)}{\frac{1}{|S|} \sum_{s \in S} I(x_n; s)}.$$
(3)

For comparative purposes, two naive selection schemes were also tested. The first is to select MUs by random while the second method prioritized MUs that were most active during the training movements.

Regression Algorithms

In LR, a linear mapping between S and kinematic labels (**y**) is established by the Penrose-Moore pseudoinverse method. For MLP-based estimation, single hidden-layer feedforward networks using the tanh activation function are trained via the Levenberg-Marquardt backpropagation algorithm with each DoF estimated by a dedicated network while the optimal hidden-layer node counts are obtained via grid search. With KRR, a mapping is formed by the inner products between samples projected to a higher dimensional kernel feature space. The radial basis function is employed. Two hyperparameters, the ridge regularization scale and the kernel spread, are optimized via grid search.

Statistical Analysis

Decoding accuracy was gauged by the coefficient of determination (R^2) between estimated kinematics and ground truth. Repeated-measures ANOVA followed by Bonferroni-corrected pairwise comparisons were used to detect statistically significant differences between the different selection scheme and subset size combinations tested for each regressor.

RESULTS

On average, 20.3 ± 8.8 viable MUs were extracted via batch decomposition from the two training repetitions of each motor task.

Decoding performances from the different subset selection scheme and subset size combinations are shown in Fig. 2. Statistically significant differences were detected amongst the subset selection-size combinations for all decoding algorithms. Apart from the LR results, mutual information-based selection schemes (MR/mRMR) prevented significant performance drops when the number of MUs extracted for estimation were reduced by 50%.

Table I shows the average R^2 values yielded with subset sizes reduced to 25%. Overall, mRMR-selected MUs retained the highest predictive power and resulted in the lowest performance drops (-3.5%) while randomized selection performed the worst (-14.8%).





	LR	MLP	KRR	Average
Full set	0.73±0.07	0.76±0.06	0.82±0.06	0.77±0.07
Random	0.58±0.11	0.67±0.09	0.71±0.08	0.65±0.11
	-20.6%	-11.7%	-12.6%	-14.8%
Max Activity	0.6±0.10	0.68±0.09	0.74±0.08	0.67±0.11
	-18.5%	-10.1%	-9.7%	-12.6%
MR	0.63±0.09	0.70±0.09	0.75±0.08	0.69±0.10
	-14.6%	-7.1%	-7.8%	-9.7%
mRMR	0.69±0.08	0.75±0.08	0.79±0.07	0.74 ± 0.09
	-6.8%	-0.08%	-3.0%	-3.5%

Table 1: Regression-based decoding performance (R^2) at MU subset size = 25%

REFERENCES

- F. Negro, S. Muceli, A. M. Castronovo, A. Holobar, and D. Farina, "Multi-channel intramuscular and surface EMG decomposition by convolutive blind source separation," *J. Neural Eng.*, vol. 13, no. 2, p. 026027, Apr. 2016.
- [2] A. Holobar and D. Zazula, "Gradient Convolution Kernel Compensation Applied to Surface Electromyograms," in *Independent Component Analysis and Signal Separation*, Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2007, pp. 617–624.
- [3] D. Y. Barsakcioglu and D. Farina, "A real-time surface EMG decomposition system for non-invasive humanmachine interfaces," 2018 IEEE Biomed. Circuits Syst. Conf. BioCAS 2018 - Proc., Dec. 2018.
- [4] C. Chen, Y. Yu, X. Sheng, D. Farina, and X. Zhu, "Simultaneous and proportional control of wrist and hand movements by decoding motor unit discharges in real time," J. Neural Eng., vol. 18, no. 5, p. 56010, Oct. 2021.
- [5] Hanchuan Peng, Fuhui Long, and C. Ding, "Feature selection based on mutual information criteria of maxdependency, max-relevance, and min-redundancy," *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.*, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 1226–1238, Aug. 2005.
- [6] D. Y. Barsakcioglu, M. Bracklein, A. Holobar, and D. Farina, "Control of Spinal Motoneurons by Feedback from a Non-invasive Real-Time Interface," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, pp. 1–1, Jun. 2020.

PROPORTIONAL ELECTROMYOGRAPHIC CONTROL OF A BIONIC ARM IN A PARTICIPANT WITH CHRONIC HEMIPARESIS, MUSCLE SPASTICITY, AND IMPAIRED RANGE OF MOTION: A CASE STUDY

Caleb J. Thomson¹, Jacob A. George^{1,2,3,4}

¹Department of Biomedical Engineering, ²Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, ³Department of Mechanical Engineering, ⁴Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA

ABSTRACT

The long-term goal of this research is to restore intuitive and proportional motor control to stroke patients with an assistive exoskeleton. Stroke is the leading cause of disability in the United States, with 80% of stroke-related disability coming in the form of hemiparesis, presented as weakness or paresis on half of the body. Current electromyographic-(EMG)-controlled assistive exoskeletons do not allow for fine force regulation. That is, current control strategies provide only binary, all-or-nothing, control based on a linear threshold of EMG activity. In this case study with one hemiparetic stroke patient, we show that state-of-the-art EMG control algorithms can provide proportional control of a bionic arm despite weak and spastic muscle activity. The participant completed a virtual target-touching exercise with an EMG-controlled bionic arm by attempting to grasp (close) or extend (open) their hand. The participant completed the task under two conditions, with EMG from their paretic arm and with EMG from their healthy, contralateral arm. For grasping, there was no statistical difference in task performance for the paretic and healthy arms, but there was a significant decrease in the EMG signal-to-noise ratio for the paretic arm. For extension, there was a significant decrease in both task performance and EMG signal-to-noise ratio for the paretic arm. Despite these differences, the participant was still able to complete the target-touching task with the paretic arm. These preliminary results show it is possible, for at least some patients, to provide proportional control of assistive devices using weak and spastic EMG. Importantly, information regulating fine force output is still present in EMG despite a visually immobile arm due to hemiparesis. Future work will validate these findings with additional stroke patients with varying presentations of hemiparesis and move into controlling upper-limb exoskeletons.

INTRODUCTION

Stroke is the leading cause of disability in the United States, with more than 795,000 people suffering from a stroke each year. Eighty percent of stroke-related motor deficits are in the form of upper-limb hemiparesis [1]. Hemiparesis makes it difficult to complete activities of daily living and thereby reduces quality of life and autonomy. Upper-limb exoskeletons controlled by electromyography (EMG) have been shown to assist patients with hemiparesis in activities of daily living [2]. However clinical upper-limb exoskeletons typically use a binary, "all-or-nothing" control algorithm that makes it difficult to perform fine motor activities such as manipulating fragile objects. Previous studies investigating proportional EMG control from stroke patients have focused on force (torque) control of an elbow exoskeleton [3] and robot-assisted wrist movement [4]. However few studies have investigated the feasibility of proportional EMG control of the hand for stroke patients.

Proportional control of myoelectric prostheses has been achieved through a variety of different algorithms, including k-nearest neighbors [5], support vector machines [6], Kalman filters [7], convolutional neural networks (CNNs) [8], [9], long-short term memory networks [10], and recurrent CNNs [11]. In this case study, we explored if a Kalman filter could also provide proportional control of a myoelectric prosthesis for a single patient with hemiparesis. We show that proportional control can be readily achieved using this widely-used algorithm despite significantly lower EMG signal-to-noise ratio and a visually immobile arm. We also show that, for at least some movements, the quality of the proportional control can be similar to that from healthy EMG.

METHODS

Human Subjects

This case study involved a single human subject. Informed consent and experimental protocols were carried out in accordance with the University of Utah Institutional Review Board. The participant was male, 44 years of age, and experienced a stroke four years prior to the study. At the time of the study, the participant had severe spastic hemiparesis on the left side of his body. The participant scored a 1 on the Manual Muscle Test, indicating no visible movement of the arm but a palpable tendon prominence and flicker contraction. The participant scored a 3 on the Modified Ashworth Scale, indicating a considerable increase in muscle tone that made passive movement of the hand difficult.

Signal Acquisition

Surface EMG (sEMG) from the participant was collected using a symmetric bilateral pair of custom EMG sleeves [8], such that each electrode roughly targeted the same muscle group across sleeves. EMG was sampled at 1 kHz and filtered using the Summit Neural Interface processor (Ripple Neuro Med LLC) as described in [7]. EMG features used for estimating motor intent consisted of the 300-ms smoothed mean absolute value on 528 channels (32 single-ended channels and 496 calculated differential pairs) calculated at 30 Hz, as described in [7].

EMG signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) was calculated by taking the mean absolute value of the EMG signal during movement and dividing it by the mean absolute value of the EMG signal during rest. EMG SNR was calculated for the 32 single-ended channels (i.e., one SNR value per each electrode for the sleeves on the right and left arms). EMG SNR was calculated separately for grasping (closing the hand) and extension (opening the hand).

Experimental Setup

The participant was instructed to mimic preprogramed movements of a virtual prosthetic arm (MSMS, John Hopkins Applied Physics Lab) with either their healthy or paretic arm. sEMG was recorded while the participant mimicked those movements (Fig. 1). Preprogramed movements included hand grasping (simultaneous flexion of D1-D5) and hand extension (simultaneous extension of D1-D5). Each movement consisted of a 0.7-s rise time, 3-s hold time, and a 0.7-s return to baseline, as described in [7], [9]. The participant completed ten trials of each movement. This exercise was completed separately for the healthy arm and the paretic arm.

EMG Control Algorithm

The EMG control algorithm used in this study was a modified Kalman Filter (MKF) [7]. The MKF provides an efficient recursive algorithm to optimally estimate the probability of hand movement when the likelihood model (i.e., the probability of the EMG activity given current hand position) and prior models (i.e., the state model of how position changes over time) are linear and Gaussian. In the implementation presented here, the MKF predicts the instantaneous position of the hand based on EMG activity of the arm at the current time point. The main difference between this study and [7] is that no threshold was applied to the output of the MKF.

Virtual Target-Touching Task

To evaluate proportional control of both arms, the participant completed a target-touching task controlling the virtual arm and attempting to move it into a target window. In this task the targets were placed at 50% of the maximum flexion and extension. Importantly, training data for the MKF was collected at 100% of the maximum flexion and extension, and thus, the task provides a measure of how well control extrapolates to novel intermediate positions. For each trial, the participant was instructed to stay within the target window for 5 seconds. The participant was instructed to relax between trials for 2 seconds for the healthy arm and 10 seconds for the paretic arm. The targets had a $\pm 10\%$ error tolerance, such that the participant received visual feedback indicating when they were within the target window.





The participant completed 20 trials of hand grasping and 20 trials of hand extension for both the healthy and paretic arms.

The root mean square error (RMSE) was calculated between the target window and the participant's kinematic output, such that values within the target window resulted in an RMSE of 0. The percent time within the target window (PTT) was calculated as the total time that the participant's kinematic output was within the target window out of the total duration of the task (five seconds).

Statistical Analysis

SNR, RMSE and PTT data were tested for normality using the Anderson-Darling test of normality. Paired t-tests were then performed between the healthy and paretic for each performance metric.

RESULTS

Paretic EMG had Lower SNR for Both Hand Grasping and Hand Extension

EMG activity during instructed hand grasping was visually similar between the paretic and healthy arms (Fig. 2A). In contrast, EMG activity during instructed hand extension was substantially less for paretic arm compared to the healthy arm (Fig. 2B). For both hand grasping and hand extension, SNR was significantly less for the paretic arm compared to the healthy arm (Fig. 2C).



Figure 2. EMG activity from paretic and healthy arms during instructed hand grasping and hand extension. A) The average EMG feature (mean absolute value) of the healthy arm (blue) and the paretic arm (red) during instructed hand grasping (black line). Data show mean and standard deviation. B) The average EMG feature of the arm during instructed hand extension. C) SNR of the paretic EMG was lower than that of the healthy EMG for both movements. Data show SNR from the 32 electrodes for both the EMG sleeves on the paretic and healthy arms. Data show mean and standard error of the mean. ** p<0.01, paired *t*-test, n=32 electrodes.

Proportional Control Possible for Both Arms, but Worse for Paretic Hand Extension

The participant was able to complete the virtual target-touching task with EMG control from both their healthy and paretic arms. Kinematic output was similar between the paretic and healthy arms during instructed hand grasping (Fig. 3A). The average kinematic output was also similar between the paretic and healthy arms during instructed hand extension, however, kinematic output was less precise for the paretic hand, as evidenced by a larger standard deviation (Fig. 3B). For hand grasping, the participant had no significant differences between their paretic and healthy arms for RMSE (paretic arm 12.2% worse; Fig. 3C) and PTT (paretic arm 2.6% better; Fig. 3D). For hand extension, the participant's performance was significantly worse for their paretic arm compared to their healthy arm; RMSE was 128% worse (** p<0.01, paired t-test) and PTT was 52.4% worse (** p<0.01, paired t-test).

Importantly, despite significantly worse performance with the paretic arm for hand extension, the participant was still able to control the hand proportionally and complete the virtual target-touching task. The RMSE and PTT values reported here are similar to those found with amputees (RMSE means ~ 0.1 ; PTT means ~ 0.5 (Citterman et al., MEC 2022)) and healthy participants (RMSE mean ~ 0.15 , PTT between 0.14 and 0.43) [12]. Thus, even the worst control the participant experienced was equivalent to that of other healthy participants. The participant was particularly excited about their ability to finely control the virtual bionic arm, despite the fact that his hand did not visually move. In a spontaneous moment of joy, the participant took out his phone to record a video of the virtual hand gently opening and closing.



Figure 3. Performance of the virtual target-touching task for the healthy arm (blue) and paretic arm (red). A) Participant's kinematic output when attempting to perform a partial hand grasp (50% output). Data show the mean and standard deviation of the kinematic output across the 20 trials of the task. The green area represents the target window that the participant was attempting to remain within. B) Participant's kinematic output when attempting to perform partial hand extension (50% output). C) The RMSE between the participant's kinematic output and the target window was significantly greater for the paretic arm for hand extension (i.e., the paretic arm had significantly worse performance). No significant difference was found for hand grasping. Data show the mean and standard error of the mean across the 20 trials of the task. D) Similarly, the PTT was significantly less for the paretic arm for hand extension (i.e., the paretic arm had significantly worse performance). No significant difference was found for hand grasping.

CONCLUSSION

This case study with one participant shows promise in advancing and improving control for upperlimb exoskeletons for use after stroke. We specifically show that even though there are significant differences between the EMG signal between the healthy and paretic arms, widely-used myoelectric control algorithms can still extract useful information related to fine force regulation and provide proportional control in real-time. We also show that for at least some movements, performance can be equivalent to that of healthy EMG. Future work will extend this study to more participants and validate real-time proportional control with an exoskeleton manipulating fragile objects.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Research reported in this publication was supported by the Office of The Director (OD), Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute Of Child Health & Human Development (NICHD), and National Institute Of Dental & Craniofacial Research (NIDCR) of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) under Award Number DP5OD029571 awarded to J.A.G.

REFERENCES

 S. S. Virani *et al.*, "Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics— 2021 Update," *Circulation*, vol. 143, no. 8, pp. e254–e743, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000950.
 G. J. Kim, L. Rivera, and J. Stein, "Combined Clinic-

Home Approach for Upper Limb Robotic Therapy After Stroke: A Pilot Study," Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil., vol. 96, no. 12, pp. 2243-2248, Dec. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2015.06.019.

- [3] T. Lenzi, S. M. M. De Rossi, N. Vitiello, and M. C. Carrozza, "Proportional EMG control for upper-limb powered exoskeletons," in 2011 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, Aug. 2011, pp. 628–631. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6090139.
- [4] R. Song, K. Y. Tong, X. L. Hu, and X. J. Zheng, "Myoelectrically Controlled Robotic System That Provide Voluntary Mechanical Help for Persons after Stroke," in 2007 IEEE 10th International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics, Jun. 2007, pp. 246–249. doi: 10.1109/ICORR.2007.4428434.
- [5] A. S. Dhawan et al., "Proprioceptive Sonomyographic Control: A novel method for intuitive and proportional control of multiple degrees-offreedom for individuals with upper extremity limb loss," Sci. Rep., vol. 9, no. 1, Art. no. 1, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-45459-7.
- [6] A. T. Belyea, K. B. Englehart, and E. J. Scheme, "A proportional control scheme for high density force myography," J. Neural Eng., vol. 15, no. 4, p. 046029, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aac89b.
- [7] J. A. George, T. S. Davis, M. R. Brinton, and G. A. Clark, "Intuitive neuromyoelectric control of a dexterous bionic arm using a modified Kalman filter," J. Neurosci. Methods, vol. 330, p. 108462, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2019.108462.
- [8] J. George, A. Neibling, M. Paskett, and G. Clark, "Inexpensive surface electromyography sleeve with consistent electrode placement enables dexterous and stable prosthetic control through deep learning," *MEC20 Symp.*, Jul. 2020, Accessed: Jul. 16, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://conferences.lib.unb.ca/index.php/mec/article/view/36
- [9] J. A. George, M. R. Brinton, C. C. Duncan, D. T. Hutchinson, and G. A. Clark, "Improved Training Paradigms and Motor-decode Algorithms: Results from Intact Individuals and a Recent Transradial Amputee with Prior Complex Regional Pain Syndrome," in 2018 40th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), Jul. 2018, pp. 3782–3787. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2018.8513342.
- [10] C. J. Thomson, G. A. Clark, and J. A. George, "A Recurrent Neural Network Provides Stable Across-Day Prosthetic Control for a Human Amputee with Implanted Intramuscular Electromyographic Recording Leads," in 2021 43rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine Biology Society (EMBC), Nov. 2021, pp. 6171–6174. doi: 10.1109/EMBC46164.2021.9629580.
- [11] H. E. Williams, A. W. Shehata, M. R. Dawson, E. Scheme, J. S. Hebert, and P. Pilarski, "Recurrent Convolutional Neural Networks as an Approach to Position-Aware Myoelectric Prosthesis Control," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, pp. 1–1, 2022, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2022.3140269.
- [12] H. Dantas, T. C. Hansen, D. J. Warren, and V. J. Mathews, "Shared Prosthetic Control Based on Multiple Movement Intent Decoders," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 68, no. 5, pp. 1547–1556, May 2021, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2020.3045351.

ROBUSTNESS OF FREQUENCY DIVISION TECHNIQUE IN A SIMULTANEOUS AND PROPORTIONAL MYOELECTRIC CONTROL SCHEME

Ashirbad Pradhan¹, Ning Jiang¹, Wendy Hill², Victoria Chester³, Usha Kuruganti³

- 1. Engineering eBionics Lab, Department of Systems Design Engineering, University of Waterloo
- 2. Institute of Biomedical Engineering, University of New Brunswick
- 3. Andrew and Marjorie McCain Human Performance Laboratory, Faculty of Kinesiology, University of New Brunswick.

ABSTRACT

It is important for myoelectric control schemes to be robust to various non-stationarities in electromyography (EMG) signal such as unintended activations and contraction level variations. In order to address this limitation, the present study compared performance measures of two EMG processing pipelines with two filtering techniques: frequency division technique (FDT) and standard bandpass processing (Bandpass) in a simultaneous and proportional myoelectric control (SPEC) scheme for two contraction levels (medium and high). Twenty able-bodied participants (14 males and 6 females, age 23.4 ± 3.0) performed wrist movements (flexion/extension, rotations and combined movements) in two degrees-of freedom (DOF) virtual tasks. FDT had a mean completion rate (CR) of 95.33%, which was significantly higher than the SPB technique with a CR of 64.08% (p<0.001). FDT method performed significantly better in all other performance indices in at least one movement type. Furthermore, there was no significant difference in the performance of FDT between medium and high contraction levels, while there were such differences for bandpass filtering. This study showed that FDT is advantageous in regression based online myoelectric control as it generates a more accurate, robust and contraction level invariant scheme for performing prosthetic hand movements. This study is the first to use frequency-based features with a SPEC scheme and shows promise for more intuitive prosthetic devices.

INTRODUCTION

Myoelectric prostheses use EMG signals for performing prosthetic functions. Conventional control of a myoelectric prosthesis involves mapping the amplitude of EMG signals to the desired prosthetic function. Challenges with the direct control scheme such as EMG crosstalk have led to the use of pattern recognition (PR), a machine learning approach that classifies EMG features to activate different prosthetic functions [1]. Currently, the state-of-the-art PR technique uses linear discriminant analysis (LDA) classifiers applied to a set of time domain (TD) features [2]. However, PR techniques only allow control of one DOF at a given time (sequential control) which is contrary to the natural control flow of the neuromuscular system. In order to achieve a more natural hand movement, simultaneous rather than sequential control is more desirable. Recently researchers have explored regression techniques, which allow for simultaneous and proportional control of the prosthesis [3, 4]. It has been found that linear regression (LR) performed superior to PR in an online closed loop setup [4]. The promising results of regression techniques has warranted further research to improve control of current prosthesis.

However, regression and PR techniques demonstrate relatively poor performance in real-world conditions due to the non-stationarities in EMG patterns and the noise introduced from different sources [5]. These variations or the non-stationaries in EMG may be caused by several factors including variations in training muscle contraction levels [6] and activation of an undesired degree of freedom [7, 8] are critical. One filtering approach using a frequency division technique (FDT) was proposed to increase varying contraction levels in PR-based myoelectric control [9], and this approach was demonstrated in a closed-loop online PR experiment [10], where the control scheme with the FDT filter was found to be robust against varying levels of training contraction and it performed significantly better than the traditional band-pass technique. Further research with the FDT filtering on simultaneous and proportional myoelectric control (SPEC) scheme paired with FDT is warranted to corroborate findings in the PR-based myoelectric control scheme. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to compare the performance of the FDT and the traditional bandpass processing on a linear regression (LR) based online myoelectric control scheme while intact subjects completing virtual tasks. This study also examined the effects of varying training contraction level on the performance of the FDT based myoelectric control scheme to determine its robustness against force variation.

METHODS

Frequency Division Technique (FDT)

The FDT directly calculates the spectral power of various frequency bands of sEMG using discrete Fourier transform (DFT) by dividing the full bandwidth of sEMG signals into *L* segments. For the *i*th segment, let $f_{i_b I}$ and $f_{i_b ni}$ denote the frequency values of the two endpoints. The feature is defined as

$$DFT_{i} = F\left|\sum_{j=1}^{n_{i}} |X(f_{i,j})|\right|, i=1,2,...L$$
(1)

where, $X(\cdot)$ denotes the magnitude of the FFT spectrum, *F* denotes a non-linear smoothing function. In the current study, *F* is the root operator is used with a value of 2/3. The whole frequency band of EMG (20-450 Hz) is subdivided into six (*L*=6) equi-width frequency bands (20-92, 92-163,163-235,235-307,307-378, and 378-450 Hz) [10].

Protocol

Twenty intact-limbed participants (6 females and 14 males) with a mean age of 23.4 ± 3.0 years participated in the study. The study was approved by the University Research Ethics Board (REB 2018-079). The participants were asked to sit on a chair in an upright position with both of their upper limbs in a resting position. They faced a computer screen, at an approximate distance of 75 cm. Eight equally spaced (19 mm inter electrode distance) bipolar electrodes (Duotrodes, Myontronics, Inc) were placed at approximately 1/3 distal measured from the olecranon process to the styloid process of the ulna to cover the circumference of the forearm. A commercial wireless biosignal amplifier (Trentadue, OT Bioelettronica, Italy), sampled at 1000 Hz, was used to transmit the signals. The dominant forearm was used for the electrode placement.

Feature Extraction and Testing

The surface EMG signals were processed initially using the common averaging method [10]. This was followed by two filtering techniques for two separate analyses, the band-pass filtering and FDT. The Bandpass filtering involved applying a bandpass filter (second order, Butterworth) from 20 Hz to 450 Hz followed the TD feature set extraction [10]. For FDT, the signals from each channel were divided into specific frequency sub-bands. LR was used for the simultaneous and proportional scheme. The outcomes of the regression model were mapped to the virtual task.

The experimental testing session consisted of two phases: 1) calibration phase and 2) control phase. The window size for processing was set to150 ms and the regression models provided an output every 50 ms. The calibration phase involved training a regression model using EMG signals with position labels of the cursor during wrist flexion/extension (DOF1) and hand pronation/supination (DOF2). In the calibration phase, the participants were instructed to follow the position of a cursor on a screen. In the training phase, the subjects performed two contraction levels: the wrist movements at the normal contraction level, *i.e.* 'train-medium', and wrist movements at a strenuous contraction level, *i.e.* 'train-high'.

From the data acquired in the training phase, a LR model were generated for each of the combination of the two contraction levels, *i.e. train-high* and *train-medium* and two filtering techniques: Bandpass, and FDT, resulting in four experimental sets in the control phase: medium-Bandpass, medium-FDT, high-Bandpass and high-FDT. In the subsequent control phase, the participants performed goal-directed tasks using the four LR models in a random order [10]. In each experimental session, 20 targets from each type of task group, termed type I, type II, and type III at



Fig. 1. Left: Goal oriented tasks: type I (flexion/extension DOF only), type II (pronation/supination DOF only) and type III (combination of flexion/extension DOF and pronation/supination DOF). The grey arrow represents the desired position for the completion of the tasks. Right: Mean CR for varying contraction levels (train-medium and train-high) and different processing methods (Bandpass and FDT) for the three types of targets (type I, type II and type III). The error bars represent the standard error.

different locations were provided on the screen (Fig. 2). The targets in type I only require the activation of wrist flexion/extension (DOF1), targets in type II require activation of wrist supination/pronation (DOF2), and targets in type III requires activation of both DOFs. The participants were instructed to place the tip of the arrow in the targets. Instead of sequential articulation of each DOF as in a PR-based control scheme, a simultaneous articulation of both DOFs was used. To measure the performance of these tasks, the performance indices used were: 1) completion rate (CR), the ratio of number of successfully completed task to the total number of tasks in percentage 2) time to reach (T2R), time taken to reach a target in seconds 3) throughput (TP) ratio of task difficulty and task completion time in bits/s and 4) near miss (NM), number of times the cursor enters the target but exits before the completion of 300 ms.

Kruskal Wallis (non-parametric test) was used to determine if the CR of the two filtering techniques were significantly different. Also, for the control participants repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test for significant differences in mean performance indices (T2R, TP, NM) between FDT and Bandpass from successful trials. With significance resulting from the interaction of main factors the Bonferroni post hoc comparisons were performed to test significant differences in performance measures between FDT and Bandpass. For all the tests, level of significance was p<0.05. All the statistical tests were performed using RStudio 1.0. 136 (RStudio, Boston, MA).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

The mean CR of FDT was 95.33%, which was significantly higher (p<0.001) than Bandpass which had a mean CR of 64.08%. This indicates that FDT clearly outperforms the Bandpass. This was supported by the lower variability in CR for FDT compared to Bandpass, indicating less inter-subject variation. In addition, all participants performed equally well with FDT. The same training data was used to train both the processing/feature extraction methods. It was observed for most of the participants that while performing the Bandpass technique, the task arrow was unresponsive in at least one of four LR models. There was also frequent unwanted activation of the non-target DOF. For example, when an individual attempted a wrist extension there was undesired activation of supination as well. On the contrary, the FDT (CR>95%) was robust to unwanted activations and provided a more efficient control scheme. These activations have been briefly discussed by previous regression studies [7, 8], but there has been no detailed analysis on unwanted activations and it is crucial for further studies to research these non-stationarities and mechanisms of addressing them.

The mean T2R was significantly lower (p<0.001) for two types of targets (I and III) with FDT than Bandpass (Fig. 3). The mean TP was significantly higher (p<0.001) for two types (I and III) with FDT than Bandpass (Fig. 3). The mean NM of only type I target was significantly lower (p<0.001) for FDT. The Bandpass performed significantly better (p<0.001) than FDT for type II targets. A lower NM implies a more accurate position control. For FDT, the T2R and TP values suggested that the participants performed type I (horizontal only) and III (horizontal and rotation) tasks more easily and at a faster rate. Also, for both techniques, the variability was observed to be consistent for T2R, TP and NM (Fig. 3) suggesting that the participants had equal performance for all target types and across contraction levels. The overall TP and T2R values found in this research were comparable to previous study [10], however the NM was found to be higher. A possible explanation for higher NM is for some participants, the task arrow was unstable at higher pronation and supination angles, thus the participant had to hold it for longer increasing the NM. The mean NM was still low enough to allow real time control and the participants were able to complete tasks.

It was found that there were no significant differences in the mean values of any of the performance measures (CR, TP, T2R, and NM) between the train-medium and the train-high runs for FDT. For CR, the variability was lower



Fig. 3. (From left to right) Mean TP, T2R and NM values for varying contraction levels (train-medium and train-high) and different processing methods (Bandpass and FDT) for the three types of targets (type I, II and III). The error bars represent the standard error.

for FDT than for Bandpass (Fig. 2). For T2R, TP and NM, the variability was found to be consistent across contraction levels for both FDT and Bandpass (Fig. 3). This demonstrates that the performance of FDT is robust to contraction level variations while training. This observation agreed with the findings in [10], which used PR-based methods with FDT and found no difference between performance measures of medium and high contraction level variations [10]. Previously it has also been found out that the power spectrum of some frequency bands are not affected by varying contraction levels [9]. For the testing phase, the participants could perform tasks with any contraction level (medium or high). This finding is very important as the participant's control is independent of the contraction level performance degradation would be beneficial for the prosthesis users to complete daily living tasks with limited errors.

CONCLUSION

The results from this study suggest that the proposed FDT performs significantly better than the Bandpass method in a LR-based control scheme. Also, the FDT technique is less variant to changing contraction levels. The two processing methods compared in the study used time domain (TD) features and frequency domain (FD) features. Most research studies to date have used the TD feature set. Results found in this study are promising and suggest a need for further research using FD features. The findings of this study directly relate to the robustness of FDT as a myoelectric control scheme which is critical for clinically viable advanced prosthetic control. In another research work (currently under review), the FDT technique demonstrated higher completion rates for individuals with trans-radial amputations compared to the Bandpass. Robustness against these non-stationaries allows users the freedom to operate a prosthesis at their desired contraction levels and prevents erroneous prosthetic functions. Thus, FDT in SPEC control scheme promises greater accuracy, robustness to varying contraction levels, and is more intuitive.

REFERENCES

- [1] E. Scheme and K. Englehart, "Electromyogram pattern recognition for control of powered upper-limb prostheses: state of the art and challenges for clinical use," *Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development*, vol. 48, 2011.
- [2] B. Hudgins, P. Parker, and R. N. Scott, "A new strategy for multifunction myoelectric control," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 40, pp. 82-94, 1993.
- [3] J. Hahne, F. Biessmann, N. Jiang, H. Rehbaum, D. Farina, F. Meinecke, *et al.*, "Linear and nonlinear regression techniques for simultaneous and proportional myoelectric control," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 22, pp. 269-279, 2014.
- [4] J. M. Hahne, M. Markovic, and D. Farina, "User adaptation in Myoelectric Man-Machine Interfaces," *Sci Rep*, vol. 7, p. 4437, Jun 30 2017.
- [5] S. Amsüss, L. P. Paredes, N. Rudigkeit, B. Graimann, M. J. Herrmann, and D. Farina, "Long term stability of surface EMG pattern classification for prosthetic control," in 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2013, pp. 3622-3625.
- [6] P. Kaufmann, K. Englehart, and M. Platzner, "Fluctuating EMG signals: Investigating long-term effects of pattern matching algorithms," in *2010 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology*, 2010, pp. 6357-6360.
- [7] N. Jiang, H. Rehbaum, I. Vujaklija, B. Graimann, and D. Farina, "Intuitive, online, simultaneous, and proportional myoelectric control over two degrees-of-freedom in upper limb amputees," *IEEE transactions* on neural systems and rehabilitation engineering, vol. 22, pp. 501-510, 2014.
- [8] S. Muceli, I. Vujaklija, N. Jiang, S. Amsuess, B. Graimann, O. Aszmann, et al., "A Biologically-Inspired Robust Control System for Myoelectric Control," in *Converging Clinical and Engineering Research on Neurorehabilitation II*, ed: Springer, 2017, pp. 975-979.
- [9] J. He, D. Zhang, X. Sheng, S. Li, and X. Zhu, "Invariant surface EMG feature against varying contraction level for myoelectric control based on muscle coordination," *IEEE journal of biomedical and health informatics*, vol. 19, pp. 874-882, 2014.
- [10] B. Tolooshams and N. Jiang, "Robustness of Frequency Division Technique for Online Myoelectric Pattern Recognition Against Contraction Level Variation," *Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology*, vol. 5, p. 3, 2017.

SHARED-CONTROL DECREASES THE PHYSICAL AND COGNITIVE DEMANDS OF MAINTAINING A SECURE GRIP

Marshall A. Trout¹, Taylor C. Hansen², Connor D. Olsen¹, David J. Warren^{1,2}, Jacob L. Segil³, Jacob A. George^{1,2,4,5}

¹Department of Electrical Engineering, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA

²Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA

³Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Colorado Boulder, Colorado, USA

⁴Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA

⁵Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA

ABSTRACT

Upper-limb amputees commonly cite difficulty of control as one of the main reasons why they abandon their prostheses. Combining myoelectric control with autonomous sensor-based control could improve prosthesis control. However, the cognitive and physical impact of shared control and semi-autonomous systems on users has yet to be fully explored. In this study we introduce a novel shared-control algorithm that blends proportional position control predicted from electromyography (EMG) with proportional position control predicted from an autonomous machine using infrared sensors embedded in the prosthetic hand's fingers to detect the distance to objects. The user's EMG control algorithm was validated using three intact individuals completing a holding task where they attempted to hold an object for as long as possible without dropping it. Shared control resulted in fewer object drops, 32% less cognitive demand, and 49% less physical effort (measured by EMG) relative to the participant's EMG control alone. These results indicate that shared control can reduce the physiological burdens on the user as well as increase prosthetic control.

INTRODUCTION

Upper-limb amputees abandon prostheses at a high rate [1], [2], in part due to unintuitive and poor control [3]. One solution to improving prosthetic control is to automate the prosthesis using embedded sensors to aid in conforming the grasp to an object [4]–[7]. However, to date, autonomous prostheses have been designed to accomplish a specific task and are not necessarily adaptable to general use. Semiautonomous hands have been demonstrated to outperform human control when handling fragile objects [4] and can increase prosthesis contact area to a given object [6]. Although the benefits of shared control have been evaluated with respect to task performance, the impact of shared control on a user's physiological state (i.e., cognitive and physical effort) has not yet been evaluated.

In this study, we introduce a novel autonomous controller that predicts an object's distance from the fingers using embedded proximity and pressure sensors in the fingertips. We also introduce a novel shared-control algorithm that attenuates a user's EMG output based on the prediction of the autonomous controller. We validate the shared-control algorithm using a holding task, in which participants attempt to continuously hold an object while completing a secondary detection response task (DRT). We show that shared control improves grasp security and decreases the physical and cognitive burden on a user compared to that of EMG control alone. Making a hand more dexterous, while increasing its ease of use, may ultimately decrease prosthetic hand abandonment and increase patient quality of life.

DESIGN

Autonomous Controller

A left-handed TASKA hand (TASKA, Christchurch, New Zealand) was retrofitted with fingers containing pressure and infrared proximity sensors (Point Designs LLC, Lafayette, CO, USA) [4], [8]. A multilayer perceptron (MLP) was designed

with 10 hidden layers to predict object distance from the infrared and pressure sensors. Training data was collected by oscillating the thumb towards and away from white 3Dprinted objects in the shape of a cylinder, cube, and cone. The ground-truth distance from the object for the training data was computed by measuring the kinematic position of the finger upon initial contact with the object (i.e., when pressure was first recorded), and then retroactively using the difference between that kinematic position and the current position to determine the current distance to the object. Example training data can be seen in Fig. 1. For training the MLP, 70% of the



Figure 1: Labelled image of sensorized prosthetic hand (Left) and a subset of the training data used to create the autonomous controller (Right). Training data was collected using a cube, cylinder, and cone. The thumb was programmed to approach each object 20 times. Each approach consisted of incrementally moving the thumb forward, then waiting approximately 3 s before moving the thumb forward again. After contact, the thumb retracted from the object in a similar fashion. The autonomous controller is more accurate when the object is closer. That is, the predicted distance (red) more closely aligns with the ground-truth measured distance (black) as the distance becomes smaller.

total data was randomly selected as the training data, 15% was selected for validation data, and the remaining 15% was used for testing. During run-time, the kinematic prediction from the autonomous controller was computed as the sum of the current position of the thumb and the predicted distance to the object.

METHODS

Human Testing

Three healthy intact participants (21.67±0.58 years old; 33% female) were recruited for this study. All the participants were right-hand dominant. None of the participants had prior experience with myoelectric prostheses. Informed consent and experiment protocols were carried out in accordance with the University of Utah Institutional Review Board.

Signal Acquisition

Surface EMG from the participants was collected using a custom EMG sleeve [9]. EMG was sampled at 1 kHz and filtered using the Summit Neural Interface Processor (Ripple Neuro Med LLC) as described in [10]. EMG features used for estimating motor intent consisted of the 300-ms smoothed mean absolute value (MAV) on 528 channels (32 single-ended channels and 496 calculated differential pairs) calculated at 30 Hz, as described in [10]. The embedded fingertip sensor readings were sampled at 30 Hz and passed through a median filter with a time window of 10 samples. Sensor drift was removed from the pressure sensors using a high-pass filter that was toggled on and off by the sensor crossing a threshold.

Shared Control

The human position goal, u_h , was computed using a modified Kalman filter (MKF) [11]. The MKF was fit to surface EMG (sEMG) data collected during five preprogrammed trials of full-flexion pinch between the thumb and index fingers and five trials of full extension of the same digits. Both control techniques only affected one degree of freedom in the form of a pinch grip between the thumb and index finger. To form the pinch grip, the index finger was set to a constant position while the thumb was flexed from 0 (felly extended) to 1 (fully flexed). Control of the hand was shared between the human position goal from the MKF, denoted u_h , and the machine position goal as computed by the MLP, u_m . Both human and machine control are normalized to a range of zero to one. The shared goal, u_s , was then computed as the following:

$$u_s = u_m + u_h (1 - |u_m|) \tag{1}$$

This effectively attenuates the human's control of the hand in proportion to the remaining range of the digit. A minimum threshold was set such that the thumb would only move if the infrared sensor rose above a given value. Once contact was detected, the machine predictions were frozen until the pinch was released by the human controller. An sEMG toggle was used to trigger the shared-control algorithm [4]. The sEMG toggle switched the user between shared control and human control based on the output of the MKF. For example, if the MKF predicted that the human was attempting to extend to a position



Figure 2: Task performance, cognitive effort, and physical effort required for the human control and shared control. A) Shared control improved grasp security as indicated by less total drops. B) Shared control also reduced cognitive demand, as evidenced by a significantly lower response time for the DRT (p < 0.001, Wilcoxon rank-sum test). C) Shared control also reduced physical effort, as shown by a significant decrease in the EMG MAV (p < 0.001, paired t-test). Bar plots show mean \pm standard deviation. Box plots show median, inter-quartile range, and most extreme non-outlier value. Red pluses denote outliers.

greater than 50% of the extension range, the output would be switched to the human-only control scheme. To return to the machine-control state the user had to flex 1% of the flexion range. This aided the participant in releasing the object without altering the evaluation of the shared controller's performance during object grasping.

Task & Performance Metrics

The participants donned the prosthesis using a custom bypass socket [11]. The participants then completed a holding task in which they were instructed to use the prosthesis to pick up a white 3D-printed cube and hold it for two minutes without dropping it. If the object was dropped the participant was instructed to pick it up as quickly as possible and continue the task. The number of times the cube was dropped during a trial was recorded as a measure of grip security. The participant completed the holding task for four trials using human control and shared control in a pseudo-randomized counter-balanced format. While completing the holding task, the participant also simultaneously completed a tactile

detection-response task (DRT) to measure their cognitive load [12]. The DRT requires the participant to push a button in response to a small vibrating motor on their collar bone. Both the response rate (i.e., how often they respond to the vibratory stimuli) and response time (i.e., how long it takes to press the button after a vibratory stimuli) are used as direct measures of cognitive load. The EMG MAV on the 32 electrodes was also recorded during the hold task as an indicator of the physical effort (muscle activity) needed to complete the task. Data was aggregated across all participants and screened for normality. Pairwise comparisons between the human control and shared control were then performed using a paired t-test for parametric data or Wilcoxon rank-sum test for non-parametric data. All values are reported and shown as mean ± standard deviation.

RESULTS

Shared control decreases cognitive and physical demands while increasing grip security

Combining human and machine control allowed the participants to hold the object more reliably than when only human control was used. Only one drop was recorded under shared control, whereas up to eight drops were recorded under human control, with a median of three drops per trial for human control (Fig. 2A). Shared control resulted in no significant difference in the response rate of the DRT compared to human control ($63.19 \pm 13.87\%$ vs $63.58 \pm 11.43\%$, respectively). However,

participants had significantly faster response times to the DRT when using shared control, indicating less cognitive demand (0.719 \pm 0.056 s vs 0.444 \pm 0.022 s, respectively; p < 0.001, Wilcoxon rank-sum test; Fig. 2B). Furthermore, participants had significantly lower EMG activity with shared control than with human control (24.10 \pm 10.48 vs 47.13 \pm 17.53; p <0.001, paired t-test; Fig. 2C).

Error in human-control is dampened in sharedcontrol

Using the shared-control algorithm, the participants were able to hold an object more reliably while using less physical and cognitive effort. Example traces of the human control, machine control, shared control, and contact position from a single participant are shown in Fig. 3. The thumb



Figure 3: Example traces of the machine control (blue), human control (red), and shared control (purple) from the first 20 seconds of a shared-control trial. The shared-control signal is the result of calculating the goal using Eq. 1 using the human and machine control signals. The position at which the hand made contact with the object (i.e., pressure was detected) is shown by the green line, so any position goal above the green line increases the grip force while positions less than the green line indicate the grip releasing the object. Times when the human goal is below the green line represent times in which the participant would have dropped the object without the shared control.

made contact with the cube at a position of 0.3, and, although the machine did not give a perfect prediction, the thumb moves to a position near this goal. By starting closer to the object, and adding the two control techniques together, the shared algorithm is able to decrease the physical effort of the user. The human control also has a high degree of variability, and variations in the human goal below the point of object contact, would have resulted in multiple drops of the object. By scaling the human control based on the machine prediction, we effectively decreased the variability in the kinematic position. This in turn results in greater performance and less physical effort, which then allow the user to focus on other tasks.

DISCUSSION

In this study we demonstrated that sharing control between a human EMG decoder and an autonomous controller can benefit the user by decreasing their physical and mental effort while increasing their grip security on a given object. Decreasing the complexity and effort of use of upper-limb prostheses may ultimately lead to a reduction in prosthesis abandonment. Being able to hold an object securely without considerable mental or physical strain comes naturally to someone with an intact hand, but is still a challenge for users of upper-limb prostheses.

In future iterations of this design, we intend to scale the human control logarithmically rather than linearly. Scaling the EMG decoder output in a logarithmic fashion follows a biomimetic paradigm and would grant users finer levels of control with smaller objects. We will also train the MLP predictions of object distance using continuous data as opposed to the discrete steps used for this work. The MLP estimates were found to overestimate the object distance when the digit was in motion. Providing a more accurate machine estimate would lead to a shared-control algorithm capable of handling fragile objects. We also intend to expand the shared-control approach presented here to multiple DOFs. We anticipate that shared control implemented across all the digits will further increase the benefits seen here when working with complex objects by reducing the variation in grasping force between digits.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was funded by NSF CHS Grants 1901236, 1901492, and NIH Award DP50D029571.

REFERENCES

[1] E. A. Biddiss and T. T. Chau, "Upper limb prosthesis use and abandonment: A survey of the last 25 years," *Prosthet Orthot Int*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 236–257, Sep. 2007, doi: 10.1080/03093640600994581.

[2] S. Salminger *et al.*, "Current rates of prosthetic usage in upper-limb amputees - have innovations had an impact on device acceptance?," *Disabil Rehabil*, pp. 1–12, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1866684.

[3] E. Biddiss and T. Chau, "Upper-Limb Prosthetics: Critical Factors in Device Abandonment," American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, vol. 86, no. 12, pp. 977–987, Dec. 2007, doi: 10.1097/PHM.0b013e3181587f6c.

[4] T. Hansen, M. Trout, J. Segil, D. Warren, and J. George, "A Bionic Hand for Semi-Autonomous Fragile Object Manipulation via Proximity and Pressure Sensors," 2021 43rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2021.

[5] C. Cipriani, M. Controzzi, and M. C. Carrozza, "Progress towards the development of the SmartHand transradial prosthesis," in 2009 IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics, Jun. 2009, pp. 682–687. doi: 10.1109/ICORR.2009.5209620.

[6] K. Z. Zhuang *et al.*, "Shared human–robot proportional control of a dexterous myoelectric prosthesis," *Nature Machine Intelligence*, vol. 1, no. 9, Art. no. 9, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s42256-019-0093-5.

[7] J. DeGol, A. Akhtar, B. Manja, and T. Bretl, "Automatic Grasp Selection using a Camera in a Hand Prosthesis," *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc*, vol. 2016, pp. 431–434, Aug. 2016, doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2016.7590732.

[8] J. Segil, R. Patel, J. Klingner, R. F. ff Weir, and N. Correll, "Multi-modal prosthetic fingertip sensor with proximity, contact, and force localization capabilities," *Advances in Mechanical Engineering*, vol. 11, no. 4, p. 1687814019844643, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.1177/1687814019844643.

[9] J. George, A. Neibling, M. Paskett, and G. Clark, "Inexpensive surface electromyography sleeve with consistent electrode placement enables dexterous and stable prosthetic control through deep learning," *MEC20 Symposium*, Jul. 2020, Accessed: Jul. 16, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://conferences.lib.unb.ca/index.php/mec/article/view/36

[10] J. A. George, T. S. Davis, M. R. Brinton, and G. A. Clark, "Intuitive neuromyoelectric control of a dexterous bionic arm using a modified Kalman filter," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, vol. 330, p. 108462, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2019.108462.

[11] M. D. Paskett *et al.*, "A Modular Transradial Bypass Socket for Surface Myoelectric Prosthetic Control in Non-Amputees," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 27, no. 10, pp. 2070–2076, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2019.2941109.

[12] T. Čegovnik, K. Stojmenova, G. Jakus, and J. Sodnik, "An analysis of the suitability of a low-cost eye tracker for assessing the cognitive load of drivers," *Applied Ergonomics*, vol. 68, pp. 1–11, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2017.10.011.

TAKE-HOME TRIAL OF THE GLIDE HAND AND WRIST MYOELECTRIC CONTROL ALGORITHM: A CASE STUDY

Chris Baschuk¹, MPO, CPO, FAAOP, Rahul Kaliki², PhD, Richard F. ff. Weir, Ph.D.^{3,4},

and Jacob L. Segil^{3,5}, PhD

¹Handspring Clinical Services, ²Infinite Biomedical Technologies, LLC, the ³University of Colorado Denver, ⁴Rocky Mountain VA Medical Center, and ⁵University of Colorado Boulder

ABSTRACT

One of the most exciting developments in the field relates to the mechatronic advances which have enabled the creation of dexterous terminal devices, wrist rotators and powered elbows. However, their clinical impact has been limited by a lack of effective myoelectric control strategies. To address this challenge, we have developed a novel control strategy based on the Postural Control algorithm, which we call the Glide Controller. In this paper, we describe the first clinical fitting of the Glide system and present qualitative results on the fitting outcomes. We also discuss the implications of this control strategy from a patient and clinician perspective.

INTRODUCTION

The disparate progression of myoelectric control algorithms and their associated multi-functional prosthetic hands has caused mismatched technologies to become available to people with upper limb amputation. Several multi-functional myoelectric prosthetic hands are available today; however users are only able to access a small subset of the total number of grip patterns which are possible [1]. The prosthetic hands typically come with several methods for accessing different grip patterns including 1) myoelectric triggers, 2) buttons on the hand, or 3) gesture control [2], [3], [4]. These switching mechanism can require up to three different steps to switch between the current grip and the desired grip. Not surprisingly, many amputees find this process cumbersome and non-intuitive [5], [6], [7]. Moreover, using muscle triggers such as a co-contraction to control multiple grip patterns or movements is considered slow, cognitively demanding and unintuitive [5], [6], [7].

An intuitive control method, called pattern recognition, is emerging, however, several hurdles remain. Many researchers (including ourselves) have turned to pattern recognition of multichannel myoelectric signals in order to develop more intuitive control of advanced prostheses including the control of grasp patterns of multi-functional hands [8]. Pattern recognition algorithms seek to correlate patterns of surface EMG activity with a given intended movement command [9], [10]. Correlation is determined by calibrating a machine learning algorithm with labelled training examples in the form muscle activity recorded while the user holds a static posture. Because these patterns are

representative of natural behaviors prior to amputation, of control the prosthesis via pattern recognition intuitive is and potentially increases the number of controllable DOFs. The most significant challenge for pattern recognition algorithms is that they require highly consistent and noise-free EMG signals [6]. This is



Figure 1: A. Exemplary Glide domain where the EMG electrodes (1-3) are mapped in a radially fashion. Various hand grips are placed into wedges around the domain with a null state surrounding the origin (white). B. The real-time EMG activity is present with the yellow vectors and the resultant vector (red) determines the hand or wrist function that is selected.

particularly true as the number of degrees of freedom (DOF) in prosthetic hands increase. Thus, it would be highly preferable to develop a solution that can work without any calibration or extensive subject training.

Here we present an alternative control strategy, the *Glide* myoelectric control algorithm, which maps the electromyographic (EMG) signals to a radial mapping of prosthetic hand grips or wrist functions (Figure 1). The Glide algorithm is based upon our previous work on the Postural Control algorithm in the Biomechatronics Development Laboratory [11]–[13]. The basis of Glide algorithm is the vector summation of EMG signals from 2-8 EMG electrodes which is manifested as a "Glide vector" which is projected onto the Glide domain. The domain can be partitioned into "wedges," which are correlated to single hand grips or wrist functions. A given wedge's inner radius determines the onset threshold for a movement. Once the Glide vector exceeds the onset threshold, the amplitude of the Glide vector is proportionally mapped to the velocity of the wedge's associated movement until the vector reaches the outer radius of the wedge, which corresponds to the maximum velocity of the movement. The mapping of the Glide domain is adjustable so that wedges can be placed anywhere in the domain, the inner and outer radius of the wedge can be independently changed, and the arc-length of each wedge can be made larger or smaller. These customizations allow for strong independent EMG signals to command certain functions and co-activity of other EMG signals to control other functions. The customizability ensures that the system can be fit to myoelectric prosthetic users with a broad range of abilities. Here we present a case study of a subject with trans-radial amputation who utilized the *Glide* algorithm with both hand and wrist function in a take-home trial.

METHODS

A single subject was recruited by clinicians at Handspring Clinical Service office in Salt Lake City, UT. The subject presented as a recent trans-radial amputee with a long residual limb length (8.5"). This subject was a novice myoelectric prosthetic user and had no prior experience with a myoelectric device outside of clinical sessions. The subject was originally amputated at a wrist disarticulation level but underwent a surgical revision for shortening to remove a neuroma and to improve the shape of the residual limb for prosthetic fitting. In addition, the surgeon salvaged and relocated the flexor pollicis longus muscle closer to the surface in order to provide an additional myosite for surface EMG control. The subject was fitted with a three-site *Glide* system where the electrodes were placed over the following muscles: 1) flexors digitorum, 2) extensors digitorum, and 3) flexor pollicis longus. The *Element* electrodes (Infinite Biomedical Technologies LLC, Baltimore MA) were integrated into the custom self-suspending HTV silicone prosthetic socket, the *FlexCell* battery and the *Glide* control system was integrated into the outer prosthetic socket. The TASKA prosthetic hand (TASKA Prosthetics, Christchurch, New Zealand) and wrist rotator (Motion Control, Salt Lake City, Utah) were utilized to provide the user with multiple hand grasps as well as wrist pronation and supination.

The *Glide* algorithm was configured to include the following hand grips and wrist motions: 1) hand open, 2) hand close, 3) wrist pronation, and 4) wrist supination. The gains for each of the electrodes were adjusted independently. EMG smoothing was enabled. A feature called walls was also enabled which prevents activation of a different hand/wrist function until the signal drops below the on threshold of the active Glide domain wedge.

After the subject enrolled in the study, the prosthetic system was fitted to the subject and tuned for best performance by the prosthetist. Training on use of the system was conducted by the prosthetist. The subject completed a battery of outcomes measures including 1) The McGann Feedback Form, 2) The OPUS: Satisfaction With Device and Services, 3) OPUS Upper Extremity Functional Status, and 4) OPUS: Health Quality of Life Index. The subject went home with the *Glide* system for a total of 4 weeks. Outcome measures were collected at initial fitting, two weeks post-delivery, and four weeks post-delivery. The outcome measure results and qualitative comments from the subject and prosthetist are provided here.

RESULTS

Experimental Results: The outcome measures were collected during the initial fitting, two-week session, and fourweek session. Table 1 depicts the outcome measures over those sessions. The McGann Client Feedback Form results indicate an increase in prosthetic satisfaction across the four-week trial from 53% during the initial fitting to 97% satisfaction during the four-week session. The OPUS results provided a mixed description of the patient's satisfaction, functional status, and health quality in that not all outcome measures improved across the four-week session. Nonetheless, the single-subject quantitative results for the first-time use of a new technology is an encouraging step forward and suggests that the Glide algorithm can be an affective tool for the control of multi-functional prosthetic hands.

Experimental Session	McGann Client Feedback Form	OPUS–Satisfaction with Device	OPUS-Functional Status	OPUS-Health Quality of Life	
Initial fitting	53%	39	46	74	
2-week session	88%	36	30	78	
4-week session	97%	38	43	73	

Table 1. - Outcome measure results across the initial fitting, 2-week session, and 4-week session

<u>Qualitative Results</u>: The subject owns an excavation company and has a history of operating heavy machinery. This type of equipment utilizes joysticks with multiple switching mechanisms to manipulate the implements of the equipment. This experience was very useful for translating into prosthetic control. He was quoted as saying, "In the beginning I thought it was pretty easy. And the more and more as I go with this I recognize it is capable combining functions to do something different. So I'm getting better at it." His responses to the McGann Feedback forms indicated that as he became more familiar with the system his satisfaction increased. During the take home trial period the subject was fit with a Glide system with three electrodes. During one of the follow-up appointments he commented that he wanted to try adding a fourth electrode into the system as he stated, "I have the signals" referring to his ulnar deviators. This fourth electrode will be added in the future and further data will be collected.

DISCUSSION

<u>Technological Progress</u>: The Glide system is the next logical iteration of a traditional two site myoelectric control system. It has clinical implications for individuals who have had a conventional amputation surgery, but also has significant added benefits when combined with more contemporary amputation surgical methods such as TMR. From a clinical perspective it bridges the gap between a two-site myoelectric system and a full pattern recognition system. Selecting among multiple movements can be simpler than using EMG triggers such as co-contraction, double and triple impulses. While "joystick" control of the wrist is the most straightforward method to access different wedges within the Glide domain, it is also possible to use intuitive motions for control. It also bridges this gap from a cost standpoint as well. Fabrication is no more difficult or complex than a traditional two site system. The space requirements for the system are also minimal within the socket. Processing power consumption is low with no appreciable reductions in battery life as compared to a two-site system.

<u>Clinical Perspective</u>: There were some initial challenges in the clinical fitting as this was the first clinical application of the Glide algorithm. Part of the challenge was in learning how to refine and fine tune the arc lengths of the wedges, adjusting the gains and thresholds, enabling and disabling the walling features, and then proper queueing and instruction for the user. However, the technology proved to be quite adaptable and flexible. Initially the subject was sent home with only hand functions on the primary axis and the wrist functions as secondary fast rise actions like what a four-channel control system would be. This was challenging for him. Given his lack of myoelectric control experience he would inadvertently activate the wrist functions quite often, which proved to be frustrating to the participant. In particular when the wrist would start rotating unexpectedly and get into a unnatural anatomical posture, his whole ability to control the prosthesis would degrade. He expressed that this was because once the prosthesis was in an unnatural posture his sense of embodiment of the prosthesis completely disconnected. Fortunately, with an update to the control algorithm, wrist functionality was added as a primary function instead of as only a fast rise secondary function. Doing so allowed for defining additional Glide domain wedges for wrist control which the subject was able to activate with a high level of accuracy.

Initially when training the subject, he was queued to try and visualize moving his phantom limb as would be done in pattern recognition training and calibration. This worked to some degree, however it was never really consistent. The resultant vector would end up moving around quite a lot and not stay in one clearly defined area. It took some time to recognize that this queueing would not work and that another strategy needed to be developed. It was determined that we need to help the users conceptualize that the electrodes function somewhat like a joystick. It is best to put the primary functions right on the axis of the electrodes on the Glide domain. Once the subject has good control of each independent axis, then they can be queued to start trying to make combinations of contractions between adjacent electrodes on the Glide domain. The goal being to help the subject generate a resultant signal that is exactly

in the middle of the pair of electrodes on the Glide domain. In doing so, with three electrodes six separate functions can be controlled. With four electrodes, eight separate functions could be controlled. By also allowing for fast and slow rise the potential exists to control double the amount of functions. The Glide system is not limited to the number of regions that could be created. Therefore, as an individual gains improved control in combining the signals, additional wedges can be added to the Glide domain to add additional functions. This will allow the individual to be able to access specific grip patterns of multi-articulated terminal devices as well as additional wrist functions such as flexion and extension.

Unlike in pattern recognition systems where the process of classification is somewhat obscured from the user and the prosthetists, the Glide system allows the prosthetists and the user of the technology to visually see on the Glide domain what the function will be without any ambiguity or uncertainty. It also allows the prosthetist to easily adjust the Glide domain mapping and ensure easier selection of each function. By increasing the arc of the wedge on the Glide domain and adjusting the on and maximum thresholds, the prosthetist can effectively accommodate for accuracy and fatigue of signals. Clinically, it was found to be very helpful to be able to adjust this tolerance. Past clinical experience with pattern recognition systems has shown that sometimes throughout the day as a user's muscles fatigue their classification accuracy may diminish resulting in unwanted behavior. The Glide domain interface allowed for the clinicians to adjust the wedge size and shape in order to avoid this pitfall.

<u>Clinical Implications</u>: A system built on the Glide algorithm provides a novel advance to traditional myoelectric control. When set up with only two electrodes it functions in the same way that a conventional two site system would. However, it provides a significant clinical advantage for controlling an increased number of functions and motions of a prosthesis when additional electrodes are added into the system. This is accomplished without time consuming additional fabrication and minimal additional hardware and processing power. Increasingly, the possible controllable motions of a prosthesis outnumber the inputs that a user has available thereby requiring complex switching strategies or signal processing algorithms in order to activate them. The limitation on a user's ability to benefit from these additional motions is correlated to the number of inputs available to them. Future applications could see connecting non-EMG inputs into the Glide system in combination with EMG signals. This could help individuals with limited surface EMG sites, such as higher level amputees, also benefit from this technology.

Because the Glide system allows for more granular control, the amount of time programming was longer than for a conventional two site system or for a pattern recognition system. There is a learning curve to the system, but over time with further fittings and documentation of outcomes a guideline of best practices will be able to be developed. This will be critical for widespread adoption by clinicians.

REFERENCES

- J. T. Belter, J. L. Segil, A. M. Dollar, and R. F. Weir, "Mechanical design and performance specifications of anthropomorphic prosthetic hands: A review," *J. Rehabil. Res. Dev. Wash.*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 599–618, 2013.
 "iLIMB User Manual," *Touch Bionics*. [Online]. Available: http://www.touchbionics.com/media/58279/i-
- [2] "iLIMB User Manual," Touch Bionics. [Online]. Available: http://www.touchbionics.com/media/58279/ilimb_digits_user_manual_ma01063.pdf.
- [3] "Bebionic v2 Brochure," RSL Steeper. [Online]. Available: http://rslsteeper.com/uploads/files/159/bebionic-ukrow-product-brochurersllit294-issue-21.pdf.
- [4] "User Guide HandCal PC-Application." TASKA Prosthetics, Apr-2019.
- [5] R. M. Bongers, P. J. Kyberd, H. Bouwsema, L. P. J. Kenney, D. H. Plettenburg, and C. K. Van der Sluis, "Bernstein's Levels of Construction of Movements Applied to Upper Limb Prosthetics," JPO J. Prosthet. Orthot., vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 67–76, Apr. 2012, doi: 10.1097/JPO.0b013e3182532419.
- [6] E. Scheme and K. Englehart, "Electromyogram pattern recognition for control of powered upper-limb prostheses: state of the art and challenges for clinical use," J. Rehabil. Res. Dev., vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 643–659, 2011.
- T. A. Kuiken *et al.*, "Targeted muscle reinnervation for real-time myoelectric control of multifunction artificial arms," *JAMA J. Am. Med. Assoc.*, vol. 301, no. 6, pp. 619–628, 2009.
- [8] A. M. Simon, K. L. Turner, L. A. Miller, L. J. Hargrove, and T. A. Kuiken, "Pattern recognition and direct control home use of a multiarticulating hand prosthesis," in 2019 IEEE 16th International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics (ICORR), 2019, pp. 386–391, doi: 10.1109/ICORR.2019.8779539.
- K. Englehart and B. Hudgins, "A robust, real-time control scheme for multifunction myoelectric control," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 50, no. 7, pp. 848–854, Jul. 2003, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2003.813539.
- [10] P. Parker, K. Englehart, and B. Hudgins, "Myoelectric signal processing for control of powered limb prostheses," J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol., vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 541–548, 2006.
- [11] J. L. Segil, M. Controzzi, R. F. ff. Weir, and C. Cipriani, "Comparative study of state-of-the-art myoelectric controllers for multigrasp prosthetic hands," J. Rehabil. Res. Dev., vol. 51, no. 9, pp. 1439–1454, 2014, doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2014.01.0014.
- [12] J. L. Segil, S. A. Huddle, and R. F. f Weir, "Functional Assessment of a Myoelectric Postural Controller and Multi-Functional Prosthetic Hand by Persons With Trans-Radial Limb Loss," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 618–627, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2016.2586846.
- [13] J. Segil, R. Kaliki, J. Uellendahl, and R. Weir, "A Myoelectric Postural Control Algorithm for Persons with Transradial Amputation: A Consideration of Clinical Readiness," *IEEE Robot. Autom. Mag.*, pp. 0–0, 2019, doi: 10.1109/MRA.2019.2949688.

TRAINING PROSTHESIS CONTROL IN THE LAB AND THE HOME

Simon A. Stuttaford¹, Sigrid S.G. Dupan², Kianoush Nazarpour², Matthew Dyson¹

¹School of Engineering, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, UK

²School of Informatics, the University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK

ABSTRACT

Historically, experiments involving motor learning-based control schemes use real-time feedback. It is unclear, to what extent previous results are attributable to transient performance effects caused by closed loop adaptive processes, rather than motor learning. To investigate, we performed two long-term experiments. Experiment 1: a lab-based study compared use of continuous and delayed visual feedback to assess long-term stability of skill retention; we trained ten participants using either continuous or delayed visual feedback over four consecutive days with a follow-up probe on week three. Experiment 2: a home-based study validated that the training protocols introduced in experiment one can train forward models outside of the laboratory in an appropriate period. Three participants trained over five days with a goal of maximising proficiency via bespoke training structures.

INTRODUCTION

Motor learning theory claims that the feedback provided to the outcome of an action can have a large influence on learning [1]. While providing real-time feedback can yield rapid performance gains, this effect is often short-lived, and ultimately disappears with time or when feedback is withdrawn [2,3].

Previous learning-based control schemes have typically provided concurrent visual feedback of the participant's control signals real time [4-6]. However, users do not generally have access to real-time closed loop feedback of the state of their control signals [7]. Typically, users only receive terminal feedback as their prosthetic device moves [8], which is relatively slow [9]. Therefore, it is crucial that users can consistently reproduce the correct muscle activity for control in the absence of concurrent feedback. This necessitates that control tasks be learned, internalised, and retained. In this context, online concurrent feedback may contribute to closed loop control [10] allowing participants to develop dependencies on continuous visual cues to generate muscle activations [3]. Feedback dependencies may inhibit retention of the forward models necessary for motor-learning based methods of prosthesis control [2].

Abstract decoding is a learning-based control scheme that exploits the human nervous system's plasticity to resolve the mapping of muscle activity to prosthesis output [4]. Abstract decoding places learning requirements on the user, in return offering reduced overall algorithmic complexity in sensor requirements; the overall promise being the restoration of multiple hand grasps using two electrodes without cumbersome sequential switching [5].



Figure 1: The MCI task. (a) The 2D myoelectric interface space. Cursor position shown in green. (b) A representative cursor trajectory from basket to target. Thick cursor mark denotes the hold period. (c-d) Task timing structure for the Concurrent and Delayed conditions, respectively, denoting cues and the move, hold and playback periods. Dashed traces correspond to the 'blind' control input window. Solid traces indicate when the cursor's motion was visible during a trial.

METHODS

Ethics

All participants gave informed written consent. Ethical approval was granted by the local committee at Newcastle University (Ref: 20-DYS-050).

Myoelectric Task

The myoelectric task involved moving a cursor within a 2-dimensional MCI outlined in Figure 1. Normalized muscle activity recorded from two control sensors determined cursor position on the interface [5]. The amplitude of activity in each muscle determines the cursor position along a single axis. Trials were ~ 1.5 s long and comprised two periods of equal length, referred to as move and hold. On target presentation, the aim was to keep the cursor within the target bounds. Figure 1b shows a representative trial from a proficient user. At the end of a typical trial, a score was presented.

Feedback Conditions

The availability and timing of feedback during a trial was manipulated depending on the trial condition. Each group either experienced concurrent or delayed feedback of their control input. In the concurrent condition, the cursor position always reflected the normalized muscle activation levels of the EMG channels used for control at that time frame. In the delayed condition, all feedback was withheld until active control input had ceased. At the end of the trial, the cursor activity was played back to the participant at the same rate as it occurred.

The trial block structure contained two distinct trial structures, acquisition blocks and retention blocks. Acquisition blocks refer to the learning conditions, either Concurrent or Delayed. Retention of ability was assessed using zero feedback trial blocks, where no cursor or score feedback was presented over 40 consecutive trials. Retention was assessed at the start and end of each day.

Experiment 1

Ten participants did four days of training in the laboratory plus a follow-up after an 18-day hiatus. Retention tests were carried out at the start and end of each training session. Each acquisition block consisted of 80 trials.

Experiment 2

Three participants did five days of delayed feedback training with a bespoke structure. Each training session lasted approximately an hour, including setup and breaks. Each training block consisted of 60 trials.

Measures

A 'decoder score' metric was used post-hoc to compare MCI task score to classification accuracy of machine learning based systems. The predicted target was calculated offline as the first target the cursor dwelled within consecutively for 240 ms [12]. If the predicted and presented targets agreed a decoder score of one was obtained, otherwise a score of zero was received.

RESULTS

Experiment 1

A comparison of average retention scores in the Concurrent and Delayed groups is shown in Figure 3a. Average acquisition scores in the Concurrent and Delayed groups are shown in Figure 3b. In the Concurrent group, acquisition scores increase but no equivalent trend is observed during retention tests over the four days of training. In contrast, the Delayed group retention scores follow a similar trend of improvement with acquisition.

Significant differences in performance were found in the retention tests performed on day four, first test (Concurrent: 0.32 ± 0.12 ; Delayed: 0.55 ± 0.15 ; p < 0.05), final test (Concurrent: 0.28 ± 0.13 ; Delayed: 0.62 ± 0.15 ; p < 0.05). There was no significant difference in initial retention performance during the follow-up session (Concurrent: 0.27 ± 0.12 ; Delayed: 0.48 ± 0.15 ; p = 0.1). However, after two refresher acquisition blocks the Delayed group retention

was significantly higher than the Concurrent group on the final block (Concurrent: 0.34 \pm 0.13; Delayed: 0.63 \pm 0.12; p < 0.05).

Experiment 2

Data tracking the participants' average score over the five days of training are shown in Figure 3. Confusion matrices of each participant's first and best block decoder score are shown in Figure 3b and c, respectively.



Figure 2: The effect of the feedback conditions on retention and acquisition. Days are separated by alternating gray and white backgrounds. Points show the block mean average. Horizontal axes are temporally aligned such that points are plotted chronologically. (a) Group retention scores over the initial four days of training and the follow-up session. (b) Group acquisition scores over the initial four days of training and the follow-up session.



Figure 3: Overview of home-based training performance. (a-c) Refer to a column of plots, each row relates to the performance of a single participant. (a) Participant mean scores and cumulative blocks experienced over the five days of training. Error bars correspond to the standard error of the mean. (b-c) Decoder score heatmaps of the first and best delayed feedback blocks, respectively.

CONCLUSION

Myoelectric control schemes based on motor learning have historically provided concurrent feedback during training and assessment of participant control acuity. While impressive performance can be achieved with the assistance of such feedback mechanisms, this has little meaning unless the user has access to a similar feedback loop during real control. This is problematic when considering that, in the real-world users typically do not have access to concurrent feedback of their control input. Our results show that with appropriate training it is possible to learn and consistently reproduce distinct abstract muscle contractions in the absence of concurrent feedback. This suggests no algorithmic assistance or additional hardware is necessary to restore four grasp classes to existing dual-site control devices.

Retention of skill can only be measured in the absence of the augmented feedback that was provided during training. To show that retention can be achieved with appropriate training, we collected on the largest closed-loop myoelectric control datasets that we are aware of i.e. 32,000 trials. Figure 1a-b shows that although lower scores are initially obtained with delayed feedback, the skills learned are retained over days. Conversely, the higher performance gains observed with concurrent feedback dissipates during retention tests. Figure 3c shows the equivalent of 4-class confusion matrices which reflect the upper bounds of what is possible with this abstract decoding interface. Preliminary experiments are showing similar control rates in prosthesis control.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the UK Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), (grant number: EP/R004242/1) and by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Devices 4 Dignity (D4D) Starworks (project: STWK-006).

REFERENCES

- [1] R. A. Magill, "The influence of augmented feedback on skill learning depends on characteristics of the skill and the learner," *Quest*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 314–327, 1994.
- [2] R. A. Schmidt, "Frequent augmented feedback can degrade learning: Evidence and interpretations," in Tutorials in Motor Neuroscience. Springer, 1991, pp. 59–75.
- [3] R. A. Schmidt and G. Wulf, "Continuous concurrent feedback degrades skill learning: Implications for training and simulation," *Human Factors*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 509–525, 1997.
- [4] M. Dyson, J. Barnes, and K. Nazarpour, "Myoelectric control with abstract decoders," *Journal of Neural Engineering*, vol. 15, no. 5, p. 056003, 2018.
- [5] M. Dyson, S. Dupan, H. Jones, and K. Nazarpour, "Learning, generalization, and scalability of abstract myoelectric control," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 1539–1547, 2020.
- [6] J. Segil, R. Kaliki, J. Uellendahl, and R. F. Weir, "A myoelectric postural control algorithm for persons with transradial amputation: A consideration of clinical readiness," *IEEE Robotics and Automation Magazine*, 2020.
- [7] J. V. V. Parr, D. J. Wright, L. Uiga, B. Marshall, M. O. Mohamed, and W. G, "A scoping review of the application of motor learning principles to optimize myoelectric prosthetic hand control," *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 2021.
- [8] G. Lundborg and B. Rosén, "Sensory substitution in prosthetics," Hand Clinics, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 481-488, 2001.
- [9] T. R. Farrell and R. F. Weir, "The optimal controller delay for myoelectric prostheses," *IEEE Transactions on neural systems and rehabilitation engineering*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 111–118, 2007.
- [10] M. Couraud, D. Cattaert, F. Paclet, P. Y. Oudeyer, and A. de Rugy, "Model and experiments to optimize co-adaptation in a simplified myoelectric control system," *Journal of Neural Engineering*, vol. 15, no. 2, p. 026006, 2018.
- [11] D. M. Wolpert and M. Kawato, "Multiple paired forward and inverse models for motor control," *Neural Networks*, vol. 11, no. 7-8, pp. 1317–1329, 1998.
- [12] H. Wu, M. Dyson, and K. Nazarpour, "Arduino-based myoelectric control: towards longitudinal study of prosthesis use," Sensors, vol. 21, no. 3, p. 763, 2021.

TRANSFER OF ABSTRACT CONTROL SKILLS TO PROSTHESIS USE

Sigrid S.G. Dupan¹, Simon A. Stuttaford², Kianoush Nazarpour¹, and Matthew Dyson²

¹Edinburgh Neuroprosthetics Lab, School of Informatics, the University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK

²School of Engineering, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, UK

ABSTRACT

Computer interface tasks have shown that motor learning based control schemes enable multi-grip myoelectric control with only two electrodes. However, it is unclear if this control transfers to prosthesis use. Here, we test if training abstract control with delayed feedback transfers to prosthetic control in a 7-session experiment. Two participants completed five 1-hour training sessions in between a pre- and post-test. The abstract decoding scheme ensured participants had access to five grips (power, tripod, point, lateral, and hand open), and the prosthetic tests included a grip matching task, the modified box and blocks task, and a pick and place test. Both participants increased their grip matching score, reaching a classification accuracy of 93.33% and 98.33%. They also increased the amount of blocks they relocated in the modified box and blocks test, completed the pick and place test faster, lowered the amount of objects they dropped, and increased the accuracy of the grips they selected during the pick and place test. These results show that a motor-based training strategy of abstract control transfers to prosthetic use, enabling five grips with only two electrodes.

INTRODUCTION

Myoelectric prosthesis are commonly controlled with a standard agonist/antagonist direct control, while some devices with additional electrodes use pattern recognition (PR) [1]. Studying the use of these devices in a home environment shows that most prosthesis users only use 3 or 4 grips, with the most common grip accounting for around 50% to 80% of use [2], [3]. Simon and colleagues found that users had slightly more configured grips for direct control (4.8) than PR (3.8) when using their prosthesis at home [3], providing more functionality with less hardware requirements. However, accessing all grips in direct control requires users to cycle through the grips with mode switching, making the control cumbersome.

Abstract control, a motor learning based control scheme, allows myoelectric users to access multiple grips without mode switching, using only two electrodes [4]. We have previously shown that people with a limb difference can learn abstract control [4], and that training with delayed feedback allows people to retain this skill [5], [6]. Here, we test if the skill gained during a home-based computer interface task transfers to prosthetic control. Participants took part in lab-based pre- and post-tests, and completed five 1-hour training sessions in their home environment.

METHODS

Participants

Two participants (2 female) who are able bodied and free from neurological or motor disorders were recruited. The study was approved by the local ethics committee at Newcastle University (ref: 20-DYS-050), and participants provided written informed consent prior to the start of the experiment.

Experimental setup

Participants performed a range of myoelectric control tasks, all based on two-channel abstract control. Two EMG electrodes were placed on the extensor carpi radialis and flexor carpi radialis. Signals were acquired using a custom network-enabled myoelectric platform [7]. The platform enables streaming of EMG data over Bluetooth Low Energy to a PC running the AxoPy Python library, allowing real time myoelectric control. Muscle signals were smoothed

using the mean absolute value (MAV), with a window length of 750ms. Muscle estimations were updated at a rate of 50Hz.

Abstract control allows participants 5-class myoelectric control (4 movement classes + hand open) with the use of only 2 electrodes. Shortly, EMG channels are calibrated for each participant, where normalized activity for each channel is:

$$\hat{y} = (y - y_r) / (y_c - y_r)$$

where \hat{y} is the normalized muscle activity, y the MAV, y_r the activity when the participant is at rest, and y_c represents a comfortable contraction. The normalized activity of both muscles determines the position of a cursor within a 2D V-shaped interface [4]. For this experiment, the V-shaped interface was divided in 4 targets, each representing a specific grasp. From left to right, the targets represented the following grips: 'power', 'tripod', 'pointer', and 'lateral'. Once the prosthesis was closed, hitting any of the targets resulted in the prosthesis returning to the 'hand open' state.

Experimental design

The experiment consisted of 3 main stages: a pre-test, training phase, and post-test. The pre- and post-test consisted of the same tasks.

<u>Pre- and post-test</u>: Participants wore a transradial bypass socket [8], fitted with the Touch Bionics robo-limb prosthetic hand, throughout the experiment. At the start of the test, both EMG channels were normalized as described above. Subsequently, participants completed 2 blocks of 60 trials to familiarize themselves with the abstract myoelectric control interface. In these blocks, a target was presented at the start of each trial, and the participants could see the cursor moving based on their muscle activity. Once the cursor was in contact with or inside a target for 750ms, the trial was completed. If the participant reached the intended target, this was considered a 'hit'.

The main prosthesis control experiment consisted of three parts:

- Grip matching task: participants were presented with a target on the screen, similar to the familiarisation phase. However, during the target matching task, no feedback was presented to the participant, thereby testing the retention of skill [6]. Each participant completed 2 blocks of 60 trials.
- Modified box and blocks test (MBB): participants completed 5 trials of the MBB test [9]. When participants grabbed more than 1 block in a single movement, the additional blocks were removed from the results.
- Pick and place test: four objects, each associated with a specific prosthesis grip, were placed on a 2x4 grid on a table in front of the participant, with a 15cm distance between grid point. Participants were instructed to move all objects forward from right to left, after which they placed them back on the grid points closest to them from left to right. Participants repeated the trial 4 times. When participants selected the wrong grip, participants were told to open the hand and try again. If they selected the wrong grasp 3 times, participants were told to move on to the next object. Next to the time it took to complete the trials, the amount of repetitions to a grasp, and the amount of objects that were dropped were recorded.

<u>Training</u>: In between the pre- and post-test, participant completed five 1-hour training sessions, spread over 1 week. During these sessions, participants completed an abstract control task in their own home, without wearing a prosthesis. At the start of the first training session, the EMG channels were normalized as described above. This calibration was used throughout the rest of the training. During the training, participants performed a delayed abstract control task, as described in [5]. Participants performed blocks of 60 trials, and were told to complete as many blocks as felt comfortable during their training time.

Due to the limited amount of participants, no statistical tests were performed at this time.

RESULTS

Training

Participant 1 (P1) completed 36 training blocks, while participant 2 (P2) completed 35 blocks. P1 reached a maximum hold score of 97.07%, while P2 reached 95.05%.



Figure 1: Results of the grip matching task. (a) Hit rate and completion time for pre- and post test, split up by participant. (b) Confusion matrices of pre- and post-test for both participants.

Pre- and post-test

The results of the grip matching task are presented in Figure 1. Training allowed P1 to increase her performance from $44.16 \pm 49.66\%$ to $93.33 \pm 24.94\%$, while the score of P2 increased from $74.17 \pm 43.77\%$ to $98.33 \pm 12.80\%$. These scores represent the performance without any visual feedback. Subsequently, each trial lasted until the participants selected a grip, and the chosen grip was recorded. Figure 1b shows the confusion matrices for this task. In the pre-test, participants were able to select the lateral and power grip, the grips associated with the corner targets of the abstract interface, but they had difficulties selecting the grips associated with the two middle targets. Training allowed them to select these targets as well.

Both participants increased the amount of blocks they picked up during the MBB post-test, from 5.2 ± 1.47 to 8.2 ± 0.75 and from 8.2 ± 1.67 to 8.8 ± 0.98 for P1 and P2 respectively. They also increased all measures during the pick and place post-test: they completed the trials faster (P1: 109.69 ± 2.92 s to 68.71 ± 8.58 s; P2: 69.99 ± 8.64 to 55.50 ± 7.05 s), had to repeat less grips per trial (P1: 4.5 ± 3.20 to 2.00 ± 1.00 ; P2: 2.25 ± 0.83 to 1.00 ± 0.71), and managed to not drop any objects during the post test (pre-test: 0.5 ± 0.5 for P1, and 0.25 ± 0.43 for P2).



Figure 2: (a) Results of modified box and blocks test. Completion time of trials (b), the amount of objects participants dropped per trial (c), and the amount of times participants had to repeat a grip per trial due to initially selecting the wrong grip (d).

CONCLUSION

This paper shows that abstract myoelectric control, trained by performing a computer interface task, translates to prosthetic control. We designed a training protocol based on delayed feedback, allowing participants to retain their skills when no feedback is available, or when using a prosthesis. As a result, participants were able to reliable control five grips (hand open + four closed grips) with 2 electrodes, suggesting prosthesis users could have access to the same amount of grips without the need for additional hardware or mode switching. Currently, we only have data for two participants. However, due to the improvement in all functional tasks for both participants, we expect our full dataset to show the same pattern.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the UK Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), (grant number: EP/R004242/2 and EP/R511584/1) and by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Devices for Dignity (D4D) Starworks (project: STWK-006).

REFERENCES

- [1] D. Farina *et al.*, "Toward higher-performance bionic limbs for wider clinical use," *Nat. Biomed. Eng.*, pp. 1–13, 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41551-021-00732-x.
- [2] L. Resnik, F. Acluche, and M. Borgia, "The DEKA hand : A multifunction prosthetic terminal device patterns of grip usage at home," 2018, doi: 10.1177/0309364617728117.
- [3] A. M. Simon, K. L. Turner, L. A. Miller, L. J. Hargrove, and T. A. Kuiken, "Pattern recognition and direct control home use of a multiarticulating hand prosthesis," *IEEE Int. Conf. Rehabil. Robot.*, vol. 2019-June, pp. 386–391, 2019, doi: 10.1109/ICORR.2019.8779539.
- M. Dyson, S. Dupan, H. Jones, and K. Nazarpour, "Learning, generalization, and scalability of abstract myoelectric control," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 1539–1547, 2020.
- [5] S. A. Stuttaford, S. Dupan, K. Nazarpour, and M. Dyson, "Long-term myoelectric training with delayed feedback in the home environment," in 2021 43th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society (EMBC), 2021, pp. 6437–6440.
- [6] S. A. Stuttaford, S. S. G. Dupan, K. Nazarpour, and M. Dyson, "Training prosthesis control in the lab and the home," in *MEC Symposium Conference*, 2022, p. [submitted].
- [7] M. Dyson, J. Olsen, and S. Dupan, "A network-enabled myoelectric platform for prototyping research outside of the lab," in 2021 43th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society (EMBC), 2021, pp. 7422–7425.
- [8] M. D. Paskett et al., "A Modular Transradial Bypass Socket for Surface Myoelectric Prosthetic Control in Non-Amputees," IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng., vol. 27, no. 10, pp. 2070–2076, 2019, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2019.2941109.
- H. Vette, "Normative data for modified Box and Blocks test measuring upper-limb function via motion capture," vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 919– 932, 2014.

USER-SPECIFIC MIRROR TRAINING CAN IMPROVE MYOELECTRIC PROSTHESIS CONTROL

Troy N. Tully¹, Caleb J. Thomson¹, Gregory A. Clark¹, Jacob A. George^{1,2,3,4}

1. Biomedical Engineering, University of Utah 2. Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Utah 3. Mechanical Engineering, University of Utah 4. Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Utah

ABSTRACT

State-of-the-art transradial prostheses can provide intuitive and proportional myoelectric control by training an algorithm to correlate surface electromyographic signals from the residual forearm muscles to intended movements of the amputated hand. One training paradigm, "mimicked training," relies on amputees mimicking a prosthetic hand with their missing hand such that the corresponding muscle activations are correlated to the preprogrammed kinematics of the prosthetic hand. A second training paradigm, "mirrored training," relies on unilateral amputees mirroring their contralateral hand with their missing hand such that the muscle activations are correlated to the kinematics of the contralateral hand (determined via a motion capture). Prior work with intact participants demonstrated that the kinematics of a given hand are more closely related to that of an individual's contralateral hand as opposed to the preprogrammed kinematics of a prosthesis. This abstract continues our investigation into the training data for myoelectric prostheses by exploring the impact of these training paradigms on real-time prosthetic control with amputees completing a functional task. For one out of three participants, mirrored training significantly improved task performance. These preliminary results demonstrate that mirrored training may provide more dexterous control through task-specific, user-chosen training data. These results can guide myoelectric training for proportional and dexterous control.

INTRODUCTION

The current standard of care for upper-limb amputees is unsatisfactory and, as a result, up to 50% of upper-limb amputees abandon their prostheses, citing poor and unreliable control as a primary reason. One approach to providing more intuitive and reliable control is to leverage supervised machine-learning algorithms that correlate residual muscle activity to motor intent. These supervised machine-learning algorithms require a training session in which a patient-specific training dataset is collected. The training dataset consists of synchronized muscle activity and the intended kinematic positions of the prosthesis.

To date, most research has focused on improving the machine-learning algorithm [1]–[8]. However, the quality of the training data is also a critical component of the run-time performance of machine-learning algorithms [1], [2], [9]. There are two widely used approaches (i.e., training paradigms) to collecting training data for prostheses. One training paradigm, herein referred to as "mimicked training", relies on amputees mimicking preprogrammed movements of a prosthesis with their missing hand such that the corresponding muscle activations are correlated to preprogrammed kinematics of the prosthesis. A second training paradigm, herein referred to as "mirrored training", relies on unilateral amputees mirroring their contralateral hand with their missing hand such that the muscle activations of the missing hand are correlated to the kinematics of their intact contralateral hand (determined via motion capture). Our prior work with intact participants demonstrated that the kinematics of a given hand are more closely related to that of an individual's contralateral hand as opposed to the preprogrammed kinematics of a prosthesis [9]. This suggests that mirrored training provides more accurate training data and therefore should provide better prosthesis control than mimicked training.

Here, for the first time, we specifically tested whether or not mimicked or mirrored training would lead to improvements in real-time prosthetic control. Using two widely used algorithms, a linear Kalman filter and a non-linear convolutional neural network, we compared the performance of mimicked and mirrored training with amputees performing the Clothespin Relocation Task (CRT) [10]. We show that there is minimal difference in the subjective workload of each training approach and that user preference varies. However, we also show that the training paradigm may have significant impact on task performance for some participants. These results imply amputees should be given a choice between both paradigms or that a combination of the two may yield best control.

METHODS

Human Subjects

A total of three transradial amputees with prior myoelectric experience were recruited for this study. Two of three participants were male and all participants were between the ages of 55 and 65 years old. Informed consent and experimental protocols were carried out in accordance with the University of Utah Institutional Review Board.

Training Data Recording

Training data for the machine-learning algorithms, was collected across a total of training four sessions. Participants performed two sessions (1.5 minutes each) of mirrored and mimicked training respectively Fig 1. Prior to the training sessions, participants were instructed to perform the CRT with their intact hand to understand what movements would be necessary complete the task. to Participants were instructed to only perform two movements:



Figure 1: Overview of the mimicked training (left) and mirrored training (right) for collecting training data for myoelectric prostheses. During mimicked training, the user is watching a prosthesis move while simultaneously mimicking the movement of the prosthesis with their phantom limb. During mirrored training, the user performs bilaterally mirrored movements, such that the motion of their intact contralateral hand mirrors that of their phantom limb.

open/close of the hand (simultaneous flexion/extension of D1-D5) and pronation/supination of the wrist. Participants then donned the prosthesis (LUKE Arm, DEKA), and performed a session of mirrored training at their own pace using self-selected movement patterns. Training data from this first mirror-training session was used to train an algorithm and participants were allowed to temporarily control the prostheses. The participant then performed a second self-directed mirror-training session. The same two stage training process was then repeated for mimicked training.

Signal Acquisition

Infrared hand images of the contralateral limb were converted to 3D hand coordinates using custom MATLAB software. Joint angles were calculated based on an orthogonal palm vector. A total of two joint angles were calculated for the contralateral hand: D2 flexion/extension and wrist pronation/supination. The joint angle of D2 was used to measure grasping (i.e., simultaneous flexion/extension of D1-D5). Joint angles in the training data were normalized from -1 (maximum extension) to 0 (rest), and from 0 to 1 (maximum flexion) for each mirror-training session. The rest position of each joint was determined by the average angle while the participant relaxed for 15 seconds prior to each training session.

Surface electromyography (sEMG) was recorded from the surface of the residual limb using a custom EMG sleeve [11]. Thirty-two monopolar sEMG electrodes were sampled at 1 kHz using Micro2+Stim Front-Ends and a Summit Interface Processor (Ripple Neuro LLC). The 300-ms smoothed Mean Absolute Value (MAV) was calculated at 30 Hz for the 32 monopolar electrodes, as well as for all possible differential pairs (i.e., 496 differential pairs) [5].

Machine-Learning Algorithms

A total of two machine-learning algorithms were used in this study. The first was an eight-layer convolutional neural network (CNN). The CNN predicts kinematic position based on a spatiotemporal "image" of sEMG activity over the last 10 samples in time, described in more detail in [1]. The CNN utilizes convolution to learn complex spatiotemporal relations within EMG activity that correlate to kinematic position. The second algorithm used in this study was a modified Kalman filter (MKF), as described in [5]. The MKF provides an efficient recursive algorithm to optimally estimate the position of the bionic hand when the likelihood model (i.e., the probability of EMG activity given the current kinematic position) and prior models (i.e., the state model of how kinematics change over time) are linear and Gaussian. The inclusion of prior information about the system state enables an efficient recursive

formulation of the machine-learning algorithm and effectively smooths noisy estimates in a mathematically principled way.

Modified Clothespin Relocation Task

The CRT provides a simple way to assess the ability of individuals to simultaneously grasp and rotate their wrist. The CRT involves moving a clothespin from a horizontal bar to a vertical bar. Clothespins are placed eight inches down the length of the horizontal bar and 8 inches up the vertical bar. If the participant drops the clothespin or takes longer than one minute the attempt is considered a failure.

Participants were instructed to complete the CRT with the prostheses under four different conditions: 1) using the CNN trained with data collected via mirrored training, 2) using the CNN trained with data collected via mimicked training, 3) using the MKF trained with data collected via mirrored training, 4) using the MKF trained with data collected via mirrored training, 4) using the MKF trained with data collected via mirrored training, 4) using the MKF trained with data collected via mimicked training. Participants performed the task six times for each of the four aforementioned conditions. The four conditions were tested in pseudo-randomized counter-balanced blocks to minimize order effects. During each block, participants were given eight attempts to move the clothespins. A block was finished after three successfully transfers or if all eight attempts were used. After the final block for a given condition, the participants completed the NASA Task Load Index (TLX) survey of subjective workload as well as a survey of embodiment adapted from [12]. At the end of the experiment, participants were asked to rate the four decodes from best to worse.

Data Analysis

Data were screened for normality. A two-way analysis of variance (factors: algorithm and training paradigm) was performed for each participant individually. No significance differences were observed for the algorithms, so a subsequent pooled analysis was performed to look at the effect of training paradigm. Because the number of completed clothespin transfers varied based on success rate, an unpaired t-test was used to compare between the mimicked-training and mirrored-training data.

RESULTS

Mirrored Training Can Improve Speed on the CRT

We saw no significant difference between mimicked training and mirrored training on the overall success rate of transfers for the CRT. However, in general, mirrored training decreased the transfer time on the CRT for two of the three participants, although this was only significant for one of the three participants. Participant one saw a 12% improvement in speed with mirrored training (p = 0.19, unpaired ttest), participant two saw a 57% improvement in speed with mirrored training (p < 0.05, unpaired t-test), and participant three saw a 5% decrease in speed with mirrored training (p = 0.68, unpaired t-test; Fig 2).



Figure 2: Differences between mimicked training and mirrored training during the CRT. Subjective workload varied among participants, but no differences were greater than the minimum detectable change. Transfer time decreased with mirrored training for participants one and two, but this trend was only significant for participant two.

<u>No Detectable Difference in Subjective Workload or</u> Embodiment between Mimicked Training and Mirrored Training

Subjective workload during the training sessions was comparable between mimicked training and mirrored training (Fig 2). Mimicked training has a slightly lower subject workload score for participants one and three, but none of the differences in subjective workload were greater than the minimum detectable change of 15 points [13]. Similarly, there were no significant differences or meaningful trends in the embodiment scores between the training paradigms. User preference between the training paradigms also varied. Participant one favored mimicked training, participant two favored mirrored training, and participant three had no preference.

DISCUSSION

Task-specific and accurately labeled training data is critically important for algorithm performance. Here, we compare the impact of two different training paradigms on the run-time performance of two commonly used machine-learning algorithms for use on a real-world functional task. Overall, we that subjective workload was similar between

the training paradigms and that user preference varied. Mirrored training is capable of providing significantly better prosthetic control algorithm, but this improvement is unique to individuals.

Prior work showed that mirrored training provides more accurately labeled kinematics than the mimic approach [9]. The results presented here suggest that the more accurately labeled kinematics can also translate to improved runtime prosthetic control. We hypothesize that the benefits of more accurately labeled kinematics from mirrored training will become more pronounced with more complex machine-learning algorithms and more complex task.

The results presented here suggest that users should be given a preference in the training paradigm. However, there are several other important factors to consider when selecting a training paradigm. For example, mirrored training is only available to unilateral amputees and requires additional motion capture equipment and calibration to ensure accurate kinematics. That said, the work presented utilized a Leap Motion (Ultrahaptics) that cost less than \$100 USD, requires low computational power and no extensive technical knowledge to use. The ability to allow users to collect their own self-selected training data could prove useful when training on complex activities of daily living. Task-specific training has been shown to improve performance on activities of daily living [2]. Furthermore, this approach empowers amputees to be control of their personal data and the type of movements they can perform with their bionic limb.

The ability of mirrored training to significantly improve run-time performance for some participants warrants further investigation. Future work should replicate these findings with additional participants, multiple training sessions and more complex tasks to more precisely quantify the impact of training paradigm on run-time prosthetic control.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Research reported in this publication was supported by the Office of The Director (OD), Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute Of Child Health & Human Development (NICHD), and National Institute Of Dental & Craniofacial Research (NIDCR) of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) under Award Number DP5OD029571 awarded to J.A.G. This work was also sponsored by the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) Biological Technologies Office (BTO) Hand Proprioception and Touch Interfaces (HAPTIX) program under the auspices of Dr. Al Emondi through the Space and Naval Warfare Systems Center, Pacific Grant/Contract No. N66001-15-C-4017 awarded to G.A.C.

REFERENCES

- [1] J. A. George, M. R. Brinton, C. C. Duncan, D. T. Hutchinson, and G. A. Clark, "Improved training paradigms and motor-decode algorithms: results from intact individuals and a recent transradial amputee with prior complex regional pain syndrome," in 2018 40th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), Jul. 2018, pp. 3782–3787. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2018.8513342. M. D. Paskett et al., "Activities of daily living with bionic arm improved by combination training and latching filter in prosthesis control comparison," J.
- [2] NeuroEngineering Rehabil., vol. 18, no. 1, p. 45, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1186/s12984-021-00839-x.
- [3] H. Dantas et al., "Deep learning movement intent decoders trained with dataset aggregation for prosthetic limb control," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng., vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 3192-3203, Nov. 2019,
- M. Zia ut Rehman et al., "Multiday EMG-based classification of hand motions with deep learning techniques," Sensors, vol. 18, no. 8, Art. no. 8, Aug. 2018 [4] [5] J. A. George, T. S. Davis, M. R. Brinton, and G. A. Clark, "Intuitive neuromyoelectric control of a dexterous bionic arm using a modified Kalman filter," J. Neurosci. Methods, vol. 330, p. 108462, Jan. 2020
- G. Ghazaei, A. Alameer, P. Degenaar, G. Morgan, and K. Nazarpour, "Deep learning-based artificial vision for grasp classification in myoelectric hands," J. Neural Eng., vol. 14, no. 3, p. 036025, Jun. 2017 [6]
- N. Malešević, D. Marković, G. Kanitz, M. Controzzi, C. Cipriani, and C. Antfolk, "Decoding of individual finger movements from surface EMG signals using vector autoregressive hierarchical hidden Markov models (VARHHMM)," in 2017 International Conf. on Rehab. Rob. (ICORR), Jul. 2017, pp. 1518–1523.
 A. Ameri, M. A. Akhaee, E. Scheme, and K. Englehart, "Regression convolutional neural network for improved simultaneous EMG control," J. Neural Eng., [7]
- [8] vol. 16, no. 3, p. 036015, 2019.
- J. A. George, T. N. Tully, P. C. Colgan, and G. A. Clark, "Bilaterally mirrored movements improve the accuracy and precision of training data for supervised [9] learning of neural or myoelectric prosthetic control," ArXiv200108807 Cs Q-Bio, Jan. 2020.
- A. Hussaini and P. Kyberd, "Refined clothespin relocation test and assessment of motion," Prosthet. Orthot. Int., vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 294–302, Jun. 2017 [10] J. A. George, A. Neibling, M. D. Paskett, and G. A. Clark, "Inexpensive surface electromyography sleeve with consistent electrode placement enables dexterous and stable prosthetic control through deep learning," ArXiv200300070 Cs Q-Bio, Feb. 2020. [11]
- A. Kalckert and H. H. Ehrsson, "Moving a rubber hand that feels like your own: A dissociation of ownership and agency," Front. Hum. Neurosci., vol. 6, p. 40, [12] 2012
- H. Devos et al., "Psychometric properties of NASA-TLX and index of cognitive activity as measures of cognitive workload in older adults," Brain Sci., vol. 10, [13] no. 12, p. 994, Dec. 2020



Myoelectric Controls Implementations

DEEP AND SURFACE SENSOR MODALITIES FOR MYO-INTENT DETECTION

Mathilde Connan¹, Bingbin Yu^{2,3}, Christian Gibas⁴, Rainer Brück⁴,

Elsa Andrea Kirchner^{2,5}, Claudio Castellini^{1,6}

¹German Aerospace Center (DLR), Institute of Robotics and Mechatronics, Wessling, Germany
 ²University of Bremen, Robotics Research Group, Bremen, Germany
 ³German Research Center for Artificial Intelligence (DFKI), Bremen, Germany
 ⁴University of Siegen, Medical Informatics and Microsystems Engineering, Siegen, Germany
 ⁵University of Duisburg, Institute of Medical Technology Systems, Duisburg, Germany
 ⁶Friedrich-Alexander University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Artificial Intelligence in Biomedical

Engineering, Erlangen, Germany

ABSTRACT

Electromyography is the gold-standard among sensors for prosthetic control. However, stable and reliable myocontrol remains an unsolved problem in the community. Amid improvements currently under investigation, one focuses on alternative or complementary sensors. In this study, we compare different techniques, recording surface and deep muscle activity. Ten subjects were involved in an experiment in which three different modalities were attached on their forearm: force myography, electro-impedance tomography and ultrasound. They were asked to perform wrist and grasp movements. For the first time, we evaluate and compare in an offline analysis these three different modalities while recording several hand gestures.

INTRODUCTION

Although surface electromyography (sEMG) has been used for decades in myoelectric control, it is subject to several drawbacks, such as sweat, electrode shift, muscular fatigue, or cross-talk among others [1]. Possible alternatives are being investigated in order to potentially replace or complement sEMG. For instance, in [2], it was shown that force myography (FMG), which is based on the deformation of the forearm due to muscular contractions, provides a more stable signal compared to electromyography. Although there are of course still some steps to go before integration, FMG showed a higher separateness of clusters and a higher accuracy when compared to sEMG. However, both sEMG and FMG are surface techniques, meaning that they record information mostly from surface muscles. Indeed, even though FMG indirectly contains some information about deeper muscle activity, these two techniques are still considered surface modalities. Deeper acquisition sources could therefore potentially provide important missing information. For example, ultrasound (US) imaging has already been evaluated for myocontrol with positive results for single finger movements [3]. Another deep sensing modality has also gained interest in recent years due to the search for alternatives to sEMG: Electrical Impedance Tomography (EIT). In medical EIT, particularly for myocontrol of the hand, a certain number of electrodes are placed around the forearm and a micro non-invasive alternating current is applied to one of them while the others measure bioimpedance. This process is repeated by applying the current in each electrode, in turn, until completion of the circle. The collected measurements can be reconstructed into a tomographic image using a back-projection algorithm [4]. The technique has already shown that it can be used to discriminate different hand movements offline with good classification accuracy using a support vector machine algorithm [5] EIT has also been integrated in an armband together with sEMG [6].

In this paper, we describe an experiment comparing FMG, US and EIT and discuss their potential for myocontrol applications. Ten subjects were fitted with the three modalities simultaneously and asked to perform wrist and grasp movements. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time these three modalities have been compared in an experiment. The results show that US is always within the first two best performing algorithms for each hand/wrist gesture.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental setup

The EIT system used in this experiment was developed by the University of Siegen [7]. It consists of 16 electrodes placed around the forearm and provides 256 raw values. Its output frequency was approximately 2.7Hz. Post-filtering and processing to reconstruct the tomographic image were performed using the EIDORS library [4].

FMG data were collected using a custom-made armband with a Velcro strap and 10 force sensitive resistors developed at DLR [2]. The data were filtered with a second-order Butterworth low-pass filter with a cut-off frequency of 1Hz and saved at 94.2Hz. FMG was preferred over EMG due to the potential interference with the EIT system, which would have injected microcurrents into the same area where the EMG sensors would have recorded electrical muscle activity.

The newly developed portable US system was developed by the Fraunhofer IBMT [8] and is one of the smallest systems available for ultrasound imaging, as the probe is flat and circular, unlike the normally bulky probes of medical systems. The 1161px by 162px B-mode displayed image was streamed into our software and stored at a frequency of approximately 5.1Hz. A bird's eye view of the experiment can be seen in Figure 1(A).



Figure 1: (A) Bird's eye view of the experiment. (B) Zoom on the modalities.

The three devices were placed in the following order from proximal to distal: EIT, FMG and US, as shown in Figure 1(B). Both the EIT and FMG systems were sending the data to our Interactive Myocontrol software via Bluetooth while the US device sent its data via USB.

Subjects and experimental protocol

Ten people (8 men, 2 women, 32.5 +/- 6.3 years old) took part in this experiment. Half of the subjects wore the sensors on their left arm, and the other half on their right arm. A sequence consisted of eight actions: rest, power, point, precision (tridigital), wrist flexion, wrist extension, wrist supination and wrist pronation. After a familiarisation phase, three repetitions of the sequence followed. All subjects signed an inform consent form and the experiment was previously approved by the DLR Work Ethical Committee.

The subjects sat in front of a table and placed their elbow on the table so that the arm was in line with the shoulder and the forearm formed an angle of about 90° to the upper arm, with the palm facing the side of the body. A 3D hand model on a screen indicated which hand movement had to be performed. For each action 2 seconds of data were recorded, with up and down phases lasting 1 second each and a further 2 seconds of non-captured rest between each action. For each subject and each repetition, the order of the actions was randomized.

Data analysis

The machine learning used for the analysis was Ridge Regression (RR), as it has the advantage with highdimensional (HD) data that combined movements are possible without having to be trained, as was the case with HD-FMG [9]. The hyperparameters were evaluated for each subject using cross-validation.

For each modality, different feature selection methods were chosen for comparison. Each modality was rescaled between 0 and 1. The 255-feature vector of EIT data was compared with restored images from different reconstruction algorithms of the EIDORS library. The first two methods use a basic solver using unfiltered back-projection. This is one of the simplest algorithms for reconstructing an EIT image. The second method uses additional artificially

generated data compared to the first one. The third method is the Gauss-Newton approach with one-step iteration: it is the most commonly used for back projection in clinical and experimental publications. US data cannot be processed directly in the RR algorithm due to its size and must be reduced by feature selection algorithms. The first feature selection algorithm for US is Region of Interest Gradient (ROI-G) [10]. It has already been used successfully in experiments on US [11] and HD-FMG [9]. After some preliminary tests, a square of 40px with a step size of 30px was chosen as ROI. The other feature selection algorithms consisted of rescaling the matrices to a smaller size by selecting one row in n with n in {14, 20, 25, 30} as the different step sizes. For all methods, the features were amplified by a factor of 10 and filtered through a second-order Butterworth low-pass filter with a cut-off frequency of 1Hz.

In order to compare the accuracy of the individual feature selection method, the normalized root mean square error (nRMSE) was calculated. This was averaged across all subjects, using the first two repetitions as the training samples and the last repetition as the test set. We also performed a comparative analysis of cluster separability for each modality. For each subject and each cluster pair (C_i, C_j) , we evaluated a numerical index called the Safety Index [11], which indicates how separated two clusters are in a given input space. The Safety Separateness Index of the clusters was calculated as follows: it is the ratio between the maximum standard deviation of cluster C_i (evaluated over all dimensions) and the Euclidean distance between cluster C_i and C_j , $s_{ij} = \frac{max(\sigma_i)}{|\overline{C_i} - \overline{C_j}||}$ where σ_i is the standard deviation of a standard deviation of σ_i is the standard deviation of

deviation of cluster C_i and \overline{C} is the mean of cluster C. In addition, the average number of principal components to reach 99% of the variance of the input space was calculated across all subjects.

RESULTS

The nRMSE of RR for each modality was calculated action-wise as shown in Figure 2. The results were evaluated statistically across all actions using Friedman test for non-parametric data, showing that the nRMSE was statistically significantly different across the different modalities X2(9) = 40.8, p < 0.0001, with a moderate effect size W=0.453. The post-hoc Wilcoxon paired test could not conclude between which methods after the Holm correction for multiple comparisons.



Figure 2: nRMSE on the three modalities and their respective feature selections: FMG in green, EIT in red, US in purple. The modalities are sorted in an increasing order of the median of nRMSE (best performing first) for each action.

The number of principal components (PCs) for reaching 99% of the variance of the input space was calculated for each subject and averaged for each modality in Table 1. This needs to be compared with the actual input space, i.e. the number of features, of each modality, which is also reported in the table.

Table 1: Number of features for each method. Average and standard deviation (SD) of the number of principal components in order to reach 99% of the variance. Separateness index (mean and SD) indicating the separateness of the clusters (the lower the better).

Modality	EIT	EIT_GN	EIT_lin	EIT_lin_art	FMG	US_red14	US_red20	US_red25	US_red30	US_ROIG
Number of features	256	740	740	740	10	348	996	531	329	234
Number of PCs (mean)	14.3	3.6	4.1	3.6	6.3	25.7	27.2	24.6	23	51.7
Number of PCs (SD)	2.9	0.7	1	0.7	0.8	6.4	6.5	5.8	5.5	7.4
Separateness index (mean)	0.495	0.098	0.089	0.093	0.181	0.067	0.1	0.111	0.126	0.143
Separateness index (SD)	0.341	0.034	0.025	0.03	0.05	0.015	0.039	0.025	0.029	0.023

The safety index to estimate the separateness of the clusters was evaluated and averaged across all subjects for each modality. Non-reconstructed EIT shows the lowest separability, while US rescaled every 14 rows shows the highest one.

DISCUSSION

Figure 2 shows that, despite no clear method standing out from the others, at least one feature selection algorithm from US is always in the top two according to nRMSE. FMG, with its 10 features, surprisingly performs better than the other algorithms for wrist extension and wrist pronation. The basic solver EIT_lin_art is the best performing for wrist supination. Comparing the number of principal components necessary to reach 99% of the input space, the US-related number of components are the highest ones, but generally exhibits a good cluster separateness index, especially the US_red14, which has the best separateness. Non-reconstructed EIT has the worst overall Safety Index. However, this could be explained by electrodes with high impedance that would negatively affect other measurements and that are filtered in the reconstruction algorithms. The EIT reconstruction algorithms have surprisingly a low number of PCs and better cluster separability than most of US methods. However, the fact that the number of PCs is lower than the number of gestures to be controlled could explain the generally lower nRMSE results compared to US and possibly indicate that important data is lost during reconstruction. This could also be due to the lower sampling rate of EIT.

Several feature selection algorithms were tested here on the different modalities. Unfortunately, none of them has yet been able to clearly outperform the others, with some modalities performing better than others for some movements. This might indicate that sensor fusion could be the ultimate solution. However, US was among the best performing methods according to nRMSE and to some extent cluster separateness index. Further feature selection algorithms should be evaluated to confirm this indication. In addition, the three modalities should be evaluated online and on amputees. However, due to the limited length of the stumps, it might be necessary to reduce the number of modalities to the two best performing ones.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank all the subjects who participated in this experiment. This work was partially supported by the German Research Society project Deep-Hand (DFG Sachbeihilfe CA-1389/1-2).

REFERENCES

- J. R. Cram and G. S. Kasman, "Cram's Introduction To Surface Electromyography," 2nd editio ed., Jones and Bartlett Publishers, 2010, p. 1–163.
- [2] M. Connan, E. R. Ramírez, B. Vodermayer and C. Castellini, "Assessment of a Wearable Force- and Electromyography Device and Comparison of the Related Signals for Myocontrol," *Frontiers in Neurorobotics*, vol. 10, p. 1–13, November 2016.
- [3] M. Sagardia, K. Hertkorn, D. Sierra González and C. Castellini, "Ultrapiano: A Novel Human-Machine Interface Applied to Virtual Reality," in Proceedings of {ICRA} - International Conference on Robotics and Automation, 2014.
- [4] A. Adler and W. R. B. Lionheart, "Uses and abuses of EIDORS: an extensible software base for EIT," *Physiological measurement*, vol. 27, p. S25, 2006.
- [5] Y. Zhang and C. Harrison, "Tomo: Wearable, low-cost electrical impedance tomography for hand gesture recognition," in Proceedings of the 28th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software & Technology, 2015.
- [6] A. Briko, V. Kapravchuk, A. Kobelev, A. Hammoud, S. Leonhardt, C. Ngo, Y. Gulyaev and S. Shchukin, "A Way of Bionic Control Based on EI, EMG, and FMG Signals," *Sensors*, vol. 22, p. 152, 2022.
- [7] C. Gibas, A. Grünewald, S. Büchner and R. Brück, "An EIT system for mobile medical diagnostics," in *Medical Imaging 2018: Biomedical Applications in Molecular, Structural, and Functional Imaging*, 2018.
- [8] M. Fournelle, T. Grün, D. Speicher, S. Weber, M. Yilmaz, D. Schoeb, A. Miernik, G. Reis, S. Tretbar and H. Hewener, "Portable Ultrasound Research System for Use in Automated Bladder Monitoring with Machine-Learning-Based Segmentation," *Sensors*, vol. 21, p. 6481, 2021.
- [9] M. Connan, R. Kõiva and C. Castellini, "Online natural myocontrol of combined hand and wrist actions using tactile myography and the biomechanics of grasping," *Frontiers in Neurorobotics*, vol. 14, p. 1–16, 2020.
- [10] R. M. Haralick and L. G. Shapiro, "Computer and Robot Vision, vol. 1, Addison-Welsey," *Reading, Mass, USA*, 1992.
- [11] D. Sierra González and C. Castellini, "A realistic implementation of ultrasound imaging as a human-machine interface for upperlimb amputees," *Frontiers in Neurorobotics*, vol. 7, p. 1–11, October 2013.

ESTABLISHING BIONIC PROSTHETIC CONTROL IN INDIVIDUALS RECEIVING TARGETED MUSCLE REINNERVATION FOR PAIN PREVENTION

Jonathon S. Schofield¹, Justin Fitzgerald², Marcus A. Battraw¹, Paul D. Marasco³, Wilsaan M. Joiner⁴

¹UC Davis, Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, ²UC Davis, Biomedical Engineering, ³Cleveland Clinic, Lerner Research Institute, ⁴UC Davis, Neurobiology, Physiology and Behaviour; Neurology

ABSTRACT

Targeted muscle reinnervation for the prevention of neuromas and phantom pain (N-TMR) is rapidly emerging as standard surgical intervention. The efficacy of N-TMR for pain treatment and the low complexity of the nerve redirection procedure at the time of amputation have been a key aspect of its widespread adoption. However, N-TMR was not developed for prosthetic control. Unlike the original prosthetic-focused targeted muscle reinnervation surgeries, N-TMR often redirected nerves to less accessible muscles. Therefore, using surface electromyography to measure the activity of the deeper reinnervated muscles for prosthetic control is very difficult especially since muscle orientation, signal separation, and electrical crosstalk are also not considered during N-TMR surgery. To address these limitations, we investigated the feasibility of applying sonomyography, a prosthesis control technique that is capable of measuring reinnervated muscle activity across the depths of the residuum. We applied ultrasound imaging techniques paired with image processing and machine learning algorithms to classify patterns of muscle activity according to the motor intentions of participants' missing limbs. In two participants with transhumeral amputation and N-TMR surgery we demonstrated that 4-6 functionally relevant missing hand and wrist movements could be classified with 82% to nearly 100% accuracy. We suggest that like the original prosthetic-focused targeted muscle reinnervation surgeries, N-TMR provides opportunities to establish bionic interfaces with advanced prostheses. We see a significant opportunity to improve prosthetic motor outcomes for the growing number of individuals with high-level amputations that are receiving this procedure for pain prevention.

INTRODUCTION

Mechatronic upper limb prostheses have become exceptionally sophisticated. Control of these advanced systems has evolved to leverage surgical, engineering, and neuroscientific approaches that detect users' intentions directly from their motor nervous systems [1], [2]. Here, Targeted Muscle Reinnervation (TMR) has demonstrated significant potential as a long-term, real-world nerve machine interface for individuals with high level upper limb amputations [3], [4]. By redirecting severed nerves, the patient's intentions to move their missing limb are amplified by the residual muscles and can be used to establish a bionic link to control their prosthesis. However, like almost all bionic control interfaces, to ensure the best functional outcomes, TMR requires a large interdisciplinary team to plan and execute the surgical procedure prior to therapy and prosthesis fitting. TMR is most often performed as a secondary surgery and relevant factors related to prosthetic control inform surgical decisions. For example, the muscles to be reinnervated are carefully chosen and may be first denervated from native nerves, surgically modified, and/or moved to ensure that electromyographic (EMG) signals will be robust and that crosstalk is minimized when operating prostheses [5], [6]. As the degree of surgical planning and technical complexity is high, most individuals with high-level amputations do not have access to this procedure and the functional benefits it may provide.

A variant of TMR surgery is rapidly gaining widespread clinical acceptance. Unlike prosthesis-focused TMR, targeted muscle reinnervation for the prevention of nerve-related amputation pain (N-TMR) is a less complex intervention to manage the disorganized nerve growth after amputation. N-TMR helps prevent phantom and nerve-related pain by redirecting severed nerves to the closest appropriate muscle nerve branches [7]–[9]. N-TMR does not typically require large interdisciplinary teams and at some institutes it is being offered as standard-of-care at the time of primary amputation surgery. Although only recently emerging, the effectiveness in pain prevention and low surgical complexity have resulted in the number of individuals with N-TMR vastly expanding. However, N-TMR was not designed for bionic control of prostheses and current EMG control interfaces can be challenged to effectively measure the activity of reinnervated muscles. This is because surgical consideration is not given to muscle orientation, separation, or the prevention of EMG signal crosstalk; and importantly, EMG sensors remain on the skin's surface while the reinnervated muscles are often located deeper in the residuum.
Sonomyography is an emerging prosthetic control technique that derives control signals from muscle activity across the depths of the residuum [10]–[12]. Although this robust control technique was established in non-TMR amputee populations, it has tremendous potential in unlocking bionic control for the growing population of individuals receiving N-TMR surgeries. Sonomyography uses a small ultrasound transducer positioned on the residual limb to image the muscle deformations that occur below the surface of the skin. Image processing and machine learning algorithms are applied in real-time to capture patterns of muscle deformation, classify them according to the user's motor intentions, and actuate the corresponding prosthetic movements. Sonomyography holds multiple potential benefits including the accurate detection of minuet muscle deformations throughout the residuum, capturing continuously variable activity to proportionally command prosthetic movements, and improved signal to noise ratios when compared to traditional EMG approaches [12], [13].

The objective of this case series was to investigate the degree and accuracy to which sonomyography techniques could be applied to detect missing hand and wrist motor-intentions from the reinnervated muscles of two individuals with transhumeral amputation and N-TMR surgery. We hypothesized that attempting missing limb movements would generate distinct patterns of muscle deformations in the reinnervated musculature, and the combination of ultrasound imaging and machine learning could accurately predict the user's motor intentions from this muscle activity.

METHODS

Two participants with transhumeral amputations and N-TMR surgery were recruited. Protocols were approved by UC Davis' Intuitional Review Board and subjects provided written informed consent prior to participation.

Par-1 was a 52-year-old female with left transhumeral amputation and N-TMR surgery. She did not regularly wear a prosthesis, and it had been 6 months since her N-TMR surgery at the time of testing. Her median, ulnar, and radial nerves were all transferred to her left pectoralis major muscle branch. She reported experiencing a phantom hand that was telescoped at the end of her residual limb and described very minor phantom pains. She also reported being able to visualize moving her missing fingers.

Par-2 was a 40-year-old male with left transhumeral amputation and N-TMR surgery. He did not regularly wear a prosthesis and it had been almost 18 months since his N-TMR surgery at the time of testing. His median and ulnar nerves were transferred to his pectoralis minor muscle branch, and his radial and musculocutaneous nerves to the serratus anterior muscle branch. He reported feeling a phantom limb with minor to moderate phantom pain experienced as tingling, shocks, tightness, or itching.

Data Collection

Participants were seated with their residual limb at their side. A Terason 3200T uSmart Ultrasound system with a 16HL7 linear array transducer (Teratech Corp) was used to capture muscle deformations with an imaging depth set to 4 cm [12]. The transducer was affixed to the reinnervated pectoral areas of each participant using a custom bracket and medical bandages at the location of maximum tissue displacement; determined by motoring the ultrasound screen and asking participants to freely attempt moving their missing hands. Once affixed, participants were asked to attempt a series of functionally relevant missing-hand and -wrist movements which included power grasp, pinch grasp, key



Figure 1: Ultrasound image processing procedure

grip, digit 2 extension (pointing), wrist rotation, and wrist flexion or extension [14]. Each movement was repeated 10 times. Patients were encouraged to mirror their intended motion with their unaffected limb and were able to view a live feed of the ultrasound images to assist with motor visualizations. Ultrasound video data was sampled at 30Hz, labelled, and stored for post hoc classification analysis.

Data Analysis

Raw ultrasound video data were captured at a 1920x1080 pixel resolution. Video frames were post-processed which included cropping and down sampling to a 128x128 image by averaging

neighbouring pixels. Thresholding was performed such that pixels became black or white creating a binary image resembling a QR code (Figure 1) [10]. To classify missing hand movements, we first identified the frames depicting the final movement position for each repetition of each missing hand and wrist movement. As ultrasound recordings ended with the patient at their final movement state, the Pearson correlation distance from the first frame to all following frames was used to estimate when the final state was first achieved. These identified frames were then used as feature vectors for a K nearest neighbour (KNN) machine learning algorithm to determine which grasps produced distinct and separable tissue deformation states. To quantify the accuracy to which hand and wrist movements could be predicted using the KNN classifier, a leave-one-out cross validation of the dataset was performed [15].

RESULTS

Par-1 completed all 6 hand and wrist movements. They did not report any difficulties in visualizing these missing limb movement and there was no apparent muscle spasms or fatigue effects observed during data collection. Classification accuracies for each movement ranged from 89.5% through 96.8% (Figure 2).

Although Par-2 was able to visualize and attempt moving their missing hand into a variety of positions, they reported this task physically and mentally challenging. As a result, each time they attempted to move their missing limb, they required time to concentrate and often intensely contracted their residual muscles. They were able to complete data collection for 4 hand and wrist movements (pinch, power, wrist flexion, and wrist extension) prior to muscle fatigue, spasms, and testing duration forcing the termination of the experiment. Three movements were classified with greater than 99.9% accuracy and pinch grip was able to be classified with 82.0% accuracy (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Classification accuracy. Diagonal elements show the accuracy of our algorithms in predicting a missing limb movement from muscle deformation patterns, and the off-diagonal elements represent the likelihood of misclassification. Wext- wrist extension, Wflx- wrist flexion, Wrot- wrist rotation.

DISCUSSION

This work supports that individuals who have received N-TMR have untapped potential to establish bionic links with their prostheses. We found that detectable patterns of reinnervated muscle activity existed with attempts to move the missing limb and this activity could be used to reliably infer missing-limb motor intentions. This was true even for Par-2 who has not used his reinnervated muscles to control a prosthesis, nor his once-intact limb for nearly 18 months. Although he was challenged by the experimental tasks, and muscle fatigue impacted his ability to complete testing, he still produced data that was consistent and accurately classifiable across 4 missing limb movements. We suggest that the effects of fatigue and the ability to visualize and perform missing had movements may improve with training. Further investigation is warranted to better understand how learning and therapeutic approaches may be applied to maximize the accuracy and dexterity that sonomyography may offer individuals with N-TMR.

These data are also compelling given the nature of the nerve reassignments. Par-2 had his median and ulnar nerves transferred to the pectoralis minor muscle branch. The pectorals minor is a deeper muscle covered by the more superficial pectoralis major. It was this region of his chest where the ultrasound transducer was located. The fact that our approaches captured and classified reinnervated muscle activity in this area demonstrates the utility of sonomyography and its ability to measure contraction patterns throughout the depths of the residuum. Further, Par-1 had 3 individual nerves (median, ulnar, radial) all transferred to a single muscle branch (pectorals major). Attempts to move the missing hand/wrist into functionally relevant configurations still generated unique patterns of muscle activity despite the reinnervation of only a single motor branch. An advantage of Sonomyography is the ability of a single sensor and machine learning algorithms to detect even minuet differences across contraction patterns which is emphasized by these findings.

As N-TMR continues to grow as an adopted standard for the prevention of neuromas and phantom pain, so too will the opportunity for patients to reap the benefits of advanced prosthesis control strategies. This work provides evidence that like those who received prosthetic-focused TMR, patients with N-TMR can establish bionic control over their prostheses, they just need to provide the appropriate muscle measurement interfaces. Ultrasound technology continues to be miniaturized, and now battery-powered handheld systems are commercially available making them feasible to incorporate in prostheses. Further, wearable prosthesis-focused sonomyography systems are currently undergoing commercial development. Taken together, this may allow the expansion of N-TMR beyond an effective intervention for pain prevention to include the benefits associated with neural-control of advanced prostheses.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Drs. Clifford Pereira and Andrew Li for their valuable contributions to this work.

- [1] K. A. Yildiz, A. Y. Shin, and K. R. Kaufman, "Interfaces with the peripheral nervous system for the control of a neuroprosthetic limb: a review," *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, vol. 17, no. 1, p. 43, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1186/s12984-020-00667-5.
- C. Castellini et al., "Proceedings of the first workshop on Peripheral Machine Interfaces: going beyond traditional surface electromyography," Front. Neurorobot., vol. 8, Aug. 2014, doi: 10.3389/fnbot.2014.00022.
- [3] T. A. Kuiken, G. A. Dumanian, R. D. Lipschutz, L. A. Miller, and K. A. Stubblefield, "The use of targeted muscle reinnervation for improved myoelectric prosthesis control in a bilateral shoulder disarticulation amputee," *Prosthet Orthot Int*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 245–253, Dec. 2004, doi: 10.3109/03093640409167756.
- [4] T. A. Kuiken *et al.*, "Targeted Muscle Reinnervation for Real-Time Myoelectric Control of Multifunction Artificial Arms," JAMA, vol. 301, no. 6, pp. 619–628, Feb. 2009, doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.116.
- [5] T. Takagi *et al.*, "Selective motor fascicle transfer and neural-machine interface: case report," *Journal of Neurosurgery*, vol. 132, no. 3, pp. 825–831, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.3171/2018.10.JNS181865.
- [6] T. A. Kuiken, L. A. Miller, R. D. Lipschutz, K. A. Stubblefield, and G. A. Dumanian, "Prosthetic Command Signals Following Targeted Hyper-Reinnervation Nerve Transfer Surgery," in 2005 IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology 27th Annual Conference, Jan. 2005, pp. 7652–7655. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2005.1616284.
- [7] G. A. Dumanian *et al.*, "Targeted Muscle Reinnervation Treats Neuroma and Phantom Pain in Major Limb Amputees: A Randomized Clinical Trial," *Ann Surg*, vol. 270, no. 2, pp. 238–246, Aug. 2019, doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000003088.
- [8] J. B. Bowen, C. E. Wee, J. Kalik, and I. L. Valerio, "Targeted Muscle Reinnervation to Improve Pain, Prosthetic Tolerance, and Bioprosthetic Outcomes in the Amputee," Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle), vol. 6, no. 8, pp. 261–267, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.1089/wound.2016.0717.
- [9] J. M. Souza, J. E. Cheesborough, J. H. Ko, M. S. Cho, T. A. Kuiken, and G. A. Dumanian, "Targeted muscle reinnervation: a novel approach to postamputation neuroma pain," *Clin Orthop Relat Res*, vol. 472, no. 10, pp. 2984–2990, Oct. 2014, doi: 10.1007/s11999-014-3528-7.
- [10] N. Akhlaghi et al., "Real-Time Classification of Hand Motions Using Ultrasound Imaging of Forearm Muscles," IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, vol. 63, no. 8, pp. 1687–1698, Aug. 2016, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2015.2498124.
- [11] A. Dhawan *et al.*, "Ultrasound sensing-based intuitive proportional control: An evaluation study with upper-extremity amputees," 2018, doi: 10.1016/J.REHAB.2018.05.1101.
- [12] A. S. Dhawan et al., "Proprioceptive Sonomyographic Control: A novel method for intuitive and proportional control of multiple degreesof-freedom for individuals with upper extremity limb loss," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, no. 1, Art. no. 1, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-45459-7.
- [13] A. Dhawan et al., "Ultrasound sensing-based intuitive proportional control: An evaluation study with upper-extremity amputees," Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, vol. 61, pp. e471–e472, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2018.05.1101.
- [14] T. Feix, J. Romero, H. Schmiedmayer, A. M. Dollar, and D. Kragic, "The GRASP Taxonomy of Human Grasp Types," *IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 66–77, Feb. 2016, doi: 10.1109/THMS.2015.2470657.
- [15] C. Sammut and G. I. Webb, Eds., "Leave-One-Out Cross-Validation," in *Encyclopedia of Machine Learning*, Boston, MA: Springer US, 2010, pp. 600–601. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-30164-8_469.

EXPLORING THE POTENTIATION OF SENSE OF OWNERSHIP THROUGH PROPRIOCEPTION FOR A SENSORY INTERFERENCE TASK

Kathleen R. Campbell, Morgan Blake, Jonathon W. Sensinger

Institute of Biomedical Engineering, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB, Canada

ABSTRACT

A strongly perceived sense of ownership (SoO) of an amputees' device paired with agency leads to aspects of embodiment for that device. The purpose of this research was to explore the potentiation of SoO through proprioception while using a tactile feedback modality. In a sensory interference task, participants responded to vibrotactile stimulation presented to their index finger and thumb while experiencing incongruent and congruent visual feedback, with and without proprioceptive feedback. We found that participants' crossmodal congruency effect (CCE) scores for the vibrotactile feedback were higher when experiencing proprioceptive feedback that aligned with the movement of the virtual hand on the screen. Providing prosthesis users with more intuitive and useful sensory feedback may increase their perceived SoO of their device. When paired with agency, this can lead to improving their control performance and device acceptance.

INTRODUCTION

Improving prosthesis control performance can contribute to better user experience while using a device. Effective embodiment, defined as a prosthesis being 'part of' the user and having a psychological investment into the self, has been found to promote better control performance and help restore the perceived integrity of a body that has been altered by amputation [1]–[3]. Research suggests that embodiment arises from the interplay of sense of agency (SoA) and sense of ownership (SoO) [4]. SoA is elicited by the experience of initiating and controlling your actions, and it distinguishes our own self-generated actions from actions generated by others [5]. SoO is defined as the user's perception of their device identifying with and belonging to their body, occurring as the result of the integration and interpretation of visual, tactile and proprioceptive signals [3]–[7]. It is well known that linking augmented feedback to improvements in performance is challenging and researchers need to be strategic and intentional on the purpose and delivery of the sensory feedback [8]–[12]. Exploring sensory feedback for upper-limb prosthesis users that enables SoO and SoA and thus embodiment is accordingly a meaningful area of study.

In recent work, we explored the fusion of tactile and kinesthetic feedback on performance and ownership for two participants with sensory-motor targeted reinnervation [10]. In a similar sensory interference task to what is described in this paper, we found that both participants showed levels of limb ownership that were aligned with able-bodied responses to skin deformation; however one participant had reduced CCE scores when kinesthesia was added to their tactile feedback modality. This result was unexpected and was possibly influenced by technical inconsistencies in the participant's kinesthetic feedback system. The sample size of this work was limited due to international travel requirements and the intensive experimental time required. In order to explore this further with a larger sample size, we re-designed the experiment to accommodate able-bodied participants, as described in this paper.

The goal of this study was to determine the influence of proprioceptive feedback on perceived SoO for a sensory interference tactile feedback task. Existing literature has demonstrated that the crossmodal congruency effect (CCE) score can be used as an objective measure for perceived SoO [13]. To explore the potentiation of SoO through proprioceptive feedback, we calculated CCE scores during a sensory interference task. Participants were subjected to vibrotactile feedback to either their finger or thumb and were instructed to respond where they felt the stimulation via foot pedals. Simultaneous to the vibrotactile feedback, visual feedback was provided on a virtual hand on a screen either congruent or incongruently. Participants completed two sessions of the experiment: with and without proprioceptive feedback.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

Recruitment

Written informed consent was obtained under the guidelines and approval of University of New Brunswick's Research Ethics Board prior to conducting the experiment. Fourteen able-bodied participants completed the study [mean age = 27.7yrs, range = 19-51yrs, 5 female, 1 left-handed]. Participants were randomly assigned feedback modality order to account for learning effects. Participants completed their second session one week after their first at the same time of day in an attempt to ensure similar levels of alertness between the two sessions.

Experimental Setup

Participants placed their dominant hand behind a monitor displaying an image of a hand in the same anatomical position as the participant (Fig. 1 a). Vibro-tactile motors (Precision Microdrives 10mm Linear Resonant Actuators – 4mm type) affixed to the participants index finger and thumb with medical tape (3M, Micropore) provided vibrotactile feedback (2.5G, 175Hz) corresponding to when the virtual hand had grasped the object on-screen (Fig. 1 b). The participants index finger and thumb were also secured to a slide potentiometer (Bourns Inc. $10K\Omega 45mm$ travel range) in order to ensure that the position of their hand matched the position of the image on the screen. When participants pressed a key on a keyboard with their non-dominant hand, the virtual hand on the screen began to close at a fixed speed of 52deg/s. A PC running Processing (Release 3.5.4) displayed the GUI while also controlling the inputs and outputs through an Arduino Uno R3 microcontroller. A motor controller (Adafruit Industries LLC, model 2305) was controlled by the Arduino to actuate the vibrotactile motors.

Simultaneous to the vibrotactile feedback provided to either the participants' index finger or thumb, visual feedback on screen representing an LED was provided to either the index finger or thumb of the virtual hand upon object contact. This visual feedback was either incongruent or congruent to the tactile stimulation (Fig. 2 a). A green circle representing a fixation LED remained in the middle of the virtual object being grasped on-screen, half-way between the index and thumb (Fig. 2 b). Participants were instructed to respond where they felt the tactile feedback via foot pedals (Ammoon Sustain Damper Pedal), indicating with the toe pedal if they felt the vibrotactile stimulation on their index and with the heel pedal if they felt the stimulation on their thumb.



Figure 1: Experimental Setup. a) An able-bodied participant looking at an image of a hand on a monitor with their dominant hand behind the screen in the same anatomical position. Note that the lights were off for all testing conditions. b) The dominant hand of the participant affixed with vibrotactile motors and a linear potentiometer. c) Virtual hand-close indicating the end of a trial with the distractor LED illuminating on the index finger, either congruent or incongruent to the tactile feedback provided to the participants' dominant hand. d) The point of focus for participants, a fixation LED in the middle of the object on-screen.

Participants wore noise-cancelling headphones playing Brownian noise to mask background noise. Participants completed two sessions of this experiment; each session was assigned a different feedback modality. In one session, participants were instructed to keep their hand in a static open position during all trials. In the other, the participant mimicked the hand closing on the screen. Hand position was verified by the linear potentiometer and the trial was rejected if the participant's hand position did not match the position of the hand on the screen at the start and end of the trial, with a tolerance of ± 1 cm. Participants completed 10 practice trials with the lights in the room on and the Brownian noise off, followed by 10 practice trials with the lights off and Brownian noise on. They then completed four testing blocks of 64 trials each, with the lights off and Brownian noise on. Participants rested for 2 minutes between blocks.

Outcome Measures

The crossmodal congruency effect score (CCE_{score}) objectively quantifies incorporation without being susceptible to experimenter biases and is calculated as the difference in the mean response time between congruent and incongruent trials [14].

$$CCE_{Score} = \bar{t}_{incongruent} - \bar{t}_{congruent}$$
 (1)

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using RStudio IDE software. A Shapiro-Wilk test was used to investigate homogeneity in the variances of the data. As the CCE score data variances were found to be nonhomogeneous, a Wilcoxon signed-rank test was conducted with CCE score as the dependent variable and feedback modality as the independent variable. The confidence interval was calculated using the standard deviation (95% $CI = mean \pm 1.96 \times SD$). All numbers in the text refer to mean $\pm SD$.

IV. RESULTS

To explore the potentiation of SoO through proprioceptive feedback for a vibrotactile feedback modality, we assessed participants incorporation for each condition by calculating their CCE scores when completing the sensory interference task. We found that adding proprioception did indeed allow the potentiation of SoO, achieving significantly higher CCE scores (122.17 \pm 61.45) than when only tactile feedback was used (88.61 \pm 60.61) (p-value = 0.009), see details in Fig 2.



Figure 2: Box-plots showing the CCE scores for the tactile only and tactile + proprioception conditions. CCE Scores increase with the addition of proprioceptive feedback to the feedback modality. The mean of the data is represented as the x within the boxes while the median is represented as the line. The bottom and top of the box represent the lower and upper quartile, containing 50% of the data. The lines outside of the box represent the minimum and maximum values. The circle represents the outlier.

DISCUSSION

The goal of this study was to determine the influence of proprioceptive feedback on perceived SoO for a sensory interference tactile feedback task. To explore the potentiation of SoO through proprioceptive feedback, we calculated CCE scores for a sensory interference task which included two sessions, one with their hand in a static position (tactile only condition) and one with their hand mimicking the hand close on-screen (tactile + proprioceptive condition). We found that participants achieved higher CCE scores in the tactile + proprioceptive feedback condition than in the tactile-only feedback condition, indicating they had a higher level of ownership for the tactile + proprioceptive feedback to a tactile feedback modality. This study suggests that SoO can be potentiated through the addition of proprioceptive feedback to a tactile feedback modality. Providing prosthesis users with more intuitive and useful sensory feedback may increase their perceived SoO of their device. When paired with agency, this can lead to improving their control performance and device acceptance.

Although the results found in this study suggest that SoO can be potentiated through the addition of proprioceptive feedback to a tactile feedback modality, this work did not decouple proprioception and kinesthesia. A follow-up study worth considering is to replace the key-press hand close actuation with an isotonic and isometric actuation in order to allow for this decoupling. From there, these results must still be confirmed in the target population. Future studies may access more sensory-motor targeted reinnervation participants as it becomes the standard of care for prosthesis control, neuroma and pain management [10].

During data collection, two participants reported feeling simultaneous vibrations in their index and thumb throughout the experiment. After further investigation, this was determined to be phantom vibration. This is likely due to participants gaining an illusory SoO over the virtual hand on screen due to proprioceptive drift [4]. Two different participants reported that the vibrotactile stimulation was always congruent with the visual feedback. After completing trials with their eyes closed to eliminate visual feedback, it was determined that the stimulation was both incongruent and congruent, however the participants were perceiving the visual stimulation to always be correct. In one case, the subject was not able to correctly respond to incongruent trials rendering their data unusable due to high error percentage (53.1%). One subject was excluded for failure to reliably coordinate their hand close with the hand close on-screen.

- [1] G. di Pino, A. Maravita, L. Zollo, E. Guglielmelli, and V. di Lazzaro, "Augmentation-related brain plasticity," *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, vol. 8, no. JUNE. Frontiers Research Foundation, Jun. 11, 2014. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2014.00109.
- [2] M. Pinardi *et al.*, "Doublecheck: a sensory confirmation is required to own a robotic hand, sending a command to feel in charge of it," *Cognitive Neuroscience*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 216–228, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1080/17588928.2020.1793751.
- [3] A. Hodrien, A. Hodrien, A. Galpin, D. Roberts, and L. Kenney, "Exploring the Impact of Hand Movement Delays and Hand Appearance on Myoelectric Prosthesis Embodiment Using Immersive Virtual Reality," 2017. [Online]. Available: http://usir.salford.ac.uk/id/eprint/47272/
- [4] N. Braun et al., "The senses of agency and ownership: A review," Frontiers in Psychology, vol. 9, no. APR. Frontiers Media S.A., Apr. 16, 2018. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00535.
- [5] M. Rohde, M. Luca, and M. O. Ernst, "The Rubber Hand Illusion: Feeling of Ownership and Proprioceptive Drift Do Not Go Hand in Hand," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 6, no. 6, 2011, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021659.
- [6] P. Haggard, "Sense of Agency in the Human Brain," Nature Reviews Neuroscience, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 196–207, 2017, doi: 10.1038/nrn.2017.14.
- [7] M. Slater, D. Perez-Marcos, H. H. Ehrsson, and M. v. Sanchez-Vives, "Towards a digital body: The virtual arm illusion," *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, vol. 2, no. AUG, Aug. 2008, doi: 10.3389/neuro.09.006.2008.
- [8] O. Blanke, M. Slater, and A. Serino, "Behavioral, Neural, and Computational Principles of Bodily Self-Consciousness," *Neuron*, vol. 88, no. 1. Cell Press, pp. 145–166, Oct. 07, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.029.
- [9] J. W. Moore and P. C. Fletcher, "Sense of agency in health and disease: A review of cue integration approaches," *Consciousness and Cognition*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 59–68, Mar. 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2011.08.010.
- [10] P. D. Marasco *et al.*, "Neurorobotic fusion of prosthetic touch, kinesthesia, and movement in bionic upper limbs promotes intrinsic brain behaviors," 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.science.org
- [11] M. Yamamoto *et al.*, "Cross-sectional International Multicenter Study on Quality of Life and Reasons for Abandonment of Upper Limb Prostheses," *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery - Global Open*, vol. 7, no. 5, p. e2205, May 2019, doi: 10.1097/gox.00000000002205.
- [12] P. D. Marasco *et al.*, "Illusory movement perception improves motor control for prosthetic hands," *Science Translational Medicine*, vol. 10, no. 432, p. eaao6990, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aao6990.
- [13] R. Zopf, G. Savage, and M. A. Williams, "Crossmodal congruency measures of lateral distance effects on the rubber hand illusion," *Neuropsychologia*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 713–725, Feb. 2010, doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROPSYCHOLOGIA.2009.10.028.
- [14] D. Blustein, S. Gill, A. Wilson, and J. Sensinger, "Crossmodal congruency effect scores decrease with repeat test exposure," *PeerJ*, vol. 2019, no. 5, 2019, doi: 10.7717/peerj.6976.

RESULTS OF TARGETED MUSCLE REINNERVATION IN INDIVIDUALS WITH A TRANSRADIAL AMPUTATION

Kristi L. Turner, DHS, OTR/L¹, Ann Simon, PhD^{1,2}, Laura Miller, PhD, CP^{1,2}, Levi Hargrove, PhD^{1,2}, Todd Kuiken, MD, PhD^{1,2}

¹ Shirley Ryan AbilityLab, Chicago, IL, USA ² Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA

ABSTRACT

Targeted Muscle Reinnervation (TMR) surgery has been performed for over a decade in individuals with high levels of limb loss (transhumeral and above) to improve their ability to operate a myoelectric prosthesis [1]. However, it is unknown if TMR can improve the ability to operate a multi-articulating hand in individuals with limb loss at the transradial level. The objective of this study was to evaluate whether TMR improves control of a multi-articulating hand using pattern recognition control. A secondary objective was to look at control of a multiarticulating hand with direct control and pattern recognition before TMR surgery (Pre-TMR). Eight individuals with transradial limb loss who had previously used myoelectric control were recruited. Participants were fit with a passive wrist and multiarticulating hand with eight available grips. Home trials were completed Pre-TMR using pattern recognition and direct control, and after TMR (Post-TMR) using pattern recognition control. Occupational therapy was given prior to each home trial for each control type: direct control Pre-TMR, pattern recognition Pre-TMR, and pattern recognition Post-TMR. Outcome measurements were performed at the end of each home trial. A statistically significant improvement was found for both the Jebsen-Taylor Hand Function Test and the Activities Measure for Upper Limb Amputees (AM-ULA), between direct control Pre-TMR and pattern recognition control Prost-TMR.

INTRODUCTION

Transradial amputation is the most common type of major upper limb loss and greatly impacts the functional tasks performed in daily life [2]. As more multi-articulating hands come onto the market, the ability to operate all the available functions of these devices more intuitively is required. However, this has remained a challenging task. One myoelectric option for control is direct control, in which the user isolates agonist and antagonist muscles of the forearm to open and close the hand. Users must then toggle between grips either by performing different actions such as hold open, double impulse, etc. Many devices are also able to utilize other non-EMG methods as well, such as positon triggers, button on hand, grip chips or apps ona smartphone in order to select the appropriate grip for their chosen task. Although this allows users to utilize multiple grips, these strategies may be more inconvenient, especially if frequently changing grips is required to complete one task.

Another myoelectric control option is pattern recognition (PR) which can allow myoelectric prosthesis users to operate more complex systems [4] without the need for EMG or non-EMG triggers. With PR, the user performs the intended prosthesis movement with their residual limb musculature. These muscle patterns are recorded by the prosthesis controller and are then associated with the grip. For an example with a multiarticulating hand, if power grip is wanted, the user performs power grip with their residual limb and the prosthesis goes into power grip. In addition to PR technology, Targeted Muscle Reinnervation (TMR) surgery has been effective at improvingneural control of a myoelectric prosthesis in individuals with higher levels of limb loss [3]. This surgery involves taking residual nerves from the amputated limb and transferring them to other muscles to allow for increased EMG locations and more intuitive control. PR technology can be used by individuals with various levels of limb loss and has been shown to improve prosthesiscontrol, compared to direct control, when combined with TMR [5]. However, it is unknown if TMR improves control of a multi-articulating hand in individuals with limb loss at the transradial level.

METHODS

Eight participants with transradial level limb loss from the Shirley Ryan AbilityLab in Chicago, IL and Walter Reed National Military Medical Center in Bethesda, MD participated in the study (Table 1). Participants were fit by a certified prosthetist with a custom socket with eight bipolar electromyography (EMG) channels, a passive wrist, a modified Ossur ilimb Ultra hand [6]. A clinically available pattern recognition myoelectric controller, Coapt COMPLETE CONTROL Gen1 system [7], that was used and modified for this study to allow for direct control and data logging. A registered and licensed occupational therapist providedtraining for direct control (DC) and PR control, determined grips chosen, and how to use the various grips during functional tasks (Figure 1). All participants received a minimum of 4 sessions of training (each session was approximately 3 hours over two visits to the center) for each style of control. The number of grips was chosen based on the therapist and user feedback to ensure reliability and functional use of each grip. For this study, eight grips were available that targeted variations of the commonly used and most functional grips (Fine pinch, 3 jaw chuck, power, key, and index point). Two eight-week home trials were completed using DC and PR control, in random order, Pre-TMR surgery: DC Pre-TMR and PR Pre-TMR.

For DC, only two of the eight EMG channels were used for control including the channels positioned over the wrist extensors and flexors for opening and closing the hand. To switch grips, participants performed one of four triggers (hold open, double impulse, triple impulse, and co-contraction). This allowed participants to toggle from a default grip to up to 4 additional grips for a total of up to 5 configured grips. The prosthetist and occupational therapist worked with the participants to determine which triggers were easiest for them to perform and assigned the most functional chosen grips to those triggers. For example, if power grip was identified as the most functional grip for that participant's daily activities and co-contraction was the easiest trigger to achieve, that grip was assigned to co-contraction. Once the participant was at home, changes to these triggers could not be done without the participant coming back to the center. During all three home trials, participants were instructed to wear the prosthesis a minimum average of two hours a day. The therapist remained in regular contact with the participants to ensure use, further assist in how to incorporate the prosthesis in their daily tasks, and problem solve any control issues.

With PR, all eight EMG channels were used and the remaining channels were selected with TMR in mind to capture remaining forearm musculature. Participants calibrated the prosthesis by pushing a button on the prosthesis and following the prosthesis while it moved through the assigned grips performing the natural movements in their residual limb that corresponded with each grasp pattern. This allowed participants the ability to re-calibrate their prosthesis at any time and at any location. Inboth DC and PR control, grips could only be switched once the hand was fully open which moved the hand to a neutral or natural hand position, then they could perform the desired trigger (if in DC) or muscle movement (if PR) to achieve the desiredgrip.

Following the two Pre-TMR 8-week home trials, all subjects underwent TMR surgery. During TMR surgery, the ulnar nerve was transferred to the flexor carpi ulnaris muscle and the median nerve was transferred to either the flexor digitorum superficialis or brachioradialis muscle. At least six months post-TMR users returned to ensure a well-fitting socket and prosthesis functionality. Additional OT training was provided including reassessing the chosen grips and number of grips prior to users completing an additional 8-week home trial with pattern recognition control: PR post-TMR.

The outcome measures completed at the end of each home trial included the Box and Blocks Test, Jebsen-Taylor Hand Function Test, AM-ULA, and the Southampton Hand Assessment Procedure (Figure 2) (Note: participant number 8's post-TMR outcome measures were excluded from analysis. His 8-week home trial began just prior to the start of the Covid-19 pandemic and he was unable to return to the laboratory for outcome measures testing until an additional 5 weeks following his home trial. During this time gap he was only wearing his prescribed prosthesis as confirmed by no usage logged on the study arm.). Means and standard deviations were used to compare outcome measurement scores and number of grips selected between DC Pre-TMR, PR Pre-TMR, and PR Post-TMR.

Subject	Gender	Age	Years Post Amputation	Etiology	Home Prosthesis		Pre-TMR Testing Order
					Myoelectric Control	Terminal Device	
1	Male	29	1.5	Trauma	Coapt Pattern Recognition	Bebionic Hand	DC, PR
2	Male	39	3	Trauma	Direct Control	Bebionic Hand, Motion Control ETD	DC, PR
3	Female	48	12	Trauma	Coapt Pattern Recognition	Bebionic Hand, Motion Control ETD	PR, DC
4	Male	31	1	Trauma	Direct Control	Ottobock Michelangelo Hand	PR, DC
5	Male	42	1	Trauma	Direct Control	Ottobock Sensorspeed Hand, Motion Control ETD	DC, PR
6	Male	53	12	Trauma	Direct Control	i-limb, Ottobock Sensorspeed Hand	DC, PR
7	Male	58	1	Trauma	Direct Control	Motion Control ETD	PR, DC
*8	Male	29	1.5	Trauma	Direct Control	Bebionic Hand, Motion Control ETD2	DC, PR

Table 1: Participant Demographics

PR: pattern recognition; DC: direct control, * PR Post-TMR home trial and outcome measures not included as indicated above.



Figure 1:*a*: examples of functional training task. *b*: Performing a task from the AM-ULA *c*: Performing a task from the Jebsen TaylorHand Function Test. *d*: Performing a task from SHAP.



Pre-TMR DC Pre-TMR PR Post-TMR PR

Figure 3: *Top Row*: Jebsen Hand Function Test and AM-ULA: statistically significant improvement in performance was found between DC Pre-TMR & PR Post-TMR conditions. *Bottom Row*: Box and Blocks Test and SHAP Test: no statistical difference in performance was found between conditions.*Data from participant 8 was not included in Post-TMR PR analysis.

RESULTS

For the number of grips selected, participants were able to access an average of 4.75 (SD = .46) grips in DC Pre-TMR, and 3.63 (SD = .52) grips for PR Pre-TMR. For PR Post-TMR participants had an average of 4.14 grips (SD = .69). There was a statistically significant improvement in Jebsen-Taylor Hand Function test scores (Figure 3) (P = .026) and the AM-ULA scores (Figure 3) (P = .034) between DC and PR post-TMR but not the between PR pre-TMR and PR Post-TMR scores. Therewas no statistical difference in the Box and Blocks Test scores (p > .05) (Figure 3) or the SHAP scores (p > .05) (Figure 3) between DC, PR pre-TMR or PR Post-TMR. Although this study found no statistical differences between all pairwise comparisons, there was a trend showing DC with lower performance, followed by PR pre-TMR, with the highest performancewith PR post-TMR.

DISCUSSION

Both the Jebsen Taylor Hand Function Test and the AM-ULA showed a statistically significant improvement between DC Pre-TMR and PR Post-TMR. The AM-ULA is not a timed test so participants likely took their time to select better grips for each task. This reduced issues of difficulty to achieve certain grips. However, this assessment does score on speed of completing each task, skillfulness with the prosthesis, and quality of movement (including compensatory movements). This may indicate that individuals had improved overall skill with grip selection and using their prosthesis during functional tasks post-TMR.

The SHAP test has a variety of tasks to encourage a variety of grips to be used. However, if a participant had a challenging time achieving some of the desired grasps, likely they ended up utilizing a non-optimal grip for some of the tasks. This may have forced compensatory movements to complete the task, take longer to complete the task, or possibly not be able to do the task [8]. For example, if they were using fine pinch for a task that required power grip such as holding a jar. Because the Box and Blocks test requires only open and close of the hand and no changing of grips is needed we did not expect to see a statistical difference between control conditions or before or after TMR surgery.

Although participants had access to the number of grips they were able to control while in the clinic with the occupational therapist, during outcomes testing some participants stayed in the same grasp no matter what task they were performing due to difficulty switching or not wanting to bother switching to another grip. For example, in DC, if the user had difficulty doing a trigger reliably (such as triple impulse), they might not use the grip assigned to that trigger often, though they might use an easier trigger (such as hold open). While subjects were provided training prior to and (as necessary) during the home trial during outcomes testing, additional training or reassessment of control of grips may have improved outcome scores.

A limitation of the current results is that it is difficult to distinguish whether participants improved with PR post-TMR due to having more experience with the hand or whether TMR did improve their control. It is clear that control was not impacted negatively with TMR and anecdotally most participants reported decreased pain similar to a recent study [9]. This study also had a low number of participants. Given the year-long commitment, requirement to undergo TMR surgery, and participate in three 8-week home trials, recruitment for this study was difficult. Another limitation is that all the participants received the same amount of training on the device and the control strategy, however some could have benefited from additional therapy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health NIH R01HD081525.

AUTHOR DISCLOSURE

Coapt LLC, which manufactures the devices being tested in this research, has a technology transfer and license agreement with the Shirley Ryan AbilityLab. Drs. Kuiken and Hargrove are responsible for the design, conduct, and reporting of this research and also have ownership interests in Coapt LLC. These interests have been fully disclosed to Shirley Ryan AbilityLab and Northwestern University and a conflict management plan is in place.

- [1] T. A. Kuiken, G. A. Dumanian, R. D. Lipschutz, L. A. Miller, and K. A. Stubblefield, "Targeted muscle reinnervation for improved myoelectric prosthesis control," Conference Proceedings. 2nd International IEEE EMBS Conference on Neural Engineering, 2005, Arlington, VA, pp. 396-399, 2005
- [2] T. R. Dillingham, L. E. Pezzin, and E. J. MackKenzie, "Limb amputation and limb definciency: Epidemiology and recent trends in the United States," South Med J, vol. 95, no. 8, pp.875-883, 2002.
- T. A. Kuiken, G. Li, B. A. Lock, R. D. Lipschutz, L. A. Miller, K. A. Stubblefield, and K. B. Englehart, "Targeted muscle reinnervation for real-time myoelectric control of multifunction artificial arms," JAMA, vol. 301, no. 6, pp. 619-628, 2009.
- [4] T. A. Kuiken, L. A. Miller, K. Turner, L. J. Hargrove, "A comparison of pattern recognition control and direct control of a multiple degree of freedom transradial prosthesis," IEEE J Transl Eng Health Med, vol. 22, 2100508, 2016.
- L. J. Hargrove, L. A. Miller, K. Turner, and T. A. Kuiken, "Myoelectric pattern recognition outperforms direct control for transhumeral amputees with targeted muscle reinnervation: A randomized control trial," *Sci Rep*, 7, 13840, 2017. [5]
- OSSUR, Touch Solutions iLimb Ultra Revolution. https://www.ossur.com/prosthetic-solutions/products/touch-solutions/i-limb-ultra. [6]
- Coapt LLC, COMPLETE CONTROL. https://www.coaptengineering.com/technology.html. [7]
- A. Hussaini, A. Zinck, and P. Kyberd, "Categorization of compensatory motions in transradial myoelectric prosthesis users," Prosthetics and Orthotics [8] *Iternational*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 286-293. G. A. Dumanian, et al., "Targeted muscle reinnervation treats neuroma and phantom pain in major limb amputees: A randomized clinical trial," *Annals*
- [9] of Surgery, vol. 270, no. 2, pp. 238-246, 2019.

SKILL ACQUISITION IN PROSTHESIS FORCE CONTROL WITH SUPPLEMENTARY EMG FEEDBACK

Pranav Mamidanna^{1, *}, Shima Gholinezhad^{1, *}, Jakob Lund Dideriksen¹ & Strahinja Dosen¹ ¹ Department of Health Science and Technology, Aalborg University, Denmark * Equal Contribution

ABSTRACT

Supplementary feedback interfaces for myoelectric prostheses enable users to learn, plan and execute the movements for controlling their prostheses. The ability to execute these movements reliably and accurately – 'skill,' can be studied by assessing speed-accuracy trade-offs (SAF). Here we used the SAF framework to empirically investigate skill acquisition with a closed-loop interface that uses EMG feedback, during a functional prosthesis force-control task. Preliminary results suggest that over 3 days the SAF shifts vertically upwards, while its shape remains consistent. Faster grasping remained less accurate compared to when participants used the supplementary feedback to carefully guide their behavior. We believe that studying the SAF not only enables us to quantify skill acquisition or learning effects, but also to more broadly understand the performance characteristics of closed-loop user-prosthesis interfaces.

INTRODUCTION

Force control is a fundamental problem in the field of myoelectric prostheses. Various control and feedback interfaces have been developed to improve the robustness of grasping with prostheses. Many of the control interfaces require users to learn novel ways of contracting their muscles to control the devices, and several (supplementary) feedback interfaces have been developed to promote learning and execution of these contractions [1 - 3]. However, how users acquire this skill, operationally defined as reliable and accurate movement execution [4], has not been thoroughly investigated in the literature.

Speed-accuracy trade-off (SAF) is a well-known behavioural phenomenon and provides a framework to study motor skill acquisition [4 - 6]. Assessing SAF across days enables better understanding of the changes in speed and accuracy that occur through learning, as opposed to just comparing performance improvements (such as success rates), since such performance could be improved simply by decreasing speed, but skill can be inferred only when both speed and accuracy change in the expected direction (faster speed, greater accuracy) [4, 5]. Here, we use this framework to understand how the learning of skilled prosthesis force control is promoted by using an established feedback interface – EMG feedback [3].

Specifically, in this study we investigated learning induced changes in the SAF in prosthesis force control using a functional box-and-blocks task. Participants used a closed-loop interface comprising of simple proportional control and EMG feedback [2] to perform a force matching task (apply a specified force on the blocks) at four different speeds, over 3 days. The four different speeds targets were imposed through time constraints, named Very Fast (0-2s), Fast (1-3s), Medium (2-4s) and Slow (4-8s). They were chosen to (1) sample the SAF appropriately and (2) emulate scenarios where users either rapidly or carefully and slowly modulate their muscle contractions to apply a desired force with their prostheses. Thereby, we assessed the SAF across days, to understand if/how participants' skill changed with practice and discussed the potential implications regarding (closed-loop) prosthesis interface design.





Figure 1: Experimental setup. (A) Experimental setup shows a participant using (1) 2-dry EMG electrodes and (2) 5 vibrotactors to perform a modified box-and-blocks task over 3 days. (B) Spatial coding scheme to convey EMG biofeedback through vibrotactors. (C) Force and speed targets (restrictions) for the task, used to derive a speed-accuracy trade-off.

Figure 2: Learning induced changes in the Speed-Accuracy Trade-off. Success rates achieved across speed targets (very fast, fast, medium, and slow) are plotted against the measured reach time in the corresponding condition.

METHODS

Participants

Five healthy able-bodied participants (age: 24.8 ± 1.6) naïve to the task were recruited. All participants signed an informed consent form in accordance with the Research Ethics Committee of the Nordjylland Region (N-20190036).

Experimental Setup

The experimental setup is shown in Figure 1(A). Two dry-EMG electrodes (OttoBock 13E200) were positioned, one each on the wrist flexors and extensors, located by palpating. A small ink mark was made on both locations to ensure the placement remained similar on all days of the experiment. Five vibrotactors (C3, EAI Inc.) were placed equidistantly around a cross-section of the upper arm. Participants donned a wrist immobilization splint and a bypass socket holding the prosthesis (Michelangelo Hand Prosthesis, OttoBock GmBH). The electrodes output the linear envelope of EMG, sampled by the prosthesis controller at 100 Hz and transmitted to a laptop PC. Based on the received signal, the PC activated the vibration motors to implement EMG feedback to the user, and to transmit commands for the closing and opening of the prosthesis.

Participants used isometric wrist flexion to proportionally control (through a piecewise linear mapping) the closing speed of the hand. The maximum closing velocity corresponded to 50% of maximum voluntary contraction of the flexor activation. Hand opening was triggered by reaching 20% MVC of the wrist extensor activation. The boundaries of the piecewise linear mapping containing 6 levels (Figure 1(B)) between EMG commands and prosthesis velocity were chosen such that (1) the width of discrete levels increased at higher contractions to compensate for the inherent variations in the EMG signal at higher contractions, and (2) there was a one-to-one mapping between the participants' EMG commands and the prosthesis force levels. Participants received discretized vibrotactile feedback of their EMG commands through a spatial coding scheme (Figure 1(B), [7]). In this setup, the EMG feedback enables predictive control of prosthesis grasping force. To achieve the desired force level (from 1 to 6), the participants needed to modulate their muscle contraction to reach the desired EMG level as indicated by the feedback. Due to the one-to-

one mapping, the force level attainted after the closing would correspond to the EMG level maintained by the participant.

Experimental Protocol

The experiment was conducted over three consecutive days. On each day, we first measured the participants' MVC to calibrate the proportional control interface, followed by a familiarization phase for both control and feedback interfaces (see [7]). Then, a brief visually guided coaching phase was performed in which the participants were instructed how to modulate their muscle contractions at different speeds relevant to the task.

The participants performed a force-matching task, where they picked up blocks by applying a target force (level 3 or 5) and transported it into an adjacently placed box (Figure 1(A, C)). Additionally, they had to perform the task at specified speeds: Very Fast (0-2s), Fast (1-3s), Medium (2-4s) and Slow (4-8s), with the help of a timer (shown as a bar to them, Figure 1(A)). Participants performed 6 blocks of 32 trials each ([4 repetitions x 2 target levels] x 4 speed conditions), with a self-chosen period of rest between the blocks. The targets were presented in a block-randomized fashion, where the speed target remained constant for 8 trials, within which the force targets were randomized. Each trial started with a beep notification, followed by displaying the target force and target speed for the trial. The participants then used the closed-loop interface to generate appropriate EMG commands to reach the required target force. However, they needed to do this by respecting the timing constraint - if the target force was achieved before or after the indicated time window, the trial was considered failed. Upon reaching the target force, they were instructed to relax and trigger hand opening. After the end of each trial, they received visual feedback about their success/failure in both target force and speed. The same protocol was repeated on all three days.

Outcome Measures and Data Analysis

The EMG commands and the force generated by the prosthesis were recorded for each trial. We defined 'reach time' as the time elapsed between start of the trial and the time at which the maximum force was reached during the trial. Thereby, a successful trial was one in which the maximum force was within the target level and the reach time satisfied the target speed. Thereby, success rates – calculated as % successful trials – were computed to evaluate differences in learning across days. Mean and standard deviation of the success rates are reported.

RESULTS

Preliminary results indicate a clear speed-accuracy trade-off in prosthesis force control with a closed-loop interface, and a significant improvement across days for all speed conditions. Participants started with a performance ranging from $65 \pm 13\%$ (Very Fast) to $77 \pm 4\%$ (Slow) on Day 1 and improved by Day 3 to $76 \pm 11\%$ (Very Fast) and $89 \pm 8\%$ (Slow). Surprisingly, participants improved almost identically across all speeds, except in the Medium condition (Very Fast to Slow: $11 \pm 20\%$, $11 \pm 10\%$, $6 \pm 6\%$ and $11 \pm 9\%$). Improvements from Day 1 to Day 2 ($0.4 \pm 7\%$, $8 \pm 13\%$, $3 \pm 7\%$ and $7 \pm 5\%$) were also larger than the improvements from Day 2 to Day 3, except in the Very Fast condition ($10 \pm 14\%$, $3 \pm 13\%$, $3 \pm 8\%$ and $5 \pm 7\%$).

DISCUSSION

Here we quantified skill acquisition in prosthesis force control using supplementary EMG feedback through changes in the SAF. Building on our previous work [7], we established in the present study that the same (closed-loop) interface, used at different speeds (relating to feedforward vs feedback control policies) yielded very different performance outcomes (here, success rate). The improvement of success rate, observed consistently at all specified speeds (a shift in the SAF itself) is a strong indicator for the improvement in the skill. Such an inference would not have been possible if the performance were sampled only at a single point on the SAF at two separate times (before and after practise, for example). In this case, if the accuracy and speed did not change in expected direction, it would be hard to say if the skill improved, or if the difference in performance was due to sampling the same SAF curve in two different points. Therefore, deriving the SAF enables a more holistic understanding of the range of performance afforded by a particular interface. Moreover, we observed that despite training, the trade-off exists between speed and

accuracy, and that the shape of the SAF did not appreciably change, further indicating that SAF is a practically useful framework to quantify how closed-loop interfaces enable users to develop flexible control policies.

While speed-accuracy framework has been used by the prosthesis community, in terms of the Fitts' Law task, here we use a more general formulation applicable to tasks other than pointing or its derivates. The next step in the present research is to increase the subject pool in order to conduct more systematic analysis. Future work can utilize the framework of SAF to evaluate the effect of different (feedback) interfaces on learning, and to understand how different interfaces might enable users not just to have different performance, but different trade-offs.

- Sensinger, J.W. and Dosen, S., "A review of sensory feedback in upper-limb prostheses from the perspective of human motor control," Frontiers in neuroscience, vol. 14, pp.345, 2020.
- [2] Svensson, P., Wijk, U., Björkman, A. and Antfolk, C., "A review of invasive and non-invasive sensory feedback in upper limb prostheses," *Expert review of medical devices*, vol. 14 (6), pp.439-447, 2017.
- [3] Dosen, S., Markovic, M., Somer, K., Graimann, B. and Farina, D., "EMG Biofeedback for online predictive control of grasping force in a myoelectric prosthesis," J Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation, 12 (1), pp.1-13, 2015.
- [4] Kitago, T. and Krakauer, J.W., "Motor learning principles for neurorehabilitation," Handb. Clin. Neurol., vol. 110, pp. 93–103, 2013.
- [5] Shmuelof, L., Krakauer, J.W. and Mazzoni, P., "How is a motor skill learned? Change and invariance at the levels of task success and trajectory control," *J Neurophysiology*, vol. 108 (2), pp.578-594, 2012.
- [6] Reis, J., et.al., "Noninvasive cortical stimulation enhances motor skill acquisition over multiple days through an effect on consolidation," Proc. of the National Academy of Sciences, 106 (5), pp.1590-1595, 2009.
- [7] Mamidanna, P., Dideriksen J.L., and Dosen, S., "The impact of objective functions on control policies in closed-loop control of grasping force with a myoelectric prosthesis," J. Neural Engineering, vol. 18 (5), 2021.

TOWARD SEMI-AUTONOMOUS PROSTHETIC HAND CONTROL: APPLYING EMBEDDED NEURAL NETWORKS TO IMPROVE SENSOR FUSION IN PROSTHETIC FINGERTIP SENSORS

¹Ben Pulver, ²Sarah Aguasvivas Manzano, ²Aaron Selnick, ¹Serena Kishek, ¹Levin Sliker, ²Nikolaus Correll, ²Jacob Segil

¹Point Designs LLC, ²University of Colorado Boulder

ABSTRACT

We present an application of embedded, real-time neural network predictions to produce reliable sensing and enable semi-autonomous control of a prosthetic hand with embedded tactile sensors at the fingertips. We simultaneously predict the force magnitude and the position of contact, requiring on average 32.8ms, thereby enabling real-time measurements. We demonstrate 97.2% offline classification accuracy on the contact position, and a root mean squared error of 1.38 N (mean absolute error of 0.68 N) in predicting the force magnitude. Neural networking training is performed off-line on a Desktop computer using Keras and compiled into efficient C-code for a nrf52840 microcontroller using the open-source tool "nn4mc." The training model, as well as the nn4mc compiler, are available online, allowing prosthetic engineers to incorporate real-time, sensor-based inference into their prosthetic design.

INTRODUCTION

Approximately 60,000 people live with major upper-limb amputations in the United States [1]. Many individuals opt to use a prosthetic device to restore some level of functionality. A variety of myoelectric prosthetic hands are now available, including multi-functional devices that can achieve different grasp patterns [2]. However, without sensory feedback, these advanced devices are lacking compared to intact limbs. This is why older technologies like body-powered devices, which do provide some sensory feedback, continue to be commonly used [3].

Adding sensory feedback to myoelectric devices can allow for semi-autonomous control, where the control is shared between the human and the device [4]–[6]. Prior methods relied on data that occurred after contact with an object [7]–[9] or extrinsic camera systems [6]. The Point Touch fingertip sensors enable three-phased control which depends on where the prosthetic device is relative to a nearby object. Myoelectric control systems are used for direct volitional control of the hand. Then, autonomous functions pre-contact and post-contact are enabled using proximity and force detection within the fingertip sensors. This future effort will be built upon the developments presented here.

Amputees can benefit from receiving haptic feedback on the localization of contact in order to obtain finer contextual information on the grasping task being performed [10]. Here, we present current developments on onboard neural network predictions with the help of the *nn4mc* compiler¹[11]. We simultaneously predict force magnitude and region of contact at the fingertip based on barometric and infrared sensor signals. The model used for prediction is embedded into the microcontroller that collects sensor data. This eliminates overhead in communication, increases the safety and security of the user's raw sensor data, and enables prosthetic engineers and designers to embed advanced predictions that can be computed at lower latencies.

BACKGROUND

The Point Touch is a novel multimodal tactile sensor that consists of an infrared proximity sensor and a barometric pressure sensor embedded in an elastomer layer [12]. Signals from both sensors measure proximity (0-10 mm), contact (0 N), and force (0-50N) which can be utilized in a variety of ways. The barometer provides a reliable force measurement for neural interfaces when restoring the sense of touch [12]. The proximity sensor presents a new possibility of using prosthetic fingers to "see" the world around them.

¹ https://nn4mc.com



Figure 1: (a) The Point Touch integrated into the Bebionic hand. (b) High-level sensor architecture (c) Sensor response when a small piece of cotton is dropped onto the sensor and pressed.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Procedure

Our approach consists of three steps: data collection, neural network training, and deployment of the neural network model on a microcontroller that collects sensor signals from the fingertip.



Figure 2: (a) Data collection setup using a universal test machine and a custom-made pillow for the fingertip sensor. (b) Experimental setup to collect real-time prediction results from the fingertip.

We collect force data and sensor signal data from a universal testing machine (UTM) (Universal Testing Machine, MTS Systems). A custom compression test up to 50N is conducted via positional control of the UTM (see Figure 2a). We zero the position of the tip of the UTM when mild contact occurs with the surface of the fingertip elastomeric material. The material is met with a 5mm externally threaded surgical steel ball (Steel Balls, Prjndjw Jewelry). Then, the force is recorded at the PC (Instron TW Elite on Windows) that controls the UTM machine and the barometric and infrared sensor data is collected directly from the fingertip board. Figure 2b displays the experimental setup to collect real-time results. A set of three dead weights where each mass is placed in a direction normal to the fingertip sensor area. Figures 4a–4e are extracted using the experimental setup in Figure 2b.

Algorithm Design and Implementation

We keep a window of 30 data samples at a time. This window behaves like a double-ended queue (deque): when each of the fingertip samples is collected for both barometric and infrared sensor data, the front of the deque is pushed with the most recent sensor data samples, whereas the last sample in the window is deleted.



Figure 3: Neural network model; the architecture is interpreted from left to right.

The neural network model begins with a 1-dimensional convolutional layer with 16 filters and a kernel of size 2. We add a 1-dimensional max-pooling layer with a pool size of 3 and 3 strides. The output is then reshaped into a row vector. A gated recurrent unit (GRU) of 20 units of output takes the row vector and feeds its output to a fully-connected

(FC) layer with a rectified linear unit (ReLU) that outputs 10 units. The output of this layer is copied into two other FC layers: a one-neuron-wide FC hyperbolic tangent layer that outputs the normalized values for force and a 6-unit-wide FC layer with a softmax activation function that outputs the probability density function of the region of touch. The neural architecture is shown in Figure 3. The GRU is needed to trace temporal information through the recurrent layer's internal memory [13]. The output of this neural network is a 7-element vector $\mathbf{v} = \{v_0, v_1, \dots, v_6\}$, where each value is between -1 and 1. This is then mapped back into force in Newtons and elements $\{v_1, \dots, v_6\}$ indicate values between 0 and 1. Here, $v_i = 0$ indicates a value of 1 of the region *i* having any external contact and $v_i = 1$ means a high likelihood of the region *i* having any force applied to it.

For training, a 5-fold time series is split and each split trains using a batch size of 50 samples and for 20 epochs. The offline testing set results for location of contact are displayed in Figure 4a. We use a mean-squared-error loss for the part of the neural network that is learning normalized force magnitude and a categorical cross-entropy loss for the part of the neural network that is predicting the localization of contact.

The deployment of the neural network into the microcontroller is done through *nn4mc* [11], an open-source compiler that generates C code to be flashed to the low-power microcontroller that controls the fingertip sensors. This compiler allows for a lightweight and easy-to-integrate set of code. When profiled, the *nn4mc*-generated code achieves an average of 32.8 ms to perform each forward pass, which fits properly with the overall 16 Hz sampling frequency of the rest of the firmware at the embedded platform.

RESULTS

Figures 4a shows the raw barometric response of the sensor to an applied load. Figure 4b shows real-time results for force prediction in Newtons. From this data, we compute a root mean squared error of 1.38 N and mean absolute error of 0.68 N. Figure 4c shows the offline testing set region detection error. Regions 4 and 6 yield the maximum error with a failure rate of 6% and Region 3 yields the minimum error with a failure rate of 0%. For the probability of the location of contact, we truncate values above 50% as a positive contact prediction and values below 50% as a negative contact prediction.



Figure 4: (a) Raw barometric signal after applied load. (b) Real-time onboard force prediction results using three dead weights. (c) Confusion matrix representing offline classification performance.

DISCUSSION

Figure 4a shows the raw barometric sensor responding to changes in the applied pressure prior to the predictions made by the neural network. Figure 4b shows the predictions for force to have an average absolute error of 0.68 Newtons, which comes mostly from the transient response to the finger being exposed to a 500-gram weight and human error when placing this weight. If we scale this error to the maximum force tested in the experiment illustrated

in this figure, we obtain an approximate of 13.6%, which exceeds the allowable tolerance of less than 5% of error in the force prediction. These results can be improved by refining the data collection experiment.

For the contact localization, we observe that the regions located at the distal half of the fingertip yield the highest performing predictions. This corresponds to the actual location of the sensors on the PCB, as shown in Figure 1b. In the future, we wish to test whether this data is sufficient for a semi-autonomous control paradigm for prosthetic hands, which will inform how to further improve the proposed design and machine learning architecture.

CONCLUSION

We demonstrated measuring force and proximity measurements within a commercially available prosthetic finger. We used an embedded, real-time neural network to predict force values and classify where the forces are imparted on the fingertip sensor. The combination of force, proximity, and spatial location data in an onboard embedded processor provide an opportunity for real-time control of prosthetic devices in a new fashion, in particular sharing control of a myoelectric prosthetic hand between the prosthetic user and the robotic device. Future work will implement a three-phased myoelectric control system followed by testing with able-bodied subjects and amputees.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We'd like to thank Rachel Sharpe for the assistance using the Instron UTM machine at the Integrated Teaching and Learning Laboratory (ITLL). We'd like to thank the Air Force Office of Scientific Research (Grant No. 83875-11094) and the National Institute of Biomedical Imaging And Bioengineering of the National Institutes of Health Award Number (Grant No. R41EB032723). We'd also like to thank the entire *nn4mc* development team at CU Boulder.

- K. Ziegler-Graham, E. J. MacKenzie, P. L. Ephraim, T. G. Travison, and R. Brookmeyer, "Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050.," *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, vol. 89, no. 3, pp. 422–9, Mar. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2007.11.005.
- [2] J. T. Belter, J. L. Segil, A. M. Dollar, and R. F. Weir, "Mechanical design and performance specifications of anthropomorphic prosthetic hands: a review," *Journal of rehabilitation research and development*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 599–618, Aug. 2013.
- [3] P. D. Marasco, K. Kim, J. E. Colgate, M. A. Peshkin, and T. A. Kuiken, "Robotic touch shifts perception of embodiment to a prosthesis in targeted reinnervation amputees," *Brain*, vol. 134, no. 3, pp. 747–758, Mar. 2011, doi: 10.1093/brain/awq361.
- [4] A. L. Edwards *et al.*, "Application of real-time machine learning to myoelectric prosthesis control: A case series in adaptive switching," *Prosthetics and orthotics international*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 573–581, 2016.
- [5] S. Došen, C. Cipriani, M. Kostić, M. Controzzi, M. C. Carrozza, and D. B. Popović, "Cognitive vision system for control of dexterous prosthetic hands: experimental evaluation," *Journal of neuroengineering and rehabilitation*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–14, 2010.
- [6] K. Z. Zhuang *et al.*, "Shared human–robot proportional control of a dexterous myoelectric prosthesis," *Nature Machine Intelligence*, vol. 1, no. 9, pp. 400–411, 2019.
- [7] G. Puchhammer, "The tactile slip sensor: Integration of a miniaturized sensory device on an myoelectric hand," Orthopadie-Technik Quarterly, vol. 1, no. 2000, pp. 7–12, 2000.
- [8] E. D. Engeberg and S. G. Meek, "Adaptive sliding mode control for prosthetic hands to simultaneously prevent slip and minimize deformation of grasped objects," *IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 376–385, 2011.
- [9] J. S. Hebert *et al.*, "Quantitative eye gaze and movement differences in visuomotor adaptations to varying task demands among upperextremity prosthesis users," *JAMA network open*, vol. 2, no. 9, pp. e1911197–e1911197, 2019.
- [10] D. W. Tan, M. A. Schiefer, M. W. Keith, J. R. Anderson, J. Tyler, and D. J. Tyler, "A neural interface provides long-term stable natural touch perception," *Science Translational Medicine*, vol. 6, no. 257, pp. 257ra138-257ra138, Oct. 2014, doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008669.
- [11] S. A. Manzano, D. Hughes, C. Simpson, R. Patel, and N. Correll, "Embedded neural networks for robot autonomy," arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.03848, 2019.
- [12] J. Segil, R. Patel, J. Klingner, R. F. ff Weir, and N. Correll, "Multi-modal prosthetic fingertip sensor with proximity, contact, and force localization capabilities," *Advances in Mechanical Engineering*, vol. 11, no. 4, p. 1687814019844643, 2019.
- J. Chung, C. Gulcehre, K. Cho, and Y. Bengio, "Empirical evaluation of gated recurrent neural networks on sequence modeling," arXiv preprint arXiv:1412.3555, 2014.

VOICE RECOGNITION CONTROL OF A MULTI-ARTICULATING HAND FOR IMPROVED GRASP SELECTION

Benjamin McDonald¹; Craig Kelly¹, Jen Johansson¹, Sam Lambrecht¹, Debra Latour, OTD,² Brianna Rozell¹, Todd Farrell, Ph.D.¹

¹Liberating Technologies, Inc. – A College Park Company ²Single Handed Solutions

ABSTRACT

About half of upper-limb (UL) amputees do not wear a prosthesis. This is, in part, related to an inability to take full functional advantage of the prosthesis. To help address this issue, we have developed the Voice Activated Prosthesis Interface (VAPI) to allow individuals to supplement their conventional control with voice commands. Specifically, this study targeted accessing multiple grip patterns in multi-articulating hands. Data from amputee test subjects is reported showing an improvement in the time to complete tasks, more accurate grip selection, and reduced frustration with the prosthesis when using the voice recognition technology compared to standard myoelectric control.

INTRODUCTION

It is generally agreed that only about half of upper-limb (UL) amputees wear a prosthesis [1,2]. This is often because the prosthesis does not return enough function for the burdens of weight, discomfort, non-cosmetic appearance, lack of durability, etc. [3]. One primary reason for the lack of prosthesis acceptance is the inability to control the device effectively. Difficulties with control result because multiple prosthetic joints are being controlled with a limited number of inputs from the user. The issue becomes even greater with more proximal amputation as there are even more joints to control with even fewer inputs available.

Current input options for UL amputees are limited and include switches, electromyographic (EMG) inputs from residual musculature, force sensitive resistors, linear transducers, etc. In addition, many amputees don't have the ability to use these inputs effectively (e.g., muscle atrophy can lead to unusable EMG signals). Also, conditions such as traumatic brain injury or other cognitive deficits can make it difficult to understand and produce reliable input signals. Even for proficient users, most current control strategies often require sequential control of the various system joints.

The lack of independent and intuitive control inputs also leads to existing complex prosthetic mechanisms being underutilized. For example, in recent years there have been substantial advancements in prosthetic mechanisms such as multi-articulating hands (Figure 1). These hands have the ability to produce dozens of different grip patterns that can be selected based upon the task being performed. However, grasp pattern selection can be complex and difficult to understand. Therefore, most users only utilize a maximum of four hand grasps due to the difficulty in reliably switching between grip patterns.

VOICE ACTIVATED PROSTHESIS INTERFACE

Upper limb amputees are looking for solutions that allow them to regain the function they lost after their amputation. To address this need, Liberating Technologies, Inc. (LTI) has developed the Voice Activated Prosthesis Interface (VAPI) controller which incorporates the ability for the amputee to use their voice to generate control signals for their prosthesis.

Speech is the most natural and highest bandwidth mode of communication for humans [4]. Therefore, we aim to augment



Figure 1: Prototype VAPI with iLimb Hand

users current control schemes with the addition of their voice as a new input modality. Using this approach, VAPI has the ability to access larger numbers of grip patterns within multi-articulating hands as well as fluidly perform tasks that require coordinated sequential movements of multiple prosthetic joints, such as opening a door.

LTI has prototyped a fully embedded and stand-alone VAPI controller (Figure 1) to demonstrate feasibility of the concept. The current phase of research has been focused on developing three major components of the VAPI system: (1) the 'command interpreter' which interprets the commands through the voice recognition engine; (2) the 'command sequencer' which determines what control signals to generate based on the voice command; and (3) at the output controller to drive the terminal device (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Voice Activated Prosthesis Interface (VAPI) quick disconnect controller architecture.

As demonstrated in Figure 2 the VAPI is used in addition to the user's standard EMG signals, with the control sequencer determining if the EMG or voice inputs will control the terminal device. The VAPI system uses a trigger word to 'wake up' the voice recognition module (e.g., 'Alexa...') which then listens for the command word. This helps to reduce accidental activation of the prosthesis. After receiving the voice command, the VAPI produces the necessary command signal to elicit a grip change in the hand. Control is then relinquished back to the EMG sensors for the user to open or close the hand after the correct grasp pattern has been achieved.

VOICE COMMANDS AND RECOGNITION ACCURACY

With our partners at eSoftThings and Sensory, Inc., we developed a series of phonetically distinct command sets to test to determine which would produce the highest classification accuracy. Preliminary tests had six subjects perform five trials of each word in eleven different command sets. Figure 3 demonstrates that we were able to elicit up to 98% recognition accuracy for two of the command sets (#2). The command set that was selected for future testing included the command words: "finger pinch," "power grip," "tripod," "key grip," "hand," and "wrist," with the latter two being used to toggle between hand and wrist control.





FUNCTIONAL OUTCOMES TESTING

<u>Methods:</u> We performed a set of standardized functional outcomes measures including the University of New Brunswick (UNB) Test of Prosthesis Function. While this test was originally intended for children, there has been shown to have acceptable reliability and preliminary evidence of validity for adults [5]. In addition to the UNB, we worked with our study Occupation Therapist (OT), Dr. Debra Latour, to develop a set of custom tasks that represent activities of daily living (ADL) where multiple grasp patterns may be useful. These included pouring and drinking, dressing tasks (put on sock, tie shoelaces, zip vest), turn doorknob, wrap a package and add written address label, etc.

Ultimately the user needs to generate the appropriate control signals to make the desired grip change. However, users will not always be able to switch into the desired grip pattern at the desired time. This could be due to imprecise muscle coordination (e.g., producing a double impulse when a triple impulse is required, not holding 'hold open' long enough, etc.), fatigue, misinterpreted voice commands, etc. Therefore, in addition to scoring the tests described above, we also tracked how often the subjects were not able to switch into the desired grip (i.e., 'Missed Grips').

Each subject completes the battery of tests either using EMG-only control or EMG with Voice Recognition (VR) control. Each subject was provided with an iLimb Ultra hand and VAPI for testing. In EMG-only mode, the hand was programmed to have four different mode switching commands used to access four different grip patterns within the iLimb (i.e., lateral, 3 jaw chuck closed, cylindrical, and precision pinch closed) via standard EMG switching commands including hold open, double pulse, triple pulse, and co-contraction. To ensure the length and weight of the prostheses were the same in both test conditions, the VAPI was installed, but disabled, during EMG-only control.

The subjects were trained on the VAPI and EMG switching and allowed to practice with each until they indicated they were comfortable with the control. Each subject then completed three trials of each task including both the UNB and custom tasks to simulate activities of daily living (ADLs).

<u>Results:</u> We have tested two subjects with limb loss thus far and testing is currently ongoing. We will have more subjects (both amputee and able-bodied) completed by the conclusion of the research funding in June of 2020. One

subject with limb loss was an experienced two-site EMG user with a Touch Bionics iLimb multiarticulating hand. The other was a novice two-site EMG user with a Steeper beBionic multiarticulating hand. The experienced user was able to complete the full set of tasks three times. Due to fatigue, the novice user was unable to complete the full set of tasks. The novice user fatigued, in part, because the hand used for testing was significantly larger than their usual hand and the subject was unaccustomed to the additional weight.

UNB: Traditionally the UNB focuses on scoring spontaneity and skill. The measure of spontaneity defines a person's tendency and impulse to use their prosthesis effectively when attempting a two-handed task. In determining a person's level of skill, it may be evident that the person is able to perform the requested task but demonstrates the





need for additional training or motivation to refine their abilities when using their prosthesis [6]. Scoring results from the UNB did not show a substantial improvement in spontaneity or skill for VR.

Timing: One of our original hypotheses was that voice recognition control would allow the user to complete their tasks faster. Our experienced user demonstrated that they were able to complete the tasks 35% faster (13.3 seconds to 8.6 seconds) when using voice recognition (Figure 4).

Missed Grips: The experienced two-site myoelectric user that completed the full three rounds of testing was observed

to have made 2.8 times more grip switching mistakes when using EMG-only control than when they used voice control (Table 1). These results were consistent across both the UNB and custom tasks. In addition, with EMG-only control, each missed grip would require an additional muscle exertion to achieve the desired grip.

Table 1: Number of Missed Grips per control condition				
	Contr	ol Method	Datio	
	EMG-	EMG +	Katio (EMC only/	
	only	Voice	(ENIG OIII)/ EMC+Voice)	
	Control	Control	ENG+voice)	
Missed Grips	51	18	2.8	

Anecdotal Feedback: Missed grip changes were a substantial source of frustration for both control methods. Survey results demonstrated that both subjects preferred the voice control and had lower frustration levels with VR due to fewer grip transition mistakes. One user reported reduced exertion when using the voice control. Both subjects also reported frustration with the length and weight of the prototype system.

DISCUSSION / CONCLUSION

Preliminary data indicates that voice recognition control of an upper limb prosthesis demonstrated more accurate multi-articulating hand grip selection than standard EMG-control methods. These data also indicated that it is possible to complete tasks more rapidly with voice control.

We believe that as individuals are able to easily and reliably access a greater number of grip patterns, they will be more likely to select the grip pattern that is ideal for the task at hand. With proper grip selection, it is likely that individuals will be able to reduce compensatory movements, which have been shown to lead to long term overuse injuries and joint damage [7].

It should be noted that there are other methods that can be used for selecting grip patterns that were not investigated in this study. These include the use of pattern recognition systems as well as the gesture control built into the iLimb Quantum. While these alternative methods are promising, there is a ceiling to the number of grasps that

can be accessed through these methods. It has been reported anecdotally that pattern recognition can reliably access three to four grip patterns and the gesture control adds four patterns. We plan to compare voice recognition control to these methods in future trials.

FUTURE WORK

Testing of the VAPI system is currently ongoing with three additional amputee subjects and several ablebodied subjects to be completed by June 2020.

In addition to testing the current system, we are continuing to make further technical enhancements to the VAPI system with our current funding. One enhancement is to implement remote microphones, such as lapel or in-ear microphones, to detect and wirelessly transmit the voice commands to the VAPI for processing. This will move the microphone from its current location in the wrist, which has the potential to be interfered with if the individual were to choose to wear clothing such as a heavy, long-sleeved jacket. We will also investigate communicating directly with a multi-articulating hand itself over Bluetooth to be able to access an even larger number of grip patterns.

Finally, we are in the process of developing a new outcome measure specifically designed to assess the ability of individuals to access different grip patterns. We refer to this test at the Grip Switch Assessment (GSA). The GSA was inspired by the Box and Block Test, a commonly used measure to assess unilateral gross manual dexterity. The GSA was designed to measure a user's ability to efficiently switch between multiarticulating hand grips while manipulating simple objects. The assessment involves measuring the time it takes for a user to switch into the proper grip and carry a



Figure 5: A - An able-bodied participant manipulating the first object during a GSA trial. B - A diagram of the table arrangement to administer the GSA for a patient affected in the right arm.

set of objects over a short obstacle (Figure 5). If the patient takes longer than 30 seconds to achieve the proper grip the test administrator will have the patient move onto the next item. This cut-off reduces the continued frustration of the patient and keeps the GSA trial time to under two minutes. The order of the objects is randomized with each trial.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Research reported in this publication was supported by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number R43HD095750. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

- [1] J. Davidson, "A survey of the satisfaction of upper limb amputees with their prostheses, their lifestyles, and their abilities," *Journal of Hand Therapy*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 62–70, Jan. 2002
- [2] K. A. Raichle, M. A. Hanlet, I. Molton, N. J. Kadel, K. Campbell, E. Phelps, D. Ehde, and D. G. Smith, "Prosthesis use in persons with lowerand upper-limb amputation," *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 961–972, Jan. 2008.
- [3] E. A. Biddiss and T. T. Chau, "Upper limb prosthesis use and abandonment: A survey of the last 25 years," Prosthetics and Orthotics International, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 236–257, Oct. 2007.
- [4] D.B Roe, J.G. Wilpon, "Voice communication between humans and machines", *National Academy of Sciences*, 1994.
- [5] L. Resnik, K. Baxter, M. Borgie, K.J. Mathewson, "Is the UNB reliable and valid for adults with upper limb amputation?", *J Hand Ther*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 353-9, 2013.
- [6] Institute of Biomedical Engineering, UNB, "UNB Test of Prosthetics Function: A Test for Unilateral Upper Limb Amputees," University of New Brunswick, 2012. [Online]. Available: https://www.unb.ca/ research/institutes/biomedical/_resources/docs/unb_test_of_prosthetics_function.pdf. [Accessed: 16-Dec-2019].
- [7] C.R. Gambrell, "Overuse Syndome and the Unilateral Upper Limb Amputee: Consequences and Prevention." Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics, Vol. 20, No. 3, pp. 126-132, 2008.



Prosthetic Devices/Materials

A PILOT EVALUATION OF KINEMATIC CHANGES WITH POWERED WRIST FLEXION FOR TRANSRADIAL PROSTHETIC USERS USING THE GAZE AND MOVEMENT ASSESSMENT (GAMA) METRIC

Laura A. Miller, PhD, CP,^{1,2} Quinn A. Boser,³ Vikram Darbhe,^{1,2} Jacqueline S. Hebert, MD,³ Kevin Brenner,¹ Kristi L. Turner, DHS, OTR/L¹

¹ Center for Bionic Medicine, Shirley Ryan AbilityLab, Chicago, IL, USA; ² Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA; ³ University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

ABSTRACT

Wrist function is essential for correct positioning of the hand; however, few available prosthetic wrists provide powered flexion/extension. Users must compensate for this lack of function by performing compensatory body movements that may cause injuries and lead to device abandonment. Using the Gaze and Movement Assessment (GaMA) metric, we evaluated task timing, endpoint trajectories and 3D angular joint kinematics when using a 1-DOF wrist compared to a 2-DOF wrist in combination with a 1-DOF hand. We hypothesized that with the 2-DOF wrist, kinematics would be more similar to normative data and that users would perform fewer compensatory movements than when using the 1-DOF wrist.

INTRODUCTION

During the past decade, terminal devices available to upper limb prosthesis users have improved significantly, to the point where several powered multi-degree-of-freedom (DOF) hands that provide individually articulating fingers are commercially available. Such devices have the potential to significantly improve functionality; however, movement of the wrist to correctly position the hand in space is necessary for optimal functional use of the arm and hand [1]. Work by Montagnani et al. highlighted the importance of wrist dexterity [2]. In this work, individuals with intact limbs performed several functional tasks while wearing braces to block use of certain wrist and hand DOFs. Subjects performed poorest using a 1-DOF wrist + 1-DOF hand and best using an intact, unconstrained hand and wrist. Interestingly, performance with a 2-DOF wrist + 1-DOF hand and a 1-DOF wrist + multi-DOF hand were equivalent, indicating the importance of wrist movement in compensating for limited hand function.

Evaluating the benefit of new components and control mechanisms can be challenging, as most validated outcome measures assess the time required to complete various tasks without assessing the quality of the movement or the specific DOF(s) activated to accomplish the task. The Gaze and Movement Assessment (GaMA) metric, developed



Figure 1: a) Device used for the study. b) Participant wearing the device, in "home" position, ready to begin the Cup Transfer Task.

and validated at the University of Alberta under the DARPA's Hand Proprioception and Touch Interfaces (HAPTIX) program, quantifies motion (three-dimensional angular kinematics and hand movements) and gaze behaviour during simulated real-world tasks [3-6]. The two tasks utilized for the GaMA, the Cup Transfer Task and the Pasta Box Task, require movements representing day-to-day functional requirements, while challenging typical prosthetic limitations such as reaching and transporting objects at varying heights and across the body, with elements of risk and collision avoidance (Fig. 1b). Each task can be subdivided into specific phases of reaching, grasping, transporting and releasing objects. A performance aspect encourages the participant to work efficiently, and tasks are short to allow multiple repetitions within a reasonable testing time frame to assess performance consistency.

A powerful aspect of GaMA data analysis is the ability to assess differences across various phases of each movement and each task. These results provide valuable information not only on proximal joint and body compensatory movements, but on control of the terminal device and motor variability. We hypothesized that the time to complete the task would be slower when the additional wrist flexion/extension degree of freedom was utilized but the compensatory movements, specifically the trunk and shoulder, would be decreased.

METHODS

One individual, a 73-year-old male individual with a transradial level amputation, was fit with a 2DOF wrist and OttoBock Transcarpal hand (Figure 1a). The wrist allows for 351 degrees of rotation and 100.5 total degrees of flexion (58 degrees) and extension (42.5 degrees). The prosthetic components were connected to a test socket, which was fit with an Ossur upper limb silicone liner and a lanyard suspension (Figure 1b).

Marker plates were placed on the upper arm, forearm, dorsal hand, trunk, and pelvis and individual markers were placed on the index finger and thumb. The participant wore Pupil Labs Core eye-tracking system, with 4 additional markers connected to the frame for tracking of head movements. Markers were placed on the wrist, epicondyles and torso for calibration. After calibration, the participant was instructed how to perform the task and was able to practice, with guidance from an Occupational Therapist, prior to data collection. The task, performed standing, was the Cup Transfer Task of the Gaze and Movement Assessment (GaMA) [3]. During the Cup Transfer Task, a cup close to the participant was first picked up from the top and moved across a divider (M1). Then a second cup, further from the participant, was picked up from the side and moved across the divider (M2). The two cups were then returned to the original position, in the reverse order (M3 and M4). In between moving the cups from one side of the divider to the other, the hand returned to a "home" position on the side of the table. During the practice and data collection session, the device was controlled by an engineer connected to the system via a bluetooth connection. As the user practiced and performed the task, he verbally indicated to the engineer his desired movements. This strategy reduced the impact of inadvertent movements and fatigue, while allowing the evaluation of the impact of the wrist movement on the timing and joint kinematics. Each cup movement was divided into 4 phases: Reach, Grasp, Transport and Release.

Two sets of data were recorded. For the first set, the participant was able to request hand open and close and wrist rotation movements; the wrist flexion was kept in a neutral position. For the second set, the participant was also able to request wrist flexion and extension movements. Data were collected until six trials were completed without errors for each configuration set. The data compared between the two configurations included the timing for the reach, grasp, transport and release phases of each movement, the endpoint trajectory, and the joint kinematics. The study was approved by the Northwestern University IRB.

RESULTS

As expected, trials in which the participant utilized the wrist flexion and extension (FE On) took longer than those when only the wrist rotator was used ($41.69s\pm4.75$ vs $28.43s\pm4.57$). The additional time was primarily in the "Reach" phase of the movements, as the individual was prepositioning the device. (Figure 2).

Though the mean distance travelled of the hand endpoint for the various movements was not notably different between conditions, except for M2, the path travelled was visually different, especially for M2 and M3, with wider trajectories for the movement of the cup further away from the participant back to the original position with FE off.

Joint kinematics were calculated for the 2 conditions and compared to normative data (n=14). Though the prosthetic user did include wrist flexion and extension movements during the task with FE on, the average range of motion used was less than that of the normative population (34 degrees vs 92 degrees).



Figure 2: Breakdown of the timing of the 4 different cup movements, M1-M4.



Figure 3: Trajectory of the prosthetic hand during the 4 movements: average with ± 1 standard deviation (SD) shaded. The mean overall distance of each curve (in mm) is shown for both conditions.

	Wrist FE OFF	Wrist FE ON	Normative
Trunk Flexion/Extension	21.1 [1.6]	17.3 [0.8]	18.7 [5.9]
Trunk Lateral Bend	24.5 [3.0]	18.1 [2.2]	11.6 [2.8]
Trunk Axial Rotation	25.3 [1.0]	21.9 [2.3]	17.5 [4.3]
Shoulder Flexion/Extension	59.3 [5.4]	60.5 [3.4]	73.3 [8.6]
Shoulder Abduction/Adduction	42.3 [5.1]	44.1 [7.2]	35.9 [5.4]
Shoulder Internal/External Rotation	60.0 [6.4]	55.2 [8.8]	59.9 [8.4]
Elbow Flexion/Extension	64.3 [5.4]	68.5 [7.5]	96.4 [7.9]
Pronation/Supination	20.3 [1.6] *	20.9 [2.9] *	78.5 [9.0]
Wrist Rotation	6.6 [2.4]	65.1 [30.2]	
Wrist Flexion/Extension	10.1 [2.1] *	33.8 [6.7]	91.8 [10.4]
Wrist Ulnar/Radial Deviation	8.8 [1.4] *	10.0[1.6] *	32.1[7.1]

Table 1: Total range of motion (in degrees) at each DOF. Prosthesis user data indicates mean across trials [between-trial SD]. Normative data indicates mean of participant means [between-participant SD].

* Participant did not have access to these DOFs. Non-zero values are the result of error in the system, or inadvertent marker movement/socket movement

Lateral trunk bend and axial rotation showed an increased total range of motion when comparing normative values to Flexion On and Flexion Off conditions (Table 1). The prosthetic user also used less shoulder flexion/extension and elbow flexion/extension compared to normative. The prosthetic user held his arm in a more adducted position early in the task in both conditions compared to normative data with a slight increase in total ROM for shoulder abduction/adduction for both conditions.



Figure 4: Time Normalized Joint Kinematics. Top row (L-R) Trunk: Flexion/Extension, Lateral Bend, Axial Rotation. 2nd Row (L-R) Shoulder: Flexion/Extension, Ab/Adduction, Internal/External Rotation; Bottom Row: Wrist Flexion/Extension. Vertical shading behind the plots represents the phases of the task.

DISCUSSION

As hypothesized, utilization of the additional degree-of-freedom (wrist flexion and extension) did increase the time required to do the task. The range of motion utilized at the wrist was much less than normative data. However, there were changes in the hand trajectory as well as the joint kinematics. In both conditions, the prosthesis user employed more trunk lateral bending and axial rotation compared to the normative population. However, the addition of wrist flexion and extension did appear to reduce the overall peak-to-peak to values closer to the normative values. The shoulder motion was different from normative, with less flexion and more abduction/adduction range utilized in both conditions.

There are limitations to this pilot study. In order to ensure that the device was moving as desired without any inadvertent movements from poor control or fatigue, the user orally indicated his desired movements. An engineer then drove the device as instructed. Though the participant had used a multifunction wrist system in the past as part of other research studies, the individual evaluated did not have the opportunity to control the prosthesis in a home environment. It is expected that additional training and usage will allow future users to more naturally include the additional degrees of freedom into various tasks. This may continue to improve how the users coordinate trunk and shoulder movements to perform the task. Based on this initial study, with the addition of wrist flexion and extension, we continue to expect improvements in trunk and shoulder compensatory movements.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by CDMRP W81XWH1910863and NIH 5R01HD094861-04

- B. D. Adams, N. M. Grosland, D. M. Murphy, and M. McCullough, "Impact of impaired wrist motion on hand and upper-extremity performance," J Hand Surg Am, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 898-903, Nov 2003.
- [2] F. Montagnani, M. Controzzi, and C. Cipriani, "Is it Finger or Wrist Dexterity That is Missing in Current Hand Prostheses?," IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 600-609, 2015.
- [3] A. M. Valevicius *et al.*, "Characterization of normative hand movements during two functional upper limb tasks," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 13, no. 6, p. e0199549, 2018.
- [4] A. M. Valevicius *et al.*, "Characterization of normative angular joint kinematics during two functional upper limb tasks," (in eng), *Gait Posture*, vol. 69, pp. 176-186, Mar 2019.
- [5] H. E. Williams, C. S. Chapman, P. M. Pilarski, A. H. Vette, and J. S. Hebert, "Gaze and Movement Assessment (GaMA): Inter-site validation of a visuomotor upper limb functional protocol," (in eng), *PLoS One*, vol. 14, no. 12, p. e0219333, 2019.
- [6] E. B. Lavoie *et al.*, "Using synchronized eye and motion tracking to determine high-precision eye-movement patterns during objectinteraction tasks," (in eng), *J Vis*, vol. 18, no. 6, p. 18, Jun 1 2018.

A TRANSRADIAL MODULAR ADAPTABLE PLATFORM FOR EVALUATING PROSTHETIC FEEDBACK AND CONTROL STRATEGIES

Ben W. Hallworth¹, Ahmed W. Shehata², Michael R. Dawson², Florian Sperle³, Mathilde Connan³, Werner Friedl³, Bernhard Vodermayer³, Claudio Castellini³, Jacqueline S. Hebert^{2, 4}, Patrick M. Pilarski²

¹Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Alberta, Canada. ²Division of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Department of Medicine, University of Alberta, Canada. ³German Aerospace Center (DLR), Institute for Robotics and Mechatronics, Oberpfaffenhofen, Germany. ⁴Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital, Alberta Health Services, Canada

ABSTRACT

Novel multi-modal and closed-loop myoelectric control strategies may yield more robust, capable prostheses which improve quality of life for those affected by upper-limb loss. However, the translation of such systems from an experimental setting towards daily use by persons with limb loss is limited by the cost and complexity of assessing all the possible sensor and feedback configurations. The comparison of different control strategies is further complicated by the use of disparate prosthetic socket and simulated prosthesis designs across experiments. This study aims to address these issues through the development and preliminary assessment of a Modular-Adaptable Prosthetic Platform (MAPP) system for use in experimental control strategy evaluation. The MAPP system is compatible with a variety of commercially available control and feedback devices and can be used in experiments involving participants with either intact or amputated limbs. The modular design enables compatibility with novel devices and quick reconfiguration of components. We compared EMG and FMG data acquired with the MAPP system to a previously characterized transradial simulated prosthesis, using able-bodied subjects. The MAPP was shown to match or exceed the control accuracy achieved using a rigid simulated prosthesis, while providing the added benefits of modularity. This device shows promise as a research tool which can catalyze the deployment of advanced control strategies by enabling comprehensive and standardized assessment of control and feedback strategies.

INTRODUCTION

Recent developments in robotic prostheses have yielded many advancements including multi-articulated hands [1], [2], machine learning based controllers [3]–[5] and sensory feedback systems [6]–[8]. However, translating these improvements to wearable prosthetic devices remains challenging. Before translating these advancements to clinical use, thorough assessment and validation of the potential benefits are required. A significant bottleneck for assessment arises due to the tradeoff between experiment scale, representativeness of real-world conditions, and time/resource costs [9]. Numerous factors besides the control strategy itself, including end-effector loading, sweat, limbposition, and acceleration can affect the performance of a prosthetic system, and these conditions must be recreated during the experimental assessment to provide accurate insights into real-world performance [8], [10]. Simulating a realistic physical limb-socket interface within a participantand control strategy-specific prosthesis requires a customdesigned and manufactured socket [10], [11], which is not easily adapted for various control and feedback systems.

An alternate strategy to custom-designing prosthetic sockets for testing persons with amputation is often pursued by having able-bodied persons wear a simulated prosthesis with or without an end-effector attached. Researchers have used various versions of simulated prostheses to investigate performance of commercial prosthetic hands [12], performance of novel control strategies [13], [14], kinematic movement trajectories when using prosthetic hands [15], and the effect of providing sensory feedback to users on performance in functional tasks [7]. There is, however, an incomplete understanding of how well results collected from these studies translate to daily use in a prosthesis by a person with limb loss. Furthermore, comparisons across studies are limited due to the disparate versions of the prostheses utilized. There is thus a need for a modular platform that accommodates multiple sensors and feedback systems and can be worn by both able-bodied persons and persons with amputations to facilitate these crucial comparisons. This study aims to address this gap through the design and assessment of an inexpensive and easy-to-use 3D-printed transradial Modular-Adaptable Prosthetic Platform (MAPP).



Figure 1: Overview of the 3D-printable MAPP with a HANDI-hand attached to it [2].

Item	Design Specification	Achieved Specification
Length adjustability	10 – 40 cm	Achievable with multiple exterior panels
Fit intact limbs	Achieve Target	Target met
Prosthesis interface	Compatibility with iLimb, BeBionic, and HANDi Hand	Target met; expand modularity with new components
User input sensor integration	6 sites; compatible with commercially- available electrodes	10 sites; compatible with FSRs, MyoBock (Ottobock Inc.), and Bagnoli (Delsys, Inc.) electrodes
Context detection & sensory feedback	Accommodate 2 sensory-feedback modalities & IMU	Compatible with mechanotactile & vibrotactile feedback and IMU
Cost	\$500	< \$200
Fitting time	< 15 minutes	10 min initial fitting; 2-4 min re-donning
Socket weight	500 g	450 g
Shear/ axial load	2 kg	5 kg
Comfort	Comfortable over the course of an experiment (3 hrs)	Comfortable for 3 hrs (user- reported)
Sanitation	Non-porous, cleanable interface surface with limb	All contact surfaces lined with closed-cell neoprene

 Table 1: Design specifications for MAPP system

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Socket Design Requirements

Critical features were identified through consultation with prosthetists from the Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital. Table 1 summarizes the design requirements and specifications for the developed socket. Unless otherwise stated, all components were 3D-printed using Ultimaker 2+ (Ultimaker BV) and Makerbot Replicator 2 (MakerBot Industries, LLC). Rigid components were printed using PLA and flexible components using Ninjaflex Cheetah filament (Ninjatek, Inc.). Figure 1 shows the design of the MAPP platform as a prosthetic socket for a person with transradial amputation. The developed socket consists of rigid panels supported by stainless steel M4 threaded rods with flexible cushions attached via Velcro[®] (Velcro BVBA). All panels are connected to a ring at the distal end of the socket.

Suspension

Suspension is achieved through radial compression generated by tightening the circumferential straps threaded through each rigid panel. Alternating regions of soft tissue compression and release are created by the cushions and spaces between them, distributed both radially and axially along the limb. This design choice improves translation of motion between bone and socket as described in [16].

Adaptability

To accommodate different limb lengths, the spacing between each 3D-printed panel can be adjusted and fixed by adjusting the position of the nuts embedded in each panel along the rods attached to the adjacent panel. A panel can also be removed entirely by unscrewing the rods which anchor it to the adjacent panel. This combination of modularity and adjustability enables the socket to accommodate residual limbs extending beyond 5 cm (the length of one panel) from the cubital fossa and up to 5 cm proximal to the wrist. Different limb thicknesses are accommodated by interchangeable inner rings with different diameters. As forearms are not cylindrical in nature, the channels in each panel through which the rod substructure passes are purposely made loose-fitting such that the slope between each panel can be adjusted. Furthermore, the interfacing cushions are made slightly compliant and convex such that they can match the profile of the limb surface without causing pinch points. When the circumferential straps are tightened, the socket profile is maintained due to opposing pressure exerted between each of the straps, cushion infill material, and limb surface (Figure 1). Able-bodied participants can be accommodated by replacing the connecting ring and distal support cushion with a hollow connecting ring. An optional hand mount can be screwed to that ring, thereby restraining the hand and fingers if isometric contractions are necessary. The hand mount, offset in the radial direction, directly fits with the Quick-Connect Wrist (Otto Bock, Inc.) to connect commercial end effectors. Custom 3D-printed adapters enable compatibility with other end-effectors.

Modularity and Socket Structure

The MAPP enables user input and sensory feedback devices to interface directly with a user's limb across a range of positions. Such devices can be embedded in each interior panel (Figure 2), providing a direct interface with the user's limb through which suspension loads are transferred. Rigid inserts provide a stable base for various actuators, which can be interchanged to accommodate other devices. Sensors can also be mounted in the spaces between regions with panels via the Velcro-backed circumferential straps. Velcro-backed modules prevent slip relative to the circumferential straps, and radial compression from the straps provides a stable interface with the user's limb. The interchangeable outerpanels add to the stability of this mounting method by securing the position of the circumferential straps relative to the rest of the socket structure with a Velcro-backed surface. Further, these outer panels provide an interchangeable platform for mounting devices (see Figure 1) on the socket's surface. A final method of modular device mounting is provided by the rails connecting the main panels. 3D-printed



Figure 2: Exploded view of a) FSR and b) surface EMG electrode into panel system via removable inserts.

mounts can be threaded onto these rods providing a rigid platform which provides direct access to the user's limb via the spaces between exterior panels.

The interchangeable in-cushion sensor modules were designed to fit FSRs as described in [17]. Myobock 13E200 Electrodes (Ottobock Inc.) and Bagnoli Electrodes (Delsys, Inc.) were also made compatible with the initial prototype, enabling a mixed method of user-input detection. C2 and C3 vibrotactors (Engineering Acoustics Inc.) were similarly embedded into the interior cushion via interchangeable inserts, providing vibrotactile feedback in any cushion. 3D-printed mechanotactile tactor modules, the design of which is described in [8], were integrated into both the removable panels and substructure. The modularity of this socket system enables the integration of Inertial Measurement Units (IMU) (BN0055, Adafruit Industries) that could be used to detect forearm orientation and acceleration with respect to an inertial reference frame.

The structural rod segments were selected to support a 2 kg end effector load in both the transverse (ie. weight of 2 kg end load with residual limb parallel to ground) and axial (ie. 2 kg end load with residual limb perpendicular to ground). Using ASME Elliptic Failure Criteria and a life of at least 10,000 cycles of fully reversed loading, M4 rods were selected, leading to a minimum factor of safety of 2.5. The 3D-printed exterior panels were tested using both SolidWorks FEA (Dassault Systems, Inc.) and mechanical loading in the aforementioned configurations. These tests demonstrated that the overall minimum factor of safety was still limited by fatigue or bending of the rods; therefore, the socket system was capable of safely supporting up to a 2 kg end-effector or payload.



Figure 3: A participant wearing a) the Modular-Adaptable Prosthetic Platform as a simulated prosthesis and b) the orthotic splint.

Socket Interface Validation Study

Participants: Eight able-bodied, right-handed, male participants (mean and standard deviation of age: 28.8 ± 8.2 years) volunteered to participate in this study. Written informed consent according to the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board (Pro00077893) and the German Aerospace Center's internal committee for personal data protection (DLR authorization 3.7.2017) was obtained.

Experimental setup: Participants conducted the experiment while wearing the developed MAPP (Figure 3a) and while using a version of an orthotic splint commonly used to simulate a prosthesis (Figure 3b). Participants were randomly assigned to start with one condition or the other. For each simulated prosthesis, a band of five evenly-spaced Myobock electrodes and a concentric band of five FSRs as described in [17] were placed on the participant's right forearm [18]. Signals from both bands were processed using the same hardware as [17], with a 3rd-order low-pass Butterworth filter and cut-off frequency of 1 Hz to remove high-frequency disturbances. Mean absolute value for each channel was extracted and used to train a linear-discriminant analysis (LDA) classifier, representative of commercially available classifier-based controllers [3]. An i-LIMB Ultra prosthetic hand was attached to simulate the effects of normal prosthesis loading on each socket (Figure 3). Participants were asked to match seven gestures (rest, index point, power grip, wrist flexion, wrist extension, forearm pronation, forearm supination) shown on a computer screen for twosecond intervals, three times each.



Figure 4. Offline performance was assessed for each participant using a three-fold cross validation using a) EMG only, b) FMG only, and c) mixed-modality based on a sequential forward search (SFS)

Data Acquisition: Offline performance was assessed for each participant using a three-fold cross validation (one for each repetition of a gesture). Assessment was performed using data from a) EMG only, b) FMG only, and c) mixedmodality based on a sequential forward search (SFS) to select the best-performance from 5 channels for each participant.

Results: Figure 4 shows that collecting data when using the MAPP enabled similar accuracy results as when using the orthotic splint across all sensor modalities.

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE WORK

Here, we developed a low-cost modular transradial socket system, which can accommodate multiple geometries of the forearm, along with multiple configurations of user-input, context detection, and sensory feedback devices. We tested the developed system with sEMG and FMG and a pattern recognition control strategy for seven gestures. Offline performance of participants using MAPP was similar to their performance when using the orthotic splint.

Future work will include comparison of online performance between the MAPP, orthotic splint, and socket systems. Using machine learning strategies to map input to action may reveal whether functional performance using a splint, or the MAPP provides a better prediction of clinical performance when deployed within a prosthetic socket. The effects of variables like end-effector loading, limb position, and acceleration are not well-characterized in control strategies. Therefore, paired assessment of the MAPP with a suction socket incorporating identical control strategies in different contexts may demonstrate the extent to which each platform captures these contextual changes. In conclusion, the cost time- and resource-savings, and flexibility to test a variety of novel prosthetic control strategies in a common platform, such as the one developed here, may accelerate the throughput of prosthetic control strategy validation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was funded by the Alberta Machine Intelligence Institute (Amii).

- L. Resnik, S. L. Klinger, and K. Etter, "The DEKA Arm: Its features, functionality, and evolution during the Veterans Affairs Study to optimize the DEKA Arm.," *Prosthet. Orthot. Int.*, 2013.
- [2] D. J. A. Brenneis, M. R. Dawson, and P. M. Pilarski, "Development of the Handi Hand: An Inexpensive, Multi-Articulating, Sensorized Hand for Machine Learning Research in Myoelectric Control."
- [3] C. Castellini *et al.*, "Proceedings of the first workshop on peripheral machine interfaces: Going beyond traditional surface electromyography," *Frontiers in Neurorobotics*, vol. 8, no. AUG. Frontiers Research Foundation, 2014.

- [4] M. F. Lucas, A. Gaufriau, S. Pascual, C. Doncarli, and D. Farina, "Multi-channel surface EMG classification using support vector machines and signal-based wavelet optimization," *Biomed. Signal Process. Control*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 169–174, Apr. 2008.
- [5] A. L. Edwards, M. R. Dawson, J. S. Hebert, and C. Sherstan, "Application of real-time machine learning to myoelectric prosthesis control: A case series in adaptive switching Lower Extremity Prosthetics View project Reinforcement Learning Models View project."
- [6] F. Clemente, S. Dosen, L. Lonini, M. Markovic, D. Farina, and C. Cipriani, "Humans Can Integrate Augmented Reality Feedback in Their Sensorimotor Control of a Robotic Hand," *IEEE Trans. HUMAN-MACHINE Syst. Tech.*, pp. 1–7, 2016.
- [7] L. F. Engels, A. W. Shehata, E. J. Scheme, J. W. Sensinger, and C. Cipriani, "When Less Is More Discrete Tactile Feedback Dominates Continuous Audio Biofeedback in the Integrated Percept While Controlling a Myoelectric Prosthetic Hand," *Front. Neurosci.*, vol. 13, p. 578, 2019.
- [8] K. R. Schoepp, M. R. Dawson, J. S. Schofield, J. P. Carey, and J. S. Hebert, "Design and Integration of an Inexpensive Wearable Mechanotactile Feedback System for Myoelectric Prostheses," *IEEE J. Transl. Eng. Heal. Med.*, vol. 6, 2018.
- [9] B. W. Hallworth, J. A. Austin, H. E. Williams, M. Rehani, A. W. Shehata, and J. S. Hebert, "A Modular Adaptable Transhumeral Prosthetic Socket for Evaluating Myoelectric Control," *Under Rev. IEEE Transl. Eng. Heal. Med.*, 2020.
- [10] I. Vujaklija *et al.*, "Translating research on myoelectric control into clinics-are the performance assessment methods adequate?," *Front. Neurorobot.*, vol. 11, no. FEB, pp. 1–7, 2017.
- [11] A. Belyea, K. Englehart, and E. Scheme, "FMG Versus EMG: A Comparison of Usability for Real-Time Pattern Recognition Based Control," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 3098– 3104, 2019.
- [12] P. J. Kyberd, "The influence of control format and hand design in single axis myoelectric hands: assessment of functionality of prosthetic hands using the Southampton Hand Assessment Procedure," *Prosthet. Orthot. Int.*, vol. 35, pp. 285–293, 2011.
- [13] D. Johansen, C. Cipriani, D. B. Popovic, and L. N. S. A. Struijk, "Control of a Robotic Hand Using a Tongue Control System-A Prosthesis Application," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 63, no. 7, pp. 1368–1376, 2016.
- [14] A. W. Shehata, L. F. Engels, M. Controzzi, C. Cipriani, E. J. Scheme, and J. W. Sensinger, "Improving Internal Model Strength and Performance of Prosthetic Hands Using Augmented Feedback," *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.*, vol. 15, no. 70, 2018.
- [15] H. E. Williams, Q. A. Boser, P. M. Pilarski, C. S. Chapman, A. H. Vette, and J. S. Hebert, "Hand Function Kinematics when using a Simulated Myoelectric Prosthesis.," *IEEE Int. Conf. Rehabil. Robot.*, vol. 2019, pp. 169–174, Jun. 2019.
- [16] R. D. Alley, T. Walley Williams III, M. J. Albuquerque, and D. E. Altobelli, "Prosthetic sockets stabilized by alternating areas of tissue compression and release," vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 679–696, 2011.
- [17] M. Connan, E. Ruiz Ramírez, B. Vodermayer, and C. Castellini, "Assessment of a Wearable Force- and Electromyography Device and Comparison of the Related Signals for Myocontrol," *Front. Neurorobot.*, vol. 10, Nov. 2016.
- [18] M. Nowak, T. Eiband, and C. Castellini, "Multi-modal myocontrol: testing combined force-and electromyography," in *IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics*, 2017.

AN INEXPENSIVE AND ADAPTABLE PROSTHETIC WRIST IMPROVES DEXTERITY AND REDUCES COMPENSATORY MOVEMENTS

Connor D. Olsen¹, Troy N. Tully², Eric S. Stone², Nathaniel R. Olsen³, Gregory A. Clark², Jacob A. George^{1,2,3,4}

¹Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Utah, ²Department of Biomedical Engineering, ³Department of Mechanical Engineering, ⁴Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Utah

ABSTRACT

Many presently available prostheses lack a functional wrist. Here, we highlight the development of an inexpensive prosthetic wrist that can be adapted to work with various sockets and prostheses. Using this prosthetic wrist, we explore the functional and cognitive impact of using a prosthetic wrist to perform activities of daily living. We measured task performance, compensatory movements, and cognitive load while transradial amputees performed a Clothespin Relocation Task (CRT) using a prosthesis attached to the wrist controlled by surface electromyography (EMG). Three transradial amputees performed the task with and without EMG control of the wrist. In aggregate data, the success rate was significantly higher in the wrist condition $(61\% \pm 9\% \text{ mean}, \pm \text{ standard error})$ than in the no-wrist condition. Compensatory movements were also better; e.g., the maximum leftward bend at the hip was less in the wrist condition $(18.9^{\circ} \pm 1.2^{\circ})$ than in the no-wrist condition $(15.0^{\circ} \pm 1.4^{\circ})$. The addition of controlling a prosthetic wrist had no significant impact on cognitive load, as assessed by the NASA Task Load Index survey and the detection response time to a secondary task. This work suggests that using a prosthetic wrist may increase dexterity and reduce joint strain for amputees without requiring a significant increase in cognitive effort compared to that of EMG control of a hand alone. These results can guide future development and prescription of upper-limb prostheses.

INTRODUCTION

Transradial amputees have expressed a strong desire for powered wrist prostheses. Indeed, the top five priorities for transradial amputees, in order of importance, were reported as: wrist rotation, simultaneous movements of multiple degrees of freedom, wrist deviation, wrist flexion/extension, and reduced cognitive demand [1]. Other priorities included reduced weight, improved durability, and increased strength [1]. Without a wrist, amputees are forced to compensate with unnatural movements to complete routine activities of daily living (ADLs) [2], [3]. The continual use of these motions causes damage to the musculoskeletal system over time [4], [5].

Despite the end-user desire for functional wrist movements, very few prostheses incorporate a powered wrist module [6], [7], and those that do are often expensive or not widely available. Here we describe the development of a powered, 3D-printed, inexpensive and adaptable prosthetic wrist. We also validate the function of this wrist with three transradial amputees and show more natural upper-limb kinematics without a significant increase in cognitive load. This work constitutes an important step towards addressing amputees' self-reported needs and reducing compensatory movements that would otherwise cause musculoskeletal damage.

METHODS

Wrist Design

The Utah wrist was designed with two degrees of freedom (DOFs) to provide pronation/supination and flexion/extension of the wrist (Fig. 1). The second DOF can also be used for deviation depending on how the prosthesis is mounted to the wrist. To mimic the strength of a natural wrist, two high-power hobby servo motors (Hitec D980TW, Hitec RCD USA, Poway, CA) were used with a 7.5-V, 20-A power supply (967-CUS200LD7R5, TDK-Lambda Americas Inc., National City, CA) to provide 4.3 N-m of torque. The wrist was designed to adapt to different prosthetic hands (Fig. 1C) and sockets (Fig 1E). The wrist was 3D printed using polylactic acid (PLA) to minimize the weight and cost of materials. See Table 1 for the full design specifications.

Functional Assessment and Participants

The clothespin relocation task (CRT) is a commonly used upper-limb dexterity assessment that involves moving a clothespin from a horizontal bar to a vertical bar. The clothespin is placed 8 inches down the length of the horizontal

bar and 8 inches up the vertical bar (Fig. 2A) [8]. Participants were instructed to move as many clothespins in a 30 second window as possible. Dropped clothespins were recorded against successful attempts to measure success. The CRT was completed by three transradial amputee participants with and without the wrist enabled. The wrist was connected to a functional check socket (Citterman et al., MEC 2022) and a left-handed TASKA hand (Fig. 2B). All participants gave written informed consent before taking part in experiments, in accordance with the University of Utah Institutional Review Board and the Department of Navy Human Research Protection Program.

During the CRT, the participants had inertial measurement units (IMUs) attached to their chest and left bicep

to measure any compensatory movements (Fig. completed a detection-response task (DRT) to measure their cognitive load [9]. The DRT requires the participant to push a button in response to a small vibrating motor on their collar bone. Both the response rate (i.e., how often they respond to the vibratory stimuli) and response time (i.e., how long it takes to press the button after vibratory stimuli) are used as direct measures of cognitive load. Participants completed the CRT as many times



Figure 1: A) Exploded view of the Utah Wrist. B) A photo of the assembled wrist with the attachments to connect to a bypass socket. C) The wrist can adapt to a variety of different terminal devices by printing a new interface part such as the two shown here. D) Expanded view of the rotary joint mechanism, as highlighted in part B. E) The wrist can connect to different kinds of sockets by printing out a new interface such as the part shown here.

to measure any compensatory movements (Fig. 2C). While completing the holding task, the participant simultaneously

Table 1: Design Specifications			
Degrees of	Pronation/Supination in series with Flexion/Extension or		
Freedom	Radial/Ulnar Deviation		
Length	11.8 cm		
Weight	360 g		
Range of	Pronation/Supination – 180 Degrees		
Motion	Radial/Ulnar Deviation or Flexion/Extension - Up to 175 Degrees		
Torque	4.3 N*m (both motors)		
Cost	< \$600		

as possible within 30 seconds. Data were collected with and without the wrist in a pseudo-randomized counterbalanced blocks. The success rate was defined as the total number of successful transfers out of the total number of attempts within the 30-second time period. Participants completed the NASA Task Load after each block (i.e., with the wrist and without the wrist).

Signal Acquisition

Surface EMG from the participants was collected using a custom EMG sleeve [10]. EMG was sampled at 1 kHz and filtered using the Summit Neural Interface processor (Ripple Neuro Med LLC) as described in [11]. EMG features used for estimating motor intent consisted of the 300-ms smoothed mean absolute value (MAV) on 528 channels (32 single-ended channels and 496 calculated differential pairs) calculated at 30 Hz, as described in [11]. Joint angles were measured using two shimmer3 IMUs (Shimmer Sensing, Dublin, Ireland) attached to the participant's chest and bicep. A third IMU was placed on the table in a fixed orientation to provide a reference. The IMUs measured acceleration, rate gyration, and magnetic heading at 64 Hz, which were then used to calculate quaternions and generate rotation matrices for leftward bend at the hip.

EMG Control

A modified Kalman filter (MKF) was trained using individual and combination movements to control grasping/opening of the hand, pronation/supination of the wrist, and flexion/extension of the wrist. Training data consisted of participants mimicking pre-programmed movement of the individual DOFs in isolation, as well as combination movements involved simultaneous movement of two DOFs (e.g., grasping and rotating). Additional

details regarding the modified Kalman filter and training data can be found in [12]. A latching filter was applied to the kinematic output of the prosthetic hand to increase grasping stability. [13]

Data Analysis

Participants were given two blocks of 30 seconds to complete the CRT as many times as possible for a given condition. Thus, the number of attempted clothespin transfers was variable per condition and per participant, but the overall success rate was fixed to two per participant (i.e., one success rate for each of the two 30-second blocks). Data were aggregated across all participants and blocks and determined to be parametric by the Anderson-Darling test. The success rates with and without the wrist were compared using a paired t-test. Similarly, the detection response rate and NASA TLX scores were compared using a paired t-test. Because the total number of attempted transfers was not consistent between conditions, the maximum joint angles with the wrist and without the wrist were compared using an unpaired t-test. Because the data were parametric, all data is reported as mean \pm standard error.

RESULTS

Task Performance Improved with Use of Wrist

In the data aggregated across trials and blocks, the task success rate (Fig. 3A) was higher with use of the wrist ($61\% \pm 10\%$) than without the wrist ($33\% \pm 15\%$); (p < 0.05; paired t-test). Thus, task performance was 85% higher with use of the wrist.

Amputees Required Less Compensatory Movements with Use of Wrist

Moving the clothespin from the horizontal bar to the vertical bar without the wrist required the participant to compensate by bending leftward at the hip. When the wrist was enabled, participants naturally used the wrist to perform the task with movements more akin to an intact

hand. Collectively, the three participants showed a significant difference in the maximum joint angle at the hip (Fig. 3B). Maximum hip joint angle was $18.9^\circ \pm 1.2$ without the wrist compared with 15.0° \pm 1.4 with the wrist (p < 0.05, unpaired t-)test). Thus compensatory movements at the hip were 21% smaller when wrist control was enabled.



Figure 2: A) The Utah wrist was attached to the amputee participants using the transradial check socket. B) IMUs were attached to the amputee participant's chest and bicep to show the deflection angles as the amputee attempts to complete the task. C) The amputee was instructed to pick up a clothespin and move it from a horizontal beginning position to a vertical end position.



Without Wrist With Wrist

Figure 3: A) Success rate for the CLT was significantly greater with the wrist compared to without the wrist. B) Compensatory movement at the hip (i.e., the maximum angle deviation) was significantly reduced with the wrist compared to without the wrist. C) No significant differences were seen in the subjective workload with the wrist vs without. D) No significant differences were seen in the DRT miss rate with the wrist vs without. E) No significant differences were seen in the DRT response time with the wrist vs without. Data show mean \pm standard error. * p <0.05. Paired t-tests were used for task success rate, subjective workload, and DRT response rate (N = 6). Unpaired t-test were used for the maximum angle deviation (N = 23 attempts vs N = 25 attempts) and the DRT response time (N = 39 responses vs N = 42 responses).

Use of the Wrist Did Not Significantly Increase Cognitive Load

Somewhat surprisingly, adding two additional controllable DOFs with the wrist did not significantly increase cognitive load. Collectively across participants, the subjective workload was reported as 72.4 ± 4.1 without the wrist and 69.6 ± 2.9 with the wrist (p = 0.624, paired t-test; Fig 3C). There were also no significant differences in the DRT response rate, $31\% \pm 3.6\%$ without the wrist and $24\% \pm 3.5\%$ with the wrist (p = 0.33, paired t-test; Fig 3D), or the DRT response time, $1.19s \pm .14s$ without the wrist and $.93s \pm .1s$ with the wrist (p = 0.1432, unpaired t-test; Fig 3E).

CONCLUSION

We developed a low-cost 2-DOF prosthetic wrist that can adapt to various prosthetic terminal devices and sockets. We found that task performance was significantly better and compensatory movements significantly smaller when wrist control was enabled. We also found that the cognitive demand on the participants was not significantly different with the addition of two new EMG-controlled DOFs at the wrist. These results constitute an important step towards the widespread availability of functional prosthetic wrists for amputees and researchers alike.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Funding from the National Institute of Health DP5-OD029571 DARPA BTO HAPTIX #N6601-15-C-4017

REFERENCES

- [1] D. J. Atkins, D. C. Y. Heard, and W. H. Donovan, J. Prosthet. Orthot., vol. 8, no. Winter, 1996.
- [2] S. L. Carey, M. Jason Highsmith, M. E. Maitland, and R. V. Dubey, "Compensatory movements of transradial prosthesis users during common tasks," *Clin. Biomech.*, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 1128–1135, Nov. 2008.
- [3] T. Bertels, T. Schmalz, and E. Ludwigs, "Objectifying the Functional Advantages of Prosthetic Wrist Flexion," JPO J. Prosthet. Orthot., vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 74–78, Apr. 2009.
- [4] A. G. Mell, B. L. Childress, and R. E. Hughes, "The Effect of Wearing a Wrist Splint on Shoulder Kinematics During Object

Manipulation," *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.*, vol. 86, no. 8, pp. 1661–1664, Aug. 2005. [5] K. Østlie, R. J. Franklin, O. H. Skjeldal, A. Skrondal, and P. Magnus, "Musculoskeletal Pain a

- [5] K. Østlie, R. J. Franklin, O. H. Skjeldal, A. Skrondal, and P. Magnus, "Musculoskeletal Pain and Overuse Syndromes in Adult Acquired Major Upper-Limb Amputees," *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.*, vol. 92, no. 12, pp. 1967-1973.e1, Dec. 2011, .
- [6] "LUKE Arm Detail Page Mobius Bionics." https://www.mobiusbionics.com/luke-arm/ (accessed Mar. 01, 2022).
- [7] M. S. Johannes, J. D. Bigelow, J. M. Burck, S. D. Harshbarger, M. V. Kozlowski, and T. V. Doren, "An Overview of the Developmental Process for the Modular Prosthetic Limb," *JOHNS HOPKINS APL Tech. Dig.*, vol. 30, no. 3, p. 10, 2011.
- [8] P. Kyberd, this link will open in a new window Link to external site, A. Hussaini, and G. Maillet, "Characterisation of the Clothespin Relocation Test as a functional assessment tool.," J. Rehabil. Assist. Technol. Eng., vol. 5, p. 2055668317750810, Dec. 2018.
- [9] K. Stojmenova and J. Sodnik, "Detection-Response Task-Uses and Limitations.," Sensors, vol. 18, no. 2, 2018.
- [10] J. George, A. Neibling, M. Paskett, and G. Clark, "Inexpensive surface electromyography sleeve with consistent electrode placement enables dexterous and stable prosthetic control through deep learning," *MEC20 Symp.*, Jul. 2020, Accessed: Jul. 16, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://conferences.lib.unb.ca/index.php/mec/article/view/36
- [11] J. A. George, T. S. Davis, M. R. Brinton, and G. A. Clark, "Intuitive neuromyoelectric control of a dexterous bionic arm using a modified Kalman filter," J. Neurosci. Methods, vol. 330, p. 108462, Jan. 2020.
- [12] M. D. Paskett et al., "Activities of daily living with bionic arm improved by combination training and latching filter in prosthesis control comparison.," J. NeuroEngineering Rehabil., vol. 18, no. 1, p. NA-NA, Feb. 2021.
- [13] J. Nieveen, M. Brinton, D. J. Warren, and V. J. Mathews, "A Nonlinear Latching Filter to Remove Jitter From Movement Estimates for Prostheses," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng. Publ. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.*, vol. 28, no. 12, pp. 2849–2858, Dec. 2020.
CASE STUDIES: FITTING PATIENTS WITH HEAVY DUTY BI-DIRECTIONAL RATCHETING THUMB RAIL PROSTHESIS FOR CARPOMETACARPAL AMPUTATIONS

¹Ben Pulver, MS, ²Kyle Sherk, MS, CPO, FAAOP, ²Daniel Hill, MSPO, CP, ¹Serena Kishek, ^{1,3}Stephen Huddle, MS, ^{1,3}Richard Weir, PhD, ^{1,4}Jacob Segil, PhD, ¹Levin Sliker, PhD

¹Point Designs

²Hanger Clinics

³University of Colorado Denver | Anschutz Medical Campus

⁴University of Colorado Boulder

ABSTRACT

The loss of the thumb from the hand is a debilitating injury representing a 40% impairment to the hand. The replacement of the function of the thumb is a challenging engineering problem for prosthetic device designers due to the numerous degrees of freedom of the thumb. Most commercially available prosthetic devices for thumb amputations do not provide for adduction or rotation of the thumb. Here, we describe the design of a modular locking adduction rail for people with thumb loss proximal to the metacarpophalangeal joint. This device is compatible with the commercially available Point Thumb prosthetic thumb from Point Designs and allows users to move the prosthetic thumb from a flat hand position to an oppositional position. The design of the bi-directional adduction rail is briefly detailed. Then, two case studies are presented which detail the clinical implementation of the adduction rail into a partial hand prosthetic socket for two different patients. These are some of first trial fittings of the adduction rail system and demonstrate significant functional gains achieved with this novel device.

INTRODUCTION

Partial hand amputation is 10 times more common than all other categories of upper limb amputation combined [1]. These amputations can be a severe disability, especially if the amputation involves the thumb and/or multiple digits. Upper limb amputation can cause physical, psychosocial, and economic damage to an individual and can lead to depression, anxiety, loss of self-esteem, and social isolation [2], [3]. Fewer than half of partial hand amputees are able to return to the same job after amputation and most find that the prosthetic devices are insufficient to meet the demands of their work [4].

The loss of the thumb presents a particularly challenging type of partial hand amputation. The thumb is an essential digit in the formation of grasps and production of appropriate grip strengths for activities of daily living [5]. The loss of the thumb represents a 40% reduction in hand function [5]. The complexity of the thumb kinematics creates a challenge in the reproduction of the five degrees of freedom in a prosthetic device including three flexion, an adduction, and a rotation degree of freedom [6]. Flexion only makes up approximately 25% of the thumb's function [7]. Today, there are passive prosthetic thumbs (e.g. – TITAN Thumb, Partial Hand Solutions), body-powered thumbs (e.g. – ThumbDriver, Naked Prosthetic), and powered prosthetic thumbs (e.g. – iDigits, Ossur). In these cases, the prosthetic devices predominately recreate the flexion degrees of freedom of the thumb. In this work, we sought to design a bi-directional adduction rail which adds two additional degrees of freedom to the commercially available Point Thumb.

Table 1 compares the different prosthetic options available. Impairment values are calculated using the American Medical Association (AMA) guide for evaluating upper extremity impairment [7]. This comparison does not factor in issues like loss of sensation, device durability, and device ease of use, all of which have a significant role in device adoption and retention. Application of the Point Thumb and adduction rail system provides the largest range of motion and most functional benefit.

Prosthesis	Examples		ment*	
1 Tosuicsis	Examples	Digit	Hand	
No Device		100%	40%	
Static Opposition Post	livingskin TM	55%	22%	
MP Flexion	TITAN Thumb	37%	15%	
MP and IP Flexion	Point Thumb	31%	12%	

Table 1: Digit and hand impairment remaining after fitting of a thumb prosthesis.

MP Flexion and Radial Abduction	VINCENTpartial passive	27%	11%
MP Flexion and Adduction	i-Digits Access ¹ VINCENTpartial active ²	17%	7%
MP Flexion, IP Flexion, and Adduction	Point Thumb with Adduction Rail ¹ prototype	10%	4%

¹Adduction is passive, ²Adduction is active

*Does not include impairment due to lack of sensory information

ADDUCTION RAIL DESIGN

The adduction rail presents a novel method to translate the thumb between a hand open position to an opposed adducted position. The adduction rail entails a curved, toothed track that serves as the interface between the prosthetic socket and the thumb carriage. The curve of the track enables the center of rotation of the adduction motion to be located virtually inside the residual limb thus reducing the total size of the prosthesis. The ratchet teeth on the track enable a similar locking mechanism as found in the Point Thumb and other mechanical digits offered by Point Designs. The carriage rides along the track and houses the pawls which engage the ratcheting teeth and thereby locks the carriage in an adducted position. Two levers enable the user to lock/unlock the pawls and translate the carriage along the track in a bi-directional manner. This dual pawl-lever system enables the ratchet to function in two directions unlike a traditional ratchet. A shell covers the carriage and provides a rotational degree of freedom between the thumb and carriage using a spring-loaded toothed mechanical interface. All features of the bi-directional adduction rail can be manipulated in a unilateral fashion. Finally, a variety of shell designs enables the fixturing of different prosthetic thumb options onto the adduction rail.



Figure 2: (Left) Rendering of adduction rail prototype with design features highlighted. (Right) Physical adduction rail prototype with Point Thumb attached.

Initial prototypes of the adduction rail were produced using metal laser sintering additive manufacturing techniques. The use of additive manufacturing methods enables the creation of internal mechanisms and unique toothed profiles which are used throughout the adduction rail. Hand tools were used to post-process the printed components which were then assembled into functional prototypes using other off-the-shelf springs and fasteners. Prototypes were provided to collaborating clinicians in order to conduct initial case studies of the Point Thumb and adduction rail.

CASE STUDY 1

<u>Presentation</u> - The subject is a 61-year-old right hand dominant male. He owns and works in an industrial metal shop. His left thumb was amputated at the carpometacarpal (CMC) joint due to trauma in 2002. He has not used a prosthesis before, due to limited device designs for his level of amputation and has adapted well to life without his left thumb. He reports only having issues with controlling two-handed tools and playing guitar. He desires a heavy-duty thumb component for his work environment and to reduce the over-use syndrome he has begun to experience in his right hand/arm.

<u>Treatment</u> – The patient was fit with a partial hand socket, a static Point Design thumb, and the adduction rail prototype (see Figure 3). He was immediately impressed with his ability to hold large objects (tube of cleaning wipes and a tissue box). Smaller objects were a bit more troublesome to grasp (screwdriver handle and a screw). The patient was able to use the device for at least three weeks both at work and at home.

MEC 2022



Figure 3: The adduction rail prototype and Point Thumb mounted to the partial hand socket.

<u>Outcome</u> – Patient reported, remotely, that he has liked the thumb but has not been able to get to the office for in-person follow-up due to illness in the family. Additional follow-up for this patient will be conducted in the coming months to collect more feedback and some outcome measures. As seen in Figure 3, one of the challenges with this fitting was the patient's presentation and the fitting of the adduction rail track close to the residuum. This issue was addressed in the next iteration of the device that was used in the case study in the following section and the fitting was significantly improved.

CASE STUDY 2

<u>Presentation</u> – The patient is a 45-year-old female who sustained a workplace injury in 2010 resulting in the amputation of her left thumb at the carpometacarpal (CMC) joint. The injury also resulted in a long transradial amputation of her right hand. At the time of the evaluation, the patient reported using various transradial prostheses but had not received a prosthesis for the left thumb. Prior to the accident she was right-handed but has since relied heavily on her left hand for activities of daily living. Her left hand became the dominant side, capable of hook and cylindrical grasp paired with extreme wrist flexion and fine motor grasp between index and middle digits via MCP adduction. She is the primary caretaker of her home, performing most of the upkeep, including: lawn care, gardening, caring for chickens and large dogs, cooking, sweeping, dusting, shopping, etc. She has resorted to compensatory strategies and modified tools to continue performing as many of her ADL's as possible, but reported significant overuse symptoms and a heavy reliance on others for assistance.

<u>Treatment</u> – Due to the variability of the patient's daily tasks, a passively positionable thumb and novel adduction rail were recommended to improve her grasp security with delicate objects, as well as heavy duty – outdoor activities. The adduction rail prototype would allow her to manually maneuver the thumb in various opposed and non-opposed positions. The patient was fit with a trial prosthesis that included a custom high temperature vulcanized (HTV) silicone socket with a vivak frame. The adduction rail prototype and Point Thumb were mounted on the frame and aligned in a manner that gave the patient access to as many grasp patterns as possible.



Figure 4: Patient demonstrating the ability to achieve a variety of oppositional grasps to hold various objects as well as a flat hand posture to maximize use of the intact digits.

MEC 2022

<u>Outcome</u> – The patient immediately saw functional benefit of the prosthesis in the clinic. She demonstrated the ability to position the thumb and rail with both her right transradial prosthesis and distal end of her residual limb. The patient used the prosthesis for approximately 3 weeks. She reported using the prosthesis 3-5 hours at a time, with the longest duration being 8 hours. She found it to be most useful in carrying heavy items such as buckets of water, chicken feed, and dog bowls. Inside the home she found immediate benefit when holding anything with a handle, including brooms, vacuum cleaners, pots, pans, duster, paint brush, and a paint roller. She reported significant benefit in having the ability to modify the adduction angle to best position the thumb according to the object being grasped. Due to her being so well adapted to using her remaining digits for fine motor tasks, she appreciated the ability to move the thumb to a non-opposed position so it would not interfere, especially when typing and using a computer mouse. A definitive prosthesis will be provided and continued follow up including outcome measures are planned.

CONCLUSION

Thumb amputations, particularly at the CMC joint, present a variety of complicated functional, psychological, and occupational challenges. Restoration of the adduction and rotational degrees of freedom of the thumb is important for facilitating most grasps used in performing ADLs. The prototype adduction rail system presented here, in combination with the Point Thumb, allows for a robust thumb prosthesis that provides for flexion, extension, adduction, and rotation of the thumb. The two case studies presented here illustrate the need for such a device in that a traditional statically mounted thumb would limit the patient's ability to perform a number of key functional grasps. In both cases, use of the adduction rail and Point Thumb allowed patients to achieve their functional goals, ranging from metal work to caretaking activities. These positive early trial fittings indicate that the adduction rail system provides significant benefits to patients with CMC level amputations.

- [1] E. National Academies of Sciences and Medicine, *The Promise of Assistive Technology to Enhance Activity and Work Participation*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2017. doi: 10.17226/24740.
- [2] D. Desmond and M. MacLachlan, "Psychological issues in prosthetic and orthotic practice: A 25 year review of psychology in Prosthetics and Orthotics International," *Prosthet Orthot Int*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 182–188, Dec. 2002, doi: 10.1080/03093640208726646.
- [3] C. M. Parkes, "Psycho-social Transitions: Comparison between Reactions to Loss of a Limb and Loss of a Spouse," *British Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 127, no. 3, pp. 204–210, 1975, doi: 10.1192/bjp.127.3.204.
- [4] H. Burger, T. Maver, and Č. Marinček, "Partial hand amputation and work," *Disability and Rehabilitation*, vol. 29, no. 17, pp. 1317–1321, Jan. 2007, doi: 10.1080/09638280701320763.
- [5] Z. Kuret, H. Burger, and G. Vidmar, "Influence of finger amputation on grip strength and objectively measured hand function: a descriptive cross-sectional study," *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 181– 188, 2015.
- [6] L. Y. Chang and Y. Matsuoka, "A kinematic thumb model for the ACT hand," in *Robotics and Automation*, 2006. ICRA 2006. Proceedings 2006 IEEE International Conference on, 2006, pp. 1000–1005.
- [7] G. Andersson and L. Cocchiarella, AMA Guides® to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th ed.
- [8] A. M. Dollar, "Classifying Human Hand Use and the Activities of Daily Living," in *The Human Hand as an Inspiration for Robot Hand Development*, R. Balasubramanian and V. J. Santos, Eds. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2014, pp. 201–216. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-03017-3_10.

CASE STUDIES: FITTING PATIENTS WITH HEAVY DUTY RATCHETING MECHANICAL THUMB PROSTHESES FOR METOCARPOPHALANGEAL LEVEL AMPUTATIONS

¹Ben Pulver, MS, ²Mac Lang, CPO, FAAOP, ²Rob Dodson, CPO, FAAOP, ^{1,3}Stephen Huddle, MS, ^{1,3}Richard Weir, PhD ^{1,4}Jacob Segil, PhD, ¹Levin Sliker, PhD

¹Point Designs ²Arm Dynamics ³University of Colorado Denver | Anschutz Medical Campus ⁴University of Colorado Boulder

ABSTRACT

Thumb amputation presents a significant challenge for people due to the thumb's importance in creating stable functional grasps. Most thumb amputations are a result of trauma and most people with these amputations work in heavy manual labor occupations. The lack of many durable and functional prosthetic devices has caused many of these people to change or lose their jobs. This can lead to significant psychological and quality of life issues.

Here we present three different case studies of patients with metacarpophalangeal (MP) joint level thumb amputations being fit with a heavy duty ratcheting mechanical thumb prosthesis, the Point Thumb. The Point Thumb features anatomical flexion at both the MP and interphalangeal (IP) joints, a virtual MP joint center for better anatomical joint alignment, heavy duty metal construction, 10 different lockable positions, and the two methods of unlocking to allow for unilateral use. The first case is a patient with multiple digit amputations who desired to return to a manual labor job. The second case is a patient with an amputation of his dominant thumb who desired to improve effectiveness performing activities of daily living (ADLs). The third case is a patient with a left thumb amputation who desired to lift heavy objects to continue his hobbies and work. This patient had previous prosthesis experience and found the Point Thumb to be more functional than a cosmetic restoration or the TITAN Thumb. In all cases, the Point Thumb allowed patients to achieve their functional goals. These cases highlight the unique challenges present with thumb amputation and demonstrate the potential of the Point Thumb to provide users with a robust prosthetic thumb capable of handling heavy manual labor occupations.

INTRODUCTION

Approximately 500,000 people in the United States are currently living with an upper limb amputation [1]. About 92% of upper limb amputations are of the hand, finger, or thumb [1] and an estimated 45,000 new hand and finger amputations occur every year [2]. About 83% of these amputations are a result of trauma [1], [3]. The majority of these amputations are of fingers, 73%, with thumb amputations making up only 16% [4]. However, the loss of a thumb is far more significant than the loss of a finger; an amputation of the thumb at the MP joint leads to 40% impairment of hand function and 22% whole body impairment [5]. Additionally, the thumb is required to perform all but one of the most common grasps used to perform activities of daily living (ADLs) (Figure 1) [6]. Not only does the loss of a thumb create tremendous functional challenges, it can also create psychological challenges including depression, anxiety, social isolation, and low selfesteem [7], [8]. Despite the obvious importance of the thumb, recent studies have shown that the replantation rate for thumb amputations is declining [9] and patients are rarely fit with a prosthetic device of any kind [10].



Figure 1: Most common grasps used to perform ADLs [6]

BACKGROUND

Clinical Significance

The thumb plays a critical role in hand function as it provides the primary source of opposition in nearly every functional grasp [6]. Thus, the nearly 74,000 people in the US with thumb amputations face significant functional challenges [1], [4]. For the thumb, an amputation at the MP joint leads to 22% of whole body impairment [5]. This degree of functional impairment can lead to job displacement as many of these amputations occur in heavy manual labor occupations which can no longer be performed after the amputation (Figure 2).



Figure 2: (Top) Work performed prior to partial hand amputation. (Bottom) Job status after receiving partial hand amputation [11]

Prosthetic Options

There are several prosthetic options currently available for people with thumb amputations. In general, they can be sorted into four categories: cosmetic, body-powered, passive/positional, and externally powered (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Overview of prosthetic solutions for thumb amputations.
(a) custom silicone thumb (stamos and braun prothesenwerk) (b) livingskin[™] (Ossur) (c) X-Thumb (Didrick Medical) (d) ThumbDriver (Naked Prosthetics) (e) VINCENTpartial passive (Vincent Systems) (f) TITAN Thumb (Partial Hand Solutions) (g) i-Digits Access (Ossur) (h) VINCENTpartial active (Vincent Systems)

Cosmetic devices, such as livingskinTM (Ossur), are mostly an aesthetic option and provide limited functionality. Body-powered devices, such as the X-Finger (Didrick Medical) and the ThumbDriver (Naked Prosthetics), are more functional by providing active flexion and opposition. These devices are limited, however, by their reliance on a custom fit and limited grip force. Passive/positional devices, such as the VINCENTpartial passive (Vincent Systems) and TITAN Thumb (Partial Hand Solutions), provide adjustable flexion and opposition so are generally more functional than cosmetic solutions. These devices, however, often require the use of the user's contralateral hand to position the device. Externally powered devices, such as the VINCENTpartial active (Vincent Systems) and i-Digits Access (Ossur), are controlled using myoelectric signals and provide active flexion, manual or active adduction, and active opposition.

Durability and intuitive control systems are generally a challenge with these types of devices.

Table 1 provides a comparison of the different prosthetic options available in terms of their range of motion. The impairment values are calculated using the American Medical Association (AMA) guide for evaluating upper extremity impairment [5]. This comparison does not factor in issues like loss of sensation, device durability, and device ease of use, all of which have a significant role in device adoption and retention. Even so, this shows that large functional gains can be made by simply including flexion at one or two joints.

Table 1: Thumb prosthesis functional comparison from the perspective of digit and hand impairment remaining after fitting the prosthesis.

Prosthesis	Examples		ment*
1 TOStilesis	Examples	Digit	Hand
No Device		100%	40%
Static Opposition Post	livingskin TM	55%	22%
MP Flexion	TITAN Thumb	37%	15%
MP and IP Flexion	Point Thumb	31%	12%
MP Flexion and	VINCENTpartial	270/	110/
Radial Abduction	passive	2/70	1170
MP Flexion and	i-Digits Access ¹	170/	70/
Adduction	VINCENTpartial active ²	1/70	/ 70

¹Adduction is passive, ²Adduction is active

*Does not include impairment due to lack of sensory information

As durability is a key issue for people desiring to return to work in heavy manual labor jobs, body-powered and passive/positional devices are generally preferred. Despite this preference, there are still limited options for heavy-duty devices and thus new devices must be developed.

Point Thumb

The Point Thumb, by Point Designs, is a new heavy-duty passive/positional device with 10 different lockable positions in flexion and two degrees of freedom (DoFs) (Figure 4). It is the only device that features motion at the IP joint to achieve anatomical flexion as well as the only device to feature a virtual MP joint center to achieve anatomical joint alignment. With two methods of unlocking the ratchet mechanism, it is also able to be used unilaterally.



Figure 4: (a) Rendering of Point Thumb prototype with design features highlighted. (b) Physical Point Thumb prototype

CASE STUDY 1

Presentation

The first patient is a 49-year-old male who sustained a workplace injury resulting in a partial hand amputation of the left $1^{st}-3^{rd}$ digits at MP joint and 4^{th} digit distal to IP joint. At the time of the initial clinical evaluation he and his wife were caring for 7 foster children including 2 infants. He has seasonal work as a firefighter which he aims to return to. He is also considering returning to his previous job as a laborer which requires handling tools, lumber and heavy bags of supplies.



Figure 5: (Left) Patient's presentation and prosthesis with Point Thumb, two Point Digits, and one Point Partial. (Right) Patient lifting a weight with prosthesis.

Treatment

Due to the ruggedness of his occupational goals, passively positionable digits were recommended to improve grasp security. The intended use of the prosthesis was for work and ADLs including his hobby of logging. Externally powered options were contraindicated for his reported goals. The Point Thumb was considered a good option due to its robustness and ability to flex at the IP joint, which in this case was critical for achieving opposition with digits 1 and 2.

The patient was fit with a partial hand custom high temperature vulcanized (HTV) silicone socket and carbon fiber frame. The Point Thumb was used for the 1st digit and two full length Point Digits (Point Designs) were used for the 2nd and 3rd digits. Additionally, a partial finger prosthesis, the Point Partial (Point Designs), was used for the 4th digit by creating a separate custom HTV thimble style socket.

Outcome

The patient was able to securely hold long handled tools and cylindrical items. Pinch grip was made possible by the attachment of the Point Thumb mounting bracket to the silicone socket rather than the carbon frame. This flexibility allowed for some adduction to improve opposition, particularly active opposition between the Point Thumb and the 4th and 5th digits.

The patient adapted to use of the prosthesis quickly. Within one month the patient reported using the device to assist in chainsaw operation as well as use of an axe. He reported wear of the prosthesis up to 12 hours per day without issue but with an average of 4 to 6 hours.

The Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand (DASH) standardized outcome measure was used to assess

prosthesis effectiveness. The patient experienced a reduction in DASH score from 22 to 15, which while not meeting the minimum clinically important difference demonstrates important functional gains from the Point Thumb.

CASE STUDY 2

Presentation

The second patient is a 36-year-old male who sustained a right dominant thumb amputation secondary to a workplace accident. He previously worked in corrections and at the time of the initial clinical evaluation was considering alternate career options. He did, however, express a desire to return to his prior employer in some capacity and for some time.

While recovering from his injury, he is the primary caregiver for his children, while his wife works full time. He has difficulty with numerous ADLs given decreased ability to pinch and grasp with his previously dominant hand. Measurements taken during hand therapy indicated an 85% reduction in hand strength of his dominant hand compared to his non-dominant hand.



Figure 6: Patient's socket with Point Thumb prothesis

Treatment

The patient's goals dictated a digit for opposition that would be durable and very strong. His occupation necessitated a variety of thumb positions to provide pinch of flat lumber as well as grasp of round handles and tools. This requirement indicated he would benefit from the Point Thumb as it has motion at both the MP and IP joints.

Outcome

The patient was fit with a partial hand custom HTV silicone socket and carbon fiber frame. The Point Thumb was integrated rigidly into the carbon frame with alignment allowing for precision pinch, tripod pinch, as well as cylindrical and spherical grasps. More quantitative outcome measures will be reported after the patient has used the new device for an extended period.

CASE STUDY 3

Presentation

The third trial patient is a 57-year-old male who sustained a workplace injury resulting in the MP level amputation of the left thumb (Figure 7). At the time of the initial clinical evaluation he was working in a construction environment, mainly in carpentry. His main functional goal was the ability to grasp objects such as tools and materials such as lumber to perform his daily tasks at work, continue working on cars as a hobby, and perform ADLs at home.



Figure 7: (Left) Patient's presentation. (Right) Patient using Point Thumb to hold a spray bottle

Treatment

The patient was initially fit with a custom silicone restoration and a passively positional thumb, the TITAN Thumb, attached to a dynamic muscle contoured interface. An externally powered thumb was contraindicated due to the patient's bulbus distal presentation as well as a dirty and possibly wet working environment.

The patient found that the cosmetic restoration did not allow him to grasp heavy objects. While the TITAN Thumb gave the patient increased ability to grasp heavy objects, the patient found the need to use his contralateral hand to unlock it unacceptable. The Point Thumb was then fit as a replacement to the TITAN Thumb and found to correct this issue by allowing unilateral use.

The patient was ultimately fit with a partial hand custom HTV silicone socket and carbon fiber frame. The Point Thumb was integrated into a carbon fiber thumb cap that was glued to the HTV silicone underneath and allowed for grasp of both large and small objects.

Outcome

The patient reported increased satisfaction with the Point Thumb due to the novel spring back mechanism. This trial fitting was very recent and thus the collection of standardized outcome measures data is ongoing. Further results will be reported after the patient has used the new device for an extended period.

CONCLUSION

Thumb amputations present a variety of complicated functional, psychological, and occupational challenges. Most people with thumb amputations work in heavy manual labor occupations and the lack of robust prosthetic options up to this point prevents many of them from returning to work. The Point Thumb is a new robust passively positionable ratcheting prosthetic thumb with flexion at the MP and IP joints designed for use in heavy-duty work environments. The three case studies presented here illustrate the complexity of thumb amputation cases and demonstrate the viability of the Point Thumb as a robust prosthetic thumb for heavy manual labor occupations. In all cases, use of the Point Thumb allowed patients to achieve their functional goals, ranging from using a chainsaw to carrying lumber. These positive early trial fittings indicate that the Point Thumb has strong potential and warrants further study.

- K. Ziegler-Graham, E. J. MacKenzie, P. L. Ephraim, T. G. Travison, and R. Brookmeyer, "Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050.," *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.*, vol. 89, no. 3, pp. 422–9, Mar. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2007.11.005.
- [2] D. B. C. Reid, K. N. Shah, A. E. M. Eltorai, C. C. Got, and A. H. Daniels, "Epidemiology of Finger Amputations in the United States From 1997 to 2016," *J. Hand Surg. Glob. Online*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 45–51, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jhsg.2019.02.001.
- [3] J. M. Conn, J. L. Annest, G. W. Ryan, and D. S. Budnitz, "Non–Work-Related Finger Amputations in the United States, 2001-2002," Ann. Emerg. Med., vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 630–635, Jun. 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2004.10.012.
- [4] T. R. Dillingham, L. E. Pezzin, and E. J. MacKenzie, "Limb amputation and limb deficiency: epidemiology and recent trends in the United States," *Southern Medical Journal*, vol. 95, no. 8, p. 875+, Aug-2002.
- [5] G. Andersson and L. Cocchiarella, AMA Guides® to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th ed. .
- [6] A. M. Dollar, "Classifying Human Hand Use and the Activities of Daily Living," in *The Human Hand as an Inspiration for Robot Hand Development*, R. Balasubramanian and V. J. Santos, Eds. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2014, pp. 201–216.
- [7] D. Desmond and M. MacLachlan, "Psychological issues in prosthetic and orthotic practice: A 25 year review of psychology in Prosthetics and Orthotics International," *Prosthet. Orthot. Int.*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 182–188, Dec. 2002, doi: 10.1080/03093640208726646.
- [8] A. M. Giladi, E. P. McGlinn, M. J. Shauver, T. P. Voice, and K. C. Chung, "Measuring Outcomes and Determining Long-Term Disability after Revision Amputation for Treatment of Traumatic Finger and Thumb Amputation Injuries," *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.*, vol. 134, no. 5, 2014.
- [9] J. W. Hustedt, D. D. Bohl, and L. Champagne, "The Detrimental Effect of Decentralization in Digital Replantation in the United States: 15 Years of Evidence From the National Inpatient Sample," *J. Hand Surg.*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 593–601, May 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jhsa.2016.02.011.
- [10] J. I. Krajbich, M. S. Pinzur, B. K. Potter, and P. M. Stevens, Atlas of Amputations and Limb Deficiencies: Surgical, Prosthetic, and Rehabilitation Principles. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2016.
- [11] H. Burger, T. Maver, and Č. Marinček, "Partial hand amputation and work," *Disabil. Rehabil.*, vol. 29, no. 17, pp. 1317–1321, Jan. 2007, doi: 10.1080/09638280701320763.

DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF A MULTIARTICULATE PEDIATRIC HAND AS A RESEARCH PLATFORM FOR FUNCTIONAL IMPROVEMENTS

Marcus A Battraw, Peyton R Young, Jonathon S Schofield,

Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, University of California, Davis, Davis CA, USA

ABSTRACT

Multiarticulate upper limb prostheses for children remain sparse despite the continued advancement of mechatronic technologies that have benefited the adult population. Research in the field of upper limb prostheses is predominately adult focused, although rates of pediatric upper limb prosthesis abandonment are inflated when compared to adults. The function a prosthesis offers is a driving factor influencing whether a child will continue to wear their prosthesis. The current standard-of-care pediatric devices typically offer a single degree of freedom open/close grasping function, a stark departure from the multiple grasp configurations provided in advanced adult devices. However, as mechatronic technologies continue to advance and multiarticulate devices emerge on the clinical horizon, understanding how this technology translates effectively to the pediatric population is essential. This includes exploring grasping movements that may provide the most beneficial outcomes as well as effective ways to control the newly available dexterity. Currently, no available pediatric research platforms exist that are dexterous and boast open access to hardware and programming that allows for the investigation and provision of multi-grasp function. Here we present the development of a pediatric research platform. This dexterous pediatric-sized hand offers six degrees of freedom and programmable grasping configurations. We present our design metrics, discuss the mechanical and electrical design, and provide device performance results through benchmark testing.

INTRODUCTION

Upper limb (UL) prosthesis abandonment is a pervasive issue in pediatric populations. In fact, 35%-45% of children will abandon their device in comparison to adults where abandonment rates are 23%-26% [1]. Adoption of a prosthesis requires the device to provide sufficient function and facilitate healthy social interactions to the extent that these benefits outweigh the drawbacks of discomfort, device weight, inadequate performance, and unwanted attention in social environments [1]. Standard-of-care devices often fall short of meeting these demands. One avenue to addressing the shortcomings of current pediatric prostheses entails increasing the functionality of these devices which may seem a daunting task given that hands move with 27 degrees of freedom [2] allowing for complex manipulations. However, nearly all tasks we perform with our hands rely on a limited repertoire of movements, and 6-9 hand grasp configurations can account for nearly 80% of activities in home and professional environments [3].

Numerous advanced adult UL prostheses are available and capable of achieving multiple grasp configurations including 4-5 of the top frequently used hand grasps [4]. However, there are limited pediatric devices with the same dexterity. Most children's devices provide a single degree of freedom open/close prehensile motion with the exception of a very few such as the Vincent Young 3, which provides up to 13 individual grasps. Recently, there have been experimental or non-clinical pediatric devices developed and reported in literature [5]–[9]. However, a common motivating theme among these designs has been to minimize the device cost, citing the expensive nature of commercially available pediatric prostheses. Many of these devices are therefore limited in functionality with 1-3 actuators [5]–[7] and thus a limited inventory of grasping motions is provided.

Despite current limitations, it is evident that advanced muti-grasp hands are on the clinical horizon for children. However, before effectively implementing these devices in the clinic or prescribing them to patients, further research and analysis are required to address current gaps in knowledge. For example, it is unknown which grasping motions may be most effective to support age-specific childhood play and daily activities. Further, it is unknown how conventional adult muscle-based prosthesis control may be translated to this population given that many were born with their limb difference and their affected muscles have never actuated an intact limb. However, few to no dexterous pediatric upper limb research platforms are available with open access to hardware and software programming that enable researchers to begin addressing these current knowledge gaps.



Figure 1. The BEAR PAW: a pediatric multiarticulate prosthetic hand with six degrees of freedom and programmable grasp configurations.

Our goal was to design an advanced child-size UL prosthesis with similar dexterity to those present in adult devices. We developed a UL pediatric prosthesis research platform that is openly programmable and capable of performing a multitude of grasp configurations. Here, we describe the design and fabrication of the Bionic Engineering and Assistive Robotics Laboratory's Pediatric Assistive Ware (BEAR PAW, Figure 1), as well as benchmark its mechanical and electrical performance.

DESIGN METRICS

Multiple design constraints were adopted to guide the development of the BEAR PAW. Firstly, the size of the prosthesis was important as a tradeoff exists between size and maximum digit actuation; as individual digit actuation increases, the size of the device also increases to effectively house the necessary components. To accommodate this metric, we referenced 50th percentile 8-year-old male and female anthropometric data to proportion our design [10], [11]. Our design can achieve 6 degrees of freedom which includes digit flexion/extension and thumb opposition. Weight is an important constraint, especially for children who do not yet have the strength of an adult [12]. The mass of an Ottobock Electrohand 2000 for children

8-13 years old was used as a baseline for comparison (130 g). To achieve a lightweight dexterous design, we prioritized 3D-printing techniques for the advantages of the material's weight and produced a 177g device.

Electronics and the corresponding control were developed under two considerations: compact design and ease of use. An Arduino Pro Mini with a custom break out board mounted inside the wrist was developed to reduce the physical size of the electronics. Device communication was enabled via Bluetooth or USB to UART allowing for tethered or untethered control. A custom graphical user interface was developed in Processing 3 programming language to allow for ease of use through virtual buttons and potentiometers. Further, the device can accept serial inputs allowing it to communicate with common data acquisition systems. Together this allows for intuitive device control that can be agnostic to a variety of prosthetic control interfaces such as commercially available sEMG systems.

To define the physical capabilities of device actuation both closing time and force output were considered. Here, the time to close should be less than 1 s, reflecting values found among commercially available prosthetic systems

[13]. The BEAR PAW was able to achieve an average of 0.67 *s* for full hand articulation. Additionally, load considerations were selected to facilitate effective device performance across multiple grasping motions in a research setting. Target grasping force values of at least 500 g (4.9 N) were selected as most grasps are applied to objects less than this value [14]. Here the force output was achieved for multiple grasp configurations with corresponding loads ranging from 305 g to 736 g.

Finally, a device cost of less than \$1000 was selected to promote the accessibility of our system to other research laboratories. This was achieved by utilizing off-the-shelf componentry and open access software for a total raw materials cost of approximately \$500 USD. The above design requirements, their corresponding metric/value, and the values achieved by our design are presented in Table 1. These metrics are an aggregate of values reported in literature describing adult research platforms [15] paired with values derived from clinical and engineering discussions.

Design Requirement	Specification Metric:	Quantitative Value:	Achieved Value:	
Size	Anatomical proportions:	8-year-old child	Metric met	
Mass	Low mass:	< 130 g	177 g	
Inexpensive	Low cost:	< \$1000	\$500	
Degrees of Freedom	Digit actuation:	Flexion/Extension Thumb opposition	Metric met	
Actuators	Servo control:	6 servos	6 servos	
Electronics	Compact design:	Enclosed in hand	Metric met	
Operation Time	Substantial power:	Mains power	Metric met	
Control	Communication:	Bluetooth or USB to UART	Metric met	
Ease of Use	High usability:	Graphical interface	Metric met	
Grasp Speed	Time to close:	< 1 s	0.67 s	
Force	Minimum force:	> 4.9 N	7.22 N	

Table 1. Design Metrics

MECHANICAL & ELECTRICAL DESIGN

<u>Mechanical:</u> The BEAR PAW was developed in the computer automated design software SolidWorks 2020 and fabricated using a SigmaX R19 3D Printer with PLA material. The hand utilizes six KST-X08 series servo motors to actuate digit flexion/extension and thumb opposition; therefore, it is capable of a multitude of common grasping movements. Servo motors are mounted on the palmar and dorsal sides of the hand for digit flexion and thumb opposition along with one housed inside the thumb for flexion. To actuate the hand, the servo motors and synthetic cables follow a common tendon-driven actuation mechanism (with the exception of the geared thumb opposition). Here a pulley adheres to the servo motor shaft on which the synthetic cable is attached. The cable transverses the finger and is attached to the fingertip. When the servo rotates in one direction the cable is wrapped around the pulley causing digit flexion. Digit extension is achieved via torsion springs built into each joint to return digits to their extended positions.



Figure 2. Cross-section of the distal and middle phalanx depicting the silicone rubber tip and the tendon tension mechanism. The string tensioner screw allows for the string mount to move up and down (motion given by the blue arrows) so that the string to be easily tensioned.

A novel cable tensioning mechanism is incorporated into each digit as depicted in Figure 2. The end of the synthetic cable is attached to a

string mount that can be translated by tightening the string tensioner screw. Slack in the cable is inevitable and therefore the tensioning mechanism allows this to be mitigated. The BEAR PAW also includes silicone padded fingertips which aid in grabbing objects. These were made from Dragon Skin Silicone that were poured into 3D printed molds of the fingertips.

<u>Electrical:</u> The electronics enclosed in the hand consist of a 3.3V Arduino Pro Mini with an ATmega328 microcontroller, and a custom breakout board allowing for power connections and communication with external peripherals i.e., the six KST-X08 series servo motors and the HC-05 wireless Bluetooth module. The BEAR PAW can also be tethered to a computer by using a USB to UART breakout board and has six independently programmable degrees of freedom.

MECHANICAL & ELECTRICAL CHARACTERISTICS

The BEAR PAW was attached to a testing rig to obtain the mechanical and electrical characteristics of singledigit articulation along with 3 of the top 7 generalized hand grasps [14]. The force exerted by the hand, current under load, and power draw were captured. To obtain the mechanical force values, we developed a set of force-sensitive objects to be grasped by the BEAR PAW. Four custom manipulandum were fabricated to house calibrated SingleTact 8mm 10N miniature force sensors. An ACS723 current sensor was used to acquire the current load from the servo



Figure 3. (a) Rectangular manipulandum used to test digit flexion and thumb opposition. (b) Sphere to test tripod (c) Flat edged small cylinder to test prismatic 4 finger grasp. (d) Large diameter cylinder to test power wrap. motors during actuation and the corresponding voltage was obtained to determine the power draw. These signals were passed into a National Instruments USB-6210 data acquisition system sampling at 4000 Hz and were stored using a MATLAB script. An Arduino program was written to actuate each motion over a 5 second period which was repeated 10 times to collect sufficient data [16]. Manipulanda were strategically placed in front of the BEAR PAW to capture the mechanical and electrical values during motion postures. BEAR PAW actuation for each manipulandum is displayed in Figure 3 a-d.

A separate MATLAB script was written to read in the raw data for analysis. First, the force and current for each trial were converted from voltage via a linear transformation to newtons and amperes, respectively. Then each trial was cleaned to discard times when the hand was not active thereby collecting 2.5 seconds of force, current, and voltage data. The average force, current, and power values over the relevant time window were then calculated.

After obtaining the data for all ten trials across hand postures the averages and standard deviations for the force, current, and power were calculated. It was found that among the motion postures, the forces, currents, and power ranged from 0.76 N - 7.22 N, 0.68 A -1.79 A, and 3.39 W - 8.72 W, respectively. This is tabulated in Table 2. The force was obtained to determine the capacity in which the hand can effectively manipulate objects in a research setting. Additionally, the current and power define specifications for future nontethered implementation.

Table 2. Average Mechanical and Electrical Characteristics

Mation Postuna	Mechanical and Electrical Characteristics			
Motion rosture	Force (Newtons)	Current (Amps)	Power (Watts)	
Digits 2-5 Flexion	1.709 (±0.076)	0.675 (±0.069)	3.388 (±0.343)	
Thumb Flexion	0.761 (±0.042)	0.751 (±0.002)	3.763 (±0.010)	
Thumb Opposition	2.454 (±0.069)	0.729 (±0.003)	3.656 (±0.014)	
Wrap	7.216 (±0.578)	1.789 (±0.052)	8.718 (±0.242)	
Tripod	2.989 (±0.253)	1.433 (±0.035)	7.030 (±0.166)	
Prismatic 4 Finger	5.714 (±0.190)	1.644 (±0.068)	8.011 (±0.316)	

FUTURE WORK & CONCLUSIONS

This paper presents the development of the BEAR PAW, an advanced multiarticulate pediatric prosthetic hand with similar dexterity to that of adult devices. As such, it has the capability to provide children with more dexterity through multiple grasping configurations. We present mechanical and electrical characteristics to evaluate the device's effectiveness as a research platform. The long-term goal of this work is to refine and release the BEAR PAW as an open-source research platform to study pediatric prosthetic use with dexterous devices. In preparation, we plan for expanded analyses to capture performance characteristics across a multitude of grasping configurations. Further, an in-depth analysis of the BEAR PAW's grasping and maintaining capabilities will be evaluated and compared to other prostheses using the AHAP test [17]. Preparations are currently underway for an open-source release which includes developing fabrication and assembly guides, building a comprehensive bill of materials, and refining software.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank James Jimenez-Gordon for designing the manipulandum. Additionally, we would like to thank Rory Dawson and Dylan Brenneis for the advice and BLINC Lab for allowing us to make the HANDi Hand a little sibling.

- [1] E. Biddiss and T. Chau, "Upper limb prosthesis use and abandonment: A survey of the last 25 years," *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, vol. 31, no. 3. Prosthet Orthot Int, pp. 236–257, Sep. 2007.
- [2] A. Agur and A. F. Dalley, "Grant's Atlas of Anatomy, 12th Edition," pp. 1–1627, 2008.
- [3] J. Z. Zheng, S. De La Rosa, and A. M. Dollar, "An Investigation of Grasp Type and Frequency in Daily Household and Machine Shop Tasks," in *IEEE Int. Conf. on Robotics and Automation*, 2011.
- [4] M. A. Battraw, W. M. Joiner, M. A. James, and J. S. Schofield, "Perspectives on Leveraging Advancements in Adult Upper Limb Prostheses to Improve Pediatric Device Acceptance," in *Myoelectric Controls Symposium*, 2020.
- [5] A. Mohammadi, J. Lavranos, Y. Tan, P. Choong, and D. Oetomo, "A Paediatric 3D-Printed Soft Robotic Hand Prosthesis for Children with Upper Limb Loss," in *Int. Conf. of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society*, 2020, pp. 3310–3313.
- [6] L. Ccorimanya, R. Watanabe, M. Hassan, Y. Hada, and K. Suzuki, "Design of a myoelectric 3D-printed prosthesis for a child with upper limb congenital amputation," in *Int. Conf. of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society*, 2019, pp. 5394–5398.
- [7] T. Redman *et al.*, "The Design of a Myoelectrically Controlled Hand With Multiple Actuators For Five-Year Old Children," in *Myoelectric Controls Symposium*, 2011, pp. 1–4.
- [8] M. B. Burn, A. Ta, and G. R. Gogola, "Three-dimensional printing of prosthetic hands for children," J. Hand Surg. Am., 2016.
- J. M. Zuniga, J. Peck, R. Srivastava, D. Katsavelis, and A. Carson, "An open source 3D-printed transitional hand prosthesis for children," J. Prosthetics Orthot., vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 103–108, 2016.
- [10] L. W. Schneider, R. G. Snyder, C. L. Owings, H. Reynolds, D. Golomb, and M. Schork, "Anthropometry of Infants, Children, and Youths to Age 18," 1977.
- [11] I. F. Cheng, L. C. Kuo, C. J. Lin, H. F. Chieh, and F. C. Su, "Anthropometric Database of the Preschool Children from 2 to 6 Years in Taiwan," J. Med. Biol. Eng., vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 552–568, 2019.
- [12] M. Egermann, P. Kasten, and M. Thomsen, "Myoelectric hand prostheses in very young children," Int. Orthop., vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 1101– 1105, 2009.
- [13] I. Vujaklija, D. Farina, and O. Aszmann, "New developments in prosthetic arm systems," Orthop. Res. Rev., no. July, 2016.
- [14] T. Feix, J. Romero, H. B. Schmiedmayer, A. M. Dollar, and D. Kragic, "The GRASP Taxonomy of Human Grasp Types," *IEEE Trans. Human-Machine Syst.*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 66–77, 2016, doi: 10.1109/THMS.2015.2470657.
- [15] D. J. A. Brenneis, M. R. Dawson, and P. M. Pilarski, "Development of the Handi Hand : an Inexpensive, Multi-Articulating, Sensorized Hand for Machine Learning Research in Myoelectric Control," in *Myoelectric Controls Symposium*, 2017.
- [16] "ANSI/ISA Process Instrumentation Terminology, ANSI/ISA Standard 51.1 1979."
- [17] I. Llop-Harillo, A. Pérez-González, J. Starke, and T. Asfour, "The Anthropomorphic Hand Assessment Protocol (AHAP)," *Rob. Auton. Syst.*, vol. 121, p. 103259, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.robot.2019.103259.

DEVELOPMENT OF A MODULAR SIMULATED PROSTHESIS AND EVALUATION OF A COMPLIANT GRIP FORCE SENSOR

Eric D. Wells¹, Shealynn Carpenter², Michael R. Dawson³, Ahmed W. Shehata³, Jason P. Carey¹, Jacqueline S. Hebert^{3, 4}

¹Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada ²Department of Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada ³Division of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Department of Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada ⁴Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital, Alberta Health Services, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

ABSTRACT

Grip force sensory feedback is commonly stated as a desirable feature for upper-limb myoelectric prosthetics. Many techniques for non-invasive grip force feedback are being investigated. However, the choice of force sensor, feedback location, and experimental apparatus typically vary between research studies, making it challenging to compare results. A standardized device where individual parameters can be adjusted would allow researchers to evaluate the impact of each variable on results. An example of such a device is a simulated prosthesis. Simulated prosthesis devices enable non-disabled individuals to participate in myoelectric prosthesis research experiments while ensuring consistency in experimental apparatus between participants. We developed a lightweight, modular, and inexpensive simulated myoelectric prosthesis capable of delivering sensory feedback to fingertips and proximal forearm. We integrated mechanotactile feedback devices to deliver modality matched feedback to the forearm and somatotopically matched feedback to the fingertips. We compared a commercial force sensor before and after being encapsulated within a compliant material under a variety of loading conditions. The encapsulated force sensor outperformed the standard sensor in all non-ideal loading conditions by a large margin. The use of this encapsulation technique dramatically increases accuracy in sensor readings when loading conditions differ from calibration conditions. This device will help facilitate myoelectric research by providing a consistent experimental apparatus between non-disabled participants for various control and feedback-oriented studies.

INTRODUCTION

Upper limb amputation results in loss of both motor and sensory function of the hand, harming an individual's economic, psychological, and social well-being [1]. Prosthetic technology attempts to mitigate these effects by restoring functionality to the lost limb. Current research in the upper limb prostheses field focuses on electrically powered devices controlled by the muscle signals in the residual limb, termed myoelectric prostheses [2]. Myoelectric devices utilize the existing neural pathways in an open-loop fashion, without specific feedback on the outcome of the action.

Upper limb myoelectric prostheses users commonly state sensory feedback as a desirable feature, with grip force ranking as the highest priority sensory input [3]. Many methods of non-invasive grip force feedback implementation are being investigated with promising results [4]. However, parameters such as feedback location, force sensors, and experimental apparatus are typically unique to each experiment, making comparisons between studies difficult. There is an ongoing need for devices capable of adjusting these parameters to allow researchers to evaluate each variable independently.

In previous studies, simulated prosthesis devices have been used to investigate myoelectric control [5] and sensory feedback techniques [6]. An evaluation of a simulated prosthesis device showed that it resulted in motion kinematics and performance metrics similar to those found in myoelectric users [7]. A Simulated Sensory Motor Prosthesis previously constructed within our lab allowed for somatotopically matched mechanotactile feedback during myoelectric control [8]. However, initial testing with the device showed various issues that justified a revision. The large size, non-modularity and weight of the device (1.3 kg) made it difficult to move naturally, causing discomfort over long periods.

The objective of this work was to optimize the size, weight, and comfort of the Simulated Sensory-Motor Prosthesis while maintaining the ability to provide sensory feedback to both the forearm and fingertips. This allows for both modality and somatotopically matched feedback to be used on the same experimental apparatus. An additional focus was placed on modularity to allow for interchangeable components for various user sizes or experimental conditions. The device was fit with inexpensive compliant force sensors to measure the grip force of the end effector reliably. These sensors were evaluated and compared to standard sensors under various loading conditions to ensure accurate grip force measurement.



Figure 1: The MSP Overview

MECHANICAL DESIGN

Figure 1 shows an overview of the Modular Simulated Prosthesis (MSP) that was developed. A wrist and thumb support brace (MedSpec, USA) restrains the user's hand to ensure isometric contraction during electromyography (EMG) control. This commercially available product is designed to be comfortable, lightweight, adjustable, and leaves adequate space on the proximal forearm for EMG sensors and other devices. Additional finger flexion restraints were required to prevent the fingertips from colliding with the end effector. This was achieved by extending the existing metal supports within the brace with 3D printed PLA supports.

In previous simulated prosthesis devices, the prosthetic hand is typically mounted with a distal, radial, or ventral offset. Any combination of these offsets places the additional weight of the prosthetic hand off the axis of the user's arm, resulting in an undesired torque. Because the human hand width is much smaller than its length and breadth, this torque is minimized by offsetting in the ventral direction. An adjustable offset in the radial direction was also added to the MSP to resolve any line of sight issues that may arrive for specific tasks. An end effector attachment system was developed to attach the prosthetic hand to the brace while accommodating a variety of arm shapes and sizes. The system consists of a 3D printed bracket that rests midline on the ventral surface of the wrist brace and a cable tightening system (BOA, USA) that rests midline on the dorsal surface of the wrist brace. Attached to the bracket is a 3D printed wrist adapter for end effector mounting. The bracket is temporarily secured to the ventral side of the arm using a large Velcro strip. The cable tightening system is then wrapped around to the dorsal side, where 3D printed quickconnect clips are connected, completing the loop around the arm. The interlocking cable system is tightened to create a snug fit between the end effector and the participant's forearm to minimize the relative movement of the device.

A 3D printed, anthropometric, single-degree-of-freedom end effector was designed (Solidworks, 2018). The hand is driven by a Dynamixel MX-64AT servo motor (Robotis, Inc.). The fingers and thumb are actuated simultaneously using a linked bar mechanism, giving a gripping aperture of 100 mm. This end effector has a mass of 298 grams with a maximum continuous grip force of 11 N. The total mass of the MSP is 691 g with the end effector included, can be comfortably worn for 3 hours, and costs less than \$1000 CAD. The end effector, feedback devices, and attachment system are all independent units creating a highly modular design that can be easily customized to fit specific needs.

SENSORY FEEDBACK DESIGN



Figure 2: Mechanotactile Tactor Overview: (a) Fingertip Mounting System, (b) Motion Illustration

Sensory feedback is integrated into the MSP using small, inexpensive mechanotactile tactors modified from our earlier work [9]. The tactor devices use a lightweight Dymond D47 servo motor (Dymond, USA) with a 3D printed rack and pinion system to apply force to the user. We developed two mounting systems to apply somatotopically accurate feedback to the fingertips, or modality matched feedback to the forearm. The tactors are secured to the user with Velcro straps. Washable foam provides cushioning to prevent irritation to the user. The tactor with the fingertip mounting system is shown in Figure 2. The tactors can provide up to 12 N of force with a throw of 14 mm.

SENSORIZATION DESIGN AND EVALUATION

Measurement of grip force can be done through small force sensors placed on the fingertip of the prosthetic hand. Capacitive force sensors have previously been shown to perform better than commonly used force-sensitive resistors for this application [9]. These sensors are designed to be attached to a flat surface, with the force loading evenly distributed across its surface area. However, prosthetic hands undergo a variety of loading conditions that do not represent this ideal situation. Prosthetic fingertips with barometric pressure sensors embedded in elastomer [10] have previously been shown to provide pressure sensitivity in non-ideal loading conditions. It was hypothesized that encapsulating a capacitive force sensor in a compliant material would disperse the force evenly throughout the sensor, allowing for more robust measurement to various loading conditions.

Methods

A SingleTact S8-10 capacitive based force sensor (SingleTact, USA) was compared before and after being encased in Dragon Skin 10NV, a compliant silicone rubber based material (Smooth-On, USA). The two configurations are shown in Figure 2. A load cell (Omega LCM703 calibrated to a maximum error of 0.1N) was placed in line with an HS-35HD servo motor (Hitec RCD, USA) to apply force to the sensor through a PLA indenter. The load cell was read using Simulink Real-Time (Matlab 2014a) through a National Instruments data acquisition system (NI PCI6259). A force was applied between 0 and 10 N in a sinusoidal pattern for five total periods, similar to earlier work [9]. Loading periods of 0.5, 1, and 5 seconds were tested to account for dynamic loading effects. Each measurement was repeated three times to ensure repeatability between trials, for a total of 9 trials for each condition.

An indenter was made with a circular flat contact surface (10 mm diameter) and covered in a 2 mm thick foam to ensure even force distribution over the entire surface area of the sensor. Loading of this indenter directly aligned with the sensor acted as the ideal condition for both the baseline and the encapsulated configurations. All other conditions were compared to the ideal condition to evaluate the sensor's ability to adapt to various circumstances. An indenter with a 10 mm diameter curvature was tested to represent grasping a curved surface. The indenter position was moved by 4mm in both the proximal and distal directions to evaluate the effect of a non-central loading condition. For only the encapsulated configuration, a centred applied loading condition at a 15-degree angle was also evaluated.



Figure 3: Loading Curve Comparison Between Various Conditions

The baseline and encapsulated sensors voltage to force relationship was calibrated using a 5th-degree polynomial curve fit to all trials under the ideal condition. This calibration curve was used to predict force outputs under all other conditions.

<u>Results</u>

The results for all conditions are summarized in Table 2. In the ideal condition, both sensors performed within the manufacturer's specifications at root mean square error (RMSE) of 2.2% and 2.5% of full-scale range (FS) for the baseline and encapsulated sensor. The RMSE of the baseline sensor was much more sensitive to changing conditions than the encapsulated sensor. The curved indenter condition produced a substantial decrease in performance for the baseline sensor, giving an RMSE of 36.4% FS. The encapsulated sensor was relatively unaffected with an RMSE of 2.9% of FS. Similarly, when the ideal indenter was shifted by 4mm, the RMSE for the baseline rose to 25.5% FS (distal offset) and 15.5% FS (proximal offset). The encapsulated sensor RMSE increased to 10.5% FS (proximal offset) and 7.2% FS (distal offset). Finally, the encapsulated sensor showed an RMSE error of 7.6% FS during the 15-degree angled loading scenario. Figure 3 shows each sensor's loading curve fit with a 5th-degree polynomial curve. The baseline sensor's loading curves are much more varied when contrasted with the encapsulated sensor, illustrating the dependency on environmental conditions. For example, at a load of 10 N, the baseline sensor voltage output varies by 0.72 V (50.7% FS over 10 N) depending on the condition, while the encapsulated sensor only varies by 0.11 V (14.4% FS over 10 N).

Table 1: Summar	y of Experimental Resu	lts for Grip
Force	e Sensor Comparison	

Loading Condition	Baseline Sensor RMSE (N)	Encapsulated Sensor RMSE (N)
Ideal	0.22	0.25
Rounded	3.64	0.29
4 mm Distal Offset	2.55	1.05
4 mm Proximal Offset	1.55	0.72
15 Degree Angle	-	0.76

SOFTWARE DESIGN

BrachI/Oplexus, an open-source graphical user interface (GUI) designed for myoelectric prosthesis control [11], enables the EMG signal interpretation and end effector motion. A microcontroller (Arduino Uno, R3) controls the mechanotactile tactors and grip force sensors. Data logging capability is enabled at a frequency of 50 Hz. A custom GUI (Visual Studio, 2015) was created to communicate with the microcontroller for quick customization of tactor parameters.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

A lightweight, modular simulated prosthesis was developed with integrated modality and somatotopically matched mechanotactile feedback. Grip force sensors were compared before and after being encapsulated in a compliant material under various loading conditions. In all non-standard loading conditions, the encapsulated sensors outperformed the baseline sensor. This device will help enable researchers to study feedback and control techniques in myoelectric prosthetics by providing a reliable test apparatus that easily allows for the manipulation of various parameters.

Future work includes evaluating the performance of the MSP to ensure that the device is an accurate representation of a myoelectric user and evaluate the effectiveness of various sensory feedback techniques. More modular components, such as alternative feedback devices of various modalities, could be designed to fit onto the device. The device is currently tethered to a one-meter long power cable, which

may be restrictive for some studies. A wireless version of the MSP would make the device more flexible.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Glyn Murgatroyd and David Home from the Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital for the help with design and manufacturing. This work was funded by the National Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC).

- C. D. Murray and M. J. Forshaw, "The experience of amputation and prosthesis use for adults: a metasynthesis", *Disability and Rehabilitation*, vol. 35, no. 14, pp. 1133–1142, 2013
- [2] E. Scheme and K. Englehart, "Electromyogram pattern recognition for control of powered upper-limb prostheses: state of the art and challenges for clinical use," *Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 643–659, 2011
- [3] B. Peerdeman *et al.*, "Myoelectric forearm prostheses: state of the art from a user-centered perspective," *Journal of Rehabilitation Research* & *Development*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 719–738, 2011
- [4] C. Antfolk, M. D'Alonzo, B. Rosén, G. Lundborg, F. Sebelius, and C. Cipriani, "Sensory feedback in upper limb prosthetics," *Expert Review of Medical Devices*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 45–54, 2013
- [5] M. M. White *et al.*, "Usability comparison of conventional direct control versus pattern recognition control of transradial prostheses," *IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 1146–1157, 2017
- [6] C. Cipriani, J. L. Segil, F. Clemente, R. F. ff. Weir, and B. Edin, "Humans can integrate feedback of discrete events in their sensorimotor control of a robotic hand," *Exp Brain Res*, vol. 232, no. 11, pp. 3421–3429, 2014
- [7] H. E. Williams, Q. A. Boser, P. M. Pilarski, C. S. Chapman, A. H. Vette, and J. S. Hebert, "Hand function kinematics when using a simulated myoelectric prosthesis," in proc. of *IEEE ICORR*, pp. 169– 174, 2019
- [8] T. G. Kuus, M. R. Dawson, K. Schoepp, J. P. Carey, and J. S. Hebert, "Development of a simulated sensory motor prosthesis: a device to research prosthetic sensory feedback using able-bodied individuals," in proc. of Myoelectric Controls Symposium, pp. 209–212, 2017
- [9] K. R. Schoepp, M. R. Dawson, J. S. Schofield, J. P. Carey, and J. S. Hebert, "Design and integration of an inexpensive wearable mechanotactile feedback system for myoelectric prostheses," *IEEE Journal of Translational Engineering in Health and Medicine*, vol. 6, pp. 1–11, 2018
- [10] J. Segil, R. Patel, J. Klingner, R. Weir, N. Correll, "Multi-modal prosthetic fingertip sensor with proximity, contact, and force localization capabilities," Advances in Mechanical Engineering. vol. 11, No.4, 2019
- [11] M. R. Dawson, H. E. Williams, G. S. Murgatroyd, J. S. Hebert, P. M. Pilarski, "brachIOplexus: Myoelectric Training Software for Clinical and Research Applications," *In review in Myoelectric Controls Symposium*, 2020

FUNCTIONALLY VIABLE 3D PRINTED POLYMER TRANSRADIAL FRAME AND WRIST WITH VARIABLE COMPLIANCE DYNAMIC VOLUME SOFT SOCKET WITH INCREASED BREATHABILITY AND RANGE OF MOTION

Jonathan Kuniholm and Zachary Meyer

Stumpworx LLC

ABSTRACT

Nine of the top ten reasons that half of arm amputees reject prostheses are related to dissatisfaction with fit and comfort, primarily of sockets [1]. Traditional (particularly myoelectric) sockets severely limit range of motion (ROM), and create pressure, heat and moisture management, and tissue breakdown issues. Here we describe preliminary results from the testing of a new design of transradial frame and socket that combines advanced modern soft athletic shoe materials and construction with 3D printed frame counters to create a functionally viable 3D printed arm with integrated wrist and variable compliance socket weighing less than two pounds complete with harness and terminal device. The system has been used for cross country skiing and indoor rowing, sustaining hours of use in sweaty and friction-rich environments. The range of motion of the prosthesis was measured as compared to anatomical, showing a 59% improvement over a Veterans Affairs (VA) Hospital-provided self-suspending myoelectric socket. The arm and harness can bear tensile loads more than 50 pounds. Custom one-hand operable harness hardware can bear 65 pounds with a factor of safety of more than three.

BACKGROUND

Socket design has changed little in decades and is sorely in need of updating. Much research tends to focus on the symptoms, rather than the causes of socket shortcomings. Significant symptoms of the inappropriate use of unbreathable materials in socket design include sweat that collects in liners and sockets, and the damage that can occur to residual limbs as a result of its retention and continued use, as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Sweat captured in a custom silicone liner during approximately ten minutes of mountain biking (left). With continued use, this can lead to tissue breakdown (right).

Recent research from the VA, for example, describes the use of a battery-powered device to remove sweat from a nonbreathable hard socket [2]. While materials for upper limb sockets have tended to follow that of legs, the increased range of motion requirements of upper limb joints, coupled with tighter radii of curvature and lower soft tissue volumes of upper residual limbs remain critical differences. These differences make the traditional hard composite and nonbreathable liner construction of sockets perhaps even less suitable for upper limb sockets than for lower limb. While leather lacing sockets were replaced with composites in the 1940s, this can anecdotally be attributed primarily to factors such as efficiency in cost and time for providers, rather than in outcome or performance.

A number of manufacturers have released sockets that include deconstructed traditional frames and include flexible fabric components, allowing the adjustment of the shape and volume of the socket, including those produced by Lim Innovations and Martin Bionics [3, 4]. By virtue of the flexible components windowed in these sockets, which include polymer or fabric panels, and or gel or silicone liners within, these sockets can be adjusted throughout the day by the user for comfort. In general, these sockets continue to use non-breathable liners or inner sockets, are not available for the upper limb, or have upper limb versions that suffer from the standard limitations of self-suspended monolithic sockets (Figure [2]).



Figure 2: Adjustable volume transradial socket from Martin Bionics (left, similar to Chaz Holder's arm from CZ Biomed), RevoFit Transfemoral Socket from Revo Labs (right)

Because of the tapered nature of residual limbs of almost any level, standard suspensions for transradial amputees rely on components that extend above the elbow: either a harness including flexible hinges and a backplate, or some part of a rigid socket. Self-suspending sockets of monolithic composite material (High Fidelity, Northwestern, Meunster, TRAC, etc) all make different compromises about how to balance the security of the suspension with the inevitable loss of range of motion caused by the volume limitation on expansion in the cubital fold, the limits of elbow relief, and the capture of the humeral epicondyles [5]. Standard harnessed body-powered sockets usually slip to some degree to allow full flexion, as the residual limb is forced out of the socket by the expanding tissue at the cubital fold. These changes that occur at the elbow of any limb during flexion and extension, intact or residual, are at the root of this problem. Any socket at all, particularly one that is of a fixed volume during use (even if it is adjustable), must compromise about what happens to the bones as well as to the changing shape of the soft tissue that contains them as the bones move within the prosthesis and, indeed, within the skin of the residual limb itself. Figure [3] shows these dramatic changes, including in the length of the skin surfaces on the anterior and posterior sides of the elbow (left).



Figure 3: Challenges in securing a transradial limb across the elbow: From extension to flexion, there is a significant change in the length of exposed skin on the anterior and posterior, such that the exposed posterior length increases approximately fourfold from extension to flexion, while the anterior length is reduced by twice the depth of the cubital fold on flexion.

The posterior length is stretched approximately fourfold on flexion (center), most dramatically right at the olecranon. On the anterior side, the majority of the length disappears within the cubital fold (right). As anyone who has marked

MEC 2022

the bony prominences of a residual limb for a prosthetic fitting is aware, the locations of all of them with respect to the skin surface, particularly the distal tip, depend significantly on the angle of flexion and are not static. The volume of the limb similarly varies, and circumferences around the elbow also increase significantly at full flexion. So far, no prosthesis for upper limb (or any level of amputation, for that matter), has sought to deal with these challenges by maintaining secure contact with the residual limb while adapting dynamically to the changes in skin surface length, limb volume, and the orientation of the bone within the limb.

METHODS

This research sought to address the deficiencies of current sockets by challenging both their materials and their design. We were inspired first by the modern athletic shoe industry, which has undergone dramatic changes since the 1940s. During this time, these products went from being simply constructed, of canvas and leather, to the complex assemblies that they are today. Second, we were inspired by the iconic Apollo EVA spacesuit, surprisingly designed by the Platex undergarment company, even as aerospace companies sought to replace their "temporary" soft-goods design ultimately consisting of 21 layers of functional fabrics with a science fiction-inspired articulated hard suit [6]. It was incredibly important, once we realised that we were essentially designing a form-fitting garment that needed to dynamically attach hard components to the body, to think of this process as both garment patternmaking as well as product development.

This proposed design returns the prosthetic arm to a shoe-inspired design, updating the leather construction common to both sockets and shoes of the 1940s with the materials and processes developed by the multi-billion dollar athletic footwear industry over the intervening 75 years. Modern athletic shoe uppers are now constructed by a variety of methods, including "sandwiches" of layers of overlapping cut patterns of materials with different degrees of stretch, breathability and wicking, which are combined to create a three-dimensional structure that itself has different properties in different places, and which integrates various hard structures, like shanks, arch supports, heel counters, and a lacing system.

This the fourth generation of hundreds of individual prototypes that we have made, representing everything that we have learned over the last four years. Significant challenges included finding materials strong, light and cheap enough for the hard goods components, the development of the lacing system and the incorporated flexible hinges, determining the necessary performance of the socket over different regions of the surface of the residual limb, and reconciling those requirements with those of obtainable materials and available performance.

DESIGN

The proposed design consists of three major groups of components, shown assembled in Figure [4]. The counters (1), like the heel counter of a shoe, "counter" motion in one or several particular directions. These include the forearm counters (1.1) which have pads to register the ulna and radius, and for purchase when applying pressure in flexion or extension at the distal tip. The elbow counter (1.2), can be thought of as a traditional backplate deconstructed and with pads that grab the olecranon fossa and humeral epicondyles. The textile socket (2) is composed of upper and lower pieces nested together and containing a collection of pads designed to interface with the counters, as well as the bones of the residual limb.



Figure 4: Arm components, including the textile socket, forearm and elbow counters, and the two dynamic lacing systems that secure the counters to the limb and socket throughout the range of motion.

MEC 2022

The socket and pads are firmly secured through sewn connections to the counters. Finally, four separate lacing systems, making a total of 10 flexible hinges, are integrated with the textile socket and counters to ensure an intimate connection with the residual limb throughout the range of motion. Figure [5] shows how the two dynamic lacing systems, which we call the top lace and the hinge lace, adjust themselves throughout the range of motion in order to maintain a firm connection between the residual limb and the counters. The top lace does this through its routing over the cubital fold, tightening as the limb is extended, reducing volume at the elbow just as the arm does. The hinge lace, in contrast, only slightly tightens at flexion, but mainly helps maintain an intimate connection by exchanging the length between the anterior and posterior members of the pair on each side of the limb. This (along with the pad at the distal tip), ensures that the limb is not forced out of the socket at flexion as often occurs.



Figure 5: Diagram showing the changes in tension of the dynamic lace systems throughout (left), and of the four hinge crossings of the hinge lace loop, showing how the lace moves through the elbow counter (right).

RESULTS AND CONCLUSION

This version of the arm shows a 59% improvement in range of motion over a traditional myoelectric selfsuspending socket (97 degrees), which is 94% of the patient (the author)'s anatomical 111 degrees. The complete system, including arm, harness, and Dorrance 5xTi hook, weighs 0.5 ounces less than a Bebionic hand and wrist, itself weighing just less than 2 pounds. The arm has been worn for hours of cross country skiing and indoor rowing, and can easily transport all of the heat and moisture from these high friction activities away from the limb to evaporate. While the design has yet to be tried on additional patients, we are now confident that it is both possible and worth doing, and have several efforts in place to do this. The arm could be used with any fabric sock with integrated electrodes for pattern recognition or direct EMG, and we have a concept, but no prototype for such a sock.

- [1] E. Biddiss and T. Chau, "Upper-limb prosthetics: critical factors in device abandonment," American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation 86(12): 977, 2007.
- [2] G. Klute, J. Berge, G. Kaufman, and C. King."Effect of Hybrid Dynamic Air Exchange Suspension versus Perforated Elastomeric Liners on Problems Associated with Perspiration in Individuals with Lower Limb Amputation,"[Conference Presentation] MHSRS 2021, 2021. https://mhsrs.amedd.army.mil/sites/mhsrs2021/submissions/SitePages/Accepted-Abstracts.aspx.
- [3] A. Pedtke, K. Gallagher, and J. Williams, "The LIM Innovations Infinite Socket: A Needs Finding Assessment Through Early Clinical Results of Patient Use and Satisfaction with a Dynamic Modular Socket System." White Paper (<u>https://www.liminnovations.com/wpcontent/uploads/2017/08/The_LIM_Innovations_Infinite_Socket_White_Paper.pdf</u>), 2015.
- [4] T. Klenow and J. Schulz, "Adjustable-volume prosthetic sockets: market overview and value propositions." Canadian Prosthetics & Orthotics Journal 4.2 (2021).
- [5] J. Kuniholm " Variable Compliance Transradial Prosthetic Socket Allowing Full Anatomical Range of Motion Using Stiff Motion Counters in a Breathable Soft Matrix." Presentation for International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics (ISPO) World Congress. 2019.
- [6] De Monchaux, Nicholas. Spacesuit: Fashioning Apollo. MIT press, 2011.

PRELIMINARY ACTIVITIES TOWARDS A BATTERY CONSUME OPTIMIZATION ALGORITHM FOR PROSTHETIC HAND

Alessandro Varalda, Burim Kabashi, Marco Controzzi

The BioRobotics Institute, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Pisa, Italy

Department of Excellence in Robotics & AI, Scuola Superiore Sant 'Anna, Pisa, Italy

ABSTRACT

Optimization of the power consumption in Myoelectric hand prosthesis is a crucial issue that can affect the autonomy of the user and the weight of the device. This aspect seems to be barely addressed nowadays. Here we propose a high-level solution that can be implemented on a prosthetic hand, which combines a Current Sharing Algorithm and a Battery Management System with Optimal Output Current to: i) satisfy the daily requirements in terms of grasps and time, ii) enhance the battery life. This solution has been preliminarily implemented on the Mia Hand prosthesis (Prensilia SRL) showing promising results.

INTRODUCTION

In terms of consume, when used for biomedical applications, prosthetic hands can be classified as Portable Electronic Devices (PED). These are used during daily life for many consecutive hours without having the possibility to recharge the supplying power source, which usually consist of a battery pack. This aspect is often underestimated, and the result may lead to a poor design of a prosthetic hands which will require a bulky and heavy battery system. It is worth notice that "weight" represents one the most critical features for producing a successful and competitive prosthetic. In the design of robotic limbs, it is a common practice to take the weight at a minimum[1]. Due to the suspension system, and the external electronics, prosthetic devices are felt heavy by amputees even when the weight is similar to the sound limb.

The selection of the battery should also consider how the provided energy is distributed between the electronic components of the prosthetic hand. For the sake of clarity, all electronic components are going to be divided in two categories: a) **Fixed** - all components which power consumption is almost fixed during the operation (i.e. passive elements, microcontrollers, amplifier, etc.)¹; b) **Variable** - all components which power consumption may drastically change during time (i.e. power converter, drivers, motors, etc.).

Concern must be address towards this second category in order to prevent unforeseen stress-full situations where huge amount of energy is demanded to the battery. A control strategy that does not take into account such dilemma may cause any prosthetic device to not be able to satisfy the daily operative time required by a patient or, in the worst-case scenario, may lead to battery failure. Since the described problems could ask for a re-design of the prosthetic hand, the objective of this paper is to present a high-level solution that can be implemented on any hand already available on the market. The presented solution will be divided in two parts: i) *Current Sharing Algorithm*, and ii) *Battery Management System with Optimal Output Current*.

METHOD

Case study

The case study we used is a research prosthetic hand (model Mia hand, Prensilia SRL) characterized by a transmission mechanism that implements a semi-independent actuation of the abduction/adduction of the thumb and of the flexion/extension of the index, by means of a single actuator. Thus, with only three BLDC motors the hand is capable to perform most of the grasps and gestures useful in activities of daily living [2].

Current Sharing Algorithm

Current Sharing Algorithms (CSA) are a solution adopted in systems where a common resource, in this case the current, must be shared between multiple devices. Examples of current sharing algorithms can be found in many different applications: they have become very common in power electronics([3], [4]), where multiple loads require to be supplied with the same amount of current (sometimes also referred as *Load Sharing Algorithm*), in this cases the CSA tends to make disappear any

¹ The current consumed by all components changes during time since it depends on the battery voltage, but in this first category variations are so small that can be considered almost negligible.

unbalance between load currents, bringing the system to an equilibrium condition. Another application of the CSA can be found in the photo-voltaic field [Solar Array], where is used in order to provide energy in a sequential fashion to different points in a solar array, therefore optimizing the power efficiency. The algorithm presented in this paper can be seen as a generalization of the solutions presented above.

The Mia hand is a perfect example of why the solution adopted in the power systems described above cannot be exploited. In particular, in this hand the major contribute, in terms of grasping force, comes from the thumb, therefore providing the same amount of current to all fingers would not represents an efficient solution. It would be preferable to implement a sequential strategy similar to that adopted by the solar panel.



Figure 1: Left) Motor currents shared among the motors of the Mia hand exploiting the CSA proposed. Right) Pseudo code of the CSA implemented.

The CSA developed for the Mia hand is presented in Figure 1 and can be described as follow:

- 1. An optimal current $(I_{battery,max})$ that the battery is able to provide is estimated. This parameter will be exploited by the *Battery Management System with Optimal Output Current* presented below;
- 2. Priorities are assigned to the motors according to the grasp selected by the patient/user (basically the order in which motor will move is defined);
- 3. The motor with the highest priority starts to move and thus starts to absorb current. The amount of current "left or available" ($I_{residue} = I_{battery,max} I_{mot,1}$), will determine the limiting current for the second motor in order of priority².
- 4. the last item is repeated for all the remaining motors.

This process can be described as master-slave current sharing, were motor consumes current according to their priority with the commune purpose of sharing the source current without exceeding it.

Battery Management System with Optimal Output Current

The second part of the solution proposed in this paper aims to find the optimal current that the battery should provide to the CSA and that implements a *Battery Management System* (BMS). BMS are usually implemented in order to monitoring values descriptive of the pack's present operating condition. This is very useful, for example, to determine at priory the instantaneous available power that can be supplied[5]. Unfortunately, estimating the parameters needed to design a BMS could be time-consuming and expensive. For this reason, it was preferred to empirically measure the discharging characteristic of the battery adopted by the Mia hand. To this aim, a series of tests were conducted in which the hand had to perform different type of grasps while the battery voltage was recorded. The test results can be described as a series of linearized curves which shows the trend of the battery voltage: over repetitions of the same grasps and over different values of supplying current. In order to select the optimal current from a set of infinite possible choices, a constrain had to be defined. Thanks to Ian M. Bullock and his colleges [6], it was possible to evaluate the number of daily grasps performed by amputated patients. These are around 2500 grasps, divided between Cylindrical Grasps 40%, Precision 37.6% and Lateral 22.4%. In addition, from [7], [8], it was possible to determine the prosthetic daily wearing time, that is between 8 and 12 hours. This information set a target for the autonomy of the hand and thus are the target of our algorithm.

Taking into account such requirements, the optimal solution is the one satisfying the following optimization function:

² In order to execute this kind of algorithm, the current absorbed by each motor must be measured.

objective function: max min $(V_{end} - V_{limit})$

This is a max-min problem, where V_{end} is the estimated battery voltage level that is "left" once daily requirements have been satisfied, while V_{limit} is the minimum voltage level guaranteed by the battery. This solution can be also described as follow:

- 1. The number of grasps left to fulfil daily requirement are measured;
- 2. A combination of the remaining grasps is selected;
- 3. For each combination, the voltage left once daily target has been satisfied is estimated;
- 4. Between all possible combinations, it is selected the one that permits to consume the highest current (best performance) without turning off the battery (battery failure).



Figure 2: Example of application of the BMS with optimal output current³.

In Figure 2 it is presented a possible scenario where a patient wants to perform a Precision grasp. The battery voltage is 6V and the minimum operative battery voltage is 5V. In this example, for each grasp, the consumed current could take one out of five different possible values. In Figure 2 it is possible to notice that not all the combinations of grasps could fulfil the daily target. The red broken line highlights the solution of the optimization problem described above. It is important to notice that grasps are ordered by the algorithm as follow: 1) The first grasp type selected is the one requested by the user; 2) The remaining grasps are order from the most consuming to the least consuming.



Figure 3 - Left) Battery Consumed Current - CSA vs no-CSA; Right) Grasping Force - CSA vs no-CSA

³ The x-axis is homogeneous, first battery discharge characteristic is presented over the "left" number of grasps (#Grasps) then over the "left" resting time (tREST, period in which the hand is wore but not used).

RESULTS

The results of the discussed algorithm are shown in Figure 3. It is possible to notice that the algorithm was able to drastically reduce the value of the maximum instantaneous power, measured in terms of maximum consumed current, required during grasp, while increasing the force exerted. The reason is that through sharing it was possible to supply the thumb motor, which is the major contributor in terms of grasping force, with an higher amount of current while preventing any degrading of the other motors performance.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORKS

The presented work represents a preliminary study for the optimization of battery consume in the field of prosthetic hands. For the future it could be useful to: implement a model of the Mia hand battery as described in [5] and to integrate some kind of optimal control inside the CSA in order to have a more robust solution.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Authors would like to thank F. Clemente and Nicola Motzu (Prensilia SRL) for their help during the experimental activities with the MIA hand. This study has received funding from the European Horizon 2020 R&I programme under grant agreement N° 965044, Project B-CRATOS.

- [1] R. F. Weir and D. Ph, "Design of Artificial Arms and Hands for Prosthetic Applications," *Stand. Handb. Biomed. Eng. Des.*, pp. 1–61, 2004.
- [2] M. Controzzi, F. Clemente, D. Barone, A. Ghionzoli, and C. Cipriani, "The SSSA-MyHand: A dexterous lightweight myoelectric hand prosthesis," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 459–468, 2017, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2016.2578980.
- [3] S. Y. Chen, B. C. Yang, T. A. Pu, C. H. Chang, and R. C. Lin, "Active Current Sharing of a Parallel DC-DC Converters System Using Bat Algorithm Optimized Two-DOF PID Control," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 84757–84769, 2019, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2925064.
- [4] H. Yan, Y. Xu, J. Zou, B. Wang, and S. Jiang, "A maximum current sharing method for dual-redundancy brushless DC Motor control," 2014 17th Int. Conf. Electr. Mach. Syst. ICEMS 2014, no. April 2018, pp. 1057–1061, 2014, doi: 10.1109/ICEMS.2014.7013634.
- [5] G. L. Plett, "Extended Kalman filtering for battery management systems of LiPB-based HEV battery packs Part 1. Background," J. Power Sources, vol. 134, no. 2, pp. 252–261, 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.jpowsour.2004.02.031.
- [6] I. M. Bullock, J. Z. Zheng, S. De La Rosa, C. Guertler, and A. M. Dollar, "Grasp frequency and usage in daily household and machine shop tasks," *IEEE Trans. Haptics*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 296–308, 2013, doi: 10.1109/TOH.2013.6.
- [7] C. Widehammar, A. Hiyoshi, K. Lidström Holmqvist, H. Lindner, and L. Hermansson, "Effect of multi-grip myoelectric prosthetic hands on daily activities, pain-related disability and prosthesis use compared with single-grip myoelectric prostheses: A single-case study," J. Rehabil. Med., vol. 54, p. jrm00245, 2022, doi: 10.2340/jrm.v53.807.
- [8] C. Pylatiuk, S. Schulz, and L. Döderlein, "Results of an internet survey of myoelectric prosthetic hand users," *Prosthet.* Orthot. Int., vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 362–370, 2007, doi: 10.1080/03093640601061265.

TOUCH FEEDBACK AND CONTACT REFLEXES USING THE PSYONIC ABILITY HAND

Aadeel Akhtar, Jesse Cornman, James Austin, Dhipak Bala PSYONIC, Inc.

ABSTRACT

The PSYONIC Ability Hand is a commercially available multiarticulated prosthetic hand with six degrees of freedom and sensorized digits. Through using contact reflexes and vibration feedback, users can grasp delicate objects without damaging them. We show results that two subjects successfully grasp hollow eggshells and fragile cups statistically significantly more often when provided with contact reflexes and touch feedback.

INTRODUCTION

The Ability Hand

PSYONIC has developed the commercially available Ability Hand—a compliant, robust, sensorized prosthetic hand to be used by people with upper limb amputations. The Ability Hand is:

- Multiarticulated all five digits flex/extend and the thumb rotates both electrically and manually
- Robust compliant fingers allow the hand to withstand blunt force impacts to the fingers
- Lightweight -460 g, carbon fiber palms make the hand light and strong
- Fast using brushless motors with field-oriented control, the fingers can close 90 degrees in 200 ms
- Waterproof IP64 waterproof rating, enabling washing the hand in water
- Sensorized pressure from the fingertips, fingerpads, and lateral edges maps to a vibration motor

The Ability Hand uses a standard electronic quick disconnect and integrates with commercially available control systems (e.g. Coapt Pattern Recognition, OttoBock/RSL Steeper myoelectrodes, etc.). Apple and Android phone apps are available to configure the hand over Bluetooth as well as make firmware updates. USB-C charging allows the hand to be fully charged within one hour.



Fig. 1 The Ability Hand attached to a socket

Sensory Feedback

Poor manipulability due to the lack of sensory feedback is a leading cause of prosthesis abandonment [1-2]. While body-powered prostheses can give users some sensory feedback, these devices are limited in achievable grasps and can cause overuse injury in the shoulders of the user. There are several functional advantages to providing sensory feedback in a multiarticulated prosthesis, including contact detection and body self-identification [3]. An external study by Matulevich et al. [4] shows that users could grasp foam, crackers, and hollowed eggs statistically significantly faster (between 1.4x-3.3x) when using contact detection from pressure sensors on a prosthetic hand. Another external study by Berke et al. [5] showed users performing tasks more than 15 seconds faster on average when provided with contact detection.

In the Ability Hand, all five digits can be sensorized with four pressure sensors in each digit. The index and little fingers have pressure sensors on the distal fingertip, the fingerpad, and two on the outer lateral edges. The thumb, middle, and ring fingers typically have pressure sensors on the distal fingertip, the fingerpads, and one on each lateral side of the digit. These pressure sensor locations were chosen due to their increased likelihood of contacting objects. The sensor providing the highest pressure value is mapped to a vibration motor whose amplitude changes with the pressure applied.

To test the efficacy of the sensory feedback, we recruited two volunteer subjects. The first subject, S1, was a male, age 42, with a right proximal below-elbow amputation. The second subject, S2, was a male, age 78, with a left distal below-elbow amputation. S1 was fitted with a commercial muscle pattern recognition system developed by Coapt that we integrated to use with PSYONIC's hand. S2 used a custom linear transducer mechanism developed by PSYONIC that uses shoulder movements to control opening and closing the hand.

Subjects S1 and S2 were asked to use the hand at home for 1 week. Immediately prior to and after the home trial, both subjects participated in two experiments: 1) a cup grasping task, and 2) an eggshell cracking test. All methods were approved by IRB #13920 at the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. Subjects also consented to images and videos to be taken during the experiments. Preliminary experiments were performed in Akhtar et al. [6].

In the cup grasping task the subjects were asked to grasp ten empty plastic cups. The distance between the outer tips of the index finger and thumb was measured to determine the amount of deformation of the cup. This process was repeated over 4 conditions: 1) with Touch Feedback and with Visual Feedback, 2) without Touch Feedback and with Visual Feedback, 3) with Touch Feedback and without Visual Feedback, and 4) without Touch Feedback and without Visual Feedback. The order of the conditions was randomized. These conditions were selected to observe differences in grasping performance when providing touch feedback, both with and without visual feedback.

For the eggshell cracking test participants were asked to grasp ten hollowed eggshells without cracking them. We recorded the number of eggshells cracked. Again, the process was repeated under the same four conditions as the cup grasping task. When providing touch feedback to subjects, a contact reflex was implemented in the hand that caused the hand to automatically stop when contact with the object was made. Fig. 2 shows a typical pressure sensor reading when grasping a hollowed eggshell.



Fig. 2 Reading from pressure sensor on the finger pad of the distal index finger when Subject S1 grasped an eggshell.

Results from Subjects S1 and S2 across both sessions are given in Table I for the cup grasping task and Table II for the eggshell cracking test. For the cup grasping task, there was a statistically significant difference between feedback conditions as determined by a two-way repeated measures ANOVA (F(3,3) = 567.7, p < 0.0005). Post-hoc tests revealed that the touch feedback conditions (with or without visual feedback) statistically significantly outperformed both conditions without touch feedback (p<0.05). Consequently, we conclude that by providing touch feedback with contact reflexes users deform the plastic cup significantly less. There were no statistically significant differences between sessions, and the session had no significant effect on the condition.

	Session	Touch, Visual (mm)	Touch, No Visual (mm)	No Touch, Visual (mm)	No Touch, No Visual (mm)
C1	1	80.3	79.5	37.4	39.4
51	2	78.7	82.2	51.4	48.9
50	1	77.3	80.2	38.6	38.9
52	2	87.3	89.5	49.5	54.3
Gran	nd Mean	80.9	82.9	44.2	45.4

Table I Results from cup grasping task

For the eggshell cracking test, there was a statistically significant difference between feedback conditions as determined by a two-way repeated measures ANOVA (F(3,3) = 21.63, p = .016). There was no statistically significant differences between sessions, and the session had no significant effect on the condition. Again, touch feedback with contact reflexes resulted in better performance, with less eggshells cracked compared to when no touch feedback with contact reflexes was given (with or without visual feedback).

	Session	Touch, Visual (# cracked)	Touch, No Visual (# cracked)	No Touch, Visual (# cracked)	No Touch, No Visual (# cracked)
C1	1	0	2	7	9
51	2	0	3	6	6
50	1	0	0	7	7
52	2	2	1	8	6
Gran	nd Mean	0.5	1.5	7	7

Table II Results from eggshell cracking test

Fig. 3 shows images of the Subject S1 performing the eggshell cracking test. When touch feedback with contact reflexes was turned on, the subject could easily grasp the eggshell without cracking it, even while blindfolded. When touch feedback with contact reflexes was turned off, the subject usually cracked the eggshell, even when he could see it. Fig. 4 shows Subject S2 successfully grasping the eggshell while blindfolded when receiving touch feedback with contact reflexes.



Fig. 3 Subject S1 cracking an eggshell when not receiving touch feedback while seeing the eggshell (left), but successfully grasping the eggshell when receiving touch feedback while blindfolded (right).



Fig. 4 Subject S2 successfully grasping the eggshell when receiving touch feedback while blindfolded.

Qualitative feedback from the subjects after the home trials was positive. Subject S1 reported he mostly wore the hand during work. Common tasks included holding drinks, driving, shaking hands, and sweeping. He liked the light weight of the prosthesis as well as the bionic look. Subject S2 liked the fact that our hand could work with both off-the-shelf myoelectric systems and a linear transducer system. He used a linear transducer system for the trial that he found to perform vastly better than a myoelectric system. He used this mainly to grasp glasses to drink from, for exercising on a stairmaster, and for assistance in typing (e.g. holding down the shift button on a keyboard). For improvements, he expressed that multiple settings for the pressure sensor contact reflexes would be helpful, as some objects require tight grips while others require delicate grips.

- [1] D. Atkins, et al., "Epidemiologic overview of individuals with upper-limb loss and their reported research priorities," J Prosthet Orthot, 1996.
- [2] B. Peerdeman, et al., "Myoelectric forearm prostheses: State of the art from a user-centered perspective," *J Rehabil Res Dev*, 48(6), 719-737, 2011
- [3] P. Marasco, et al., "Robotic touch shifts perception of embodiment to a prosthesis in targeted reinnervation amputees," *Brain*, 134(3), 747-758, 2011.
- [4] B. Matulevich, et al., "Utility of contact detection reflexes in prosthetic hand control," IEEE IROS, 2013.
- [5] G.M. Berke, et al., "Contact reflex improves fragile grasping while blindfolded," AAOP Annual Meeting & Scientific Symposium, 2017.
- [6] Akhtar, et al., "A low-cost, open-source, compliant hand for enabling sensorimotor control for people with transradial amputations," *IEEE EMBC*, Aug 2016.

UNIVERSAL, LOW-COST TRANSRADIAL CHECK SOCKET FOR RAPIDLY VALIDATING MYOELECTRIC CONTROL

Abigail R. Citterman^{1,2}, Taylor C. Hansen¹, Eric S. Stone¹, Troy N. Tully¹, Christopher M. Baschuk², Christopher C. Duncan³, Jacob A. George^{1,3,4,5}

¹Biomedical Engineering, University of Utah ²Handspring, Salt Lake City, UT ³Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Utah ⁴Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Utah, ⁵Mechanical Engineering, University of Utah

ABSTRACT

The validation of myoelectric prosthetic control strategies for individuals experiencing upper-limb loss is hindered by the time and cost affiliated with traditional custom-fabricated sockets. Consequently, researchers often rely on virtual reality or robotic arms to validate novel control strategies, limiting end-user involvement. Here we present a multi-user, low-cost, 3D-printed transradial socket for short-term use that can be custom-fit and donned rapidly, used in conjunction with various electromyography configurations, and adapted for use with various residual limbs and terminal devices. The check socket was fabricated prior to participants' arrival, fitted by the researchers within ten minutes, and donned in under one minute. It accommodated multiple individuals and terminal devices, and its total cost of materials was under \$10 USD. Across all participants, the socket did not significantly impede functional task performance or reduce the electromyography signal-to-noise ratio. The socket was comfortable enough for at least two hours of use. The development of this universal transradial check socket constitutes an important step towards increased end-user participation in advanced myoelectric prosthetic research.

INTRODUCTION

Up to 50% of individuals with upper-limb loss abandon their myoelectric prostheses [1], often citing unreliable control as a critical factor [2]. More dexterous myoelectric control could improve prosthesis acceptance. However, validation of new control strategies with end users is limited by the time, cost, and expertise needed to fabricate a custom-fit socket with several embedded electrodes. Traditional transradial sockets include only two electrodes and require three to four visits with a prosthetist over three to six weeks for \$800 to \$3,000 before affiliated labor costs [3,4]. Due to these constraints, research is often limited to just one or a few individuals with upper-limb loss, often working in virtual reality environments or with a robotic arm mounted apart from the user. Other studies rely on intact participants or offline analyses with no active human involvement.

One approach to increasing end-user participation is to reduce cost by using an adjustable socket. Recent work in this area has focused on photogrammetry and expandable foams [5, 6]. Though these sockets reduce cost, they still require a lengthy fabrication process that must be repeated for each individual. While sockets that are both customizable and affordable have been explored, they have yet to be adapted for myoelectric prosthesis use.

To address these needs, we developed a multi-user, 3D-printed transradial check socket for functional validation of new myoelectric control strategies in research settings. The socket can be fabricated by the researchers prior to the participants' arrival, and rapidly fit, donned, and used. We explored its comfort and functionality with a high-count surface-electromyography (sEMG) control system. The development of this socket constitutes an important step towards expanding the involvement of individuals with upper-limb loss in myoelectric control research.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Device Development

The multi-user check socket is designed to: i) optimize accessibility and cost; ii) accommodate a wide range of data acquisition (DAQ) methods, residual limbs, and prostheses; and iii) ensure durability, functionality, and comfort. The 3D-printed socket consists of four customizable struts that attach to a collet, which in turn connects to a custom terminal-device attachment that varies for each unique terminal device (Figure 1). A layer of self-adhesive wrap between the skin and the socket provides grip, and a second layer of self-adhesive wrap around the socket secures the fit. The socket design is available at https://github.com/utahneurorobotics/u-of-u-functional-test-socket.



Figure 1: (A) Socket overview. (B) The residual limb is outfitted with sEMG electrodes and (C) wrapped securely in a disposable adhesive bandage. (D) After being heated, molded, and cut to the desired length, the custom-fit struts are attached to the collet, and the socket is donned. (E) A second layer of adhesive bandage is wrapped around the limb and socket system, and the socket is fit with a myoelectric prosthesis, pictured above with a TASKA hand. The 3D-printed components can be removed, reshaped, and reused with subsequent individuals without reprinting.

i) Accessibility

The 3D-printable design of the socket improves accessibility, enabling researchers without prosthetist expertise to complete both the fabrication and fitting processes. The socket is 3D-printed prior to the participant's arrival. Upon arrival, the custom-fitting process can be completed within ten minutes, and the socket can be donned in under one minute (Table 1), not including electrode placement, as this time will vary depending on the DAQ system. The total cost of materials of one socket is approximately \$8.00 (Table 2), excluding other 3D-printer costs such as maintenance. This contrasts with recent low-cost sockets ranging from \$100 to \$200 [5, 6]. All components are widely available materials. The accessibility of this design is conducive to greater participant involvement, allowing those with transradial amputations to rapidly use and validate advanced myoelectric prostheses.

Table I: Time Approximation, by Process	
---	--

Fabrication (3D printing)	6 hours, 30 minutes
Fitting (molding struts)	10 minutes
Donning	< 1 minute
Doffing	< 1 minute

ii) Adaptability

Our socket is designed to be versatile and is compatible with a broad range of control methods, residual limbs, and terminal devices. The socket grants access to the skin for various means of control, and the 3D-printed struts can be molded around a range of DAQ methods (electromyography, magnetomyography, sonomyography, etc.) without affecting fit or comfort. The polylactic acid (PLA) filament allows the struts to be heated in a hot water bath or with a heat gun and quickly molded to the unique presentation of the participant's limb. The adaptability of the socket improves the overall participant experience by accommodating limb-volume fluctuations and avoiding any painful sites (e.g., bone protrusions, neuromas, wounds). The design is adaptable to other open-source connectors that can be printed along with the socket to accommodate a variety of commercially available prostheses. Such adaptability is also conducive to improved hand orientation, as the default position of the prosthesis can be adjusted by rotating the terminal device attachment within the collet (Figure 1A).

Table 2: Cost Analysis, in USD

3D-printed Components (i.e., filament)	\$3.50
Hardware (i.e., nuts and bolts)	\$1.00
Self-adhesive Wrap	\$3.00
Memory Foam	\$0.50
Total	\$8.00

iii) Durability

The struts are printed flat to ensure structural stability [7] and take their contoured shape only in the custom fitting process. PLA offers greater toughness and higher break elongation, break load, and break strength when compared to other thermoplastic filaments [8]. The struts are designed to minimize deflection and slipping; a reinforcing layer along the top of each strut distributes weight and maintains structural integrity, and surface texture along the bottom creates grip. The surface area of the widened struts also helps distribute pressure evenly throughout the socket. Such weight distribution is key to supporting loads beyond that of the terminal devices. The weight of the socket is approximately 150 g, which is at the low end of the 100- to 420-g range for traditional sockets and low-cost alternatives [5, 9]. Incorporating memory foam beneath the greatest load-bearing strut further increases comfort. Altogether, these design considerations ensure comfort while promoting greater maximum load and durability.

Testing

Before participant recruitment, we tested the mechanical capabilities of the socket. Using a plaster limb replica, two modes of extreme-use load suspension were evaluated: vertical and horizontal. Vertical load suspension is most prone to slippage, so masses up to 8 kg (approximately twice that of a gallon of water [10]) were incrementally and statically hung. The amount, if any, by which the socket had slipped was recorded. The socket was also moved rapidly to simulate a dynamic load condition such as going down a flight of stairs. Horizontal load suspension is most likely to induce fracture; the same mass was added, and the degree, if any, of downward deflection was measured.

Three participants with transradial amputations were recruited for functional testing. The participants reported their perceived comfort at three time points in the experimental session using a 0-10 Likert scale [11, 12]. We utilized high-count sEMG (Ripple Neuro LLC, Salt Lake City, UT) and recorded data while participants mimicked movements of a virtual prostheses to train a modified Kalman filter [13] in order to provide myoelectric control. Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) was measured with and without the socket during three movement sets [14]. Performance was evaluated via a target-touching task in a virtual environment [15] and the modified box and blocks test (BBT), in which participants were instructed to transfer 16 blocks arranged in a grid from one compartment of the box to the other [16].

Across all metrics, we tested within-participant performance and group-mean performance to interpret our results in the context of the larger patient population. All data were screened for normality prior to analyses. We performed paired t-tests to compare the socket- and no-socket cases and to compare with reported literature values.

RESULTS

Mechanical testing demonstrated socket reliability. Vertical load suspension up to 8 kg yielded no measurable slipping in static or dynamic conditions. In horizontal load suspension, less than 1° of vertical deflection was noted in the connection between the dorsal-most strut and the collet. This minimal deflection was elastic, as the socket quickly reverted to its original orientation once the load was removed. No perceptible fractures resulted from loading.

Three participants with transradial amputation were recruited for this study. Our socket encountered no difficulties accommodating the variance in arm length or circumference across these three individuals (residual limb length, 15 cm to 20 cm; circumference, 26 cm to 27 cm).

Comfort remained adequate throughout experimental sessions, but our socket was rated lower than participants' traditional clinically-prescribed socket. Immediately after donning, our socket scored 6.7 ± 1.2 on a 0-10 Likert scale (mean \pm standard deviation). In comparison, traditional socket scores were reported to be 8.8 ± 1.3 . There was an imperceptible degradation of comfort over time, with comfort scores of 6.5 ± 1.5 partway through and 5.7 ± 2.1 at the end of the experiment. The mean difference of 1.0 in comfort falls within the 2.7-point minimum detectable change [12]. Notably, the participant with the lowest reported comfort score remarked that it was still tolerable for multiple hours of use.

Functional testing demonstrated that the socket did not impede performance. SNR was comparable between socket- and no-socket cases across all three movements (Figure 2A). Similarly, target-touching performance was not hindered by the socket, as quantified by percentage times in target (PTT) (Figure 2B) and root-mean-squared error (RMSE) (Figure 2C). Lastly, modified BBT performance with our socket was comparable to literature values, with no reduction in the average number of blocks transferred with our socket as compared to values reported for myoelectric prosthesis users [17-19] (Figure 2D). Participants (N = 3) transferred 19 ± 3 blocks in 60 s compared to 13 ± 0 for modified BBT (N = 2) and 21 ± 6 for original BBT (N = 17).



Figure 2: (A) Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) was not affected by the socket for any movement type (N = 3). (B) For a virtual target-touching task, neither mean percent time in the target region (PTT) nor (C) mean root-mean-squared error (RMSE) were significantly different while using the socket (N = 3). (D) Modified box and blocks test (BBT) performance (N = 3) was comparable to literature values, with no statistical difference from reported values for the original BBT (N = 17). However, performance with the socket was significantly improved from reported values for the modified BBT (N = 2). *p< 0.025.

CONCLUSION

We developed a novel, multi-user check socket that can be used to quickly assess myoelectric control with individuals with transradial amputation. The socket makes custom myoelectric control more accessible; it can be printed in less than seven hours, custom fit within ten minutes, donned in under a minute, and the total cost is approximately \$8.00. The socket also accommodates multiple individuals without requiring reprinting, adapts to volume fluctuations and painful sites, and works with a variety of terminal devices and DAQ methods. Importantly, the socket presented here is not intended to serve as a clinical diagnostic check socket, nor is it meant for long-term use as a definitive socket; rather, it is best utilized briefly in a research or clinical setting to explore myoelectric control with a physical prosthesis. Future work should validate this socket with additional participants and terminal devices.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by NIH 1 DP5 OD 029571-01. Additional support was provided by the University of Utah Office of Undergraduate Research. Author CMB is employed by Handspring. Author ARC is a voluntary intern at Handspring. The remaining authors declared no potential conflicts of interest.

- [1] E. Biddiss and T. Chau, "Upper limb prosthesis use and abandonment: a survey of the last 25 years," Prosthet Orthot Int, vol. 31, pp. 236-257, 2007.
- [2] M. Espinosa and D. Nathan-Roberts, "Understanding prosthetic abandonment," Proc Hum Factors Ergon Annu Meet, vol. 63, pp. 1644-1648, 2019.
- [3] L. Frossard, et al., "Cost comparison of socket-suspended and bone-anchored transfemoral prostheses," J Prosthet Orthot, vol. 29, pp. 150-160, 2017.
- [4] "Types of prosthetics & other prosthetic FAQs," Handspring, Accessed July 20, 2021, Available https://myhandspring.com/faq
- [5] R. Ismail, *et al.*, "Affordable and faster transradial prosthetic socket production using photogrammetry and 3d printing," *Electron*, vol. 9, pp. 1456, 2020.
- [6] L. Miller, et al., "A novel, low-cost transradial socket fabrication method using mass-producible components and expanding rigid foam," Prosthet Orthot Int, vol. 45, 2021.
- [7] P. Maroti, et al., "Printing orientation defines anisotropic mechanical properties in additive manufacturing of upper limb prosthetics," Mater Res Express, vol. 6, 2019.
- [8] O. Martin and L. Avérous, "Poly(lactic acid): plasticization and properties of biodegradable multiphase systems," *Polymer*, vol. 42, pp. 6209-6219, 2001.
- [9] P. Lenka and A. Choudhury, "Analysis of trans tibial prosthetic socket materials using finite element method," J Biomed Sci Eng, vol. 4, pp. 762-768, 2011.
- [10] A. Drew, et al., "Transhumeral loading during advanced upper extremity activities of daily living," PLoS One, vol. 12, 2017.
- [11] R. Hanspal, K. Fisher, and R. Nieveen, "Prosthetic socket fit comfort score," Disabil Rehabil, vol. 25, pp. 1278-1280, 2003.
- [12] B. Hafner, et al., "Psychometric evaluation of self-report outcome measures for prosthetic applications," J Rehabil Res Dev, vol. 53, pp. 797-812, 2016.
- [13] J. George, T. Davis, M. Brinton, and G. Clark, "Intuitive neuromyoelectric control of a dexterous bionic arm using a modified Kalman filter," J Neurosci Methods, 2020.
- [14] J. George, S. Radhakrishnan, M. Brinton, and G. Clark, "Inexpensive and portable system for dexterous high-density myoelectric control of multiarticulate prostheses," *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics: Systems*, pp. 3441-3446, 2020.
- [15] D. Page, et al., "Motor control and sensory feedback enhance prosthesis embodiment and reduce phantom pain after long-term hand amputation," Front Hum Neurosci, 2018.
- [16] J. Hebert and J. Lewicke, "Case report of modified box and blocks test with motion capture to measure prosthetic function," J Rehabil Res Dev, vol. 49, pp. 1163-1174, 2012.
- [17] J. George, *et al.*, "Biomimetic sensory feedback through peripheral nerve stimulation improves dexterous use of a bionic hand," *Sci Robot*, vol. 4, 2019.
- [18] M. Paskett, *et al.*, "A modular transradial bypass socket for surface electromyographic prosthetic control in non-amputees," *In: BMES Annual Conference*, 2018.
- [19] S. Salminger, et al., "Functional outcome scores with standard myoelectric prostheses in below-elbow amputees," Am J Phys Med Rehabil, vol. 98, pp. 125-129, 2019.

UPPER LIMB PROSTHESES – FUTURE PERSPECTIVES FOR BODY-POWERED PROSTHESES

Dick H. Plettenburg

Delft Institute of Prosthetics and Orthotics, Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands d.h.plettenburg@tudelft.nl; www.dipo.3me.tudelft.nl

ABSTRACT

Body powered upper-limb prostheses (bpp) have many advantages over EMG-controlled, electrically actuated ones (myo's), including mass, reliability, and proprioceptive feedback. Despite these advantages, bpp are rejected as often as myo's. Reasons mentioned include mass (despite being lower than myo's), and comfort (especially of the harness). In addition, recent research has shown the operating forces of bpp being too high. As a result the main advantage of bpp – feedback – is overshadowed, and the high operating forces negatively influence the comfort.

Current research at the Delft Institute of Prosthetics and Orthotics aims at improving the performance of upper-limb prostheses. First results show a promising future for prostheses controlled and/or powered by body movements, while satisfying the basic requirements for upper limb prostheses.

INTRODUCTION

For centuries mankind has tried to provide people with an arm defect with some kind of a replacement for the limb parts missing [1]. One of the oldest examples known, dating back to 330 B.C, is a prosthetic hand found on an Egyptian mummy. This device is a cosmetic hand prosthesis, i.e. without moving parts, primarily aiming at the restoration of the wearer's outward appearance. Dating from mediaeval times and some later ages, several examples of passive hands remain. Some of them with a moveable thumb only, some with the four fingers moving together in one finger block, and others with passive, individually adaptable, fingers. In these hands the thumb and finger configuration can be locked in a chosen position by the activation of a knob. A few examples are the famous hands of Götz von Berlichingen [2, 3] and the hands made by Ambroise Paré [1].

The beginning of the 19th century brings about a tentative start with actively operated prostheses. Harnessing gross movements of other body segments operates these prostheses. Hence, this type of prostheses is called body-powered (bpp). Examples include prostheses designed by

Ballif in 1818 [2], by Van Peetersen in 1844 [2], and by the Count de Beaufort in 1860 [1], Figure 1.



Figure 1 - Prosthetic forearm designed by Count De Beaufort in 1860. The hand is controlled by a cable, indicated by O, which is attached to a shoulder harness.

Around 1900 the first attempts to power prostheses from an external energy source, most likely to relieve the user from the relatively high operating forces in body powered prostheses, can be seen. Examples include electrically powered prostheses [2, 4], or pneumatically powered ones [2, 5].

During WWII the idea of using myo-electric signals for the control of prostheses was conceived [6]. After extensive research and development myo-control evolved into the present day EMG-controlled, electrically actuated prostheses (myo's) and is still the subject for many researches to try and improve this control method.

At the Delft Institute of Prosthetics and Orthotics [DIPO] three basic requirements for upper limb prostheses were established: cosmesis, comfort, and control [7]. Judging bpp and myo's against these requirements it can be seen that bpp have many advantages over myo's, including mass, reliability, and proprioceptive feedback. Despite these advantages, bpp are rejected as often as myo's. Reasons mentioned include mass (despite being lower than myo's), and comfort (especially of the harness) [8]. Moreover, the functionality of myo's still lacks behind bpp (with the result of the Cybathlon 2016 and 2020 as an example). Recent research has shed even more light into why bpp are rejected: the operating forces are too high [9-11]. As a result the main advantage of bpp – feedback – is secluded, and the high operating forces negatively influence the comfort.

At the Delft Institute of Prosthetics and Orthotics (DIPO) current research aims at improving the performance of upper-limb prostheses.

METHODS

Within several ongoing projects DIPO tries to improve different aspects of upper-limb prostheses. Four of these projects will be highlighted here:

• Natural grasping

Within this project a body-powered voluntary closing hand prosthesis with adaptive fingers, a high pinch force to operating force ratio, and a low mass will be designed.

· Self-grasping hand

The goal of this study is to design a next generation adjustable prosthetic hand. This prosthetic hand must be able to grasp objects without the help of the sound hand, and without the need of a harness or batteries.

• Haptic interface for prostheses control

This project aims to combine the advantages of externally powered prostheses (low operating effort, high pinch force) with the advantages of body-control (feedback). The idea is to measure movements of the body to control the aperture of the terminal device, and to measure pinch forces in the terminal device and feed them back to the body.

Servo mechanisms

This project aims to enable prosthesis operation with low operating efforts. The envisioned servo mechanism uses pneumatic energy, as electro-mechanical servo mechanisms suffer from a high mass, and are sensitive for water and dirt.

RESULTS

The current status of the above mentioned project is discussed below.

• Natural grasping

A prototype hand was developed [12]. It has four adaptive, under-actuated fingers and a stationary thumb, Figure 2. The hand requires less energy (50-160%) of the user compared to current bpp-hands, while its mass is only 152 grams. Clinical test are ongoing.



Figure 2 - The prototype of the Delft Cylinder Hand. It has four adaptive fingers actuated with two hydraulic cylinders in each finger, except for the little finger which has only one hydraulic actuator. The springs return the fingers to the open position at rest, and partly compensate for the counteracting forces of the cosmetic glove (not shown in the picture) as well. The cylinders in the hand receive the pressurized hydraulic fluid from a master cylinder incorporated in a shoulder harness.

• Self-grasping hand

Among the users of a hand prosthesis, about one-third uses a passive device. Nonetheless, little research is performed on improving passive hand prostheses [13]. At DIPO an innovative passive hand mechanism was designed. This hand has articulating fingers and can perform the hook grip, power grip and pinch grip. The gripping function is controlled indirectly by pushing an object to the hand, or directly by pushing the prosthetic thumb against a fixed object. The grip force is proportional to the applied push force. By releasing the push force, the grip force is locked and the object is being held. In order to release the object, a button has to be pushed after which the object can be released by pushing the object slightly into the hand. The hand, Figure 3, has a mass of 130 grams. A commercial version of this hand is almost ready for release.



Figure 3 – The Self-grasping hand, shown without the cosmetic glove. In the right picture, the button to unlock the hand is visible on the dorsal side of the hand [www.moveable.nl].

• Haptic interface for prostheses control The designed interface utilizes skin anchors [14], Figure 4, connected by sensors and an actuator to record force/displacement and to provide feedback from sensors in the terminal device.



Figure 4 – The skin anchors placed on the body of a test subject. The cables are connected to the experimental set-up used verify the idea behind the haptic interface.

An experimental set-up, Figure 5, showed that the system indeed is able to provide input to the terminal device and gives proper feedback to the user [15]. Current activities include the design of a wearable actuator system.



Figure 5 – The experimental set-up. On the left the prosthetic simulator; in the middle and right part of the figure the masterslave unit is shown. Also visible are the cables and on the foreground, the skin anchors.

Servo mechanisms

A hybrid system, Figure 6, was designed that closes a voluntary closing terminal device by a Bowden cable as usual, and automatically activates a pneumatic servo as soon as an object is grasped. The output of the servo is proportional to the cable force, with a three-fold amplification.



Figure 6 - An overview of the experimental setup. A cable (excursion cable) is connected to the force demand valve (FDV). The sliding bar will move when the excursion cable is pulled, this movement will cause the lever, which mimics a finger of the hand prosthesis, to rotate. Once the lever reaches the pinch load cell, representing the object to be grasped, the force in the excursion cable will rise. This increase in force will cause the FDV to start increasing its output pressure, which is connected to the pneumatic

piston. This will cause the pneumatic piston to start applying force on the lever. The same force locks the sliding bar.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The current projects at DIPO all show the future promises for upper-limb prostheses. The Delft Cylinder Hand is the first hand prosthesis that fulfils most requirements of the user: low mass, low operating effort, and proprioceptive feedback. The haptic interface shows a promising way of avoiding the harness, while maintaining the proprioceptive feedback. In combination with the pneumatic servo mechanism a prosthesis that combines body-control with a low operating effort comes within reach.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was partially funded by Fonds NutsOhra, under grant number 1203-073, and by STW under grant number 14058 and 15268.

- L. Löffler, Substitutes for the upper extremity [in German: Die Ersatz für die obere Extremität], Enke Verlag, Stuttgart, ISBN 3-432-94591-4, 1984
- [2] M. Borchardt, K. Hartmann, Leymann, G. Schlesinger, Schwiening [eds.], Limb substitutes and labour assistive devices for war casualties and traumatic injured persons [in German: Ersatzglieder und Arbeitshilfen für Kriegsbeschädigte und Unfallverletzte], Verlag von Julius Springer, Berlin, 1919
- [3] C. von Mechel. The iron hand of the courageous German knight Götz von Berlichingen [in German: Die eiserne Hand des tapfern deutschen Ritters Götz von Berlichingen], 1815.
- [4] P.E. Klopsteg, P.D. Wilson [eds.]. Human limbs and their substitutes, McGraw-Hill Book Company Inc., New York, LCCCN 53-8999. 1954
- [5] D.H. Plettenburg, *Pneumatically powered prostheses an inventory*, Delft University of Technology, ISBN 90-370-0198-X, 2002
- [6] R. Reiter, A new electric hand prosthesis [in German: Eine neue Elektrokunsthand], Grenzgebiete der Medizin, 1(4), pp. 133 – 135, 1948
- [7] D.H. Plettenburg, Basic requirements for upper extremity prosthesis: the WILMER approach, in: Proceedings of the 20th annual international conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Hong Kong, China, 1998
- [8] E. Biddiss, T. Chau, Upper-limb prosthetics: critical factors in device abandonment. *American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 86(12): pp. 977-987, 2007
- [9] G. Smit, R.M. Bongers, C.K. van der Sluis, D.H. Plettenburg, Efficiency of voluntary opening hand and hook prosthetic devices: 24 years of development?, *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 49(4), pp. 523-534, 2012
- [10] G. Smit, D.H. Plettenburg, Efficiency of voluntary closing hand and hook prostheses, *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 34(4), pp. 411-427, 2010
- [11] M. Hichert, A.N. Vardy, D.H. Plettenburg, Fatigue-free operation of most body-powered prostheses not feasible for majority of users with trans-radial deficiency, *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 42(1), 84-92, 2018

- [12] G. Smit, D.H. Plettenburg, F.C.T. van der Helm, The lightweight Delft Cylinder Hand: the first multi-articulating hand that meets the basic user requirements, *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, 23(3), pp. 431-440, 2015
- [13] B. Maat, G. Smit, D.H. Plettenburg, P. Breedveld, Passive prosthetic hands and tools: A literature review, *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 42(1), 66-74, 2018
- [14] D. Latour, T. Sabolevski, K. Lajoie-Weaver, *Ipsilateral scapular cutaneous anchor*, in 12th World congress of the International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, Vancouver, Canada, p. 555, 2007
- [15] A.N. Vardy, M. Boone, D.H. Plettenburg, *Perceptual and control properties of a haptic upper-limb prosthetic interface*, in: Proceedings of MEC17, ISBN: 978-1-55131-190-6, 2017
MEC 2022



User Experience

A PLATFORM TO ASSESS BRAIN DYNAMICS REFLECTIVE OF COGNITIVE LOAD DURING PROSTHESIS USE

Oscar Ortiz¹, Usha Kuruganti¹, Daniel Blustein²

¹Faculty of Kinesiology, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB, Canada. ²Department of Psychology, Acadia University, NS, Canada.

ABSTRACT

Prosthetic hand operation often results in high levels of cognitive burden on the user which can lead to fatigue, frustration and device rejection. Previous work that quantified this cognitive load relied on subjective questionnaires or distraction tasks. We have adapted a protocol capable of real-time, objective, non-distracting assessment of cognitive load for use with individuals controlling a myoelectric prosthesis. Here we present this platform to assess cortical dynamics during prosthesis use. We describe a custom-built lightweight prosthesis simulator and an electroencephalography (EEG) assessment. We also present pilot work that shows how alpha inhibitory activity recorded with a wireless EEG system can be used to assess cognitive load.

INTRODUCTION

Efforts to improve upper-limb myoelectric prostheses often aim to provide a high degree of functionality to those living with limb-loss [1]. Despite technological advancement, these devices provide limited capabilities compared to intact limbs and impose a high cognitive load that results in fatigue and frustration [2], which can lead to device rejection [3]. Measurements to directly evaluate cognitive load are needed in order to further understand how efficient visuomotor behaviors develop during prosthesis learning and use. For this, electroencephalography (EEG) is ideally suited as it allows the measurement of ongoing neural activity with high temporal resolution. Active processing in engaged and task-relevant areas of the brain is reflected by a suppression in the magnitude (power) of oscillations in the alpha range (8-12 Hz) [4], [5]. The development of skilled motor performance is characterized by the efficient allocation of processing resources to task-relevant areas of the brain [6]. Recently, this approach was used to demonstrate a decrease in alpha power detected across the scalp during prosthesis use compared to an anatomical hand, reflecting more conscious control [7]. Based on this work, we present a platform to assess brain dynamics during prosthesis use. The first section describes a customizable, lightweight myoelectric prosthesis simulator created for the platform. The second section describes the wireless EEG equipment and the analysis used in the platform. We conclude by showing pilot data of the alpha distribution on the cortex reflecting functional inhibition which can be indicative of high cognitive load.

METHODS AND PILOT RESULTS

Prosthesis simulator

A novel, custom built, lightweight (approx. 900 g) 3D-printed myoelectric prosthesis simulator was built (Figure 1). This device allows for people with intact limbs to control a prosthesis. The University of Alberta's Handi Hand [8] was mounted to a wrist brace with a medial offset, a position chosen to minimize the effect on modulating arm kinematics [9] and to reduce visual occlusion of the prosthesis [10]. Two electrodes (Myoware, Advancer Technologies) placed on the dorsal and ventral surfaces of the forearm record electromyographic (EMG) activity from wrist extensors and flexors to be used for hand control. Force sensitive resistors (Interlink Electronics®, CA USA) (FSRs) embedded in the fingertips of the index and thumb of the prosthetic hand detect pressure changes normal to the sensor that drive vibrating resonant motors providing haptic feedback to the user.

Control

Signals from the two EMG channels are amplified, high pass filtered at 20 Hz and notch filtered at 60 Hz. Signals are then rectified and integrated to drive a proportional open-close controller. Proportional control of the closing and opening velocity of the hand is done by mapping the maximal and minimal velocities to the maximal and minimal EMG activity recorded. To normalize the controller for each participant, they are asked to perform wrist flexion and extension maximal voluntary contractions (MVCs) for 5 seconds at the beginning of the session to determine the maximal amplitude for each of the electrodes. Similarly, the minimal activity for flexors and extensors is experimentally determined by recording the baseline EMG activity of each sensor during a period of 5 seconds while the arm is resting in the prosthesis simulator. The minimal activity is set to a value three standard deviations above the mean recorded activity to reduce unintentional activation of the channels.



Figure 1. Experimental set-up displaying the custom prosthesis simulator and the dry-wireless EEG system. During experiments, the user's hand and arm are visually occluded.

Feedback

Changes in resistance captured by the FSRs at the

fingertips control two haptic motor drivers (DRV265L, Adafruit Industries, New York, NY) that activate two corresponding linear resonant actuators (C10-100, Precision Microdrives, London, UK). These coin motors are in the inside lining of the forearm cuff and in direct contact with the skin of the forearm. The amplitude of the vibration of the haptic motors is mapped proportionally to the resistance change of the FSRs to represent the force detected at the fingertips. The magnitude of the minimally detectable vibration is determined individually for each participant and used as the lower edge of the mapping with the FSR signal.

EEG recordings

Cortical activity was recorded using EEG sampling at 1000 Hz. The electrodes are positioned on the head based on the standard 10/20 Channel system, with all referenced to the left and right earlobe. Data are transmitted wirelessly via Bluetooth from the cap directly to a PC and recorded using the software provided by the system manufacturer (Cognionics Data Acquisition, Version 3.6).

Blink and eye artifacts were removed using Principal Component Analysis and visual assessment [11]. EEG signals were then band-pass filtered from 0.1 to 100 Hz. Time-frequency decomposition of the signal was performed through short-time FFT on Hanning-tapered and zero-padded (up to 2000ms) overlapping segments (50% overlap) of 500 ms. These windows were recorded from 1000 ms before and after initial contact with the object to assess grasping force modulation (total time window of 2000 ms). Alpha power of EEG spectra has been previously used as a proxy to quantify functional inhibition of cortical areas [5], [7], [12], [13]. With this model, a greater level of alpha activity reflects a higher level of functional inhibition of a brain region [5]. After the FFT transformation, power (μ V²) in the alpha range (8-12 Hz) was averaged across overlapping FFT segments for each channel and trial. Channels on the scalp were divided in 7 functional regions of interest (RoI); left temporal (T7), left central (C3), frontal (Fz), right central (C4), right temporal (T8), parietal (Pz) and occipital (O1, O2). Power is then averaged across these channels to yield values for each region. Finally, the values are divided by the average baseline value obtained during the resting state to obtain an index of change in activity from the resting state [14].

Using this method, we were able to qualitatively identify high levels of alpha power reflective of functional inhibition of the occipital lobe during an eyes-closed recording. The occipital lobe is responsible for the processing of incoming visual information [15]. A sample recording from one participant is presented in Figure 2. This increase in alpha activity in posterior regions of the brain indicating low cortical activation has been well described since the late 1920's [15]. The wireless EEG setup presented here can identify alpha activity changes across the scalp.

DISCUSSION

A common goal in developing new myoelectric technology is to increase the clinical effectiveness of prostheses [3]. Despite advances in technology, most devices impose a high cognitive burden that can result in fatigue and frustration [2], and eventual prosthesis rejection [3], [16], [17]. Here, we present a platform to assess cognitive load during prosthesis use. The development of our prosthesis simulator facilitates experimentation with individuals not affected by limb-loss, allowing us to increase the statistical power of our studies. Furthermore, this system was manufactured using light-weight 3D printed parts, allowing for less constrained movements compared to previous simulators requiring suspension systems to offset the weight [10].



Figure 2. Sample alpha activity obtained during an eyes closed recording. Increased inhibitory alpha activity is present over the occipital lobe (outlined in blue), the area responsible for processing visual information [14].

Previous work has sought to assess cognitive load during prosthesis use using EEG [18], [19], however, only one previous study has displayed an overall reduction of alpha activity across the scalp in during prosthesis use compared to use of anatomical hand [7], indicating higher levels of cognitive load compared to the use of the anatomical hand. Based on this work, we present a platform aimed to help researchers and prosthesis developers investigate the effects of their prosthetic implementations on cognitive load. The advantage of our platform lies in the wireless EEG system utilized, as it does not restrict the movement of the user and avoids having large cable artifacts [20]. Furthermore, unlike the previous study using EEG to assess alpha activity [7], our protocol also includes a baseline normalization step, in which the relative differences in alpha activity between resting state and prosthesis use allows for the analysis of alpha changes exclusively due to prosthesis use, and allows for normalization across multiple assessment days [21].

From a practical perspective, it is important to understand how users develop efficient control of a prosthesis. Adaptive learning processes rely on the engagement of appropriate mental resources during practice and performance [14], [22], [23], and high levels of cognitive load have been shown to hinder them [22], [24]. As supposed to performance-based tests where users can increase their success rate with a higher level of attention and conscious engagement, we hope to combine this platform along with them to create a prosthesis-use testing battery evaluate not only performance but also user experience and cognitive strain while they learn and use the devices. Furthermore, EEG based assessments can provide insights about the cortical mechanisms responsible for the high levels of cognitive load, and drive evidence-based interventions on how to address them. Currently, we are conducting work using this EEG based approach to investigate the effects of adding augmented feedback on the cognitive load required to operate a myoelectric prosthesis, as augmented feedback could potentially reduce the visual attention and cognitive burden required to operate a prosthesis [18].

REFERENCES

- [1] S. Wendelken *et al.*, "Restoration of motor control and proprioceptive and cutaneous sensation in humans with prior upper-limb amputation via multiple Utah Slanted Electrode Arrays (USEAs) implanted in residual peripheral arm nerves," *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 1–17, 2017.
- [2] D. S. Childress, "Closed-loop control in prosthetic systems: Historical perspective," Ann. Biomed. Eng., vol. 8, no. 4–6, pp. 293–303, 1980.
- [3] F. Cordella et al., "Literature review on needs of upper limb prosthesis users," Front. Neurosci., vol. 10, no. MAY, pp. 1–14, 2016.
- [4] O. M. Bazanova and D. Vernon, "Interpreting EEG alpha activity," *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.*, vol. 44, pp. 94–110, 2014.
- [5] O. Jensen and A. Mazaheri, "Shaping functional architecture by oscillatory alpha activity: Gating by inhibition," *Front. Hum. Neurosci.*, vol. 4, no. November, pp. 1–8, 2010.
- [6] G. Gallicchio, T. Finkenzeller, G. Sattlecker, S. Lindinger, and K. Hoedlmoser, "Shooting under cardiovascular load: Electroencephalographic activity in preparation for biathlon shooting," *Int. J. Psychophysiol.*, vol. 109, pp. 92–99, 2016.

MEC 2022

- [7] J. Parr, S. Vine, M. Wilson, N. Harrison, and G. Wood, "Visual attention, EEG alpha power and T7-Fz connectivity are implicated in prosthetic hand control and can be optimized through gaze training," J. Neuroeng. Rehabil., vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1–20, 2019.
- [8] D. J. A. Brenneis, M. R. Dawson, and P. M. Pilarski, "Development of the Handi Hand : an Inexpensive, Multi-Articulating, Sensorized Hand for Machine Learning Research in Myoelectric Control," *Myoelectric Control. Up. Limb Prosthetics Symp.*, no. August, pp. 15– 18, 2017.
- [9] A. S. Ciullo, F. Felici, M. G. Catalano, G. Grioli, A. Ajoudani, and A. Bicchi, "Analytical and Experimental Analysis for Position Optimization of a Grasp Assistance Supernumerary Robotic Hand," *IEEE Robot. Autom. Lett.*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 4305–4312, 2018.
- [10] A. W. Wilson, D. H. Blustein, and J. W. Sensinger, "A third arm Design of a bypass prosthesis enabling incorporation," IEEE Int. Conf. Rehabil. Robot., pp. 1381–1386, 2017.
- [11] A. Delorme and S. Makeig, "EEGLAB: An open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis," J. Neurosci. Methods, vol. 134, no. 1, pp. 9–21, 2004.
- [12] C. Demanuele, S. J. Broyd, E. J. S. Sonuga-Barke, and C. James, "Neuronal oscillations in the EEG under varying cognitive load: A comparative study between slow waves and faster oscillations," *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, vol. 124, no. 2, pp. 247–262, 2013.
- [13] F. Chen *et al.*, *Robust Multimodal Cognitive Load Measurement, Human-Computer Interaction*, First. Switzerland: Springer Switzerland, 2016.
- [14] K. Ryu and R. Myung, "Evaluation of mental workload with a combined measure based on physiological indices during a dual task of tracking and mental arithmetic," Int. J. Ind. Ergon., vol. 35, no. 11, pp. 991–1009, 2005.
- [15] R. J. Barry, A. R. Clarke, S. J. Johnstone, C. A. Magee, and J. A. Rushby, "EEG differences between eyes-closed and eyes-open resting conditions," *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, vol. 118, no. 12, pp. 2765–2773, 2007.
- [16] K. Østlie, I. M. Lesjø, R. J. Franklin, B. Garfelt, O. H. Skjeldal, and P. Magnus, "Prosthesis rejection in acquired major upper-limb amputees: A population-based survey," *Disabil. Rehabil. Assist. Technol.*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 294–303, 2012.
- [17] E. Biddiss and T. Chau, "Upper limb prosthesis use and abandonment: A survey of the last 25 years," *Prosthet. Orthot. Int.*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 236–257, 2007.
- [18] J. Gonzalez, H. Soma, M. Sekine, and W. Yu, "Psycho-physiological assessment of a prosthetic hand sensory feedback system based on an auditory display: A preliminary study," J. Neuroeng. Rehabil., vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–14, 2012.
- [19] S. Deeny, C. Chicoine, L. Hargrove, T. Parrish, and A. Jayaraman, "A simple ERP method for quantitative analysis of cognitive workload in myoelectric prosthesis control and human-machine interaction," *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 11, 2014.
- [20] D. Collado-Mateo, J. C. Adsuar, P. R. Olivares, R. Cano-Plasencia, and N. Gusi, "Using a dry electrode EEG device during balance tasks in healthy young-adult males: Test-retest reliability analysis," *Somatosens. Mot. Res.*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 219–226, 2015.
- [21] M. X. Cohen, Analyzing Neural Time Series Data: Theory and Practice. Boston: MIT Press, 2014.
- [22] K. J. Jaquess et al., "Changes in Mental Workload and Motor Performance Throughout Multiple Practice Sessions Under Various Levels of Task Difficulty," *Neuroscience*, vol. 393. pp. 305–318, 2018.
- [23] M. F. L. Ruitenberg *et al.*, "Neural correlates of multi-day learning and savings in sensorimotor adaptation," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–14, 2018.
- [24] J. Sweller, P. L. Ayers, S. Kalyuga, and P. Chandler, "The Expertise Reversal Effect," *Educ. Psychol.*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 23–31, 2003.

A PSYCHOPHYSICAL APPROACH TO MEASURE THE SENSE OF AGENCY

Racheal Steele¹, Ahmed Shehata², Jon Sensinger³, Jaqueline Hebert², and Dan Blustein¹

¹Department of Psychology, Acadia University, Wolfville, NS, Canada. ²Division of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada. ³Institute of Biomedical Engineering, University of New Brunswick, Fredericton, NB, Canada.

ABSTRACT

Increasing a prosthesis user's sense of agency over their device may lead to improved patient outcomes. Measuring agency, however, can be difficult. Widely used questionnaires may be prone to cognitive biases and an established proxy for agency, the intentional binding paradigm, can be attentionally demanding. In this study, we present and test a novel psychophysical time discrimination task to detect the intentional binding effect, i.e. the perceived compression of the time interval between a controlled action and its effect. The task uses a two-alternative forced choice time comparison task to avoid the attentional demands associated with temporal estimation using an auxiliary clock display (such as a standard Libet clock protocol). We show that the psychophysics protocol can detect the intentional binding effect during voluntary movements in a small pilot study (n=4). Participants also completed a standard Libet clock protocol that showed inconsistent results. We conclude with a discussion of protocol improvements. The psychophysical time discrimination assessment shows promise for use as an objective sense of agency metric suitable for prosthesis users.

INTRODUCTION

Users of myoelectric prostheses sometimes reject their devices, a choice that can attributed to a reduced sense of embodiment [1]–[3]. Embodiment involves several interrelated components such as the sense of localization, ownership, and agency [2]–[5]. In prosthesis users, the sense of ownership is elicited by coherent sensory feedback, whereas the sense of agency arises when there is consistent control of the device [1], [6]. Typical hand movements have intact sensation and control, generating a sense of ownership and agency, leading to a strong sense of embodiment [6]. However, in a prosthesis user, one or both of these contributing factors to embodiment may be deficient dependent on accessible sensory information or the fidelity of the control system.

Sense of agency (SoA), the focus of this work, is defined as the feeling of control over one's actions, which involves distinguishing self-generated actions from actions generated by others [3], [7]–[11]. When an action and its effect are temporally and spatially congruent, a stronger SoA is generated; however, when incongruent, the resulting error in sensory prediction reduces the likelihood that the SoA will arise [9], [10]. The SoA can still be modulated by other agency cues beyond sensorimotor integration such as sensation within the residual limb or the functionality and fit of the device [1], [2], [9], [12].

Existing approaches to measure the SoA are susceptible to various limitations and potential biases. Explicit measures of agency rely on conscious awareness as individuals directly report their agentic experience during movement trials on questionnaires [8], [10], [11], [13]. Subjective questionnaires are prone to both experimenter and cognitive biases through the influence of social desirability and impression management, and its heavy reliance on conceptual and evaluative self-awareness [7], [8], [14]. Frequently these questionnaires are paired with implicit measures in an attempt to avoid these associated demand effects, but implicit methods have not been well adapted to motor contexts.

The most widely used implicit measure of the sense of agency is the intentional binding paradigm [3], [8], [11], [13]–[17]. An intentional binding effect occurs between a voluntary action and its sensory consequence where an individual will perceive the time interval to be smaller than it actually was (Figure 1) [6], [8]. This warped time perception is attributed to delayed awareness of the active action and early awareness of the consequence, which temporally shifts these elements towards each other [11], [14]. Intentional binding is often measured using a clock reading paradigm, such as the Libet clock, in which participants report the end of an action-effect trial using the position of a rotating dot. A major limitation of the Libet clock approach, especially in motor contexts, is that the individual has to split their attention between the action and the position of the clock hand which can bias the estimation of event timing [10]. Attending to the dynamic clock display is visually and cognitively demanding, which could lead to reduced engagement in the motor task [14].



Figure 1: The intentional binding effect. Active movements are perceived to be temporally shorter than passive movements.

Here we propose and test a novel implicit measure of the SoA based on the intentional binding effect. We implement a twoalternative forced choice time discrimination task with an adaptive staircase to estimate the intentional binding-driven time compression observed during active movements. The temporal discrimination task between an active and a passive movement removes potential subjective bias seen with standard agency questionnaires and eliminates the need for Libet clock reporting, which may not be suited to prosthesis user experience assessment due to attentional demands. Here we tested this novel assessment and a traditional Libet clock protocol on four participants in a computer-based cursor movement task. This objective approach forms the basis for a potentially more reliable assessment of agency for prosthesis users as it provides a new measure that avoids limitations associated with previous methods.

METHODS

Four able-bodied Acadia University students were recruited for this study (two females, two males). Written informed consent according to Acadia University REB was obtained from participants before conducting the experiment. The experiment was run using a custom MATLAB program (ver. 2021, The MathWorks, Inc., Natick, Massachusetts, United States). All visual stimuli were presented on a 27-inch monitor with 1920 x 1080 resolution. Participants controlled on-screen movements with a wireless mouse (Logitech G703) set to 400 dots per inch sensitivity (the Windows mouse sensitivity setting was set as the third tick from the left on the linear adjustment slider). A barrier was placed over the participant's right forearm and hand to block visual movement cues of the arm throughout the experiment. Participants wore foam earplugs underneath over-ear noise-cancelling headphones playing Brownian noise to block any ambient audio cues.

Experimental Protocol

While seated, participants moved a small blue square cursor along a line from left to right to hit a red square target 22.4 cm away. The movement was initiated with a mouse click and concluded with a second mouse click. The experimental protocol consisted of the following 5 blocks:

Block 1 & 2: Familiarization trials of active and passive movements with no Libet clock present. Participants began with a training block of 25 cursor movement trials. In Block 2, participants watched 25 cursor movement trials (passive trials) recorded during Block 1 played back in a random order by the computer. Each participant's moving hand and arm were obscured from view while they focused on the screen.

Block 3: Psychophysics method testing. Participants completed an active cursor movement trial followed by a passive movement. The passive movement played back by the computer matched the trajectory of the preceding movement except its speed was modified. Participants were then asked to select the movement that was slower (i.e., longer duration) (Figure 2 - 1). The temporal stretch (or compression) of the passive movement was updated over subsequent trial pairs using an adaptive staircase [18]. Staircase parameters were set to determine the 50% discrimination threshold of the just noticeable difference (JND) of the magnitude of temporal adjustment between active and passive movements (Figure 2 - 2). The block continued until either the adaptive staircase hit 23 reversals, or the participant completed 200 total trials, whichever occurred first. The final temporal adjustment reached indicated the participant's perceived action-effect intervals for voluntary control with respect to their perceived action-effect intervals for involuntary control.

Block 4 & 5: Libet clock testing. Participants were asked to make the same action as before, but now a Libet clock (as in [16]) was positioned around the target. During the movement, a black dot rotated around the clock face. After a variable period of additional dot rotation following movement completion, participants were asked to estimate the position of the dot when the action ended. The difference between the actual movement end time and the clock-reported end time was recorded for each of 40 trials. In Block 5, participants were asked to watch 40 passive movements (recordings from Block 4 played back in a random order) and use the Libet clock to make the same estimation of movement end time.



Figure 2. Psychophysical assessment to measure the intentional binding effect.

RESULTS

For three of the four participants, the psychophysics protocol detected an intentional binding effect during active movements. Pereived time compression of the active movement compared to the passive movement was more than 156 ms in these participants (Table 1). The adaptive staircase seemed to converge to the 50% discrimination threshold as evidenced by slopes of the best fit line over the final 8 reversals approaching zero (Figure 3). However, Participant 4's perceived time compression was vastly different (+374 ms). This participant made a mistake on the first JND trial pair selection and made comments about the initial difficulty of the task. The slope of the best fit line over the last 8 reversals was largest in this participant (Table 1), suggesting that the staircase may have still been converging at the end of their psychophysics block.

The traditional Libet clock assessment showed inconsistent detection of an intentional binding effect as active trials were perceived as similar to or longer in duration than passive trials (Table 1). A coding error resulted in an inaccurate data record for Participant 1.

	Psychop	Libet clock	
Participant #	JND (ms)	Slope of last 8 reversals	Estimate-Actual (ms)
1	-363	5.29	N/A
2	-164	-18.5	+2.9
3	-156	14.6	+105.85
4	+374	-29.4	+347.25

Table 1: Summary of experimental results for Psychophysics and Libet clock assessments



Figure 3. Representative adaptive staircase to determine temporal discrimination threshold for Participant 1.

DISCUSSION

Here we have demonstrated the feasibility and potential for a psychophysical approach to measure the sense of agency in people making movements. A robust intentional binding effect was observed in three of four participants. In the fourth participant, the initial task settings seemed to be too difficult for proper psychometric characterization. In an upcoming validation study of the protocol, we will add a JND familiarization block of 3 trial pairs and we will adjust the parameters of the adaptive staircase to ensure initial task success and increase the average staircase length to improve convergence.

The traditional Libet clock protocol produced unexpected results: active movements were perceived as longer than passive ones. Attentional demands of the task may explain this observation. In active movement trials, participants may focus their attention on the moving cursor resulting in delayed observation of the rotating clock. In passive movement trials, participants could focus more intently on the clock, reducing any response delays. Traditional Libet studies often involve key presses in response to auditory stimuli in which these attentional issues may be a nonfactor [16]. In future work we could test this attentional demand hypothesis by tracking gaze fixations during Libet motor trials. An interval estimation method where participants are required to verbally estimate the temporal interval between an action and its outcome may be more suitable to motor tasks [10], however, our earlier work suggests that similar approaches produce highly variable results [3].

Our novel psychophysical approach shows promise in objectively measuring intentional binding in a motor context. The assessment can be adapted for prosthesis users to provide detailed insight into the sense of agency in patient populations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Thanuka Mabulage Don for data collection assistance and the Harrison McCain Foundation for research support.

REFERENCES

- [1] R. Bekrater-Bodmann, "Factors associated with prosthesis embodiment and its importance for prosthetic satisfaction in lower limb amputees," Front. Neurorobotics, vol. 14, 2021.
- [2] A. W. Shehata, M. Rehani, Z. E. Jassat, and J. S. Hebert, "Mechanotactile sensory feedback improves embodiment of a prosthetic hand during active use," Front. Neurosci., vol. 14, p. 263, 2020.
- [3] C. Stiegelmar, D. Blustein, J. Sensinger, J. Hebert, and A. Shehata, "Towards quantifying the sense of agency and its contribution to embodiment of myoelectric prostheses," MEC20 Symp., 2020. Available: https://conferences.lib.unb.ca/index.php/mec/article/view/27
- [4] N. Braun et al., "The Senses of Agency and Ownership: A Review," Front. Psychol., vol. 9, p. 535, 2018.
- [5] E. A. Caspar, A. De Beir, G. Lauwers, A. Cleeremans, and B. Vanderborght, "How using brain-machine interfaces influences the human sense of agency," PLOS ONE, vol. 16, no. 1, p. e0245191, 2021.
- [6] E. A. Caspar, A. De Beir, P. A. Magalhaes De Saldanha Da Gama, F. Yernaux, A. Cleeremans, and B. Vanderborght, "New frontiers in the rubber hand experiment: when a robotic hand becomes one's own," Behav. Res. Methods, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 744–755, 2015.
- [7] Z. Barlas and S. S. Obhi, "Freedom, choice, and the sense of agency," Front. Hum. Neurosci., vol. 7, 2013.
- [8] N. Braun et al., "The Senses of Agency and Ownership: A Review," Front. Psychol., vol. 9, p. 535, 2018.
- [9] E. A. Caspar, A. Cleeremans, and P. Haggard, "The relationship between human agency and embodiment," Conscious. Cogn., vol. 33, pp. 226–236, 2015.
- [10] S. Imaizumi and Y. Tanno, "Intentional binding coincides with explicit sense of agency," Conscious. Cogn., vol. 67, pp. 1–15, 2019.
- [11] J. W. Moore, "What is the sense of agency and why does it matter?," Front. Psychol., vol. 7, p. 1272, 2016.
- [12] S. Aas, "Prosthetic embodiment," Synthese, vol. 198, no. 7, pp. 6509–6532, 2021.
- [13] C. M. Galang, R. Malik, I. Kinley, and S. S. Obhi, "Studying sense of agency online: Can intentional binding be observed in uncontrolled online settings?," Conscious. Cogn., vol. 95, p. 103217, 2021.
- [14] P. I. Cornelio Martinez, E. Maggioni, K. Hornbæk, M. Obrist, and S. Subramanian, "Beyond the Libet Clock: modality variants for agency measurements," in Proc. CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, Montreal QC, Canada, 2018, pp. 1–14.
- [15] M. Goldberg, N. Busch, and E. van der Meer, "The amount of recent action-outcome coupling modulates the mechanisms of the intentional binding effect: A behavioral and ERP study," Conscious. Cogn., vol. 56, pp. 135–149, 2017.
- [16] J. W. Moore and S. S. Obhi, "Intentional binding and the sense of agency: A review," Conscious. Cogn., vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 546–561, Mar. 2012.
- [17] M. Ruess, R. Thomaschke, and A. Kiesel, "The time course of intentional binding," Atten. Percept. Psychophys., vol.79, no.4, pp.1123–1131, 2017.
- [18] L. Faes et al., "Small-sample characterization of stochastic approximation staircases in forced-choice adaptive threshold estimation.," Percept. Psychophys., vol. 69, no. 2, Art. no. 2, 2007.

Characterizing Self-Reported Prosthesis Use in Everyday Tasks

Linda Resnik PT, PhD, FAPTA¹, Matthew Borgia MA¹, Allen W. Heinemann, PhD² Phillip Stevens, ^{3,4} Pensheng Ni⁵

¹Providence VA Medical Center, Providence, RI, USA

² Shirley Ryan AbilityLab and Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine,

Chicago, Il, USA

³ Hanger Institute for Education and Clinical Research, Austin, TX, USA

⁴ Division of PM&R, University of Utah Health, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

⁵ Boston University, Boston, MA, USA

ABSTRACT

A sample of 411 individuals with either unilateral or bilateral upper limb amputation (ULA) reported prostheses engagement when they performed a spectrum of common one- and two-handed tasks. We compared frequency of performing one- and twohanded activities by laterality (unilateral versus bilateral), by amputation level (for unilateral amputees). and by type of prosthesis used (for unilateral transradial amputees). A greater proportion of persons with bilateral amputations reported engaging their prosthesis in both one- and two-handed tasks. Those with more proximal amputation engaged their prostheses in fewer activities, and persons using myoelectric single degree of freedom devices engaged their prostheses in a greater proportion of activities as compared to those using other device types.

INTRODUCTION

Few studies have characterized upper limb prosthesis engagement in everyday tasks. Prior research suggests that persons with unilateral upper limb amputation rely on their non-amputated side and perform the majority of daily activities with their noninvolved side. [1] Unilateral combat amputees reported using their prostheses during 21-25% of 23 activities, with those with more distal limb loss tending to perform more activities with their prostheses as compared to those with proximal (transhumeral (TH), shoulder level (SH)) limb loss. However, this study did not include persons with bilateral amputations. A separate study of unilateral and bilateral upper limb amputees reported that they engaged their prosthesis during 34-36% of activities included in the OPUS Upper Extremity Function Scale (UEFS). [2]

While we expect that persons with bilateral limb loss would engage their prosthesis in a greater proportion of activities, prior work did not stratify the sample by laterality, [1] or reported no differences [3]. It is likely that the type of prosthesis would impact the number and type of activities performed with a prosthesis. Myoelectric prostheses, for example, should not be exposed to water or harsh environments. Additional research is needed to describe prosthesis engagement during everyday activities. Such data would be useful for informing prosthetic training activities. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to characterize prosthesis engagement during everyday tasks. comparing performance for persons with unilateral and bilateral amputation. Further, we compared engagement of the prosthesis by unilateral amputation level, and by prosthesis type for persons with unilateral transradial (TR) amputation.

METHODS

The data for this report is a subset of cases collected in a large telephone survey. The sample consisted of U.S. military Veterans and civilians recruited through a variety of sources including VA databases, the Amputee Coalition of America, and a private prosthetics service company. Participants with major amputation (at wrist or more proximal) of at least one upper limb were included. Participants from the larger survey were included in this report if they were prosthesis users and reported information on prosthesis type and activity performance with the prosthesis.

Respondents shared demographic characteristics, amputation history, and current prosthetic device use and engagement in everyday tasks. Respondents reported whether they performed or attempted to perform each of 34 items with the assistance of their prosthesis in the past 2 weeks. The 34 items included 23 items from the UEFS, 5 additional items recommended by Jarl [4], and additional items identified by our research team as being challenging or relevant to women with upper limb amputation. We categorized 11 of these activities as likely to be performed using one hand and 23 as two-handed activities.

We stratified the sample by laterality and calculated the proportion of each subgroup who completed each of the 34 tasks with their prosthesis. We compared the proportions using chi-square analyses. We compared proportions by amputation level for those with unilateral amputation using Kruskal-Wallis tests. We corrected for multiple comparisons using the Benjamini Hochberg procedure. [5]

We calculated the proportion of one and twohanded tasks completed by unilateral and bilateral amputees, and for unilateral amputees by amputation level, and compared the proportion of tasks completed using t-tests and ANOVA.

We classified the type of prosthesis used as body powered, myoelectric single degree of freedom (DOF) terminal device, and myoelectric multi-DOF terminal device, and compared the proportion of respondents who completed each activity with their prosthesis using Kruskal-Wallis tests. We also compared the proportions of tasks completed by prosthesis type using ANOVAs. These comparisons were limited to the sample with transradial/wrist disarticulation in order to provide robust estimates.

RESULTS

The sample for this report included 379 unilateral and 32 bilateral amputees. Characteristics of the sample are shown in Table 1. Participants were predominantly male (81%), white (83%), and not Hispanic (94%). TR amputation was most common (66%), followed by TH (20%) and SH (6%) levels.

Gender	N (%)		Mn (sd)	
Female	79 (19.2)	Age	61.8 (14.3)	
Male	332 (80.8)	Race	N (%)	
Laterality	N (%)	White	340 (82.7)	
Unilateral	379 (92.2)	Black	32 (7.8)	
Bilateral	32 (7.8)	Unknown	25 (6.1)	
Amputation level (unilateral only)	N (%)	Mixed	14 (3.4)	
Shoulder	25 (6.1)	Ethnicity	N (%)	
Transhumeral	62 (20.0)	Hispanic	26 (6.5)	
Transradial	272 (66.2)	Not Hispanic	373 (93.5)	

Persons with unilateral amputation engaged their prosthesis in an average of 24% of unilateral tasks and 38% of bilateral tasks. While those with bilateral

amputation engaged their prosthesis in 64% of unilateral and 46% of bilateral tasks (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Box plots showing mean, median and distribution of proportion of tasks completed with prosthesis by laterality





Figure 2a and 2b. Statistically significant differences in task performance by laterality

After adjusting for multiple comparisons, there were statistically significant differences in performance of 7 one-handed and 7 two-handed tasks by laterality (Figure 2). A higher percent of those with bilateral

amputation (compared to unilateral) completed these tasks, except tying shoelaces which had a higher completion rate for those with unilateral amputation. For persons with unilateral amputation, those with TR amputations engaged their prosthesis in an average of 28% of unilateral tasks and 43% of bilateral tasks as compared to those with TH (14% and 26%) and SH level



amputation (10% and 22%), respectively.

Figure 3a and 3b. Statistically significant differences in task performance by amputation level

Task completion rates varied significantly by amputation level for 8 one-handed tasks and 13 twohanded tasks (Figure 3). For these tasks, a higher percentage of the TR amputation group completed tasks with their prosthesis compared to those with more proximal levels.

A comparison of task performance by prosthesis type (for TR, unilateral amputees only) found that on average, body-powered prosthesis users engaged their prosthesis in 27% of unilateral tasks and 43% of





users (35% and 50%), and myoelectric multi-DOF users (24% and 36%), respectively.

Two one-handed tasks and 6 two-handed tasks differed significantly by prosthesis type (Figure 4).





Figure 4a and 4b. Statistically significant differences in task performance by prosthesis type

DISCUSSION

This study compared frequency of self-reported engagement of the prosthesis when performing one- and two-handed activities of bilateral and unilateral amputees by amputation level and by type of prosthesis.

Persons with bilateral amputation engaged their prosthesis in more activities as compared to those with unilateral amputation. Specifically, persons with unilateral amputation engaged their prostheses in 24% of unilateral and 38% of bilateral tasks, while those with bilateral amputation engaged their prosthesis in 64% of unilateral and 46% of bilateral tasks. Our findings differ from that of Ostlie et al. who found that prosthesis users reported engaging their prostheses in approximately half of daily activities with a non-significant tendency for bilateral amputees to use their prosthesis in more tasks. [3]

Our study provides new information about the types of activities performed by prosthesis users, augmenting recent data obtained through accelerometer-based activity monitoring that found individuals with unilateral TR amputation engaged in bimanual activity an average of 4 hours a day, but engaged in unilateral activities with their prosthesis for only 20 minutes [6].

Tying shoelaces emerged as a commonplace twohanded activity among those with unilateral amputation, along with removing paper currency from a wallet and donning socks. Among one-handed activities, eating with utensils, opening a doorknob, manipulating a key in a lock, and drinking from a paper cup were reported with the greatest frequency.

By comparison, bilateral amputees used their prostheses in 64% of unilateral and 46% of bilateral tasks. The most common one-handed tasks were eating with utensils and writing. Engagement of prostheses in two-handed tasks was less common than reported with one-handed tasks. Removing paper currency from a wallet, pouring a 12 oz. can and typing on a keyboard were the most commonly performed tasks.

While users of TR prostheses reported engaging their prostheses in one- and two-handed tasks more often than those with more proximal amputations, individual from this latter group reported engaging their prostheses across a spectrum of tasks (lifting and carrying tasks were performed the most). With respect to prosthesis type, engagement in both one- and twohanded tasks was highest for those using single degree of freedom myoelectric prostheses. This finding may reflect the enhanced grip strength associated with this prosthetic design.

Some persons with ULA may perform everyday tasks with only one extremity, or perform them by engaging their knees, teeth or other body parts or using assistive devices. We did not ask how respondents performed tasks, only whether they engaged the prosthesis during tasks. We did not ask about nonprehensile tasks and cannot make conclusions about differential engagement of the prostheses in these types of tasks. Spiers et al. observed a preponderance of nonprehensile prosthetic activities in daily activities [7]. Further research is needed to determine how prostheses are used, and whether there is active prehensile manipulation or non-prehensile use.

SUMMARY & CONCLUSIONS

Our findings demonstrate that individuals with bilateral ULA engage their prostheses in more tasks, especially more one-handed tasks as compared to those with unilateral ULA. Task performance with a prosthesis was reported less often for those with more proximal amputation levels than those with more distal amputation levels. Lifting and carrying tasks were the most common one-handed tasks performed by people with more proximal amputation levels. While similar patterns were observed across prosthesis type, engagement of single degree of freedom myoelectric devices was reported with greater frequency than engagement with body-powered or multi-articulating myoelectric hands.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Department of Veterans Affairs Research and Development Service (A2936-R and A9264-S) funded this project.

REFERENCES

- 1. McFarland LV, Winkler SLH, Heinemann AW, Jones M, Esquenazi A. Unilateral upper-limb loss: Satisfaction and prosthetic-device use in veterans and servicemembers from Vietnam and OIF/OEF conflicts. Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development. 2010;47(3):299-316.
- Resnik L, Borgia M. Reliability and Validity of Outcome Measures for Upper Limb Amputation. JPO: Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics. 2012;24(4):192-212
- 3. Ostlie, K., et al. Prosthesis use in adult acquired major upper-limb amputees: patterns of wear, prosthetic skills and the actual use of prostheses in activities of daily life. <u>Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol</u> 2012 7(6): 479-493.
- 4. Jarl, G. M., et al. Validity evidence for a modified version of the Orthotics and Prosthetics Users' Survey. <u>Disability and Rehabilitation. Assistive</u> Technology 2012 7(6): 469-478.
- 5. Benjamini, Y. and D. Yekutieli (2001). The control of the false discovery rate in multiple testing under dependency." <u>Ann Stat.</u> 29:1165–1188.
- 6. Frey S, Motawar B, Buchanan K, Kaufman C, Stevens P, et al.. Greater and More Natural Use of the Upper Limbs During Everyday Life by Former Amputees Versus Prosthesis Users. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair. 2022 Jan 7:15459683211062889.
- Spiers AJ, Resnik L, Dollar AM. Analyzing at-home prosthesis use in unilateral upper-limb amputees to inform treatment & device design. IEEE Int Conf Rehabil Robot. 2017;2017:1273-80.

DATA LOGGING DURING PATTERN RECOGNITION CALIBRATION AS A REMOTE DIAGNOSTIC TOOL

Laura A. Miller, PhD, CP,^{1,2} Kristi L. Turner, DHS, OTR/L¹ Ann M. Simon, PhD^{1,2}

¹ Center for Bionic Medicine, Shirley Ryan AbilityLab, Chicago, IL, USA ² Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA

ABSTRACT

Pattern recognition control uses EMG from the entire residual limb to more intuitively control prosthetic devices. However, this requires a more intimate socket fit to maintain contact with these additional sensors. When users complain of issues with control, it can be difficult to diagnose if the issue is a need for additional practice and training or if there are issues related to the prosthetic fit that need to be addressed. Since pattern recognition allows the recalibration of the system by the user in any location, there is the opportunity to use this feature to assist in troubleshooting issues remotely. By analysing the data logging of calibration data in a pattern recognition system, it is possible to better identify the cause and potential solution in a remote setting.

INTRODUCTION

With pattern recognition (PR), multiple EMG channels can be used as input with all of the information used to calculate which "pattern" is being recreated. Since muscle signals do not need to be targeted and isolated, more information can be extracted from the user, potentially increasing the ability to control a multi-degree-of-freedom system [1]. The user needs to show the system each movement (calibrate the controller), which can be done by following prompts on a computer interface or following along with the prosthesis while it is moved through the different available movements. EMG is recorded by the controller and the classifier is then calculated.

For PR to be successful, the EMG channels must maintain good contact with the residual limb. When fitting a user in the office or a therapy environment, the EMG quality can be monitored as the user begins to perform functional tasks in different planes of movement and adjustment to fit made as needed. However, different environments temperatures and weight gain/loss can all affect signal quality.

When the user lives nearby it can be easy to have them come in for regular rechecks and adjustments; however, when a user lives far away, it can be difficult to troubleshoot the issue and identify if the issue with control is related to EMG quality or if the issue might be related to the need for additional training and/or a review of the patterns of movement associated with each degree-of-freedom.

As part of a study related to pattern recognition control of a transradial prosthetic system, users from across the country were recruited for home trials. During the home trial subjects were instructed to send home logs each week. However, there were instances of poor control noted and it was not logistically possible to bring in subjects for return rechecks. Since, during pattern recognition calibration EMG data are recorded and used to create the classifier, this property of the controller was used to collect data that could be used in a diagnostic manner for evaluation of fit and function. A protocol was developed to record information in various positions to allow repairs and adjustment to take place without an in person visit. This technique was also used to verify fit prior to beginning home trials.

METHODS

Eight individuals with a unilateral transradial amputation were fit with a Coapt pattern recognition system [2] passive wrist, and i-limb TMR revolution [3]. The study (including the ability to collect and record EMG data) was approved by the Northwestern University IRB. During the calibration process of pattern recognition control, data were recorded to be used to generate a classifier as the prosthesis moved through the various movements. The system would first collect EMG of the users' arm at rest (to align with "no movement" of the prosthesis). The prosthesis would then cycle through all of the enabled grasp patterns, opening and closing of each grasp 2 times. For this study, all calibration data was recorded and stored on the embedded controller for later post-processing.

Users were provided OT prior to participating in an 8-week home trial to evaluate their pattern recognition control of the multiarticulating hand. They were trained to calibrate their prosthesis whenever they felt their control had

degraded. They checked in weekly using a home log system. Logged issues or calls to the prosthetist/OT over this 8week window often needed to be followed up and these issues were often difficult to diagnose. In a clinical setting, users would be brought in for a recheck to evaluate fit and function. Since this was not always possible due to distance, alternative options were explored.

Since EMG was recorded for later evaluation during the calibration, a fitting evaluation protocol was designed to use this recording for diagnostics. All subjects had a minimum of 3 grasp patterns enabled. During regular calibration, muscle contractions are recorded for 2 repetitions of hand open and hand close for each grasp (i.e., 4 cycles per grasp). For our users and at least 3 grasp patterns enabled, this allowed for the collection of 13 (no movement plus 4 cycles * 3 grasp patterns) 3-second data blocks. Users were prompted to perform specific movements in various positions during the data recording phases of calibration. The order of movements requested was recorded so that the data collected could be mapped to arm position/contraction type. Table 1 shows the protocol developed and used in most cases. For these diagnostic trials, when collecting movement and maximum voluntary contraction (MVC) data, subjects were instructed to move the arm around in space when the device was moving. When conducted remotely, this prompting occurred via phone call/skype to assist with timing. Six participants used the evaluation protocol developed to diagnose fit and training issues. Some subjects also performed the protocol in lab as a "check out" of fit prior to starting the home trials.

Table 1: List of prompted movements for each calibration for evaluation of EMG quality

Arm supported: Regular calibration with the arm supported (resting on a table)				
Arm down at side: Regular calibration with the arm relaxed down at the side (hanging)				
Arm in front of body: Regular calibration with the arm in front (as if shaking hands)				
Arm sweeps and MVC (Maximum Voluntary Contractions)				
During the data collection blocks for this calibration, the subject was prompted as follows:				
1. Arm down at side and contract all forearm muscles at MVC				
2. Arm in front and contract all forearm muscles at MVC				
3. Arm out to side and contract all forearm muscles at MVC				
4. Forearm relaxed and sweep arm from down at side to up to cabinet level and back				
down, diagonally				
5. Forearm relaxed and sweep arm side to side at cabinet level				
6. Forearm relaxed and push in on socket and wiggle				
7. Forearm relaxed and pull slightly on socket				
Subject prompted to doff and re-don system and repeat the following:				
Arm in front of body				
Arm down at side				

Data were downloaded from the embedded controller for further processing. In most cases this occurred when the arm was sent back by mail (cheaper than flying the user back for an in-person visit) or by downloading to a study computer sent to them. A custom Matlab script was written to import the files and create graphs of the 8 channels of EMG. Data were plotted with each movement plotted in sequential order (i.e., no movement followed by open/close/open/close of each configured grip) with the channels shown 1-8 from top to bottom. The date/timestamp of the data was included in the title for reference and custom titles could be applied. Some of the issues (mechanical and therapy related) that were possible to diagnose:

- No issues with EMG (i.e., clean) during normal use but intermittent EMG saturation either in different positions or during MVCs: Electrode lift off from contraction or position. Or an intermittent loose wire
- Constant EMG saturation or noise: Broken/loose wire or consistent lack of skin/electrode contact
- EMG saturation during muscle contractions: User contracting too hard
- No EMG noted at all (flatline): broken wire or electrode shorted
- High baseline noise on one or multiple channels: 60 Hz interference or potential skin/electrode contact issue with ground electrode
- Clean EMG collected but hand did not move properly during calibration: hand requires repairs
- EMG improperly timed contractions of regular training (contraction only in small part of each window): subject needs more training
- EMG barely detectible for all movements: EMG location not ideal or contractions too light

- Clean EMG but user has poor control after recalibration: user needs more training/alternative imaging for different grasp patterns
- EMG after redonning very different than first 2 trials: user needs more practice with repeating proper donning or recreating grasp patterns

RESULTS

The protocol was used throughout the study to confirm socket fit and EMG quality when subjects were in the lab for testing/fitting and also when subjects experienced control issues at home. Figure 1 shows an example of early fitting with the pattern recognition system. EMG muscle contractions are noticeable on every EMG channel but there is higher baseline noise on multiple channels. This signal noise can occur when electrodes pick up on 60 Hz interference or because of poor skin/electrode impedance matching, or intermittent electrode contact of one or more electrodes (either domes not fully contacting the skin or loose wired connection).





Figure 1: High baseline noise on multiple channels likely due to poor skin/electrode impedance matching or ground electrode not fully contacting the skin.



Figure 2 shows a second example of the evaluation protocol used for remote troubleshooting. The subject had complained of poor control and was prompted through the diagnostic protocol prior to sending his arm in for review. Upon inspection of the data, channel 3 showed consistent noise across all movements and positions. This EMG contact was assessed and it was found that the wire connection inside the socket at the ring terminal to the EMG dome had broken during use. Though this failure would likely have been found with a thorough inspection of the device, the evaluation protocol made diagnosis and repair much quicker.

A more complex example can be found in Figure 3. This subject had previously undergone a revision surgery and was experiencing continued volume loss during the home trial. It was identified during planned follow up that he was having issues with control in some positions. The EMG from the evaluation protocol was compared to the locations of the electrode channels within the socket. The 4 images show the data collection for a) arm resting, b) arm at side, c) arm in front, and d) channel locations in the socket. When the arm was resting, it appeared that the soft-tissue was pulling away from the anterior channel (channel 4) and then pulling away from the posterior channels when the arm was extended (channels 3, 7, 8). Spacers were added to increase the depth of compression of the electrode domes on these 4 channels and the prosthesis was returned to the user. He reported improved control after return of the device and the EMG quality was verified at his next scheduled in person visit.

Other cases were noted where, upon completion of the evaluation protocol, the EMG quality was good. In these cases, the subjects would continue to work with the Occupational Therapist either in person or remotely to identify phantom movements that would create EMG unique to each grasp pattern.

DISCUSSION

Pattern recognition control has become more common in upper limb prosthetic fittings; however, the increase number of EMG channels associated with these systems can make troubleshooting fit and function difficult. It is



Figure 3: Remote troubleshooting with one subject. The 4 images show the data collection for a) arm resting, b) arm at side, c) arm in front, and d) channel locations in the socket. The 8 EMG channels are shown 1-8 from top to bottom in a-c. The thin vertical lines delineate where the EMG from the various movements (4 different hand grasp patterns) have been concatenated. Each vertical grey band represents 3seconds of data.

possible to visually review the EMG when the user is present but if issues arise a way of assessing the issue remotely is useful.

When EMG calibration data is recorded onto the prosthesis, this feature can be used to collect data to assess EMG and fit. This protocol was used on six individuals participating in home trials and was useful to diagnose loss of contact and broken wires, which were repairable without an in-person visit. In this study we needed to ship the prosthesis back to physically collect the data from the arm (or ship a laptop to the user), but if the data were downloaded remotely to a secure server it would be possible to identify problems with training or other issues that don't require repair to be completely resolved remotely. Additionally, the ability to remotely download the data would have allowed subjects to repeat the series of diagnostic training sessions to confirm that the repairs/socket modifications resolved the issue.

This evaluation protocol was also useful for confirming fit prior to the home trial by prompting the user to control the device in various planes of movement and as a baseline before home trial in case issues would arise later. This paper presents work done for a research study, but a similar evaluation protocol would be useful in the clinical environment to assist the prosthetist and occupational therapist to determine when it is necessary for a user to schedule follow up care.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by NIH R01HD081525, Principal Investigator: Todd Kuiken, MD, PHD

REFERENCES

- [1] T. A. Kuiken, G. Li, B. A. Lock, R. D. Lipschutz, L. A. Miller, K. A. Stubblefield, and K. B. Englehart, "Targeted muscle reinnervation for real-time myoelectric control of multifunction artificial arms," *JAMA*, vol. 301, no. 6, pp. 619-628, 2009.
- [2] Coapt LLC, COMPLETE CONTROL. https://www.coaptengineering.com/technology.html.
- [3] OSSUR, Touch Solutions iLimb Ultra Revolution. https://www.ossur.com/prosthetic-solutions/products/touch-solutions/i-limb-ultra.

Key characteristics of upper limb prosthesis users influence Patient Experience Measure scores

Linda Resnik PT, PhD, FAPTA¹ Matthew Borgia MA¹, Jacob L. Segil, PhD², Emily L. Graczyk, PhD^{4,5}

¹Providence VA Medical Center, Providence, RI, USA
²Rocky Mountain Regional VA Medical Center, Aurora, CO, USA
⁴Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, USA
⁵Louis Stokes Cleveland VA Medical Center, Cleveland, OH, USA

ABSTRACT

The Patient Experience Measure (PEM) was designed to assess psychosocial experiences of upper limb prosthesis users. While the PEM has been validated in a national study, differences in PEM scores based on participant characteristics have not been investigated yet. We present a secondary analysis of survey data demonstrating significant differences in PEM scores by amputation laterality (unilateral vs. bilateral), amputation level, and prosthesis type.

INTRODUCTION

The Patient Experience Measure (PEM) is a validated tool for assessing psychosocial experiences of upper limb prosthesis users consisting of six scales: interaction. self-efficacy. social embodiment. intuitiveness, wellbeing, and self-consciousness. The PEM was initially developed for use for studies of sensory enabled prostheses [1] and was subsequently refined in a large calibration study using contemporary measurement methods [2]. The prior calibration study examined structural validity, the ordering of items within scales, and the presence of differential item functioning by participant characteristics. However, we have not yet reported the summary scores of the PEM scales or analyses of the scores within subgroups of participants. The purpose of this analysis is to quantify and compare the PEM scores of key subgroups of interest. Specifically, we examined whether differences across the PEM subscales existed by prosthesis laterality, amputation level, and prosthesis type.

METHODS

This study presents a secondary analysis of data collected for the PEM calibration study. The sample consisted of U.S. military Veterans and civilians recruited through a variety of sources including VA databases, the Amputee Coalition of America, and a private prosthetics service company. Data was collected through telephone survey.

The PEM subscales query a variety of psychosocial experiences of upper limb prosthesis users (see [2] for full list of items within each subscale). The social interaction scale consists of 11 items addressing use of the prosthesis in physical interactions with others, such as shaking hands. The self-efficacy scale consists of 12 items addressing confidence in using the prosthesis to perform specific types of activities, such as handling fragile or small objects. The embodiment scale consists of 5 items related to self-attribution of the prosthesis and how it interacts with the body image. The 4-item intuitiveness scale includes items addressing the naturalness, clumsiness, speed, and concentration involved in using a prosthesis. The wellbeing scale consists of 6 items related to one's sense of wholeness, happiness, confidence, relaxation, freedom, and relief when not wearing a prosthesis. Finally, the 4-item selfconsciousness addresses the user's sense of vulnerability, incompleteness, difference from others, and shyness when not wearing a prosthesis. Higher scores indicate better experience for all scales.

Scores of PEM scales were calculated for subgroups of participants across the following characteristics: amputation laterality (unilateral (UA) versus bilateral amputation (BA)), amputation level for UA only (transradial (TR), transhumeral (TH), shoulder (SH)) and prosthesis type (cosmetic (Cos), body powered (Bod), myoelectric single degree of freedom terminal device (MyoS), myoelectric multidegree of freedom terminal device (MyoM)) Subgroup scores were compared using ANOVAs and t-tests. Prosthesis type comparisons were limited to the sample with unilateral TR/wrist disarticulation to provide robust estimates.

RESULTS

The sample for this analysis included 459 upper limb prosthesis users. The mean sample age was 61.9 (14.4) years old, 88 (20%) participants were women, and 378 (82%) were white. (Table 1). Of participants with unilateral TR amputation, there were 195 (65.4%), 53 (17.8%), 34 (11.4%) and 16 (5.4%) who used cosmetic, body powered, myoelectric single degree of freedom (DOF) and myoelectric multi-DOF prostheses respectively.

Table 1: Characteristics of Full Analytic Sample (N=459)

Gender	N (%)		Mn (sd)
Female	88 (19.2)	Age	61.9 (14.4)
Male	371 (80.8)	Race	N (%)
Laterality	N (%)	White	378 (82.4)
Unilateral	426 (92.8)	Black	40 (8.7)
Bilateral	33 (7.2)	Unknown	24 (5.2)
Amputation level (UA only)	N (%)	Mixed	17 (3.7)
Shoulder	26 (6.1)	Ethnicity	N (%)
Transhumeral	102 (23.9)	Hispanic	28 (6.1)
Transradial	298 (70.0)	Not Hispanic	421 (91.7)
		Unknown	10 (2.2)

Statistically significant differences were observed in PEM scores of persons with UA and BA (Figure 1). Mean and standard deviations of all measures are shown by subgroup in Table 2. Specifically, social interaction scores were higher among those with BA (p=0.0092), while wellbeing (p=0.04) and self-consciousness (p=0.01) scores were higher (i.e. better) among those with UA.

Distributions of PEM scores by amputation level are shown in Figure 2. There were significant differences in 4 PEM scales by amputation level: (p=0.002), Social Interaction Self-efficacy (p<0.0001), Embodiment (p<0.0001), and Intuitiveness (p=0.01). In all 4 scales, those with TR amputation had the highest scores while those with amputation at the SH level had the lowest scores. Participants with TH amputation tended to have intermediate scores.

Finally, distributions of PEM scores for those with TR unilateral amputation are shown by prosthesis type in Figure 3. Only social interaction (p=0.02) and self-efficacy (p<0.0001) scores differed significantly by prosthesis type. Those using cosmetic devices had the lowest scores on these two scales, myoelectric multi-DOF users had the highest social interaction scores, and body-powered users had the highest self-efficacy scores.

DISCUSSION

This study found statistically significant differences in PEM scores by amputation laterality, amputation level, and prosthesis type. Our analyses were bivariate only, and further multivariate analyses are needed to identify independent predictors of PEM scores to control for potential confounding.

		Social Interaction (N=390)	Self-efficacy (N=405)	Embodiment (N=406)	Intuitiveness (N=406)	Wellbeing (N=454)	Self- consciousness (N=454)
	Ν	Mn (sd)	Mn (sd)	Mn (sd)	Mn (sd)	Mn (sd)	Mn (sd)
Amputation Laterality							
Unilateral	426	49.6 (9.9)	50.0 (9.,9)	50.0 (9.9)	50.1 (10.2)	49.4 (9.7)	50.2 (10.0)
Bilateral	33	56.5 (8.3)	53.1 (9.9)	52.7 (10.2)	49.6 (7.7)	45.7(12.0)	45.6 (8.5)
Amputation level							
Shoulder	26	44.4 (11.5)	44.7 (12.8)	45.6 (11.6)	45.9 (9.6)	49.6 (11.8)	51.6 (10.2)
Transhumeral	102	47.6 (10.7)	46.9 (9.8)	46.7 (9.6)	48.4 (8.7)	49.9 (8.4)	50.0 (9.6)
Transradial	298	50.7 (9.3)	51.4 (9.3)	51.4 (9.5)	51.0 (10.6)	49.2 (9.9)	50.2 (10.1)
Prosthesis type							
Body-powered	195	50.3 (9.6)	52.4 (9.2)	51.0 (10.0)	51.3 (10.3)	49.1 (10.2)	50.5 (10.0)
Myoelectric single DOF	53	52.1 (8.7)	51.6 (9.6)	52.5 (8.5)	50.6 (11.1)	49.2 (9.5)	49.3 (10.7)
Myoelectric multi- DOF	34	53.6 (8.8)	51.0 (6.2)	50.8 (8.0)	48.1 (9.8)	49.2 (9.6)	52.0 (9.8)

Table 2 PEM scores by subgroups



Figure 1. Violin plots showing PEM scores by laterality



Figure 2. Violin plots showing PEM scores by unilateral amputation level.

Higher self-consciousness scores (i.e. less selfconsciousness) in those with UA (as compared to BA) may be because persons with UA can perform tasks in public with their intact hand, limiting the attention drawn to their prosthesis. Similarly, higher scores in wellbeing may be because those with UA feel less impacted by their amputation. However, persons with BA had higher social interaction scores than those with UA, indicating that they feel more comfortable using their prosthesis in social greetings and to communicate emotion through touch. This may be explained by the increased experience and practice they have acquired with these tasks, given that they must perform them with their prosthesis, whereas persons with UA may predominantly perform them with their intact arm/hand, and thus do them infrequently.



Figure 3. Violin plots showing PEM scores by prosthesis type.

The finding that persons with TR amputation had higher scores in self-efficacy, embodiment, social interaction, and intuitiveness is consistent with prior studies[3]. These scales reflect, to some degree, participants' experiences using the prosthesis and the ways in which they engage the prosthesis to accomplish tasks.

Persons with SH level amputation have limited means of control, which may contribute to lower overall perceived usefulness and functionality of the prosthesis. In contrast, scores on the wellbeing and self-consciousness scales, which address experiences when not wearing a prosthesis, did not differ by amputation level.

Comparisons by prosthesis type yielded significant differences in the social interaction and self-efficacy scales. These scales primarily ask about active prosthesis use in various tasks. Cosmetic prostheses are typically only used for supporting or stabilizing, which would explain their lower scores on these scales. There was no measurable difference in embodiment, intuitiveness, wellbeing, and selfconsciousness subscales for people with unilateral TR amputation across prosthesis types, perhaps due to lack of sensitivity or potential confounding by userrelevant factors determining prosthesis choice. A variety of factors might explain why a person with TR amputation would be prescribed or choose to use a given prosthesis type, such as cost, durability, aesthetic factors, or reliability. Future analyses may identify other PEM score predictors or confounders.

SUMMARY & CONCLUSIONS

This study compared PEM by laterality, amputation level and prosthesis type. Findings suggest differences in psychosocial experiences that can be further explored in future research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Department of Veterans Affairs Rehabilitation Research and Development Service A2936-R and A9264-S

REFERENCES

1. Graczyk EL, Resnik L, Schiefer MA, Schmitt MS, Tyler DJ. Home Use of a Neural-connected Sensory Prosthesis Provides the Functional and Psychosocial Experience of Having a Hand Again. Scientific reports. 2018;8(1):9866. Epub 2018/07/01.

2. Resnik LJ, Borgia ML, Clark MA, Graczyk E, Segil J, Ni P. Structural validity and reliability of the patient experience measure: A new approach to assessing psychosocial experience of upper limb prosthesis users. PLoS One. 2021;16(12):e0261865. Epub 2021/12/29.

3. Zhang X, Baun KS, Trent L, Miguelez JM, Kontson KL. Factors influencing perceived function in the upper limb prosthesis user population. PM R. 2021. Epub 2021/08/20.

MEC 2022



Other

DISENTANGLING SENSORY AND MOTOR DEFICITS OF FINE HAND FUNCTION USING AN ELECTRONIC GRIP GAUGE (EGG) TO SIMULATE TRANSFERRING FRAGILE OBJECTS

Monika Buczak¹, Brandon Baum², Connor Olsen³, Jacob George^{1,2,3,4}

¹Biomedical Engineering, University of Utah, ²Mechanical Engineering, University of Utah, ³Electrical Engineering, University of Utah, ⁴Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, University of Utah

ABSTRACT

Evaluating hand dexterity is a critical aspect of assessing novel prosthetic technology and informing patient care. Current upper-limb dexterity assessments primarily target gross motor function and do not directly measure the ability of an individual to finely regulate their grip force. An increasingly popular test of fine motor function among researchers is a fragile-object test, in which participants are instructed to lift and transfer an object while minimizing their applied grip force. Here we present another instantiation of this fragile-object test, dubbed the electronic grip gauge (EGG). We use the EGG to quantify grip force and transfer rate for intact hands and myoelectric prostheses under three distinct conditions: 1) implicit grasping when transferring the object as fast as possible, 2) grasping when participants are instructed to minimize their grip force using endogenous tactile feedback and/or indirect sensory feedback, and 3) grasping when participants are instructed to minimize their grip force. We show that a lack of tactile feedback is a significant reason for poor prosthetic control, as evidenced by significantly better prosthetic control with auditory feedback. We also show that even with supplemental auditory feedback, performance of the prosthetic hand was still substantially worse than the performance of the intact hand. These results suggest that artificial sensory feedback can improve prosthetic control, but that improvements in mechanical design and/or real-time control are also needed to replicate the dexterity of intact human hands.

INTRODUCTION

Up to 50% of amputees abandon their prostheses, often citing poor control and a lack of sensory feedback as primary reasons [1]–[3]. Clinical measures of upper-limb function typically focus primarily on gross manual dexterity. For example, the Box and Blocks test (BBT) is a widely used test of upper-limb prosthesis function in which participants transfer small wooden blocks over a vertical barrier from one side of a box to another as quickly as possible in one minute [4]. However, the BBT, like many other clinical measures of upper-limb function, does not directly measure the ability of an individual to finely regulate grip force, which is a vital aspect of hand control when manipulating fragile objects [5].

A common variant to the BBT to assess fine motor function involves introducing a "break" threshold to the wooden blocks to replicate transferring a fragile object such as an egg. This modification requires the user keeps their grip force above the force required to pick up the object and below the force required to "break" the object. Instantiations of this fragile-object task have involved metal plates separated by a weak magnetic field [5]–[7], paper blocks held together loosely with toothpicks [8], and 3D-printed blocks held together weakly with embedded magnets [9]–[11]. A more recent instantiation involves a 3D-printed block embedded with a strain gauge and accelerometer to precisely measure the grip force and load force exerted on the object [12], [13].

Here we build on these prior studies and introduce a similar instantiation as [12] involving a 3D-printed block embedded with a strain gauge and accelerometer, referred to as the electronic grip gauge (EGG). We first present an overview of the device design and different testing conditions. Then, we use the instrumented egg to quantify differences in the control of myoelectric prostheses and intact hands for healthy participants. We show that both grip force and object transfer time are substantially greater for myoelectric prostheses compared to intact hands. We also show that providing supplemental sensory feedback (auditory feedback) in proportion to the applied grip force significantly reduces prosthetic grip force and transfer time, further supporting the idea that a lack of tactile sensory feedback is a primary reason for poor control. This work also provides quantifiable benchmarks for intact hands and myoelectric prostheses for this increasingly popular fragile-object test.

METHODS

Device Design

The EGG consists of a 100-lb load cell (TE Connectivity Measurement Specialties), triple-axis accelerometer (Adafruit), and wireless microcontroller (Arduino MKR WiFi 1010) contained in a 3D-printed polylactic acid (PLA) shell (Fig. 1). The microcontroller amplifies and streams data from the load cell and accelerometer to the computer wirelessly at 100 Hz using the User Datagram Protocol. An LED on the microcontroller can be programmatically set to visually show the state of the EGG. The base of the EGG can be filled with small lead weights to vary the weight of the object between 132 g and 414 g. The assembled instrumented egg measures 60.5x42.7x80.5 mm and can be readily grasped by various prostheses. An embedded battery provides roughly 2 hours of battery life.



Figure 1: Exploded view of the EGG. The 3D-printed shell consists of top, bottom, front and base pieces connected with linear guide rails. The load cell and wireless microcontroller are housed between the top and bottom pieces.

Experimental Conditions

The EGG can be used under three different test conditions. In the first test condition, participants simply pick up and transfer the EGG as many times as possible within one minute while grip force is recorded. This test condition provides a measure of the transfer rate, similar to the BBT, and the users implicit grasping force, similar to the Grasping Relative Index of Performance [14].

In the second test condition, the experimenter sets an upper threshold on the grip force, such that the EGG will "break" and emit an audible sound if the participant's grip force exceeds the threshold. The participants are instructed to pick up and transfer the EGG as quickly as possible without breaking it. The difficulty of the task can be adjusted by lowering the break threshold or by increasing the weight of the EGG. In this study, the breakpoint was set to 11.2 N and the device weighed 414 g. The ratio of break force to weight in this study was 0.027 N/g; prior studies have used ratios of 0.032 N/g, 0.02 N/g, 0.015 N/g, and 1.34 N/g [7], [5], [9], [11], [8]. Because the EGG does not visually deform with increasing grip pressure, the only feedback the participants have regarding their applied grip force is endogenous (e.g., proprioception from forearm muscles or efference copy) or indirect (e.g., sounds of the prosthesis motor). Thus, this test condition provides a measure of the participant's innate sensorimotor grasping precision.

In the third test condition, the participant is again instructed to pick up and transfer the EGG as quickly as possible without breaking it. However, in this test condition, the participant is provided with auditory feedback regarding the grip force applied to the EGG. That is, a tone is played continuously and the pitch of the tone increases as the applied grip force approaches the break threshold. If the break threshold is exceeded, a second tone is played indicating the EGG has broken. This test condition also provides a measure of the participant's grasping precision. Using this test condition (continuous feedback) in conjunction with the previous test condition (discrete feedback) provides a way to systematically probe the impact of tactile sensory feedback on grasping precision. Significantly greater performance with continuous auditory feedback implies tactile feedback is

impaired.

Participants and Experiment

Three neurologically healthy and physiologically intact participants volunteered in this study. Participants were between the ages of 18 and 21 (100% male). Informed consent and experimental protocols were carried out in accordance with the University of Utah Institutional Review Board. Participants were instructed to complete the three aforementioned test conditions (no feedback, discrete feedback, and continuous feedback), ten times each, with using both their intact hand and an EMG-controlled prosthesis. Participants moved the EGG over a 2-in vertical barrier.



Figure 2: Prosthesis Setup. Participants wore an sEMG sleeve around their forearm and held a prosthesis via bypass socket fit around their wrist.

Prosthesis Control

Surface EMG from the participants was collected using a custom EMG sleeve [15]. EMG was sampled at 1 kHz and filtered using the Summit Neural Interface processor (Ripple Neuro Med LLC) as described in [16]. EMG features used for estimating motor intent consisted of the 300-ms smoothed mean absolute value on 528 channels (32 single-ended channels and 496 calculated differential pairs) calculated at 30 Hz, as described in [16].

A modified Kalman filter was trained to predict hand flexion and extension, as described in (Thomson et al., MEC 2022) and previous reported in [16], [17]. The participants donned a prosthetic hand (LUKE Arm; DEKA) using a custom bypass socket [18]. A latching filter was applied to the kinematic output of the prosthetic hand to increase grasping stability [7], [19].

Performance Metrics and Analysis

Data consisted of the transfer time and peak grip force for each test condition, each hand, and each participant. All data were screen for normality. Data were aggregated across participants and two-way analysis of variance (factors: hand and test condition) was performed. Subsequent pairwise comparisons (Wilcoxon rank-sum test) were performed using the Dunn-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. Additionally, a grouped comparison with pooled data from the three test conditions was performed between the prosthesis and intact hand.

RESULTS

Overall, transfer time (Fig. 3) and grip force (Fig. 4) were significantly greater for the prosthetic hand compared to that of the intact hand (p's < 0.05; Wilcoxon rank-sum test). Across all three test conditions, average transfer time was 283.3% longer for the prosthesis and grip force was 92.6% stronger for the prosthesis.

When a break threshold was introduced (discrete feedback), we observed no significant difference in performance for the prosthetic hand or intact hand. For the prosthetic hand, this resulted in a substantial failure rate (i.e., roughly 50% of the peak forces exceed the blue line representing the break threshold in Fig. 3). For the intact hand, implicit grasping force (no feedback condition) was already below the break threshold and remained similar.

When continuous auditory feedback was introduced on top of the break threshold, prosthetic performance improved significantly (p < 0.05; Wilcoxon rank-sum test). That is, transfer time was reduced by 20.3% and grasping force was reduced by 23.7%. For the intact hand, continuous auditory feedback did not significantly improve the task performance relative to the discrete feedback condition. Overall, the median transfer time and grip force of the intact hand was similar across all three test conditions.

CONCLUSION

This study introduces another instantiation of a fragile-object test,



Figure 3: Grip force is significantly greater for the prosthetic hand compared to that of the intact hand. Data show peak grip force exerted on the EGG for ten trials for each of the three participants (N=30). Boxplots show median, inter-quartile range, and most-extreme, non-outlier values. Plus marks denote outliers. Blue line indicates the break threshold that participants attempted to keep their grip force below for the discrete-feedback and continuous-feedback conditions. Asterisks indicate different medians between conditions * (p<0.05), ** (p<0.01), *** (p<0.001); Wilcoxon rank-sum test; N=30 per group between test conditions and N=90 per group for the pooled comparison between the prosthetic and intact hands.

based heavily on the design previous introduced in [12]. We expand upon the work in [12] by highlighting the embedded design and exploring different test conditions with both prosthetic and intact hands. The EGG introduced here quantifies grip force, load force, and object transfer time to enable more in-depth comparisons of fine motor function across people and technologies. Furthermore, the different test conditions provide an opportunity to systematically probe an individual's ability to finely regulate their grip force and quantify their innate tactile sensory feedback.

The results present here show that a lack of tactile sensory feedback is a significant reason for poor prosthetic control, as evidenced by improved dexterity when continuous auditory feedback is provided in proportion to exerted

grip force. Furthermore, we also show that even with supplemental auditory sensory feedback, performance of the prosthetic hand was still substantially worse than the performance of the intact hand. Thus, it is likely that a combination of diverse improvements in the areas of mechanical design, real-time control and sensory feedback are necessary to make prosthetic hands as dexterous as healthy intact hands.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by NIH grant 1 DP5 OD 029571-01. The authors thank Dr. Marco Controzzi for sharing the design of his "magnet virtual egg" and "instrumented virtual egg." Dr. Controzzi's designs were critical inspiration for the instantiation introduced in this study.

REFERENCES

- E. A. Biddiss and T. T. Chau, "Upper limb prosthesis use and abandonment: a survey of the last 25 years," *Prosthet Orthot Int*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 236–257, Sep. 2007, doi: 10.1080/03093640600994581.
- [2] M. Espinosa and D. Nathan-Roberts, "Understanding Prosthetic Abandonment," *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, vol. 63, pp. 1644–1648, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.1177/1071181319631508.
- [3] S. Lewis, M. F. Russold, H. Dietl, and E. Kaniusas, "User demands for sensory feedback in upper extremity prostheses," in 2012 IEEE International Symposium on Medical Measurements and Applications Proceedings, May 2012, pp. 1–4. doi: 10.1109/MeMeA.2012.6226669.



Figure 4: Transfer time is significantly greater for the prosthetic hand compared to the intact hand. Data show peak force exerted on the instrumented egg for ten trials for each of the three participants (N=30). Boxplots show median, inter-quartile range, and most-extreme, nonoutlier values. Plus marks denote outliers. One outlier at a value of 32.04s is not shown for the prosthetic-hand nofeedback condition. One outlier at a value of 63.45s is not shown for the prosthetic-hand discrete-feedback condition. Blue line indicates the break threshold that participants attempted to keep their grip force below for discrete-feedback and continuous-feedback the conditions. Asterisks indicate different medians between conditions * (p<0.05), ** (p<0.01), *** (p<0.001); Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test (N=30 per group between test conditions and N=90 per group for the pooled comparison between the prosthetic and intact hands).

- [4] Mathiowetz V, Volland G, Kashman N, and Weber K, "Adult norms for the Box and Block Test of manual dexterity," AM J OCCUP THER, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 386–391, Jun. 1985.
- [5] J. A. George *et al.*, "Biomimetic sensory feedback through peripheral nerve stimulation improves dexterous use of a bionic hand," *Science Robotics*, vol. 4, no. 32, p. eaax2352, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1126/scirobotics.aax2352.
- [6] E. D. Engeberg and S. Meek, "Improved grasp force sensitivity for prosthetic hands through force-derivative feedback," *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, vol. 55, no. 2 Pt 2, pp. 817–821, Feb. 2008, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2007.912675.
- [7] M. D. Paskett et al., "Activities of daily living with bionic arm improved by combination training and latching filter in prosthesis control comparison," J NeuroEngineering Rehabil, vol. 18, no. 1, p. 45, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.1186/s12984-021-00839-x.
- [8] F. Clemente, M. D'Alonzo, M. Controzzi, B. B. Edin, and C. Cipriani, "Non-invasive, temporally discrete feedback of object contact and release improves grasp control of closed-loop myoelectric transradial prostheses," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 24, no. 12, pp. 1314–1322, Dec. 2016, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2015.2500586.
- [9] F. M. Petrini et al., "Six-month assessment of a hand prosthesis with intraneural tactile feedback: hand prosthesis," Ann Neurol., vol. 85, no. 1, pp. 137–154, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1002/ana.25384.
- [10] G. Valle *et al.*, "Hand control with invasive feedback is not impaired by increased cognitive load," *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.*, vol. 8, p. 287, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2020.00287.
- [11] G. Valle et al., "Biomimetic intraneural sensory feedback enhances sensation naturalness, tactile sensitivity, and manual dexterity in a bidirectional prosthesis," *Neuron*, vol. 100, no. 1, pp. 37-45.e7, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.08.033.
- [12] M. Controzzi, F. Clemente, N. Pierotti, M. Bacchereti, and C. Cipriani, "Evaluation of hand function transporting fragile objects: the Virtual Eggs Test," *Myoelectric Controls and Upper Limb Prosthetics Symposium*, p. 1, Aug. 2017.
- [13] E. Mastinu *et al.*, "Neural feedback strategies to improve grasping coordination in neuromusculoskeletal prostheses," *Sci Rep*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 11793, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-67985-5.
- [14] Z. C. Thumser, A. B. Slifkin, D. T. Beckler, and P. D. Marasco, "Fitts' Law in the control of isometric grip force with naturalistic targets," *Front. Psychol.*, vol. 9, p. 560, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00560.
- [15] J. George, A. Neibling, M. Paskett, and G. Clark, "Inexpensive surface electromyography sleeve with consistent electrode placement enables dexterous and stable prosthetic control through deep learning," *MEC20 Symposium*, Jul. 2020, Accessed: Jul. 16, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://conferences.lib.unb.ca/index.php/mec/article/view/36
- [16] J. A. George, T. S. Davis, M. R. Brinton, and G. A. Clark, "Intuitive neuromyoelectric control of a dexterous bionic arm using a modified Kalman filter," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, vol. 330, p. 108462, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2019.108462.
- [17] J. A. George, M. R. Brinton, C. C. Duncan, D. T. Hutchinson, and G. A. Clark, "Improved training paradigms and motor-decode algorithms: results from intact individuals and a recent transradial amputee with prior complex regional pain syndrome," in 2018 40th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), Jul. 2018, pp. 3782–3787. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2018.8513342.
- [18] M. D. Paskett et al., "A modular transradial bypass socket for surface myoelectric prosthetic control in non-amputees," IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng., vol. 27, no. 10, pp. 2070–2076, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2019.2941109.
- [19] J. Nieveen, M. Brinton, D. J. Warren, and V. J. Mathews, "A nonlinear latching filter to remove jitter from movement estimates for prostheses," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 28, no. 12, pp. 2849–2858, Dec. 2020.

THE ECONOMICS OF INNOVATION IN UPPER LIMB PROSTHETICS

Karl Lindborg, CPO

Intersect OPS LLC

ABSTRACT

Upper limb external powered prosthetic technology in recent years has experienced advancements that have produced significant increases in costs to clinics, payers, and end-users. In the United States, for new technology to be considered, the technology must fit into a coding structure called the HCPCS L-Code system. If an established L-code has not been established or the l-code does not describe the new technology, an NOS (not otherwise specified) code might be utilized. Depending on the payer source, an NOS code might not be allowed and/or the desired reimbursement of the NOS code will be reduced significantly. Usefulness of these new technological advancements must also be provided to justify its use over more conventional technology. Both usefulness and cost of a specific technology are intimately tied to the overall economic value of the prosthesis. Because the way healthcare is provided and paid for in the United States, new technology and innovation is often first introduced in the United States. This paper intends to share the author's direct experience working within private clinics, federal institutions as well as manufacturers and payers. The goal is to provide insight on the challenges faced by payers, prosthetic providers, and MD's and prosthetist should all benefit from this overview. Examples of the coding structure, increases in time for prosthetists to provide and maintain and justify new technology will be shared along with how payers handle innovation and payments.

INCREASES IN COST, TIME, AND SERVICE

Upper limb innovation and advancement has created an increase in costs to payers with the use of NOS codes which have resulted in doubling, tripling, and even quadrupling costs over traditional myoelectric systems. With this comes an increased co-pay to the end-user. Add to this the increased setup and servicing time by the treating provider along with the increased time commitment to the end-user. When comparing the delivery time required for an upper limb prosthetic system to that of a lower limb prosthesis, is not uncommon for the delivery time of an upper limb prosthesis to take up to two times longer for effectively deliver. Additionally, the time and expense required for proper occupational therapy to effectively train the user with the new technology must be considered. As technology advances, it is not uncommon for the technology to exceed the bandwidth of most clinicians providing and training this new technology. Because payment for a prosthetic device in the United States is all inclusive for the prosthetist providing the prosthesis. Follow-up care after the initial 90 days is billable for a prosthetic office visit based on 15-minute increments. Payment will also be dependent upon whether the prosthetic provider has a contract with a particular payer.

OUTCOME MEASURES AND PROSTHETIC OPTIONS PROVIDED

While lower limb prosthetic evaluations have a variety of objective outcome measures to evaluate pre-prosthetic and post-prosthetic function which help to determine the current and anticipated functional level of the end-user, upper limb prosthetic outcome measure assessments are not as available or are less effective in predicting prosthetic effectiveness. Upper limb pre-prosthetic outcome measures rely primarily upon subjective reporting of the end-user. Post-prosthetic objective outcome measures are not as effective in predicting anticipated functional level of an upper limb end-user, and while they are available, they seem to be less effective in predicting when the end-user can progress to a more advanced technology. In addition, who conducts these upper limb outcome measures is critical. Often it is a tight collaboration between the occupational therapist and the prescribing MD as to when advancement to more complex technology is allowed or not allowed, when it can be provided, and the timeframe a specific technology has to be utilized before another is considered. The chances of getting approval for advanced technology that does not

have an established L-code or has not been proven to be significantly effective over conventional technology can be very challenging.

ECONOMICS, PAYERS, AND L-CODES

In the United States, there are numerous insurance plans or payer sources available for the financial coverage of prosthetic devices. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) which developed the Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System (HCPCS) L-code system establishes specific codes and corresponding fee schedules for a combination of codes that make up an entire prosthesis. Specific to lower limb prosthetic codes, there are local coverage determinations (LCD's) which specify what codes can and cannot be utilized together along with set prices that determine final payment for a particular lower limb prosthesis. These LCD regulations alert the prosthetic provider to the proper and improper combination of established codes for a complete lower limb prosthesis. It is a method to manage the total costs of a lower limb prosthesis. Specific to upper limb prosthetics and the HCPCS L-code system, there are no LCD regulations that alert the prosthetic provider of proper and improper coding combinations for the delivery of a complete upper limb prosthesis. This is both a blessing and a curse. Not knowing what CMS will allow for payment can create delays for delivery of an upper limb prosthesis. CMS through the establishment of their Pricing Data Analysis and Coding (PDAC) system, has started to provide Correct Coding bulletins that have stipulated what codes can and cannot be utilized with upper limb multiarticulate hands and partial hands. While not a formal LCD, the Correct Coding bulletins have created challenges for upper limb innovation.

CMS is a federal insurance program that provides payment to individual 65 and older or to individual who qualify for a state funded Medicaid plan for low-income individuals. The Veteran Administration (VA) is the other Federal program established for military and veterans of the military. The VA has their own set of regulations that are based on the L-code system. Other insurance programs, known as 3rd party payers, provide prosthetic payment based on the type of prosthetic plan available from a particular insurance company. 3rd party payers also have specific upper limb prosthetic policies stipulating what is and is not allowed. Co-pays by the prosthetic end-user may or may not be a part of the insurance plan. Work related injuries are another category of insurance known as Workers Compensation which cover prosthetic needs of an injured worker. Because workers compensation often involves an attorney and there is liability for the injury, the process for prosthetic approval involves a legal proceeding. In these cases, advanced technology might be approved over that of any other type of insurance.

CONCLUSION

While advanced technologies and new innovation have benefits that may increase the usefulness of a particular upper limb prosthetic device to the end-user, not everyone who needs an upper limb prosthesis will benefit from new innovation. If there is a possibility an end-user could benefit from new innovation, obtaining it may be cost prohibitive. Access is dependent upon several factors including the type of insurance the end-user has, whether the loss of limb was the result of a work-related accident and how willing a provider is to try and obtain the technology. Continued research studies utilizing validated outcome measures must also show significant improvement to justify the total cost of the prosthetic limb being provided over more conventional technology. The uprising of Go-Fund-Me campaigns to raise thousands of dollars to offset the cost to the end-user of advanced upper limb technology is evidence of how the economics prosthetic innovation is at play. New policies and regulations from payers stipulating what codes and technology will or will not be allowed for upper limb technology is also evidence of the economics at play in upper limb prosthetics.

REFERENCES

- [1] Pricing Data Analysis and Coding (PDAC)F, https://med.noridianmedicare.com/web/jddme/policies/pdac
- [2] CMS National Coverage Policy, https://www.cms.gov/medicare-coverage-database/view/lcd.aspx?LCDId=35490
- [3] Department of Veteran Affairs Rehabilitation and Prosthetic Services, <u>https://www.rehab.va.gov/psas/index.asp</u>
- [4] Special Issue: Health Economics in Prosthetics & Orthotics, Vol. 4 No. 2 (2021): CANADIAN PROSTHETICS & ORTHOTICS JOURNAL
- [5] Personal experience working in a private clinic, Department of Veteran Affairs, 3rd Party Payer, Manufacturer, and Catastrophic Care Management